Electronic Journal of Differential Equations, Monograph 06, 2004, (142 pages). ISSN: 1072-6691. URL: http://ejde.math.txstate.edu or http://ejde.math.unt.edu ftp ejde.math.txstate.edu (login: ftp)

# PALAIS-SMALE APPROACHES TO SEMILINEAR ELLIPTIC EQUATIONS IN UNBOUNDED DOMAINS

# HWAI-CHIUAN WANG

ABSTRACT. Let  $\Omega$  be a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \ge 1$ , and  $2^* = \infty$  if N = 1, 2,  $2^* = \frac{2N}{N-2}$  if N > 2, 2 . Consider the semilinear elliptic problem

$$-\Delta u + u = |u|^{p-2}u \quad \text{in } \Omega$$
$$u \in H_0^1(\Omega).$$

Let  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  be the Sobolev space in  $\Omega$ . The existence, the nonexistence, and the multiplicity of positive solutions are affected by the geometry and the topology of the domain  $\Omega$ . The existence, the nonexistence, and the multiplicity of positive solutions have been the focus of a great deal of research in recent years.

That the above equation in a bounded domain admits a positive solution is a classical result. Therefore the only interesting domains in which this equation admits a positive solution are proper unbounded domains. Such elliptic problems are difficult because of the lack of compactness in unbounded domains. Remarkable progress in the study of this kind of problem has been made by P. L. Lions. He developed the concentration-compactness principles for solving a large class of minimization problems with constraints in unbounded domains. The characterization of domains in which this equation admits a positive solution is an important open question. In this monograph, we present various analyses and use them to characterize several categories of domains in which this equation admits a positive solution or multiple solutions.

# Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Preliminaries	4
3.	Palais-Smale Decomposition Theorems	25
4.	Palais-Smale Values and Indexes of Domains	31
5.	Palais-Smale Conditions	47
6.	Symmetric Palais-Smale Conditions	57
7.	Symmetric Palais-Smale Decomposition Theorems	60
8.	Fundamental Properties, Regularity, and Asymptotic Behavior of	
	Solutions	68

<sup>2000</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. 35J20, 35J25.

Key words and phrases. Palais-Smale condition; index; decomposition theorem; achieved domain; Esteban-Lions domain; symmtric Palais-Smale condition.

<sup>©2004</sup> Texas State University - San Marcos.

Submitted September 17, 2004. Published September 30, 2004.

HWAI-CHIUAN WANG	EJDE-2004/MON. 06
8.1. Fundamental Properties of Solutions	68
8.2. Regularity of Solutions	69
8.3. Asymptotic Behavior of Solutions	75
9. Symmetry of Solutions	79
9.1. Open Question:	83
10. Nonachieved Domains and Esteban-Lions Domains	83
11. Higher Energy Solutions	95
11.1. Existence Results	95
11.2. Dynamic Systems of Solutions	99
12. Achieved Domains	100
12.1. Open Question:	106
13. Multiple Solutions	106
13.1. Multiple Solutions for a Perturbed Equation	106
13.2. Symmetry Breaking in a Bounded Symmetry Dor	nain 134
13.3. Multiple Solutions in Domains with Two Bumps	137
References	140

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Let  $\Omega$  be a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \ge 1$ , and  $2^* = \infty$  if  $N = 1, 2, 2^* = \frac{2N}{N-2}$  if N > 2, 2 . Consider the semilinear elliptic problem

 $-\Delta u + u = |u|^{p-2}u \quad \text{in } \Omega;$  $u \in H^1_0(\Omega).$ (1.1)

Let  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  be the Sobolev space in  $\Omega$ . For the general theory of Sobolev spaces  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ , see Adams [2]. Associated with (1.1), we consider the energy functionals a, b and J for  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ 

$$a(u) = \int_{\Omega} (|\nabla u|^2 + u^2);$$
  

$$b(u) = \int_{\Omega} |u|^p;$$
  

$$J(u) = \frac{1}{2}a(u) - \frac{1}{p}b(u).$$

As in Rabinowitz [64, Proposition B.10], a, b and J are of  $C^2$ . It is well known that the solutions of (1.1) and the critical points of the energy functional J are the same.

The existence, the nonexistence, and the multiplicity of positive solutions of (1.1) are affected by the geometry and the topology of the domain  $\Omega$ . The existence, the nonexistence, and the multiplicity of positive solutions of (1.1) have been the focus of a great deal of research in recent years. That Equation (1.1) in a bounded domain admits a positive solution is a classical result. Gidas-Ni-Nirenberg [35] and Kwong [46] asserted that (1.1) in the whole space  $\mathbb{R}^N$  admits a "unique" positive spherically symmetric solution. Therefore the only interesting domains in which (1.1) admits a positive solution are proper unbounded domains. Such elliptic problems are difficult because of the lack of compactness in unbounded domains. Remarkable progress in the study of this kind of problem has been made by P. L. Lions [49] and [50].

He developed the concentration-compactness principles for solving a large class of minimization problems with constraints in unbounded domains. The cornerstone is the paper of Esteban-Lions [33], in which they asserted : no any nonzeroal solutions  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for the (1.1) exist in an Esteban-Lions domain (see Definition 2.6.) The characterization of domains in which (1.1) admits a positive solution is an important open question. In this monograph, we present various analyses and use them to characterize several categories of domains in which (1.1) admits a positive solution or multiple solutions.

In Section 2 we define the Palais-Smale (denoted by (PS))-sequences, (PS)-values, and (PS)-conditions. We study the properties of (PS)-values. We recall the classical compactness theorems such as the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem and the Vitali convergence theorem. We then come to study (PS)-conditions: the modern concepts for compactness.

In Section 3 we recall the (PS) decomposition theorems in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  of Lions [49] and the (PS) decomposition theorems in the infinite strip  $\mathbf{A}^r$  of Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47].

In Section 4 we assert the four classical (PS)-values in  $\Omega$ : the constrained maximizing value, the Nehari minimizing value, the mountain pass minimax value, and the minimal positive (PS)-value are the same. We call any one of them the index of the functional J in the domain  $\Omega$ . We also study in detail various indexes of the functional J in domain  $\Omega$ .

In Section 5 we use the indexes of the functional J in domains  $\Omega$  to characterize the (PS)-conditions: we obtain a theorem in which eight conditions are equivalent to the (PS)-conditions.

In Section 6 we establish y-symmetric (PS)-conditions. The development is interesting in its own right and will also be used to prove the multiplicity of nonzero solutions in Section 13.

In Section 7 we present the *y*-symmetric (PS) decomposition theorems in the infinite strip  $\mathbf{A}^r$ .

In Section 8 we study the fundamental properties, regularity, and asymptotic behavior of solutions of (1.1).

In Section 9 we use the asymptotic behavior of solutions developed in Section 8 and apply the "moving plane" method to prove the symmetry of positive solutions to (1.2) in the infinite strip  $\mathbf{A}^r$ . Our approach is similar to those in Gidas-Ni-Nirenberg [34, Theorem 1] and [35, Theorem 2] but is more complicated. Finally we propose an open question—are positive solutions of (1.1) in the generalized infinite strip  $\mathbf{S}^r$  unique up to a translation—?

In Section 10 we characterize Esteban-Lions domains. We prove that proper large domains, Esteban-Lions domains, and some interior flask domains are nonachieved.

Nonachieved domains may admit higher energy solutions. Berestycki conjectured that there is a positive solution of (1.1) in an Esteban-Lions domain with a hole. In Section 11 we answer the Berestycki conjecture affirmatively. We also study the dynamic system of those solutions.

In Section 12 we assert that a bounded domain, a quasibounded domain, a periodic domain, some interior flask domains, some flat interior flask domains, canal domains, and manger domains are achieved. Finally we propose an open question: in Theorem 12.7, is  $s_0 = r$ ?

In Section 12 we prove that there is a ground state solution in an achieved domain. In Section 13 we prove that if we perturb (1.1), then we obtain three

nontrivial solutions of (1.2) or if we perturb the achieved domain by adding or removing a domain, then we obtain three positive solutions of (1.1).

For the simplicity and the convenience of the reader, we present results for (1.1). As a matter of fact, our results also hold for more general semilinear elliptic equations as follows:

$$-\Delta u + u = |u|^{p-2}u + h(z) \quad \text{in } \Omega;$$
  
$$u \in H_0^1(\Omega), \tag{1.2}$$

$$-\Delta u + u = g(u) \quad \text{in } \Omega;$$
  
$$u \in H_0^1(\Omega), \tag{1.3}$$

$$-\Delta u = f(z, u) \quad \text{in } \Omega;$$
  
$$u \in H_0^1(\Omega). \tag{1.4}$$

Readers interested in other aspects of critical point theory may consult the following books: Aubin-Ekeland [6], Brézis [14], Chabrowski [18], [19], Ghoussoub [37], Mawhin-Willem [56], Ni [58], Rabinowitz [64], Struwe [66], Willem [78], and Zeidler [79]. For the study of semilinear elliptic equations in unbounded domains, we recommend the following articles: Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz [4], Benci-Cerami [11], Berestycki-Lions [13], Esteban-Lions [33], Lions [49], [50], Palais [59], and Palais-Smale [60].

I am grateful to Roger Temam for inviting me to visit Université de Paris-Sud in 1983, to Haïm Brézis for introducing me to critical point theory in 1983, to Wei-Ming Ni for introducing me to the semilinear elliptic problems in 1987, to Henri Berestycki, Maria J. Esteban, and H. Attouch, and to Pierre-Louis Lions for giving me his preprints and for enlightening discussions.

# 2. Preliminaries

Throughout this monograph, let  $X(\Omega)$  be a closed linear subspace of  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  with dual  $X^{-1}(\Omega)$  with the space  $X(\Omega)$  satisfying the following three properties:

- (p1) If  $u \in X(\Omega)$ , then  $|u| \in X(\Omega)$
- (p2) If  $u \in X(\Omega)$ , then  $\xi_n u \in X(\Omega)$  for each n = 1, 2, ..., where  $\xi \in C^{\infty}([0, \infty))$  satisfies  $0 \le \xi \le 1$ ,

$$\xi(t) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } t \in [0, 1]; \\ 1 & \text{for } t \in [2, \infty), \end{cases}$$

and

$$\xi_n(z) = \xi(\frac{2|z|}{n}).$$
(2.1)

(p3) If  $u \in X(\Omega)$ , then  $\eta_n u \in X(\Omega)$  for each n = 1, 2, ..., where  $\eta \in C_c^{\infty}([0, \infty))$  satisfies  $0 \le \eta \le 1$  and

$$\eta(t) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } t \in [0,1]; \\ 0 & \text{for } t \in [2,\infty), \end{cases}$$

and

$$\eta_n(z) = \eta(\frac{2|z|}{n}). \tag{2.2}$$



FIGURE 2.  $\eta_n(z)$ .

Ζ

Typical examples of  $X(\Omega)$  are the whole space  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  and the y-symmetric space  $H^1_s(\Omega).$ 

Let  $z = (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N-1} \times \mathbb{R}$ . In this monograph, we refer to three universal domains: the whole space  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , the infinite strip  $\mathbf{A}^r$ , the infinite hole strip  $\mathbf{A}^{r_1, r_2}$  (in this case,  $N \geq 3$ ), and their subdomains: the ball  $B^N(z_0; s)$ , the upper semistrip  $\mathbf{A}_{s}^{r}$ , the interior flask domain  $\mathbf{F}_{s}^{r}$ , the infinite cone  $\mathbf{C}$ , and the epigraph  $\Pi$  as follows.

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{A}^{r} &= \{(x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N} : |x| < r\}; \\ \mathbf{A}^{r}_{s,t} &= \{(x,y) \in \mathbf{A}^{r} : s < y < t\}; \\ \mathbf{A}^{r}_{s} &= \{(x,y) \in \mathbf{A}^{r} : s < y\}; \\ \mathbf{A}^{r}_{s} &= \{(x,y) \in \mathbf{A}^{r} : s < y\}; \\ \mathbf{A}^{r} \setminus \omega, \text{ where } \omega \subset \mathbf{A}^{r} \text{ is a bounded domain}; \\ \widetilde{\mathbf{A}}^{r}_{s} &= \mathbf{A}^{r} \setminus \overline{\mathbf{A}}^{r}_{s}; \\ B^{N}(z_{0}; s) &= \{z \in \mathbb{R}^{N} : |z - z_{0}| < s\}; \\ \mathbf{F}^{r}_{s} &= \mathbf{A}^{r}_{0} \cup B^{N}(0; s); \\ \mathbf{A}^{r_{1}, r_{2}} &= \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N} : r_{1} < |x| < r_{2}\}; \\ \mathbf{A}^{r_{1}, r_{2}}_{s, t} &= \{(x, y) \in \mathbf{A}^{r_{1}, r_{2}} | s < y < t\}; \\ \mathbf{A}^{r_{1}, r_{2}}_{s} &= \{(x, y) \in \mathbf{A}^{r_{1}, r_{2}} | s < y\}; \\ \widetilde{\mathbf{A}}^{r_{1}, r_{2}}_{s} &= \mathbf{A}^{r_{1}, r_{2}} \setminus \overline{\mathbf{A}}^{r_{1}, r_{2}}; \\ \mathbb{R}^{N}_{+} &= \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N} : 0 < y\}; \\ \mathbb{R}^{N}_{-\rho, \rho} &= \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N} : -\rho < y < \rho\}; \\ \mathbf{P}^{+} &= \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N} : y > |x|^{2}\}; \\ \mathbf{P}^{-} &= \{(x, -y) : (x, y) \in \mathbf{P}^{+}\}; \end{split}$$

$$\mathbf{C} = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^N : |x| < y\};$$
$$\Pi = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^N : f(x) < y\}, \text{ where } f : \mathbb{R}^{N-1} \to \mathbb{R} \text{ is a function.}$$

**Definition 2.1.** (i) We say that  $\Omega$  is a large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  if for any  $r > 0, z \in \Omega$  exists such that  $B(z;r) \subset \Omega$ ;

(i') We say that  $\Omega$  is a strictly large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  if  $\Omega$  contains an infinite cone of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ;

(*ii*) We call  $\Omega$  a large domain in  $\mathbf{A}^r$  if for any positive number m, a, b exist such that b - a = m and  $\mathbf{A}^r_{a,b} \subset \Omega$ ;

(ii') We call  $\Omega$  a strictly large domain in  $\mathbf{A}^r$  if  $\Omega$  contains a semi-strip of  $\mathbf{A}^r$ ;

(*iii*) We call  $\Omega$  a large domain in  $\mathbf{A}^{r_1,r_2}$  if for any positive number m, a, b exist with a < b such that b - a = m and  $\mathbf{A}^{r_1,r_2}_{a,b} \subset \Omega$ ;

(*iii'*) We call  $\Omega$  a strictly large domain in  $\mathbf{A}^{r_1,r_2}$  if  $\Omega$  contains a semi-strip of  $\mathbf{A}^{r_1,r_2}$ .

Let  $\Omega$  be any one of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $\mathbf{A}^r$ , or  $\mathbf{A}^{r_1,r_2}$ . Then a strictly large domain in  $\Omega$  is a large domain in  $\Omega$ .

**Example 2.2.** The infinite cone **C**, the upper semi-space  $\mathbb{R}^N_+$ , the paraboloid  $\mathbf{P}^+$ , and the epigraph  $\Pi$  are strictly large domains in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ .

**Example 2.3.**  $\mathbf{A}_s^r$  and  $\mathbf{A}_s^r \setminus D$  are strictly large domains in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ , where  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $D \subset \mathbf{A}_s^r$  is a bounded domain.

**Example 2.4.**  $\mathbf{A}_{s}^{r_{1},r_{2}}$  and  $\mathbf{A}_{s}^{r_{1},r_{2}} \setminus D$  are strictly large domains in  $\mathbf{A}^{r_{1},r_{2}}$ , where  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $D \subset \mathbf{A}_{s}^{r_{1},r_{2}}$  is a bounded domain.

There is a large domains in  $\mathbf{A}^r$  which is not a strictly large domain in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ .

**Example 2.5.** Let  $\Omega = A_0^r \setminus \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B(z_n, \frac{r}{4})$  where  $z_n = (0, 0, \dots, 2^n)$ . Then  $\Omega$  is a large domain in  $A^r$  which is not a strictly large domain in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ .



FIGURE 3. Large domains 1.

**Definition 2.6.** A proper smooth unbounded domain  $\Omega$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  is an Esteban-Lions domain if  $\chi \in \mathbb{R}^N$  exists with  $\|\chi\| = 1$  such that  $n(z) \cdot \chi \ge 0$ , and  $n(z) \cdot \chi \ne 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$ , where n(z) is the unit outward normal vector to  $\partial\Omega$  at the point z.

**Example 2.7.** An upper half strip  $\mathbf{A}_{s}^{r}$ , a lower half strip  $\widetilde{\mathbf{A}_{t}^{r}}$ , the epigraph  $\Pi$ , the infinite cone  $\mathbf{C}$ , the upper half space  $\mathbb{R}^{N}_{+}$ , and the paraboloid  $P^{+}$  are Esteban-Lions domains.

We define the Palais-Smale (denoted by (PS)) sequences, (PS)-values, and (PS)-conditions in  $X(\Omega)$  for J as follows.

**Definition 2.8.** (i) For  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ , a sequence  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J if  $J(u_n) = \beta + o(1)$  and  $J'(u_n) = o(1)$  strongly in  $X^{-1}(\Omega)$  as  $n \to \infty$ ;

(*ii*)  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$  is a (PS)-value in  $X(\Omega)$  for J if there is a (PS)<sub> $\beta$ </sub>-sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J; (*iii*) J satisfies the (PS)<sub> $\beta$ </sub>-condition in  $X(\Omega)$  if every (PS)<sub> $\beta$ </sub>-sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J contains a convergent subsequence;

(*iv*) J satisfies the (PS)-condition in  $X(\Omega)$  if for every  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ , J satisfies the (PS)<sub> $\beta$ </sub>-condition in  $X(\Omega)$ .

A (PS)<sub> $\beta$ </sub>-sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J is a (PS)<sub> $\beta$ </sub>-sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J.

**Lemma 2.9.** (i) For  $\mu \in X^{-1}(\Omega)$ , we can extend it to be  $\mu \in H^{-1}(\Omega)$  such that  $\|\mu\|_{X^{-1}} = \|\mu\|_{H^{-1}}$ ; (ii) Let  $\{u_n\}$  be in  $X(\Omega)$  and satisfy  $J'(u_n) = o(1)$  strongly in  $X^{-1}(\Omega)$ , then  $J'(u_n) = o(1)$  strongly in  $H^{-1}(\Omega)$  as  $n \to \infty$ ;

(iii) If J'(u) = 0 in  $X^{-1}(\Omega)$ , then J'(u) = 0 in  $H^{-1}(\Omega)$ .

*Proof.* (i) Since  $X(\Omega)$  is a closed linear subspace of the Hilbert space  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ , we have

$$H_0^1(\Omega) = X(\Omega) \oplus X(\Omega)^{\perp}$$

Since  $\mu$  is a bounded linear functional in  $X(\Omega)$ , by the Riesz representation theorem, there is a  $w \in X(\Omega)$  such that

$$\mu(\varphi) = \langle w, \varphi \rangle_{H^1} \quad \text{for each } \varphi \in X(\Omega)$$

and  $\|\mu\|_{X^{-1}} = \|w\|_{H^1}$ . Define

$$\mu(\varphi) = \langle w, \varphi \rangle_{H^1} \quad \text{for each } \varphi \in H^1_0(\Omega).$$

Note that  $\langle w, \phi \rangle_{H^1} = 0$  for each  $\phi \in X(\Omega)^{\perp}$ . For any  $v \in H^1_0(\Omega)$  with  $||v||_{H^1} \leq 1$ ,  $v_s \in X(\Omega)$  and  $v_s^{\perp} \in X(\Omega)^{\perp}$  exist such that  $v = v_s + v_s^{\perp}$ . Then

$$|\mu(v)| = |\langle w, v \rangle_{H^1}| = |\langle w, v_s + v_s^{\perp} \rangle_{H^1}| = |\langle w, v_s \rangle_{H^1}| \le ||w||_{H^1} = ||\mu||_{X^{-1}}$$

Thus,  $\|\mu\|_{H^{-1}} \le \|\mu\|_{X^{-1}}$ . Moreover,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mu\|_{X^{-1}} &= \sup\{|\mu(\varphi)| \ |\varphi \in X(\Omega), \ \|\varphi\|_{H^1} \le 1\} \\ &\leq \sup\{|\mu(\varphi)| \ |\varphi \in H^1_0(\Omega), \|\varphi\|_{H^1} \le 1\} \\ &\leq \|\mu\|_{H^{-1}}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore,  $\|\mu\|_{H^{-1}} = \|\mu\|_{X^{-1}}$ . Part (*ii*) follows from part (*i*). Part (*iii*) follows form (*i*).

Bound and weakly convergence are the same.

**Lemma 2.10.** Let Y be a normed linear space and  $u_n \rightarrow u$  weakly in Y, then  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded in Y and

$$\|u\| \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \|u_n\|.$$

**Lemma 2.11.** Let  $u_n \rightharpoonup u$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$ . Then there exists a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  such that:

(i)  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded in  $X(\Omega)$  and  $||u||_{H^1} \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} ||u_n||_{H^1}$ ; (ii)  $u_n \to u, \ \nabla u_n \to \nabla u$  weakly in  $L^2(\Omega)$ , and  $u_n \to u$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ ; (iii)  $||u_n - u||_{H^1}^2 = ||u_n||_{H^1}^2 - ||u||_{H^1}^2 + o(1)$ . *Proof.* Part (i) follows from Lemma 2.10. (ii) For  $v \in (L^2(\Omega))^N$ , define

$$f(u) = \int_{\Omega} v \nabla u \quad \text{for } u \in X(\Omega),$$

then  $|f(u)| \leq ||v||_{L^2} ||\nabla u||_{L^2} \leq ||v||_{L^2} ||u||_{H^1}$ . Thus, f is a bounded linear functional in  $X(\Omega)$ . By the Riesz representation theorem,  $w \in X^{-1}(\Omega)$  exists such that

$$f(u) = \langle u, w \rangle_{H^1} \text{ for } u \in X(\Omega).$$

Hence, if  $u_n \rightharpoonup u$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$ , then  $f(u_n) \rightarrow f(u)$ , or

$$\int_{\Omega} (\nabla u_n) v \to \int_{\Omega} (\nabla u) v \quad \text{for } v \in (L^2(\Omega))^N.$$

Thus,  $\nabla u_n \rightarrow \nabla u$  weakly in  $L^2(\Omega)$ . Similarly, for  $v \in L^2(\Omega)$ , define

$$g(u) = \int_{\Omega} vu \quad \text{for } u \in X(\Omega)$$

then we have  $u_n \to u$  weakly in  $L^2(\Omega)$ . Recall that the embedding  $X(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ is compact. There is a subsequence  $\{u_n^i\}$  of  $\{u_n^{i-1}\}$  and u in  $X(\Omega)$  such that  $u_n^i \to u$ in  $L^p(\Omega \cap B^N(0; i))$  and a.e. in  $\Omega \cap B^N(0; i)$ . Then we have  $u_n^n \to u$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ . (*iii*) By the definition of weak convergence in  $X(\Omega)$ , we have

$$\int_{\Omega} (\nabla u_n \nabla u + u_n u) = \int_{\Omega} (|\nabla u|^2 + |u|^2) + o(1).$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_n - u\|_{H^1}^2 &= \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_n - \nabla u|^2 + \int_{\Omega} |u_n - u|^2 \\ &= \int_{\Omega} (|\nabla u_n|^2 + |u_n|^2) + \int_{\Omega} (|\nabla u|^2 + |u|^2) - 2 \int_{\Omega} (\nabla u_n \nabla u + u_n u) \\ &= \|u_n\|_{H^1}^2 - \|u\|_{H^1}^2 + o(1). \end{aligned}$$

	-	-	-	-	
	L				

There is a sequence which converges weakly to zero.

**Lemma 2.12.** For  $u \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and  $\{z_n\}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  satisfying  $|z_n| \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$ , then  $u(z + z_n) \rightharpoonup 0$  weakly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

*Proof.* For  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\varphi \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , and  $\phi \in C_c^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  exist such that

$$\|\varphi - \phi\|_{H^1} < \varepsilon/2(\|u\|_{H^1} + 1).$$

Let  $K = \operatorname{supp} \phi$ , then K is compact. We have

$$\begin{aligned} \langle u(z+z_n), \phi(z) \rangle_{H^1} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \nabla u(z+z_n) \nabla \phi(z) dz + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u(z+z_n) \phi(z) dz \\ &= \int_K \nabla u(z+z_n) \nabla \phi(z) dz + \int_K u(z+z_n) \phi(z) dz \\ &\leq \| \nabla u(z+z_n) \|_{L^2(K)} \| \nabla \phi \|_{L^2(K)} + \| u(z+z_n) \|_{L^2(K)} \| \phi \|_{L^2(K)} \\ &= o(1) \quad \text{as } n \to \infty. \end{aligned}$$

Thus, for some N > 0 such that  $|\langle u(z+z_n), \phi(z) \rangle_{H^1}| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$  for  $n \ge N$ . In addition,  $\langle u(z+z_n), \varphi(z) \rangle_{H^1} = \langle u(z+z_n), \varphi(z) - \phi(z) \rangle_{H^1} + \langle u(z+z_n), \phi(z) \rangle_{H^1}$  $\le ||u(z+z_n)||_{H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)} ||\varphi(z) - \phi(z)||_{H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)}$ 

$$\begin{split} &+ \langle u(z+z_n), \phi(z) \rangle_{H^1} \\ &\leq \|u(z)\|_{H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)} \|\varphi(z) - \phi(z)\|_{H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \\ &< \varepsilon \text{ for } n \geq N. \end{split}$$

Therefore,  $u(z + z_n) \rightarrow 0$  weakly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

**Lemma 2.13.** For  $u \in H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  and  $\{z_n\}$  in  $\mathbf{A}^r$  satisfying  $|z_n| \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$ , then  $u(z + z_n) \rightharpoonup 0$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

The proof of this lemma is the same as the proof of Lemma 2.12. Therefore, we omit it. Bounded  $L^p(\Omega)$  sequence admits interesting convergent properties.

**Lemma 2.14** (Brézis-Lieb Lemma). Suppose  $u_n \to u$  a.e. in  $\Omega$  and there is a c > 0 such that  $||u_n||_{L^p(\Omega)} \le c$  for n = 1, 2, ... Then (i) $||u_n - u||_{L^p}^p = ||u_n||_{L^p}^p - ||u||_{L^p}^p + o(1);$ (ii)  $|u_n - u|^{p-2}(u_n - u) - |u_n|^{p-2}u_n + |u|^{p-2}u = o(1)$  in  $L^{\frac{p}{p-1}}(\Omega)$ .

*Proof.* (i) Let  $\varphi(t) = t^p$  for t > 0, then  $\varphi'(t) = pt^{p-1}$  and

$$|u_n - u|^p - |u_n|^p = \varphi(|u_n - u|) - \varphi(|u_n|) = \varphi'(t)(|u_n - u| - |u_n|),$$

where  $t = (1 - \theta)|u_n| + \theta|u_n - u| \le |u_n| + |u|$  for some  $\theta \in [0, 1]$ . Thus, by the Young inequality, for  $\varepsilon > 0$ 

 $||u_n - u|^p - |u_n|^p| \le p(|u_n| + |u|)^{p-1}|u| \le d(|u_n|^{p-1}|u|) + d|u|^p \le \varepsilon |u_n|^p + c_\varepsilon |u|^p.$ Thus,

$$||u_n - u|^p - |u_n|^p + |u|^p| \le \varepsilon |u_n|^p + (c_{\varepsilon} + 1)|u|^p.$$

We have

$$\int_{\Omega} ||u_n - u|^p - |u_n|^p + |u|^p| \le \varepsilon c^p + (c_{\varepsilon} + 1) \int_{\Omega} |u|^p$$

Since  $||u||_{L^p} \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} ||u_n||_{L^p} \leq c$ . For some  $\delta > 0$   $|E| < \delta$  implies  $\int_E |u|^p < \varepsilon$ . In addition, K in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  exists such that  $|K| < \infty$  and  $\int_{K^c} |u|^p < \varepsilon$ . Thus,

$$\begin{split} \int_E ||u_n - u|^p - |u_n|^p + |u|^p| &\leq (c^p + c_{\varepsilon} + 1)\varepsilon, \\ \int_{K^c} ||u_n - u|^p - |u_n|^p + |u|^p| &\leq (c^p + c_{\varepsilon} + 1)\varepsilon. \end{split}$$

Clearly,  $||u_n - u|^p - |u_n|^p + |u|^p| = o(1)$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ . By Theorem 2.23 below,  $\int_{\Omega} ||u_n - u|^p - |u_n|^p + |u|^p| = o(1)$ , or

$$|u_n - u||_{L^p}^p = ||u_n||_{L^p}^p - ||u||_{L^p}^p + o(1).$$

(ii) Let  $\varphi(t) = |t|^{p-2}t$ , then  $\varphi'(t) = (p-1)|t|^{p-2}$ . The proof is similar to part (i)

New (PS)-sequences can be produced as follows.

**Lemma 2.15.** Let  $u_n \rightharpoonup u$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$  and

$$J'(u_n) = -\Delta u_n + u_n - |u_n|^{p-2}u_n = o(1) \quad in \ X^{-1}(\Omega).$$

Then

(i)  $|u_n - u|^{p-2}(u_n - u) - |u_n|^{p-2}u_n + |u|^{p-2}u = o(1)$  in  $X^{-1}(\Omega)$ ; (ii)  $J'(\varphi_n) = -\Delta \varphi_n + \varphi_n - |\varphi_n|^{p-2}\varphi_n = o(1)$  in  $X^{-1}(\Omega)$  where  $\varphi_n = u_n - u$ ; (iii) if  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence, then  $\{\varphi_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{(\beta - J(u))}$ -sequence.

(2.4)

*Proof.* (i) By Lemma 2.14,

$$\int_{\Omega} ||u_n - u|^{p-2} (u_n - u) - |u_n|^{p-2} u_n + |u|^{p-2} u|^{\frac{p}{p-1}} = o(1).$$

Now for  $\varphi \in H^1(\Omega)$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle |u_n - u|^{p-2}(u_n - u) - |u_n|^{p-2}u_n + |u|^{p-2}u, \varphi\rangle| \\ &= |\int_{\Omega} \varepsilon_n \varphi| \le (\int_{\Omega} |\varepsilon_n|^{\frac{p}{p-1}})^{\frac{p-1}{p}} (\int_{\Omega} |\varphi|^p)^{1/p} \\ &\le c \|\varepsilon_n\|_{L^{\frac{p}{p-1}}} \|\varphi\|_{H^1}, \end{aligned}$$

where  $\varepsilon_n = |u_n - u|^{p-2}(u_n - u) - |u_n|^{p-2}u_n + |u|^{p-2}u$ . Therefore,

$$|||u_n - u|^{p-2}(u_n - u) - |u_n|^{p-2}u_n + |u|^{p-2}u||_{X^{-1}} \le c||\varepsilon_n||_{L^{\frac{p}{p-1}}} = o(1).$$

(*ii*) Since

$$J'(u_n) = -\Delta u_n + u_n - |u_n|^{p-2}u_n = o(1) \quad \text{in } X(\Omega)$$
(2.3)  
and  $u_n \rightharpoonup u$ , then by Lemma 2.11, we have  $J'(u) = 0$ , or

 $-\Delta u + u - |u|^{p-2}u = 0.$ 

Now by part 
$$(i)$$
,  $(2.3)$ , and  $(2.4)$ ,

$$J'(\varphi_n) = -\Delta\varphi_n + \varphi_n - |\varphi_n|^{p-2}\varphi_n$$
  
=  $-\Delta(u_n - u) + (u_n - u) - |u_n - u|^{p-2}(u_n - u)$   
=  $(-\Delta u_n + u_n - |u_n|^{p-2}u_n) - (-\Delta u + u - |u|^{p-2}u)$   
 $- (|u_n - u|^{p-2}(u_n - u) - |u_n|^{p-2}u_n + |u|^{p-2}u)$   
=  $o(1).$ 

(*iii*) Since  $u_n \rightarrow u$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$  and  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence, by Lemma 2.11, 2.14 and Theorem 2.28 below, a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  exists such that  $a(\varphi_n) = a(u_n) - a(u) + o(1)$  and  $b(\varphi_n) = b(u_n) - b(u) + o(1)$ . Thus,  $J(\varphi_n) = J(u_n) - J(u) + o(1) = \beta - J(u) + o(1)$ . Therefore, by part (*ii*),  $\{\varphi_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{(\beta-J(u))}$ -sequence.

Define the concentration function of  $|u_n|^2$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  by

$$Q_n(t) = \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{z+B^N(0,t)} |u_n|^2.$$

Then we have the following concentration lemma.

**Lemma 2.16.** Let  $\{u_n\}$  be bounded in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and for some  $t_0 > 0$ , let  $Q_n(t_0) = o(1)$ . Then

(i)  $u_n = o(1)$  strongly in  $L^q(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for  $2 < q < 2^*$ ;

(ii) in addition, if  $u_n$  satisfies

$$-\Delta u_n + u_n - |u_n|^{p-2} u_n = o(1) \quad in \ H^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^N),$$

then  $u_n = o(1)$  strongly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

*Proof.* (i) Decompose  $\mathbb{R}^N$  into the family  $\mathcal{F}_0 = \{P_i^0\}_{i=1}^\infty$  of unit cubes  $P_i^0$  of edge 1. Continue to bisect the cubes to obtain the family  $\mathcal{F}_m = \{P_i^m\}_{i=1}^\infty$  of unit cubes  $P_i^m$  of edge  $\frac{1}{2^m}$ . Let  $m_0$  satisfy  $\sqrt{N}\frac{1}{2^{m_0}} < t_0$ . For each *i*, let  $B_i^{m_0}$  be a ball in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  with radius  $t_0$  such that the centers of  $B_i^{m_0}$  and  $P_i^{m_0}$  are the same. Then

 $P_i^{m_0} \subset B_i^{m_0}, \mathbb{R}^N = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} P_i^{m_0}$  and  $\{P_i^{m_0}\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$  are nonoverlapping. Write  $P_i = P_i^{m_0}$ ,  $2 < q < r < 2^*$ , and

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |u_{n}|^{q} &= \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \int_{P_{i}} |u_{n}|^{q} = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \int_{P_{i}} |u_{n}|^{2(1-t)} |u_{n}|^{rt} \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left( \int_{P_{i}} |u_{n}|^{2} \right)^{1-t} \left( \int_{P_{i}} |u_{n}|^{r} \right)^{t} \\ &\leq (Q_{n}(t_{0}))^{(1-t)} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left( \int_{P_{i}} |u_{n}|^{r} \right)^{t} \\ &\leq c(Q_{n}(t_{0}))^{(1-t)} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left( \int_{P_{i}} |\nabla u_{n}|^{2} + u_{n}^{2} \right)^{rt/2}, \end{split}$$

where 0 < t < 1. Since  $\frac{rt}{2} \to \frac{q}{2} > 1$  as  $r \to q$ , we may choose r satisfying  $2 < q < r < 2^*$  and  $s = \frac{rt}{2} > 1$ . Recall that

$$\|\{a_n\}\|_{\ell^s} = (\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |a_n|^s)^{1/s} \le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |a_n| = \|\{a_n\}\|_{\ell^1}, \quad \ell^1 \subset \ell^2 \subset \dots \subset \ell^{\infty}.$$

Thus,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left( \int_{P_i} |\nabla u_n|^2 + |u_n|^2 \right)^{rt/2} \le \left( \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \int_{P_i} (|\nabla u_n|^2 + |u_n|^2) \right)^s$$
$$= \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (|\nabla u_n|^2 + |u_n|^2) \right)^s$$
$$= \|u_n\|_{H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)}^{2s} \le c \quad \text{for } n = 1, 2, \dots$$

Therefore,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_n|^q \le c(Q_n(t_0))^{(1-t)}, \quad \text{or} \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_n|^q = o(1) \quad \text{as } n \to \infty.$$

(ii) In addition, if  $u_n$  satisfies

$$-\Delta u_n + u_n - |u_n|^{p-2} u_n = o(1) \quad \text{in } H^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^N),$$
(2.5)

then  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded. Multiply Equation (2.5) by  $u_n$  and integrate it to obtain

$$a(u_n) = b(u_n) + o(1).$$

By part (i),  $b(u_n) = o(1)$ . Thus,  $a(u_n) = o(1)$ , or  $\|u_n\|_{H^1} = o(1)$  strongly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

**Lemma 2.17.** Let  $\{u_n\}$  be bounded in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  and for some  $t_0 > 0$ ,

$$Q_n^r(t_0) = \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} \int_{(0,y) + \mathbf{A}_{-t_0,t_0}^r} |u_n|^2 = o(1).$$

Then

(i)  $u_n = o(1)$  strongly in  $L^q(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for  $2 < q < 2^*$ ;

(ii) In addition, if  $u_n$  satisfies

$$-\Delta u_n + u_n - |u_n|^{p-2}u_n = o(1) \quad in \ H^{-1}(\mathbf{A}^r),$$

then  $u_n = o(1)$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ .

The proof of the above lemma is the same as the proof of Lemma 2.16. We have a sufficient condition for a solution of (1.1) to be zero.

**Lemma 2.18.** Let  $N \ge 2$ . For c > 0, there is a  $\delta > 0$  such that if  $v \in H_0^1(\Omega)$  solves (1.1) in  $\Omega$  satisfying  $\|v\|_{H^1} \le c$  and  $\|v\|_{L^2} \le \delta$ , then  $v \equiv 0$ .

*Proof.* For  $0 < t_0 < 1$  and  $p < q < \infty$ , let

$$\gamma = \begin{cases} 2t_0 & \text{for } n \ge 3; \\ qt_0 & \text{for } n = 2, \end{cases}$$

and  $p = 2(1-t_0) + \gamma$ . Since  $||v||_{H^1} \leq c$  and  $||v||_{L^2} \leq \delta$ , multiply  $-\Delta v + v = |v|^{p-2}v$  by v and integrate it to obtain

$$\|v\|_{H^{1}}^{2} = \int_{\Omega} |v|^{p} = \int_{\Omega} |v|^{2(1-t_{0})} |v|^{\gamma} \le \|v\|_{L^{2}}^{2(1-t_{0})} \|v\|_{L^{\gamma/t_{0}}}^{\gamma} \le d\delta^{2(1-t_{0})} \|v\|_{H^{1}}^{\gamma}.$$

Thus, we have

$$\|v\|_{H^1}^2 \le d\delta^{2(1-t_0)} \|v\|_{H^1}^{\gamma}.$$
(2.6)

Suppose that  $||v||_{H^1} > 0$ .

(i) Let  $\gamma - 2 \ge 0$ . Note that  $2(1 - t_0) > 0$ . By (2.6), we have  $1 \le d\delta^{2(1-t_0)} \|v\|_{H^1}^{\gamma-2} \le dc^{\gamma-2}\delta^{2(1-t_0)}.$ 

Let  $\delta_1 > 0$  satisfy  $dc^{\gamma-2}\delta_1^{2(1-t_0)} < 1$ . If  $\delta \leq \delta_1$ , then

$$1 \le dc^{\gamma - 2} \delta^{2(1 - t_0)} \le dc^{\gamma - 2} \delta_1^{2(1 - t_0)} < 1,$$

which is a contradiction.

(*ii*) Let  $\gamma - 2 < 0$ . By (2.6), we have

$$\|v\|_{H^1} \le \delta^{\frac{2(1-t_0)}{2-\gamma}} d^{\frac{1}{2-\gamma}},$$

since

$$||v||_{H^1}^2 = \int_{\Omega} |v|^p \le c_1 ||v||_{H^1}^p, \text{ or } 1 \le c_1 ||v||_{H^1}^{p-2}.$$

Thus, we have

$$1 \le c_1 \|v\|_{H^1}^{p-2} \le c_2 \delta^{\frac{2(1-t_0)(p-2)}{2-\gamma}}$$

where  $c_2 = c_1 d^{\frac{p-2}{2-\gamma}} > 0$ . Note that  $\frac{2(1-t_0)(p-2)}{2-\gamma} > 0$ . Let  $\delta_2 > 0$  such that  $c_2 \delta_2^{\frac{2(1-t_0)(p-2)}{2-\gamma}} < 1$ .

If  $\delta \leq \delta_2$ , then  $1 \leq c_2 \delta^{\frac{2(1-t_0)(p-2)}{2-\gamma}} < 1$ , which is a contradiction. Take  $\delta_0 = \min\{\delta_1, \delta_2\}$ , if  $\delta \leq \delta_0$ , from parts (i) and (ii), and we obtain  $||v||_{H^1} = 0$  or v = 0.

Let

$$\tilde{u}(z) = \begin{cases} u(z) & \text{for } z \in \Omega; \\ 0 & \text{for } z \in \mathbb{R}^N \backslash \Omega \end{cases}$$

Then we have the following characterization of a function in  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ .

**Lemma 2.19.** Let  $\Omega$  be a  $C^{0,1}$  domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and  $u \in L^p(\Omega)$  with 1 .Then the following are equivalent: $(i) <math>u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ ;

(ii) there is a constant c > 0 such that

$$\begin{split} |\int_{\Omega} u \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x_i}| &\leq c \|\varphi\|_{L^p}, \quad \text{for each } \varphi \in C_c^1(\mathbb{R}^N), \ i = 1, 2, \dots, N; \\ (iii) \ \tilde{u} \in W_0^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^N) \text{ and } \frac{\partial \tilde{u}}{\partial z_i} = \frac{\partial \tilde{u}}{\partial z_i}. \end{split}$$

For the proof of this lemma, see Brézis [14, Proposition IX.18], Gilbarg-Trudinger [36, Theorem 7.25], and Grisvard [38, p26].

We recall the classical compactness theorems. The Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem is a well-known compactness theorem.

**Theorem 2.20** (Lebesgue Dominated Convergence Theorem). Suppose  $\Omega$  is a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  and u are measurable functions in  $\Omega$  such that  $u_n \to u$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ . If  $\varphi \in L^1(\Omega)$  exists such that for each n

$$|u_n| \leq \varphi$$
 a.e. in  $\Omega$ ,

then  $u_n \to u$  in  $L^1(\Omega)$ .

The converse of the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem fails.

**Example 2.21.** For  $n = 1, 2, ..., let u_n : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be defined by

$$u_n(z) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } z \le n; \\ 2 & \text{for } z = n + 1/2n; \\ 0 & \text{for } z \ge n + 1/n; \\ & \text{linear otherwise.} \end{cases}$$



FIGURE 4. Counter example 1.

We have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} u_n(z) dz = \frac{1}{n} < \infty \quad \text{for each } n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Hence,  $u_n \to 0$  a.e. in  $\mathbb{R}$  and strongly in  $L^1(\mathbb{R})$ . Let  $\varphi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfy  $|u_n| \leq \varphi$  a.e. in  $\mathbb{R}$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\infty = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} u_n \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi$ . Consequently,  $\varphi \notin L^1(\mathbb{R})$ .

However, the generalized Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem is a necessary and sufficient result for  $L^1$  convergence.

**Theorem 2.22** (Generalized Lebesgue Dominated Convergence Theorem:). Suppose  $\Omega$  is a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  and u are measurable functions in  $\Omega$  such that  $u_n \to u$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ . Then  $u_n \to u$  in  $L^1(\Omega)$  if and only if  $\{\varphi_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}, \varphi \in L^1(\Omega)$  exist such that  $\varphi_n \to \varphi$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ ,  $|u_n| \leq \varphi_n$  a.e. in  $\Omega$  for each n, and  $\varphi_n \to \varphi$  in  $L^1(\Omega)$ .

*Proof.* ( $\Longrightarrow$ ) Suppose that  $u_n \to u$  in  $L^1(\Omega)$ , take  $\varphi_n = |u_n|$  and  $\varphi = |u|$ , then  $\varphi_n \to \varphi$  in  $L^1(\Omega)$ .

( $\Leftarrow$ ) Suppose that a sequence of measurable functions  $\{\varphi_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  and  $\varphi$  in  $\Omega$  exist such that  $\varphi_n \in L^1(\Omega), \varphi_n \to \varphi$  a.e. in  $\Omega, |u_n| \leq \varphi_n$  a.e. in  $\Omega$  for each n, and  $\varphi_n \to \varphi$  in  $L^1(\Omega)$ . Applying the Fatou lemma, we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \liminf_{n \to \infty} (\varphi_n - u_n) \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} (\varphi_n - u_n),$$

or

$$\int_{\Omega} u \ge \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} u_n$$

Applying the Fatou lemma again, we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \liminf_{n \to \infty} (\varphi_n + u_n) \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} (\varphi_n + u_n),$$
$$\int_{\Omega} u \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} u_n.$$

or Thus,

$$\int_{\Omega} u = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} u_n.$$

Another necessary and sufficient result for  $L^1$  convergence is the Vitali convergence theorem.

**Theorem 2.23** (Vitali Convergence Theorem for  $L^1(\Omega)$ ). Suppose  $\Omega$  is a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in  $L^1(\Omega)$ , and  $u \in L^1(\Omega)$ . Then  $||u_n - u||_{L^1} \to 0$  if the following three conditions hold:

(i)  $u_n \to u$  a.e in  $\Omega$ ; (ii) (Uniformly integrable) For each  $\varepsilon > 0$ , a measurable set  $E \subset \Omega$  exists such that  $|E| < \infty$  and

$$\int_{E^c} |u_n| d\mu < \varepsilon$$

for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $E^c = \Omega \setminus E$ ;

(iii) (Uniformly continuous) For each  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\delta > 0$  exists such that  $|E| < \delta$  implies

$$\int_E |u_n| d\mu < \varepsilon \quad \text{for each } n \in \mathbb{N}$$

Conversely, if  $||u_n - u||_{L^1} \to 0$ , then conditions (ii) and (iii) hold and there is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  such that (i) holds. Furthermore, if  $|\Omega| < \infty$ , then we can drop condition (ii).

*Proof.* Assume the three conditions hold. Choose  $\varepsilon > 0$  and let  $\delta > 0$  be the corresponding number given by condition (*iii*). Condition (*ii*) provides a measurable set  $E \subset \Omega$  with  $|E| < \infty$  such that

$$\int_{E^c} |u_n| d\mu < \varepsilon$$

for all positive integers n. Since  $|E| < \infty$ , we can apply the Egorov theorem to obtain a measurable set  $B \subset E$  with  $|E \setminus B| < \delta$  such that  $u_n$  converges uniformly to u on B. Now write

$$\int_{\Omega} |u_n - u| d\mu = \int_{B} |u_n - u| d\mu + \int_{E \setminus B} |u_n - u| d\mu + \int_{E^c} |u_n - u| d\mu.$$

Since  $u_n \to u$  uniformly in *B*, the first integral on the right can be made arbitrarily small for large *n*. The second and third integrals will be estimated with the help of the inequality

$$|u_n - u| \le |u_n| + |u|.$$

From condition (*iii*), we have  $\int_{E \setminus B} |u_n| d\mu < \varepsilon$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and the Fatou Lemma shows that  $\int_{E \setminus B} |u| d\mu \leq \varepsilon$  as well. The third integral can be handled in a similar way using condition (*ii*). Thus, it follows that  $||u_n - u||_{L^1} \to 0$ .

Now suppose  $||u_n - u||_{L^1} \to 0$ . Then for each  $\varepsilon > 0$ , a positive integer  $n_0$  exists such that  $||u_n - u||_{L^1} < \varepsilon/2$  for  $n > n_0$ , and measurable sets A and B of finite measure exist such that

$$\int_{A^c} |u| d\mu < \varepsilon/2 \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{B^c} |u_n| d\mu < \varepsilon \quad \text{for } n = 1, 2, \dots, n_0.$$

Minkowski's inequality implies that

$$||u_n||_{L^1(A^c)} \le ||u_n - u||_{L^1(A^c)} + ||u||_{L^1(A^c)} < \varepsilon \quad \text{for } n > n_0.$$

Then let  $E = A \cup B$  to obtain the necessity of condition (*ii*). Similar reasoning establishes the necessity of condition (*iii*).

Convergence in  $L^1$  implies convergence in measure. Hence, condition (i) holds for a subsequence.

There is a bounded sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $L^1(\mathbb{R})$  that violates Theorem 2.23 condition (*ii*).

**Example 2.24.** For  $n = 1, 2, ..., let u_n : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be defined by

$$u_n(z) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } z \le n; \\ 2 & \text{for } z = n+1/2; \\ 0 & \text{for } z \ge n+1; \\ & \text{linear otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

then  $\int_{\mathbb{R}} u_n(z) dz = 1$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Clearly,  $\{u_n\}$  violates Theorem 2.23 (ii).

There is a bounded sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $L^1(\mathbb{R})$  that violates Theorem 2.23 condition *(iii)*.



FIGURE 5. counter example violating Theorem 2.23 condition (*ii*).

**Example 2.25.** For  $n = 1, 2, ..., let u_n : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be defined by

$$u_n(z) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } z \le n; \\ 2n & \text{for } z = n + 1/2n; \\ 0 & \text{for } z \ge n + 1/n; \\ & \text{linear therwise.} \end{cases}$$



FIGURE 6. counter example violating Theorem 2.23 condition (*iii*).

Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} u_n(z) dz = 1 \quad \text{for each } n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Clearly,  $\{u_n\}$  violates Theorem 2.23 condition (*iii*).

**Lemma 2.26.** In the Vitali convergence theorem 2.23 condition (ii), the set E with  $|E| < \infty$  can be replaced by the condition that E is bounded.

*Proof.* Let  $E_n = E \cap B^N(0;n)$  for n = 1, 2, ... Then  $E_1 \subset E_2 \subset \cdots \nearrow E$ . Thus  $|E_1| \leq |E_2| \leq \cdots \nearrow |E|$ . For  $\delta > 0$  as in Theorem 2.23 condition (*iii*), there is an  $E_N$  such that  $|E \setminus E_N| < \delta$ . Now

$$\int_{E_N^c} |u_n| dz = \int_{E^c} |u_n| dz + \int_{E \setminus E_N} |u_n| dz < 2\varepsilon$$

for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Lemma 2.27.** Let  $\Omega$  be a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $1 \le r < q < s$ , and  $\{u_n\}$  in  $L^r(\Omega) \cap L^s(\Omega)$ . Suppose that either  $||u_n||_{L^r} = o(1)$  and  $||u_n||_{L^s} = O(1)$ , or  $||u_n||_{L^r} = O(1)$  and  $||u_n||_{L^s} = o(1)$ , then  $||u_n||_{L^q} = o(1)$ .

*Proof.* Note that q = (1 - t)r + ts, 0 < t < 1, so by the Hölder inequality,

$$\int_{\Omega} |u_n|^q dz \le \Big(\int_{\Omega} |u_n|^r dz\Big)^{1-t} \Big(\int_{\Omega} |u_n|^s dz\Big)^t.$$

Then the conclusion follows.

We recall the Sobolev embedding theorem as follows.

**Theorem 2.28** (Sobolev Embedding Theorem in  $W_0^{m,p}(\Omega)$ )). Let  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $1 \leq p < \infty$ . Then we have the following continuous injections. (i) If  $\frac{1}{p} - \frac{m}{N} > 0$ , then  $W_0^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^q(\Omega)$ , where  $q \in [p, p^*]$ ,  $\frac{1}{p^*} = \frac{1}{p} - \frac{m}{N}$ ; (ii) If  $\frac{1}{p} - \frac{m}{N} = 0$ , then  $W_0^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^q(\Omega)$ , where  $q \in [p, \infty)$ ; (iii) If  $\frac{1}{p} - \frac{m}{N} < 0$ , then  $W_0^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^\infty(\Omega)$ . Moreover, if  $m - \frac{N}{p} > 0$  is not an integer, let  $k = \left[m - \frac{N}{p}\right]$  and  $\theta = m - \frac{N}{p} - k$  $(0 < \theta < 1)$ , then we have for  $u \in W_0^{m,p}(\Omega)$ 

$$\|D^{\rho}u\|_{L^{\infty}} \le c\|u\|_{W^{m,p}} \quad \text{for } |\beta| \le k$$
$$|u(x) - u(y)| \le c\|u\|_{W^{m,p}} |x - y|^{\theta} \qquad a.e. \text{ for } x, y \in \Omega.$$

In particular,  $W_0^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow C^{k,\theta}(\overline{\Omega}).$ 

For the proof of the theorem above, see Gilbarg-Trudinger [36, p.164].

**Definition 2.29.**  $\Omega$  satisfies a uniform interior cone condition if a fixed cone  $K_{\Omega}$  exists such that each  $x \in \partial \Omega$  is the vertex of a cone  $K_{\Omega}(x) \subset \overline{\Omega}$  and congruent to  $K_{\Omega}$ .

**Theorem 2.30** (Sobolev Embedding Theorem in  $W^{m,p}(\Omega)$ ). Let  $\Omega$  satisfy a uniform interior cone condition,  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $1 \leq p < \infty$ . Then we have the following continuous injections.

(i) If  $\frac{1}{p} - \frac{m}{N} > 0$ , then  $W^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^q(\Omega)$ , where  $q \in [p, p^*]$  and  $\frac{1}{p^*} = \frac{1}{p} - \frac{m}{N}$ ; (ii) If  $\frac{1}{p} - \frac{m}{N} = 0$ , then  $W^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^q(\Omega)$ , where  $q \in [p, \infty)$ ; (iii) If  $\frac{1}{p} - \frac{m}{N} < 0$ , then  $W^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^\infty(\Omega)$ . Moreover, if  $m - \frac{N}{p} > 0$  is not an integer, let

$$k = \left[m - \frac{N}{p}\right] \quad and \quad \theta = m - \frac{N}{p} - k \quad (0 < \theta < 1),$$

then we have for  $u \in W^{m,p}(\Omega)$ ,

$$\|D^{\beta}u\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq c\|u\|_{W^{m,p}} \quad \text{for } \beta \quad \text{with } |\beta| \leq k$$
$$|D^{\beta}u(x) - D^{\beta}u(y)| \leq c\|u\|_{W^{m,p}}|x - y|^{\theta} \quad a.e. \text{ for } x, y \in \Omega \quad \text{and } |\beta| = k.$$

In particular,  $W^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow C^{k,\theta}(\overline{\Omega}).$ 

For the proof of the theorem above, see Brézis [14, Cor. IX.13] and Gilbarg-Trudinger [36, Theorem 7.26].

**Theorem 2.31** (Rellich-Kondrakov Theorem in  $W_0^{m,p}(\Omega)$ ). Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded domain,  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $1 \leq p < \infty$ . Then we have the following compact injections. (i) If  $\frac{1}{p} - \frac{m}{N} > 0$ , then  $W_0^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^q(\Omega)$ , where  $q \in [1, p^*)$ ,  $\frac{1}{p^*} = \frac{1}{p} - \frac{m}{N}$ ;

(i) If  $\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{N} > 0$ , then  $W_0 \xrightarrow{\sim} (\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^q(\Omega)$ , where  $q \in [1, p^*)$ ,  $\frac{1}{p^*} = \frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{N}$ ; (ii) If  $\frac{1}{p} - \frac{m}{N} = 0$ , then  $W_0^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^q(\Omega)$ , where  $q \in [1, \infty)$ ; (iii) If  $\frac{1}{p} - \frac{m}{N} < 0$ , then  $W_0^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow C^k(\overline{\Omega})$ , where  $m - \frac{N}{p} > 0$  is not an integer and  $k = \left[m - \frac{N}{p}\right]$ .

For the proof of the aboved theorem, see Gilbarg-Trudinger [36, Theorem 7.22].

**Theorem 2.32** (Rellich-Kondrakov Theorem in  $W^{m,p}(\Omega)$ ). Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded  $C^{0,1}$  domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $1 \leq p < \infty$ . Then we have the following compact injections.

$$\begin{array}{l} (i) \ If \ \frac{1}{p} - \frac{m}{N} > 0, \ then \ W^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^q(\Omega), \ where \ q \in [1,p^*), \ \frac{1}{p^*} = \frac{1}{p} - \frac{m}{N}; \\ (ii) \ If \ \frac{1}{p} - \frac{m}{N} = 0, \ then \ W^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^q(\Omega), \ where \ q \in [1,\infty); \\ (iii) \ If \ \frac{1}{p} - \frac{m}{N} < 0, \ then \ W^{m,p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow C^{k,\beta}(\overline{\Omega}), \ where \ m - \frac{N}{p} > 0 \ is \ not \ an \ integer \\ 0 < \beta < \theta, \ k = \left[m - \frac{N}{p}\right], \ and \ \theta = m - \frac{N}{p} - k \ (0 < \theta < 1). \end{array}$$

For the proof of the above theorem, see Brézis [14, p. 169] and Gilbarg-Trudinger [36, Theorem 7.26].

For the Sobolev space  $X(\Omega)$ , we can drop condition (*iii*) of the Vitali convergence theorem 2.23 through the interpolation results.

**Theorem 2.33** (Rellich-Kondrakov Theorem). Let  $\Omega$  be a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  of finite measure. Then the embedding  $X(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^p(\Omega)$  is compact.

*Proof.* Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a bounded sequence in  $X(\Omega)$ , then by Lemma 2.11, a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and  $u \in X(\Omega)$  exist such that  $u_n \to u$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ . By the Egorov theorem, for  $\varepsilon > 0$ , a closed subset F in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  exists such that  $F \subset \Omega$ ,  $|\Omega \setminus F| < \varepsilon$ , and  $u_n \to u$  uniformly in F. Thus,

$$\int_F |u_n - u|^p = o(1) \quad \text{as } n \to \infty.$$

For N > 2, we have

$$\int_{\Omega \setminus F} |u_n - u|^p \le \left(\int_{\Omega \setminus F} 1\right)^{1/r} \left(\int_{\Omega \setminus F} |u_n - u|^{ps}\right)^{1/s}$$
$$\le |\Omega \setminus F|^{1/r} \left(\int_{\Omega} |u_n - u|^{ps}\right)^{1/s}$$
$$\le c ||u_n - u||_{H^1}^p |\Omega \setminus F|^{1/r} < c\varepsilon^{1/r},$$

where  $ps = 2^*$  and  $\frac{1}{r} + \frac{1}{s} = 1$ . For N = 2, take any s > 1 to obtain the above inequality. Hence,  $u_n \to u$  strongly in  $L^p(\Omega)$ .

**Theorem 2.34** (Vitali Convergence Theorem for  $X(\Omega)$ ). (i) Let  $\Omega$  be a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  of finite measure. Then the embedding  $X(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^p(\Omega)$  is compact;

(ii) Let  $\Omega$  be a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and let  $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence in  $X(\Omega)$ . Suppose that a constant c > 0 exists such that  $||u_n||_{H^1} \leq c$  for each n and  $u_n \to u$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ . Then for each  $\varepsilon > 0$ , a measurable set  $E \subset \Omega$  exists such that  $|E| < \infty$  and  $\int_{E^c} |u_n|^p dz < \varepsilon$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  if and only if  $||u_n - u||_{L^p(\Omega)} = o(1)$ .

*Proof.* Part (i) follows from Willem [78]. (ii) By the Fatou lemma,  $\int_{E^c} |u|^p dz \leq \varepsilon$ . Since  $|E| < \infty$  and  $||u_n||_{H^1} \leq c$ , by (i), there is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  satisfying

$$\int_E |u_n - u|^p dz = o(1).$$

Therefore,

$$\int_{\Omega} |u_n - u|^p dz = \int_{E \cap \Omega} |u_n - u|^p dz + \int_{E^c \cap \Omega} |u_n - u|^p dz = o(1)$$

Now suppose  $||u_n - u||_{L^p(\Omega)} = o(1)$ . Then for each  $\varepsilon > 0$ , a positive integer  $n_0$  exists such that  $||u_n - u||_{L^p(\Omega)} < \frac{\varepsilon^{1/p}}{2}$  for  $n > n_0$ , and measurable sets A and B of finite measure exist such that

$$\int_{A^c} |u|^p dz < \frac{\varepsilon}{2^p} \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{B^c} |u_n|^p dz < \varepsilon \quad \text{for } n = 1, 2, \dots, n_0.$$

The Minkowski inequality implies

$$||u_n||_{L^p(A^c)} \le ||u_n - u||_{L^p(A^c)} + ||u||_{L^p(A^c)} < \varepsilon^{1/p} \text{ for } n > n_0.$$

Then let  $E = A \cup B$  to obtain the conclusion.

Let  $L_w^p(\mathbb{R}^N) = \{u \in L_{loc}^p(\mathbb{R}^N) : \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u(z)|^p w(z) dz < \infty\}$  be a weighted Lebesgue space, where the weight w is nonnegative with

$$||u||_{L^p_w(\mathbb{R}^N)}^p = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u(z)|^p w(z) dz.$$

We denote by Q(x, l) the cube of the form

$$Q(x,l) = \{y \in \mathbb{R}^N : |y_j - x_j| < l/2, \, j = 1, \dots, N\}.$$

**Theorem 2.35** (Vitali Convergence Theorem for  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ). The embedding of  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  into  $L^p_w(\mathbb{R}^N)$  is compact:

(i) Let N > 2. Suppose that  $w \in L_w^{\frac{p+\delta}{\delta}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , with  $2 \leq p for some <math>\delta > 0$ , and

$$\lim_{|x| \to \infty} \int_{Q(x,l)} w(z)^{\frac{p+\delta}{\delta}} dz = 0$$
(2.7)

for some l > 0. Then  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  is compactly embedded in  $L^p_w(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ; (ii) Let N = 2 and suppose that  $w \in L^s_w(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for some s > 1 and

$$\lim_{|x| \to \infty} \int_{Q(x,l)} w(z)^s dz = 0$$
(2.8)

for some l > 0. Then  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  is compactly embedded in  $L^p_w(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for every  $p \ge 2$ ; (iii) Let N = 1 and suppose that  $w \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and

$$\lim_{|x| \to \infty} \int_{Q(x,l)} w(z) dz = 0$$
(2.9)

for some l > 0. Then  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  is compact embedded in  $L^p_w(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for every  $p \ge 2$ .

*Proof.* (i) It suffices to show that for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , a R > 0 exists such that

$$\|u - u\chi_{Q(0,R)}\|_{L^p_w(\mathbb{R}^N)} < \varepsilon \tag{2.10}$$

for each  $u \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  such that  $||u||_{H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)} \leq 1$ , where  $\chi_Q$  is the characteristic function of the cube. Indeed, let  $\{u_n\}$  be a bounded sequence in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . We

assume that  $||u_n||_{H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)} \leq 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Consequently, a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and a  $u \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  exist such that  $u_n \rightharpoonup u$  in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and  $u_n \rightarrow u$  in  $L^p(Q(0, R))$ . On the other hand, by (2.10), we have

$$\|u_n - u\|_{L^p_w(\mathbb{R}^N \setminus Q(0,R))} \le \|u_n\|_{L^p_w(\mathbb{R}^N \setminus Q(0,R))} + \|u\|_{L^p_w(\mathbb{R}^N \setminus Q(0,R))} \le 2\varepsilon.$$

Combining this with the previous observation, it is easy to conclude that  $u_n \to u$ in  $L^p_w(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

To show (2.10), we cover  $\mathbb{R}^N$  with cubes  $Q(\hat{z}, 1), \hat{z} \in \mathbb{Z}^N$ . We may assume that (i) holds with l = 1. For  $\eta > 0$ , we use (2.7) to find a positive constant  $n_0$  such that  $\int_Q w(z)^{\frac{p+\delta}{\delta}} dz < \eta$  for each  $Q = Q(\hat{z}, 1)$  outside  $Q(0, n_0)$ . By the Sobolev embedding theorem, for any  $u \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , a constant c > 0 exists such that

$$||u||_{L^p(Q)} \le c ||u||_{H^1(Q)}$$
 for all  $2 \le p < 2^*$ .

Thus, by the Hölder inequality, we have

$$\int_{Q} |u|^{p} w dz \leq \left(\int_{Q} w^{\frac{p+\delta}{\delta}} dz\right)^{\frac{\delta}{p+\delta}} \left(\int_{Q} |u|^{p+\delta} dz\right)^{\frac{p}{p+\delta}} \leq c' \eta^{1/s} \|u\|_{H^{1}(Q)}^{p}$$

where  $c' = c^{p/(p+\delta)}$ . Now, choose  $c'\eta^{1/s} < \varepsilon$  and add these inequalities over all  $Q(\hat{z}, 1)$  outside  $Q(0, n_0)$  to obtain  $R = n_0$ . (*ii*) and (*iii*) are similar to (*i*).

We define  $H^1_r(\Omega) = \{ u \in H^1_0(\Omega) : u \text{ is radially symmetric} \}.$ 

**Lemma 2.36.** For  $N \ge 2$ , every  $u \in H^1_r(\mathbb{R}^N)$  is equal to a continuous function Ua.e. in  $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\}$  such that for  $z \ne 0$ 

$$|U(z)| \le \left(\frac{2}{\omega_N}\right)^{1/2} |z|^{\frac{1-N}{2}} \left(\int_{|t|\ge |z|} |u(t)|^2 dt\right)^{1/4} \left(\int_{|y|\ge |z|} |\nabla u(t)|^2 dt\right)^{1/4},$$

where  $\omega_N$  is the area of the unit ball in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  be a radially symmetric function. Then for  $0 \leq r < \infty$ ,

$$r^{N-1}\varphi(r)^{2} = \int_{0}^{r} (s^{N-1}\varphi(s)^{2})'ds$$
  
=  $(N-1)\int_{0}^{r} s^{N-2}\varphi(s)^{2}ds + 2\int_{0}^{r} s^{N-1}\varphi(s)\varphi'(s)ds.$ 

Thus,

$$0 = (N-1) \int_0^\infty s^{N-2} \varphi(s)^2 ds + 2 \int_0^\infty s^{N-1} \varphi(s) \varphi'(s) ds.$$

Consequently,

$$\begin{split} r^{N-1}\varphi(r)^2 &\leq (N-1)\int_0^\infty s^{N-2}\varphi(s)^2 ds + 2\int_0^r s^{N-1}\varphi(s)\varphi'(s)ds \\ &= -2\int_r^\infty s^{N-1}\varphi(s)\varphi'(s)ds \\ &= (\frac{-2}{\omega_N})\int_{|t|\geq r}\varphi(t)\varphi'(t)dt \\ &\leq (\frac{2}{\omega_N})\Big(\int_{|t|\geq r}|\varphi(t)|^2 dt\Big)^{1/2}\Big(\int_{|t|\geq r}|\nabla\varphi(t)|^2 dt\Big)^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

For  $u \in H^1_r(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , take a sequence  $\{\varphi_n\}$  radially symmetric in  $C^{\infty}_c(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , such that

$$v_n \to u \quad \text{in } H^1(\mathbb{R}^N),$$

then there is a subsequence  $\{\varphi_n(r)\}$  such that

$$\begin{split} r^{N-1}u(r)^2 &= \lim_{n \to \infty} r^{N-1}\varphi_n(r)^2 \\ &\leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(\frac{2}{\omega_N}\right) \left(\int_{|t| \ge r} |\varphi_n(t)|^2 dt\right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{|t| \ge r} |\nabla \varphi_n(t)|^2 dt\right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{2}{\omega_N}\right) \left(\int_{|t| \ge r} |u(t)|^2 dt\right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{|t| \ge r} |\nabla u(t)|^2 dt\right)^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

Since  $u \in H^1_r(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , it is a function in  $H^1(\mathbb{R})$ , and there is a continuous function U in  $\mathbb{R}$  such that u = U a.e. and

$$|U(z)| \le \left(\frac{2}{\omega_N}\right)^{1/2} |z|^{\frac{1-N}{2}} \left(\int_{|t|\ge |z|} |u(t)|^2 dt\right)^{1/4} \left(\int_{|t|\ge |z|} |\nabla u(t)|^2 dt\right)^{1/4}.$$

Let  $\Theta$  be an annulus, say  $\Theta = \{z \in \mathbb{R}^N : 1 < |z|\}$  with  $N \ge 3$ .

**Theorem 2.37** (Rellich-Kondrakov Theorem for  $H^1_r(\Theta)$ ). The embedding  $H^1_r(\Theta) \hookrightarrow L^p(\Theta)$  is compact.

*Proof.* Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a bounded sequence in  $H_r^1(\Theta)$ . Then a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  exists such that  $u_n \to u$  a.e. in  $\Theta$  and  $u_n \to u$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\Theta)$ . By Lemma 2.36,  $\lim_{|z|\to\infty} u_n(z) = 0$  uniformly in n and  $\lim_{s\to 0} \frac{|s|^p}{|s|^2 + |s|^{2^*}} = 0$ . Thus, for  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there is a K > 0 such that if  $|z| \ge K$ , for each n, we have

$$|u_n(z)|^p \le \varepsilon(|u_n(z)|^2 + |u_n(z)|^{2^*}),$$

or

$$\int_{\Theta_K^c} |u_n|^p \le c\varepsilon,$$

where  $\Theta_K = \{z \in \Theta : |z| < K\}$ . By the Fatou lemma,

γ

$$\int_{\Theta_K^c} |u|^p \le c\varepsilon.$$

By the Rellich-Kondrakov compactness theorem, a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  exists such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Theta_K} |u_n - u|^p = 0$$

Thus,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Theta} |u_n - u|^p = 0.$$

For any  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ , a (PS)<sub> $\beta$ </sub>-sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J is bounded. Moreover, a (PS)-value  $\beta$  should be nonnegative.

**Lemma 2.38.** Let  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$  and let  $\{u_n\}$  be a  $(PS)_\beta$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J, then a positive sequence  $\{c_n(\beta)\}$  exists such that  $||u_n||_{H^1} \leq c_n(\beta) \leq c$  for each n and  $c_n(\beta) = o(1)$  as  $n \to \infty$  and  $\beta \to 0$ . Furthermore,

$$a(u_n) = b(u_n) + o(1) = \frac{2p}{p-2}\beta + o(1)$$

and  $\beta \geq 0$ .

*Proof.* Since  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J, we have

$$|\beta| + \delta_n + \frac{\varepsilon_n ||u_n||_{H^1}}{p} \ge J(u_n) - \frac{1}{p} \langle J'(u_n), u_n \rangle = (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}) ||u_n||_{H^1}^2,$$

where  $\delta_n = o(1)$  and  $\varepsilon_n = o(1)$ . Take

$$c_n(\beta) = \frac{1}{p-2} (\varepsilon_n + \sqrt{\varepsilon_n^2 + 2p(p-2)(|\beta| + \delta_n)}),$$

then  $c_n(\beta) = o(1)$  as  $n \to \infty$  and  $\beta \to 0$  and  $||u_n||_{H^1} \le c(\beta) \le c$  for each n. Since  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded, we have

$$o(1) = \langle J'(u_n), u_n \rangle = a(u_n) - b(u_n),$$

or

$$\beta + o(1) = J(u_n) = \frac{1}{2}a(u_n) - \frac{1}{p}b(u_n) = \frac{p-2}{2p}a(u_n) + o(1).$$

Therefore,

$$a(u_n) = b(u_n) + o(1) = \frac{2p}{p-2}\beta + o(1).$$

This implies  $\beta \geq 0$ .

**Lemma 2.39.** Let  $\{u_n\}$  be in  $X(\Omega)\setminus\{0\}$  satisfying  $a(u_n) = b(u_n) + o(1)$  and let  $J(u_n) = \beta + o(1)$  with  $\beta > 0$ , then c > 0 exists such that  $||u_n||_{H^1} \ge c$  for each n.

*Proof.* Suppose that a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  satisfies  $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||u_n||_{H^1} = 0$ . Then  $J(u_n) = o(1)$ , but this contradicts  $\beta > 0$ . Thus, c > 0 exists such that  $||u_n||_{H^1} \ge c$  for each n.

Let  $\Omega$  be an unbounded domain and  $\xi_n$  as in (2.1), then we have the following lemma.

**Lemma 2.40.** Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J such that

$$\int_{\Omega_n} |u_n|^p = o(1),$$

where  $\Omega_n = \Omega \cap B^N(0;n)$ . Then for any  $r \ge 1$ , we have (i)  $\int_{\Omega} \xi_n^r |u_n|^p = \int_{\Omega} |u_n|^p + o(1) = \frac{2p}{p-2}\beta + o(1);$ (ii)  $\int_{\Omega} \xi_n^r (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) = \int_{\Omega} \xi_n^r |u_n|^p + o(1) = \frac{2p}{p-2}\beta + o(1);$ (iii)  $\int_{\Omega} (\xi_n^r - 1)u_n\varphi = o(1) \|\varphi\|_{H^1}$  for every  $\varphi \in X(\Omega);$ (iv)  $|\int_{\Omega} (\xi_n^r - 1)|u_n|^{p-2}u_n\varphi| = o(1) \|\varphi\|_{H^1}$  for every  $\varphi \in X(\Omega);$ (v)  $|\int_{\Omega} (\xi_n^r - 1)\nabla u_n\nabla \varphi| = o(1) \|\varphi\|_{H^1}$  for every  $\varphi \in X(\Omega).$ 

*Proof.* (i) Clearly, we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \xi_n^r |u_n|^p = \int_{\Omega} |u_n|^p + o(1) = \frac{2p}{p-2}\beta + o(1).$$

(ii) Let  $w_n=\xi_n^r u_n.$  Since  $\{w_n\}$  is bounded in  $X(\Omega),$  we have

$$o(1) = \langle J'(u_n), w_n \rangle$$
  
= 
$$\int_{\Omega} (\xi_n^r |\nabla u_n|^2 + r\xi_n^{r-1} u_n \nabla \xi_n \cdot \nabla u_n + \xi_n^r u_n^2) - \int_{\Omega} \xi_n^r |u_n|^p.$$

Note that  $|\nabla \xi_n(z)| \leq \frac{c}{n}$  and  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded in  $X(\Omega)$ , so

$$\int_{\Omega} \xi_n^{r-1} u_n \nabla \xi_n \cdot \nabla u_n = o(1).$$

We conclude that

$$\int_{\Omega} \xi_n^r (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) = \int_{\Omega} \xi_n^r |u_n|^p + o(1) = \frac{2p}{p-2}\beta + o(1).$$

Therefore, the results follow.

(iii) By the Hölder and Sobolev inequalities, we have

$$\left|\int_{\Omega} (\xi_n^r - 1) u_n \varphi\right| \le \left(\int_{\Omega_n} |u_n|^2\right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{\Omega} |\varphi|^2\right)^{1/2} \le o(1) \|\varphi\|_{H^1}.$$

(iv) By the Hölder and Sobolev inequalities, we have

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} (\xi_n^r - 1) |u_n|^{p-2} u_n \varphi \right| \le \left( \int_{\Omega_n} |u_n|^p \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \left( \int_{\Omega} |\varphi|^p \right)^{1/p} \le o(1) \|\varphi\|_{H^1}.$$

(v) By the hypothesis and part (i), we have

$$\begin{split} o(1) &= \langle J'(u_n), w_n \rangle \\ &= \langle J'(u_n), w_n \rangle - \langle J'(u_n), u_n \rangle + \langle J'(u_n), u_n \rangle \\ &= \int_{\Omega} (\xi_n^r - 1) |\nabla u_n|^2 + \int_{\Omega} (\xi_n^r - 1) u_n^2 - \int_{\Omega} (\xi_n^r - 1) |u_n|^p + o(1) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} (\xi_n^r - 1) |\nabla u_n|^2 + o(1). \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\int_{\Omega} (\xi_n^r - 1) |\nabla u_n|^2 \Big| = \int_{\Omega} (1 - \xi_n^r) |\nabla u_n|^2 = o(1).$$

Therefore, by the Hölder inequality,

$$\begin{split} |\int_{\Omega} (\xi_n^r - 1) \nabla u_n \nabla \varphi| &\leq \left( \int_{\Omega} (\xi_n^r - 1)^2 |\nabla u_n|^2 \right)^{1/2} \|\varphi\|_{H^1} \\ &\leq \left( \int_{\Omega} (1 - \xi_n^r) |\nabla u_n|^2 \right)^{1/2} \|\varphi\|_{H^1} \\ &\leq o(1) \|\varphi\|_{H^1}. \end{split}$$

**Lemma 2.41.** (i) Suppose that  $\{u_n\}$  is a sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  satisfying  $u_n \to 0$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$ , then there is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $X(\Omega)$  such that  $\int_{\Omega_n} |u_n|^p = o(1)$  as  $n \to \infty$ ;

(ii) For any  $\beta > 0$ , suppose that  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J satisfying  $\int_{\Omega_n} |u_n|^p = o(1)$  as  $n \to \infty$ , then  $\{\xi_n u_n\}$  is also a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J.

*Proof.* (i) Since  $u_n \to 0$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$ , there is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  such that  $u_n \to u$  strongly in  $L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ , or there is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  such that

$$\int_{\Omega_n} |u_n|^p = o(1),$$

where  $\Omega_n = \Omega \cap B^N(0; n)$ .

(*ii*) Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J satisfying  $\int_{\Omega_n} |u_n|^p = o(1)$  as  $n \to \infty$ . By Lemma 2.40, we have

$$\begin{split} J(\xi_n u_n) &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \left[ |\nabla(\xi_n u_n)|^2 + (\xi_n u_n)^2 \right] - \frac{1}{p} \int_{\Omega} |\xi_n u_n|^p \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \left[ |\nabla\xi_n|^2 u_n^2 + \xi_n^2 (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) + 2\xi_n u_n \nabla\xi_n \nabla u_n \right] - \frac{1}{p} \int_{\Omega} \xi_n^p |u_n|^p \\ &= \frac{1}{2} a(u_n) - \frac{1}{p} b(u_n) + o(1) = \beta + o(1). \end{split}$$

Then for  $\varphi \in X(\Omega)$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle J'(\xi_n u_n), \varphi \rangle| \\ &= |\langle J'(\xi_n u_n), \varphi \rangle - \langle J'(u_n), \varphi \rangle + \langle J'(u_n), \varphi \rangle| \\ &= |\int_{\Omega} \langle \xi_n \nabla u_n \nabla \varphi + u_n \nabla \xi_n \nabla \varphi + \xi_n u_n \varphi - \xi_n^{p-1} |u_n|^{p-2} u_n \varphi) \\ &- \langle J'(u_n), \varphi \rangle + \langle J'(u_n), \varphi \rangle| \\ &= |\int_{\Omega} \left[ (\xi_n - 1) \nabla u_n \nabla \varphi + (\xi_n - 1) u_n \varphi - (\xi_n^{p-1} - 1) |u_n|^{p-2} u_n \varphi \right] + \langle J'(u_n), \varphi \rangle| \\ &\leq o(1) \|\varphi\|_{H^1} \\ \text{Thus, } J'(\xi_n u_n) = o(1). \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, we have the following lemma.

**Lemma 2.42.** Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a (PS)-sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J satisfying  $u_n \rightharpoonup 0$ weakly in  $X(\Omega)$  and let  $v_n = \xi_n u_n$ . Then  $||u_n - v_n||_{H^1} = o(1)$  as  $n \rightarrow \infty$ .

*Proof.* Note that

$$a(u_n - v_n) = \langle u_n - v_n, u_n - v_n \rangle_{H^1}$$
  
=  $a(u_n) + a(v_n) - 2\langle u_n, v_n \rangle_{H^1}$   
=  $2a(u_n) - 2\langle u_n, v_n \rangle_{H^1} + o(1).$ 

Thus, it suffices to show that

$$a(u_n) = \langle u_n, v_n \rangle_{H^1} + o(1).$$

We have

$$\langle u_n, v_n \rangle_{H^1} = \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_n \nabla v_n + u_n v_n \\ = \int_{\Omega} \xi_n \left[ |\nabla u_n|^2 + (u_n)^2 \right] + \int_{\Omega} u_n \nabla u_n \nabla \xi_n.$$

Note that  $|\nabla \xi_n| \leq \frac{c}{n}$  and  $\{u_n\}$  is a (PS)-sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J, so

$$\int_{\Omega} u_n \nabla u_n \nabla \xi_n = o(1).$$

Hence,

$$\langle u_n, v_n \rangle_{H^1} = \int_{\Omega} \xi_n \left[ |\nabla u_n|^2 + (u_n)^2 \right] + o(1).$$

By Lemma 2.40 (i), (ii) and Lemma 2.41 (i), we have

$$\langle u_n, v_n \rangle_{H^1} = \int_{\Omega} \xi_n \left[ |\nabla u_n|^2 + (u_n)^2 \right] + o(1) = a(u_n) + o(1).$$

**Bibliographical notes:** The (PS)-sequences were originally introduced by Palais-Smale [60]. Lemma 2.10 is from Brézis [14, p. 35]. Lemma 2.11 is from Zeidler [79, II/A, p. 303]. Lemma 2.16 is from Bahri-Lions [10]. Lemma 2.19 is from Grisvard [38, p. 24].

# 3. PALAIS-SMALE DECOMPOSITION THEOREMS

In this section, we present the Palais-Smale decomposition theorem in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J. This is the concentration-compactness method of P. L. Lions.

**Theorem 3.1** (Palais-Smale Decomposition Theorem in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ )). Let  $\Omega$  be strictly large domain (see Definition 2.1) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and let  $\{u_n\}$  be a  $(PS)_\beta$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ for J. Then there are a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$ , a positive integer m, sequences  $\{z_n^i\}_{n=1}^\infty$ in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , a function  $\bar{u} \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ , and  $0 \neq w^i \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for  $1 \leq i \leq m$  such that

$$\begin{aligned} |z_n^i| &\to \infty, \quad for \ i = 1, 2, \dots, m, \\ -\Delta \bar{u} + \bar{u} &= |\bar{u}|^{p-2} \bar{u} \quad in \ \Omega, \\ -\Delta w^i + w^i &= |w^i|^{p-2} w^i \quad in \ \mathbb{R}^N, \end{aligned}$$

and

$$u_n = \bar{u} + \sum_{i=1}^m w^i (\cdot - z_n^i) + o(1) \text{ strongly } \text{ in } H^1(\mathbb{R}^N),$$
  

$$a(u_n) = a(\bar{u}) + \sum_{i=1}^m a(w^i) + o(1),$$
  

$$b(u_n) = b(\bar{u}) + \sum_{i=1}^m b(w^i) + o(1),$$
  

$$J(u_n) = J(\bar{u}) + \sum_{i=1}^m J(w^i) + o(1).$$

In addition, if  $u_n \ge 0$ , then  $\bar{u} \ge 0$  and  $w^i \ge 0$  for each  $1 \le i \le m$ .

*Proof.* Step 0. Since  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J, by Lemma 2.38 there is a c > 0 such that  $||u_n||_{H^1} \leq c$ . In the following proof of this theorem, we fix such a c. There is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and a  $\bar{u}$  in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  such that  $u_n \rightharpoonup \bar{u}$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  and  $\bar{u}$  solves

$$-\Delta \bar{u} + \bar{u} = |\bar{u}|^{p-2}\bar{u} \quad \text{in } \Omega.$$

Suppose that  $u_n \to \overline{u}$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ , then we have  $u_n = \overline{u} + o(1)$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ ,  $a(u_n) = a(\overline{u}) + o(1)$ ,  $b(u_n) = b(\overline{u}) + o(1)$ ,  $J(u_n) = J(\overline{u}) + o(1)$ . **Step 1**. Suppose that  $u_n \to \overline{u}$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ . Let

$$u_n^1 = u_n - \bar{u}$$
 for  $n = 1, 2, \dots$ 

By Lemma 2.15,  $\{u_n^1\}$  is a  $(PS)_{(\beta-J(\bar{u}))}$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J.

(1-0)  $\int_{B^N(0;1)} |w_n^1(z)|^2 dz \ge \frac{d_1}{2}$  for some constant  $d_1 > 0$  and  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$ , where  $w_n^1(z) = u_n^1(z + y_n^1)$  for some  $\{y_n^1\} \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ : since  $\{u_n^1\}$  is bounded,  $J'(u_n^1) = o(1)$ , and  $u_n^1 \not\rightarrow 0$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ . By Lemma 2.16 there is a subsequence  $\{u_n^1\}$ , a constant  $d_1 > 0$  such that

$$Q_n^1 = \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{z+B^N(0;1)} |u_n^1|^2 \ge d_1 \text{ for } n = 1, 2, \dots$$

Take  $\{y_n^1\}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  such that

$$\int_{y_n^1+B^N(0;1)} |u_n^1(z)|^2 dz \geq \frac{d_1}{2}.$$

Let  $w_n^1(z) = u_n^1(z + y_n^1)$ , then

$$\int_{B^N(0;1)} |w_n^1(z)|^2 dz \ge \frac{d_1}{2} \quad \text{for } n = 1, 2, \dots$$

- (1-1)  $u_n(z) = \bar{u}(z) + w_n^1(z y_n^1)$  in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .
- (1-2)  $||w_n^1||_{H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)} \leq c$  for n = 1, 2, ... and  $||w^1||_{H^1} \leq c$ , where  $w_n^1 \rightharpoonup w^1$  weakly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ : by Lemma 2.11 (*iii*),

$$\|w_n^1\|_{H^1}^2 = \|u_n^1\|_{H^1}^2 = \|u_n\|_{H^1}^2 - \|\bar{u}\|_{H^1}^2 + o(1) \le c^2 + o(1),$$

we have  $\|w_n^1\|_{H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)} \leq c$  for  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$ . Then there is a subsequence  $\{w_n^1\}$  and a  $w^1$  in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  such that  $w_n^1 \to w^1$  weakly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . By Lemma 2.11 (i), we have

$$||w^1||_{H^1} \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} ||w^1_n||_{H^1} \le c.$$

(1-3)  $\{w_n^1\}$  is a  $(\mathrm{PS})_{(\beta-J(\bar{u}))}$ -sequence in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for J: note that  $J'(u_n^1) = o(1)$ in  $H^{-1}(\Omega)$ . Because  $\Omega$  is a strictly large domain, (1-7) below and Theorem 2.35, we have for every  $\varphi \in H_0^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ,

$$\langle J'(w_n^1), \varphi \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \nabla w_n^1 \nabla \varphi + w_n^1 \varphi - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |w_n^1|^{p-2} w_n^1 \varphi = o(1)$$

Therefore,  $J'(w_n^1) = o(1)$  strongly in  $H^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Moreover, we have

$$J(w_n^1) = J(u_n^1(z+y_n^1)) = J(u_n^1) = (\beta - J(\bar{u})) + o(1).$$

(1-4)  $-\Delta w^1 + w^1 - |w^1|^{p-2}w^1 = 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ : by Theorem 5.6 (i) below.

(1-5)  $w^1 \neq 0$ : by the Rellich-Kondrakov theorem 2.31 and (1-0), we have

$$\int_{B^N(0;1)} |w^1|^2 = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{B^N(0;1)} |w^1_n|^2 \ge \frac{d_1}{2},$$

thus  $w^1 \not\equiv 0$ .

(1-6) By (1-2), (1-4), (1-5), and Lemma 2.18,  $\delta > 0$  exists such that

$$||w^{1}||_{H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} \ge ||w^{1}||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} > \delta.$$

Therefore,

$$J(w^{1}) = (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})a(w^{1}) > (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})\delta^{2} = \delta'.$$

(1-7)  $|y_n^1| \to \infty$ : otherwise, R > 0 exists such that  $y_n^1 + B^N(0;1) \subset B^N(0;R)$  for  $n = 1, 2, \dots$  Then by (1 - 0), we have

$$0 = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{B^N(0;R)} |u_n^1|^2 \ge \overline{\lim_{n \to \infty}} \int_{y_n^1 + B^N(0;1)} |u_n^1|^2 \ge \frac{d_1}{2},$$

which is a contradiction.

(1-8)  $a(u_n) = a(\bar{u}) + a(w_n^1) + o(1)$ : since  $u_n \rightharpoonup \bar{u}$  weakly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , by Lemma 2.11 (iii), we have

$$a(u_n) - a(\bar{u}) = a(u_n - \bar{u}) + o(1) = a(u_n^1) + o(1) = a(w_n^1) + o(1).$$

Thus, 
$$a(u_n) = a(\bar{u}) + a(w_n^1) + o(1)$$
.

(1-9)  $b(u_n) = b(\bar{u}) + b(w_n^1) + o(1)$ : since  $u_n \to \bar{u}$  a.e. in  $\Omega$  and  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded in  $L^{p}(\Omega)$ , by Lemma 2.14 (i), we have

$$b(u_n) - b(\bar{u}) = b(u_n - \bar{u}) + o(1) = b(u_n^1) + o(1) = b(w_n^1) + o(1).$$

Thus, 
$$b(u_n) = b(\bar{u}) + b(w_n^1) + o(1)$$

(1-10)  $J(u_n) = J(\bar{u}) + J(w_n) + o(1)$ : by (1-8) and (1-9), we have

$$J(u_n) = J(\bar{u}) + J(w_n^1) + o(1)$$

**Step 2**. Suppose that  $w_n^1(z) \nleftrightarrow w^1(z)$  strongly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Let

$$u_n^2(z) = w_n^1(z) - w^1(z)$$

We have  $u_n^2 \to 0$  weakly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  but  $u_n^2 \not\to 0$  strongly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

(2-0)  $\int_{B^{N}(0;1)} |w_{n}^{2}(z)|^{2} dz \geq \frac{d_{2}}{2}$  for some constant  $d_{2} > 0$  and  $n = 1, 2, \dots,$ where  $w_n^2(z) = u_n^2(z+y_n^2)$  for some  $\{y_n^2\} \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ : since  $\{u_n^2\}$  is bounded,  $J'(u_n^2) = o(1)$ , and  $u_n^2 \not\rightarrow 0$  strongly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , by Lemma 2.16 there are a subsequence  $\{u_n^2\}$ , and a constant  $d_2 > 0$  such that

$$Q_n^2 = \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{z+B^N(0;1)} |u_n^2(z)|^2 dz \ge d_2 \quad \text{for } n = 1, 2, \dots$$

For  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$ , take  $\{y_n^2\}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  such that

$$\int_{y_n^2 + B^N(0;1)} |u_n^2(z)|^2 dz \ge \frac{d_2}{2} \quad \text{for } n = 1, 2, \dots$$

Let  $w_n^2(z) = u_n^2(z + y_n^2)$ , then

$$\int_{B^N(0;1)} |w_n^2(z)|^2 dz \ge \frac{d_2}{2} \quad \text{for } n = 1, 2, \dots$$

As in Step 1, we have the following results.

- (2-1)  $u_n(z) = \bar{u}(z) + w^1(z y_n^1) + w_n^2(z y_n^1 y_n^2)$  in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ; (2-2)  $\|w_n^2\|_{H^1} \le c$  for n = 1, 2, ... and  $\|w^2\|_{H^1} \le c$ , where  $w_n^2 \rightharpoonup w^2$  weakly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ;
- (2-3)  $\{w_n^2\}$  is a (PS)-sequence in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for J; (2-4)  $-\Delta w^2 + w^2 |w^2|^{p-2}w^2 = 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ;

(2-5)  $w^2 \neq 0$ ; (2-6)  $||w^2||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} > \delta$  and  $J(w^2) > \delta'$ ; (2-7)  $|y_n^2| \to \infty$ ; (2-8)  $a(u_n) = a(\bar{u}) + a(w^1) + a(w_n^2) + o(1)$ : since

$$u_n^2(z) = w_n^1(z) - w^1(z) \rightharpoonup 0,$$

we have

$$a(w_n^2) = a(u_n^2) = a(w_n^1) - a(w^1) + o(1).$$

Further by (1-8), we have

$$a(u_n) - a(\bar{u}) = a(w_n^1) + o(1) = a(w^1) + a(w_n^2) + o(1)$$

(2-9)  $b(u_n) = b(\bar{u}) + b(w^1) + b(w_n^2) + o(1);$ (2-10)  $J(u_n) = J(\bar{u}) + J(w^1) + J(w_n^2) + o(1).$ 

Continuing this process, we arrive at the m-th step.

(m-0) 
$$\int_{B^N(0;1)} |w_n^m(z)|^2 dz \ge \frac{d_m}{2}$$
 for some constant  $d_m > 0$  and  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$ , where  $w_n^m(z) = u_n^m(z+y_n^m)$  for some  $\{y_n^m\} \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ ;

(m-1) 
$$u_n(z) = \bar{u}(z) + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} w^i(z - z_n^i) + w_n^m(z - z_n^m)$$
 in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , where  $z_n^i = y_n^1 + \dots + y_n^i$  for  $i = 1, 2, \dots, m$ : since

$$w_n^m(z) = u_n^m(z + y_n^m) = w_n^{m-1}(z + y_n^m) - w^{m-1}(z + y_n^m),$$

thus

$$w_n^m(z) + w^{m-1}(z+y_n^m) = w_n^{m-1}(z+y_n^m).$$

Continuing this way, we obtain

$$\begin{split} & w_n^m(z) + w^{m-1}(z+y_n^m) + \dots + w^1(z+y_n^2 + \dots + y_n^m) \\ & = w_n^1(z+y_n^2 + \dots + y_n^m) \\ & = u_n^1(z+y_n^1 + y_n^2 + \dots + y_n^m) \end{split}$$

- (m-2)  $\|w_n^m\|_{H^1} \leq c$  for  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$  and  $\|w^m\|_{H^1} \leq c$ , where  $w_n^m \rightharpoonup w^m$  weakly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ;
- (m-3)  $\{w_n^m\}$  is a (PS)-sequence in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for J;
- $(m-4) -\Delta w^m + w^m |w^m|^{p-2} w^m = 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ;
- (*m*-5)  $w^m \not\equiv 0;$
- (*m*-6)  $||w^m||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} > \delta$  and  $J(w^m) > \delta'$ ;
- (m-7)  $|y_n^i| = |z_n^i z_n^{i-1}| \to \infty$  and  $|z_n^i| \to \infty$ , for each i = 1, 2, ..., m: we show it by induction on i. For  $i = 1, |z_n^1| = |y_n^1| \to \infty$ . Assume that  $|z_n^i| \to \infty$ , for i = 1, 2, ..., k, for some k < m. By Lemma 2.12, we have  $w^i(z z_n^i) \to 0$  weakly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for i = 1, 2, ..., k. We claim that  $|z_n^{k+1}| \to \infty$ . Otherwise, suppose that  $\{z_n^{k+1}\}$  is bounded. Since  $||w^{k+1}||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} > \delta, R > 0$  exists such that

$$z_n^{k+1} + B^N(0; R) \subset B^N(0; 2R)$$

and

$$\int_{B^N(0;R)} |w^{k+1}(z)|^2 \ge (\frac{\delta}{2})^2.$$

We have

$$\begin{aligned} (\frac{\delta}{2})^2 &\leq \int_{B^N(0;R)} \int_{B^N(0;R)} |w^{k+1}(z)|^2 \\ &= \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{B^N(0;R)} |u_n^1(z+z_n^{k+1})|^2 dz \\ &\leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{B^N(0;2R)} |u_n^1(z)|^2 = 0, \end{aligned}$$

which is a contradiction. By the induction hypothesis, we have

$$|z_n^i| \to \infty$$
 for  $i = 1, 2, \dots, m$ .

 $\begin{array}{ll} (m\text{-}8) & a(u_n) = a(\bar{u}) + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} a(w^i) + a(w_n^m) + o(1); \\ (m\text{-}9) & b(u_n) = b(\bar{u}) + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} b(w^i) + b(w_n^m) + o(1); \\ (m\text{-}10) & J(u_n) = J(\bar{u}) + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} J(w^i) + J(w_n^m) + o(1). \end{array}$ 

By the Archimedean principle,  $l \in \mathbb{N}$  exists such that  $l\delta^2 > \beta$ . Then after step (l+1), we obtain

$$a(u_n) = a(\bar{u}) + a(w^1) + a(w^2) + \dots + a(w^l) + a(w_n^{l+1}) + o(1).$$

Since  $a(w_n^{l+1}) \ge 0$ ,  $a(\bar{u}) > 0$ , and  $a(w^i) > \delta^2$  for i = 1, 2, ..., l, we have  $\beta + o(1) \ge l\delta^2 > \beta$ , which is a contradiction. Therefore, there is a  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , such that  $w_n^m(z) = w^m(z) + o(1)$  strongly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ,  $w_n^i(z) = w^i(z) + o(1)$  weakly, and  $w_n^i(z) \neq w^i(z) + o(1)$  strongly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for  $i = 1, 2, \ldots m - 1$ . Then we have

- $(sm-0) \quad \int_{B^N(0;1)} |w_n^m(z)|^2 dz \ge \frac{d_m}{2} \text{ for some constant } d_m > 0 \text{ and } n = 1, 2, \dots, \text{ where } w_n^m(z) = u_n^m(z+y_n^m) \text{ for some } \{y_n^m\} \subset \mathbb{R}^N; \\ (sm-1) \quad u_n(z) = \quad \bar{u}(z) + \sum_{i=1}^m w^i(z-z_n^i) + o(1) \text{ strongly in } H^1(\mathbb{R}^N), \text{ where } z_n^i = 1$
- $y_n^1 + \dots + y_n^i$  for  $i = 1, 2, \dots, m$ ; (sm-2)  $\|w_n^m\|_{H^1} \le c$  for  $n = 1, 2, \dots$  and  $\|w^m\|_{H^1} \le c$ , where  $w_n^m \rightharpoonup w^m$  weakly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N);$
- (sm-3)  $\{w_n^m\}$  is a (PS)-sequence in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for J;
- $(sm-4) \Delta w^m + w^m |w^m|^{p-2} w^m = 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ;
- (sm-5)  $w^m \not\equiv 0$ :
- (sm-6)  $||w^m||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} > \delta$  and  $J(w^m) > \delta'$ ;
- $\begin{array}{l} (sm \cdot 0) & \|u^{i}\|_{H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} |z_{n}^{i}| = |z_{n}^{i} z_{n}^{i-1}| \to \infty \text{ and } |z_{n}^{i}| \to \infty, \text{ for each } i = 1, 2, \dots, m; \\ (sm \cdot 8) & a(u_{n}) = a(\bar{u}) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} a(w^{i}) + o(1); \\ (sm \cdot 9) & b(u_{n}) = b(\bar{u}) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\m = 1}}^{m} b(w^{i}) + o(1); \end{array}$

(sm-10) 
$$J(u_n) = J(\bar{u}) + \sum_{i=1}^m J(w^i) + o(1).$$

Finally, suppose  $u_n \ge 0$  for  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$  Then

(i) Since  $u_n \rightarrow \bar{u}$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ . By Lemma 2.11 (ii), there is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  such that  $u_n \to \overline{u}$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ . Thus,  $\overline{u} \ge 0$ .

(ii) Since  $w_n^1(z) = u_n(z+y_n^1) - \bar{u}(z+y_n^1) \rightarrow w^1(z)$  weakly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and  $\bar{u}(z+y_n^1) \rightarrow 0$  weakly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Thus,  $u_n(z+y_n^1) \rightarrow w^1(z)$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ , or  $w^1 \ge 0$ .

(*iii*) Continuing this process, we obtain  $w^i \ge 0$  for each i = 1, 2, ..., m. 

We have the following useful corollary.

**Corollary 3.2.** Let  $\Omega$  be a strictly large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . If  $\{u_n\}$  is a positive  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J.

(i) If  $\beta \neq j\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for each  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , then there is a positive solution  $\overline{u}$  of (1.1) in  $\Omega$ ; (ii) If  $\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) < \beta < 2\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , then  $\{u_n\}$  contains a strongly convergent subsequence.

*Proof.* By Theorem 3.1, we have

$$J(u_n) = J(\overline{u}) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} J(w^i) + o(1).$$

By Corollary 3.6 below, the positive solutions of (1.1) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  are unique, and we obtain  $J(w^i) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for each *i*. Thus, we have

$$\beta = J(\overline{u}) + mJ(w^i) + o(1).$$

(i) If  $\beta \neq j\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for each  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $J(\overline{u}) \neq 0$ , or  $\overline{u} \neq 0$ . By Theorem 5.6 (i) below, there is a positive solution  $\overline{u}$  of (1.1) in  $\Omega$ .

(*ii*) Recall that we always have  $\beta \geq \alpha(\Omega) \geq \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Suppose that  $m \geq 1$  and  $\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) < \beta < 2\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , then  $J(\overline{u}) \neq 0$  or  $J(\overline{u}) \geq \alpha(\Omega)$ . Thus,

$$2\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) > \beta + o(1) = J(\overline{u}) + m\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) \ge (m+1)\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N).$$

This is a contradiction. Hence, m = 0. By the proof of Theorem 3.1, we have

$$u_n = \overline{u} + o(1)$$
 strongly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ .

**Remark 3.3.** Note that if we replace a strictly large domain by a domain in Theorem 3.1, then the theorem may fail. Let  $\mathbf{A}_0^r$  be an upper semi-strip with sufficiently large r, then  $\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^r) < 2\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . By the Esteban-Lions theorem 10.7, (1.1) in  $\mathbf{A}_0^r$  admits only trivial solution, but if Theorem 3.1 holds, by Corollary 3.2, (1.1) in  $\mathbf{A}_0^r$  admits a positive solution, a contradiction.

**Definition 3.4.** A domain  $\Theta$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  is a periodic domain if a partition  $\{Q_m\}_{m=0}^{\infty}$  of  $\Theta$  and points  $\{z_m\}_{m=1}^{\infty}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  exist, satisfying the following conditions: (i)  $\{z_m\}_{m=1}^{\infty}$  forms a subgroup of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ;

(*ii*)  $Q_0$  is bounded;

(*iii*)  $Q_m = z_m + Q_0$  for each m.

Typical examples of periodic domains are the infinite strip  $\mathbf{A}^r$ , the infinite hollow strip  $\mathbf{A}^{r_1,r_2}$ , and the whole space  $\mathbb{R}^N$ .

Similarly, we have the Palais-Smale decomposition theorem in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J in a periodic domain in  $\Theta \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ .

**Theorem 3.5** (Palais-Smale Decomposition Theorem in a Periodic Domain). Let  $\Omega$ be a strictly large domain in  $\Theta$  and let  $\{u_n\}$  be a positive  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ for J. Then there are a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$ , a positive integer m, a subsequence  $\{z_n^i\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of  $\{z_m\}_{m=1}^{\infty}$  in  $\Theta$ , and a function  $\bar{u} \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ , and  $0 \neq w^i \in H^1(\Theta)$ , for  $1 \leq i \leq m$  such that

 $\begin{array}{l} (i) \ |z_n^i| \to \infty \ for \ i = 1, 2, \dots, m; \\ (ii) \ -\Delta \bar{u} + \bar{u} = \mid \bar{u} \mid^{p-2} \bar{u} \ in \ \Omega; \\ (iii) \ -\Delta w^i + w^i = \mid w^i \mid^{p-2} w^i \ in \ \Theta; \\ (iv) \ u_n = \bar{u} + \sum_{i=1}^m w^i (\cdot - z_n^i) + o(1) \ strongly \ in \ H^1(\Theta); \\ (v) \ a(u_n) = a(\bar{u}) + \sum_{i=1}^m a(w^i) + o(1); \\ (vi) \ b(u_n) = b(\bar{u}) + \sum_{i=1}^m b(w^i) + o(1); \end{array}$ 

 $\begin{array}{l} (vii) \ J(u_n) = J(\bar{u}) + \sum_{i=1}^m J(w^i) + o(1). \\ \text{In addition, if } u_n \geq 0, \ \text{then } \bar{u} \geq 0 \ \text{and } w^i \geq 0 \ \text{for each } 1 \leq i \leq m. \end{array}$ 

*Proof.* The proof is similar to those of Theorem 3.1: see Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47]. Note that instead of

$$Q_n = \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{z+B^N(0;1)} |u_n(z)|^2 dz$$

we use

$$Q_n^r = \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} \int_{(0,y) + \mathbf{A}_{-1,1}^r} |u_n(z)|^2 dz,$$
  
  $\in \mathbf{A}^r \mid -1 < y < 1\}.$ 

where  $\mathbf{A}_{-1,1}^r = \{(x, y) \in \mathbf{A}^r \mid -1 < y < 1\}$ 

**Corollary 3.6.** Let  $\Theta$  be a periodic domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and let  $\Omega$  be a strictly large domain in  $\Theta$ , and let  $\{u_n\}$  be a positive  $(PS)_\beta$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J. Suppose that the only positive solutions in  $\Theta$  are ground state solutions.

(i) If  $\beta \neq j\alpha(\Theta)$  for each  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , then there is a positive solution  $\overline{u}$  of (1.1) in  $\Omega$ ; (ii) If  $\alpha(\Theta) < \beta < 2\alpha(\Theta)$ , then  $\{u_n\}$  contains a strongly convergent subsequence.

The proof of the above corollary is same as the proof of Corollary 3.2. **Bibliographical notes:** Theorem 3.1 is from Lions [49, Lemma 19] and Struwe [66]. Theorem 3.5 is from Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47, Theorem 4.1].

# 4. PALAIS-SMALE VALUES AND INDEXES OF DOMAINS

In this section, we prove that four classical important (PS)-values in  $X(\Omega)$  for J are the same. Then any one of them is called the index of a domain. The index of a domain  $\Omega$  is important in studying the existence of solutions of (1.1) in  $\Omega$ . (A) Consider the constrained maximization problem

$$\alpha_{\gamma}(\Omega) = (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})\gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{2p}{2-p}},$$

where  $\gamma(\Omega) = \sup\{b(u) \mid u \in X(\Omega), \quad a(u) = 1\}$ . By the Sobolev embedding theorem, we have  $\alpha_{\gamma}(\Omega) > 0$ . Moreover,  $\alpha_{\gamma}(\Omega)$  is a (PS)-value in  $X(\Omega)$  for J.

**Theorem 4.1.**  $\alpha_{\gamma}(\Omega)$  is a (PS)-value in  $X(\Omega)$  for J.

*Proof.* Let  $\{u_n\}$  in  $X(\Omega)$  be a maximizing sequence of  $\gamma(\Omega)$ . Then  $a(u_n) = 1$  for n = 1, 2, ..., and

$$\int_{\Omega} |u_n|^p = \gamma(\Omega)^p + o(1) \quad \text{as } n \to \infty.$$

Let  $v_n = \gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{p}{2-p}} u_n$  for each  $n = 1, 2, \dots$  Then we have

$$a(v_n) = \int_{\Omega} (|\nabla v_n|^2 + v_n^2) = \gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{2p}{2-p}} \quad \text{for each } n = 1, 2, \dots,$$
$$b(v_n) = \int_{\Omega} |v_n|^p = \gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{2p}{2-p}} + o(1) \quad \text{as } n \to \infty,$$

and

$$J(v_n) = \frac{1}{2}a(v_n) - \frac{1}{p}b(v_n)$$
  
=  $(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})\gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{2p}{2-p}} + o(1)$  as  $n \to \infty$   
=  $\alpha_\gamma(\Omega) + o(1)$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

For each  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$  and  $\varphi \in X(\Omega)$ , denote

$$l_n(\varphi) = \int_{\Omega} |v_n|^{p-2} v_n \varphi.$$

Let  $\phi \in X(\Omega)$  satisfy  $\|\phi\|_{H^1} = 1$ . Then  $\gamma(\Omega) \ge \|\phi\|_{L^p}$  and

$$|l_n(\phi)| = \left| \int_{\Omega} |v_n|^{p-2} v_n \phi \right| \le \left( \int_{\Omega} |v_n|^p \right)^{(p-1)/p} \left( \int_{\Omega} |\phi|^p \right)^{1/p}$$
$$\le \gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{2p-2}{2-p}} \gamma(\Omega) + o(1) = \gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{p}{2-p}} + o(1) \quad \text{as } n \to \infty.$$

Thus,

$$||l_n||_{X^{-1}} \le \gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{p}{2-p}} + o(1) \quad \text{as } n \to \infty.$$

Furthermore,

$$l_n\left(\frac{v_n}{\|v_n\|_{H^1}}\right) = \frac{\int_{\Omega} |v_n|^p}{\|v_n\|_{H^1}} = \frac{\gamma(\Omega)^{2p/(2-p)}}{\gamma(\Omega)^{p/(2-p)}} + o(1) = \gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{p}{2-p}} + o(1)$$

as  $n \to \infty$ . We conclude that

$$||l_n||_{X^{-1}} = \gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{p}{2-p}} + o(1) \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

Since  $l_n$  is a continuous linear functional in  $X(\Omega)$ , by the Riesz representation theorem, for each  $n, w_n \in X(\Omega)$  exists such that

$$l_n(\varphi) = \langle w_n, \varphi \rangle_{H^1} = \int_{\Omega} (\nabla w_n \cdot \nabla \varphi + w_n \varphi) \quad \text{for each } \varphi \in X(\Omega),$$

and  $||w_n||_{H^1} = ||l_n||_{X^{-1}}$ . Since

$$\langle w_n, v_n \rangle_{H^1} = l_n(v_n) = \int_{\Omega} |v_n|^p = \gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{2p}{2-p}} + o(1) \quad \text{as } n \to \infty,$$

we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_n - w_n\|_{H^1}^2 &= \langle v_n, v_n \rangle_{H^1} - 2 \langle v_n, w_n \rangle_{H^1} + \langle w_n, w_n \rangle_{H^1} \\ &= \|v_n\|_{H^1}^2 - 2 \langle v_n, w_n \rangle_{H^1} + \|w_n\|_{H^1}^2 \\ &= \gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{2p}{2-p}} - 2\gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{2p}{2-p}} + \gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{2p}{2-p}} + o(1) \\ &= o(1) \quad \text{as } n \to \infty. \end{aligned}$$

For  $\varphi \in X(\Omega)$  satisfying  $\|\varphi\|_{H^1} = 1$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \langle J'(v_n),\varphi\rangle &= \int_{\Omega} (\nabla v_n \cdot \nabla \varphi + v_n \varphi) - \int_{\Omega} |v_n|^{p-2} v_n \varphi \\ &= \langle v_n,\varphi\rangle_{H^1} - \langle w_n,\varphi\rangle_{H^1} = \langle v_n - w_n,\varphi\rangle_{H^1}, \end{split}$$

 $\mathbf{SO}$ 

$$\langle J'(v_n), \varphi \rangle | \le ||v_n - w_n||_{H^1}.$$

We conclude that

$$J'(v_n) = o(1)$$
 strongly in  $X^{-1}(\Omega)$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

(B) Consider the Nehari minimizing problem

$$\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega) = \inf_{v \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega)} J(v),$$

where  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega) = \{u \in X(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : a(u) = b(u)\}$ . Note that  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  contains every nonzero solution of (1.1). Consider the unit sphere  $\mathbf{U}(\Omega)$  and the zero energy manifold  $\mathbf{Z}(\Omega)$ , where

$$\mathbf{U}(\Omega) = \{ u \in X(\Omega) : \|u\|_{H^1} = 1 \},$$
$$\mathbf{Z}(\Omega) = \{ u \in X(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \frac{1}{2}a(u) = \frac{1}{p}b(u) \}.$$

 $\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega) > 0$  is a consequence of part (i) of the following lemma. Part (ii) of the following lemma will be used later in Lemma 4.6 and Theorem 4.12.

**Lemma 4.2.** (i) There is a bijective  $C^{1,1}$  map m from  $\mathbf{U}(\Omega)$  to  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$ . Moreover,  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  is path-connected and a constant c > 0 exists such that for  $u \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$ ,  $||u||_{H^1} > c \text{ and } J(u) > c;$ 

(ii) There is a bijective  $C^{1,1}$  map z from  $\mathbf{U}(\Omega)$  to  $\mathbf{Z}(\Omega)$ . Moreover,  $\mathbf{Z}(\Omega)$  is pathconnected and a constant c' > 0 exists such that for  $u \in \mathbf{Z}(\Omega)$ ,  $||u||_{H^1} \ge c'$ .

*Proof.* (i) For  $t \geq 0, u \in \mathbf{U}(\Omega)$ , let

$$h_u(t) = J(tu) = \frac{1}{2}t^2 - \frac{1}{p}t^p b(u).$$

Then  $h'_u(t) = t - t^{p-1}b(u)$ . We take uniquely  $s_u \in \mathbb{R}^+$  such that  $s_u > 0, s_u u \in$  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$ , and  $0 = h'_u(s_u)$ . For  $v \in \mathbf{U}(\Omega)$ , a  $s_v \in \mathbb{R}^+$  exists such that  $s_v v \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$ : that is

$$\langle J'(s_v v), s_v v \rangle = s_v^2 - s_v^p b(v) = 0$$

Consider the function  $g(t, u) : \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbf{U}(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$g(t, u) = \langle J'(tu), tu \rangle = t^2 a(u) - t^p b(u).$$

Note that  $g(s_v, v) = \langle J'(s_v v), s_v v \rangle = 0$ . Thus,

$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial t}(t,u)\Big|_{(s_v,v)} = 2s_v - ps_v^{p-1}b(v) = s_v(2-p) < 0.$$

By the implicit function theorem, a neighborhood **W** of v in  $\mathbf{U}(\Omega)$  and a unique function  $t \in C^{1,1}$  exist such that

$$t: \mathbf{W} \to \mathbb{R}^+, \ t(v) = s_v,$$
$$g(t(u), u) = 0 \text{ for all } u \in \mathbf{W}.$$

Therefore, for each  $v \in \mathbf{U}(\Omega), t: \mathbf{U}(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}^+$  and  $m: \mathbf{U}(\Omega) \to \mathbf{M}(\Omega), t, m \in C^{1,1}$ exist such that  $t(v) = s_v$ ,  $m(v) = s_v v$ . Clearly, t and m are injective. For each  $u \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$ , write  $u = s_v v$ , where  $s_v = ||u||_{H^1}$  and  $v = \frac{u}{||u||_{H^1}} \in \mathbf{U}(\Omega)$ . Since m(v) = u, m is surjective. Since  $\mathbf{U}(\Omega)$  is path-connected,  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  is path-connected. Note that  $u \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$ , so J'(u) = 0, or  $s_v^2 = \int_{\Omega} s_v^p |v|^p$ . By the Sobolev embedding theorem, we have  $s_v^2 = \int_{\Omega} s_v^p |v|^p \leq ds_v^p$ , or  $c \leq s_v$ , where d and c are two positive constants. Therefore,  $\|u\|_{H^1} = \|s_v v\|_{H^1} = s_v \geq c$  for  $u \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$ .

(ii) The proof is similar to part (i).

**Theorem 4.3.** Let  $\beta > 0$  and let  $\{u_n\}$  in  $X(\Omega)\setminus\{0\}$  be a sequence for J such that  $J(u_n) = \beta + o(1)$  and  $a(u_n) = b(u_n) + o(1)$ . Then there is a sequence  $\{s_n\}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^+$  such that  $s_n = 1 + o(1)$ ,  $\{s_n u_n\}$  is in  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  and  $J(s_n u_n) = \beta + o(1)$ . In particular, if  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence for J, then there is a sequence  $\{s_n\}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^+$  such that  $\{s_n u_n\}$  is in  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  and there is also a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J.

Proof. By Lemma 4.2, there is a sequence  $\{s_n\}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^+$  such that  $\{s_n u_n\}$  is in  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$ :  $s_n^2 a(u_n) = s_n^p b(u_n)$  for each n, because  $a(u_n) = b(u_n) + o(1)$  and  $J(u_n) = \beta + o(1)$ imply  $s_n = 1 + o(1)$ . Therefore,  $J(s_n u_n) = \beta + o(1)$ . The last part follows from Lemma 2.38.

A minimizing sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  of  $\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)$  is a  $(\mathrm{PS})_{\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J.

**Theorem 4.4.** Let  $\{u_n\}$  be in  $X(\Omega)$ . Then  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)}$ -sequence for J if and only if  $J(u_n) = \alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega) + o(1)$  and  $a(u_n) = b(u_n) + o(1)$ . In particular, every minimizing sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  of  $\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)$  is a  $(PS)_{\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J. In particular,  $\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)$  is a  $(PS)_{\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)}$ -value in  $X(\Omega)$  for J.

*Proof.* Suppose  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J. By Lemma 2.38, we have  $a(u_n) = b(u_n) + o(1)$ .

Conversely, let  $\{u_n\}$  satisfy  $J(u_n) = \alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega) + o(1)$  and  $a(u_n) = b(u_n) + o(1)$ . Then we have

$$a(u_n) = \frac{2p}{p-2} \alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega) + o(1) \quad \text{as } n \to \infty.$$
(4.1)

For  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$ , denote

$$l_n(\varphi) = \int_{\Omega} |u_n|^{p-2} u_n \varphi \quad \text{for } \varphi \in X(\Omega).$$
(4.2)

Let  $\phi \in \mathbf{U}(\Omega)$ . By Lemma 4.2, t > 0 exists such that  $t\phi \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega) : ||t\phi||_{H^1}^2 = ||t\phi||_{L^p}^p$ ; we conclude that  $t = ||\phi||_{L^p}^{\frac{-p}{p-2}}$  and

$$\alpha_{\mathbf{M}(\Omega)} \le (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}) \|t\phi\|_{H^1}^2 = \frac{p-2}{2p} t^2 = \frac{p-2}{2p} \|\phi\|_{L^p}^{\frac{-2p}{p-2}}.$$

Therefore,  $\|\phi\|_{L^p} \leq \left(\frac{2p}{p-2}\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)\right)^{\frac{2-p}{2p}}$ . For each n,

$$\begin{aligned} |l_n(\phi)| &= \left| \int_{\Omega} |u_n|^{p-2} u_n \phi \right| \\ &\leq \left( \int_{\Omega} |u_n|^p \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \left( \int_{\Omega} |\phi|^p \right)^{1/p} \\ &\leq \left( \frac{2p}{p-2} \alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega) \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \left( \frac{2p}{p-2} \alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega) \right)^{\frac{2-p}{2p}} + o(1) \\ &= \left( \frac{2p}{p-2} \alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega) \right)^{1/2} + o(1) \quad \text{as } n \to \infty, \end{aligned}$$

we have

$$||l_n||_{X^{-1}} \le (\frac{2p}{p-2}\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega))^{1/2} + o(1) \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$
 (4.3)

Furthermore, by (4.2), we have

$$l_{n}\left(\frac{u_{n}}{\|u_{n}\|_{H^{1}}}\right) = \frac{\int_{\Omega} |u_{n}|^{p}}{\|u_{n}\|_{H^{1}}}$$
  
=  $(b(u_{n}))^{1/2} + o(1)$  (4.4)  
=  $\left(\frac{2p}{p-2}\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)\right)^{1/2} + o(1)$  as  $n \to \infty$ 

By (4.3) and (4.4), we conclude that

$$||l_n||_{X^{-1}} = (\frac{2p}{p-2}\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega))^{1/2} + o(1) \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

By the Riesz representation theorem, for each  $n, w_n \in X(\Omega)$  exists such that, for each  $\varphi \in X(\Omega)$ ,

$$l_n(\varphi) = \langle w_n, \varphi \rangle_{H^1} = \int_{\Omega} (\nabla w_n \cdot \nabla \varphi + w_n \varphi),$$

and

$$\|w_n\|_{H^1} = \|l_n\|_{X^{-1}} = \left(\frac{2p}{p-2}\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)\right)^{1/2} + o(1).$$
(4.5)

Consequently,

$$\langle w_n, u_n \rangle_{H^1} = l_n(u_n) = \int_{\Omega} |u_n|^p = \frac{2p}{p-2} \alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega) + o(1).$$
 (4.6)

By (4.1), (4.5), and (4.6), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_n - w_n\|_{H^1}^2 &= \langle u_n, u_n \rangle_{H^1} - 2\langle u_n, w_n \rangle_{H^1} + \langle w_n, w_n \rangle_{H^1} \\ &= \|u_n\|_{H^1}^2 - 2\langle u_n, w_n \rangle_{H^1} + \|w_n\|_{H^1}^2 \\ &= \frac{2p}{p-2} \alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega) - 2\frac{2p}{p-2} \alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega) + \frac{2p}{p-2} \alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega) + o(1) \\ &= o(1) \quad \text{as } n \to \infty. \end{aligned}$$

For  $\varphi \in \mathbf{U}(\Omega)$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \langle J'(u_n), \varphi \rangle &= \int_{\Omega} (\nabla u_n \cdot \nabla \varphi + u_n \varphi) - \int_{\Omega} |u_n|^{p-2} u_n \varphi \\ &= \langle u_n, \varphi \rangle_{H^1} - \langle w_n, \varphi \rangle_{H^1} = \langle u_n - w_n, \varphi \rangle_{H^1}, \end{split}$$

 $\mathbf{SO}$ 

$$\|J'(u_n)\|_{X^{-1}} \leq \|u_n - w_n\|_{H^1} = o(1).$$
  
We conclude that  $J'(u_n) = o(1)$  strongly in  $X^{-1}(\Omega)$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

If u achieves  $\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)$ , then u is a nonzero solution of (1.1).

**Theorem 4.5.** Let  $u \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  be such that  $J(u) = \min_{v \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega)} J(v)$ . Then u is a nonzero solution of (1.1).

*Proof.* Set g(v) = a(v) - b(v) for  $v \in X(\Omega)$ . Note that  $\langle g'(u), u \rangle = (2 - p)a(u) \neq 0$ . Since the minimum of J is achieved at u and is constrained in  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$ , by the Lagrange multiplier theorem,  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  exists such that  $J'(u) = \lambda g'(u)$  in  $X(\Omega)$ . Thus,

$$0 = \langle J'(u), u \rangle = \lambda \langle g'(u), u \rangle,$$

or  $\lambda = 0$ . Thus, J'(u) = 0. Hence, u is a weak solution of (1.1) such that  $J(u) = \alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)$ .

(C) Consider the mountain pass minimax problem

$$\alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) = \inf_{g \in \Gamma(\Omega)} \max_{t \in [0,1]} J(g(t)),$$

where  $e \neq 0$ , J(e) = 0, and

$$\Gamma(\Omega) = \{g \in C([0,1], X(\Omega)) : g(0) = 0, g(1) = e\}.$$

Then  $\alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) > 0$  is a consequence of the following lemma.

**Lemma 4.6.** A ball B(0;r) in  $X(\Omega)$ , c > 0, and  $e \notin \overline{B(0;r)}$  exist such that J(e) = 0 and  $\min_{v \in \partial B(0;r)} J(v) \ge c$ .

*Proof.* By Lemma 4.2 (*ii*), for each  $u \in \mathbf{U}(\Omega)$ , there is a t > 0 such that J(tu) = 0. Let e = tu, then J(e) = 0. Since for each  $v \in X(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ 

$$J(v) = \frac{1}{2}a(v) - \frac{1}{p}b(v),$$

by the Sobolev inequality, there is a constant  $c_1 > 0$  such that  $b(v) \leq c_1 a(v)^{p/2}$ , and we have

$$J(v) \ge a(v) \{ \frac{1}{2} - \frac{c_1}{p} a(v)^{\frac{p-2}{2}} \}$$

Take r > 0 such that  $e \notin \overline{B(0;r)}$  and  $\frac{1}{2} - \frac{c_1}{p}r^{p-2} \ge \frac{1}{4}$ , then for  $||v||_{H^1} = r$ , we have  $J(v) \ge c$ ,

where  $c = \frac{1}{4}r^2$ .

We require the following lemma.

**Theorem 4.7** (Ekeland variational principle). Let M be a complete metric space with metric d and let  $F : M \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$  be lower semi-continuous, bounded from below, and  $\not\equiv \infty$ . Then for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $\lambda > 0$ , and any  $u \in M$  with

$$F(u) \le \inf_M F + \varepsilon$$

there is an element  $v \in M$  such that

$$F(v) \le F(u),$$
  
$$d(u,v) \le \frac{1}{\lambda},$$
  
$$F(w) + \varepsilon \lambda d(v,w) > F(v) \quad for \ w \ne v.$$

*Proof.* It is sufficient to prove our assertion for  $\lambda = 1$ . The general case is obtained by replacing d by an equivalent metric  $\lambda d$ . We define the relation on M:

$$w \le v \iff F(w) + \varepsilon d(v, w) \le F(v).$$

It is easy to see that this relation define a partial ordering on M. We now construct inductively a sequence  $\{u_m\}$  as follows:  $u_0 = u$ ; also assuming that  $u_m$  has been defined, we set

$$S_n = \{ w \in M \mid w \le u_n \}$$

and choose  $u_{n+1} \in S_n$  so that

$$F(u_{n+1}) \le \inf_{S_n} F + \frac{1}{n+1}.$$

36
Since  $u_{n+1} \leq u_n$ ,  $S_{n+1} \subset S_n$ , and by the lower semicontinuity of F,  $S_n$  is closed. We now show that diam  $S_n \to 0$ . Indeed, if  $w \in S_{n+1}$ , then  $w \leq u_{n+1} \leq u_n$  and consequently,

$$\varepsilon d(w, u_{n+1}) \le F(u_{n+1}) - F(w) \le \inf_{S_n} F + \frac{1}{n+1} - \inf_{S_n} F = \frac{1}{n+1}$$

This estimate implies

diam 
$$S_{n+1} \le \frac{2}{\varepsilon(n+1)}$$

and our claim follows. The fact that M is complete implies that

$$\cap_{n\geq 0} S_n = \{v\}$$

for some  $v \in M$ . In particular,  $v \in S_0$ , that is,  $v \leq u_0 = u$ . Hence,

$$F(v) \le F(u) - \varepsilon d(u, v) \le F(u).$$

Moreover,

$$d(u,v) \le \varepsilon^{-1}(F(u) - F(v)) \le \varepsilon^{-1} \left(\inf_{M} F + \varepsilon - \inf_{M} F\right) = 1.$$

To complete the proof we must show  $w \leq v$  implies w = v. If  $w \leq v$ , then  $w \leq u_n$  for each integer  $n \geq 0$ , that is  $w \in \bigcap_{n \geq 0} S_n = \{v\}$ .

**Lemma 4.8.** Let  $\Gamma(\Omega)$  be the complete metric space with the usual  $L^{\infty}$  distance dand  $J \in C^1(X(\Omega), \mathbb{R})$ . Then for each  $\varepsilon > 0$  and each  $f \in \Gamma(\Omega)$  such that

$$\max_{s \in [0,1]} J(f(s)) \le \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) + \varepsilon, \tag{4.7}$$

 $v \in X(\Omega)$  exists such that

$$\alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) - \varepsilon \le J(v) \le \max_{s \in [0,1]} J(f(s))$$
$$\operatorname{dist}(v, f([0,1])) \le \varepsilon^{1/2},$$
$$|J'(v)| \le \varepsilon^{1/2}.$$

*Proof.* Without loss of generality, we can assume that

$$0 < \varepsilon < \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega). \tag{4.8}$$

Let  $f \in \Gamma(\Omega)$  satisfy the condition (4.7). We define the function  $\Phi : \Gamma(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$\Phi(g) = \max_{s \in [0,1]} J(g(s)).$$

Then (i)  $\Phi$  is bounded below:  $\Phi(g) \geq \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) > 0$ . (ii)  $\Phi$  is continuous at each  $g \in \Gamma(\Omega)$ : since J is continuous on the compact set K = g([0,1]), for each  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $u \in K$ , there is a  $\delta_u > 0$  such that if  $w \in B(u; \delta_u)$  is an open ball in  $X(\Omega)$ , then  $|J(w) - J(u)| < \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$ . Since K is compact, finite values  $B(u_i; \delta_{u_i})$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ , exist such that

$$K \subset B(u_1; \frac{\delta_{u_1}}{2}) \cup \dots \cup B(u_n; \frac{\delta_{u_n}}{2}).$$

Take  $\delta = \min\{\frac{\delta_{u_1}}{2}, \dots, \frac{\delta_{u_n}}{2}\}$ . Let  $k \in \Gamma(\Omega)$  satisfy  $||k - g||_{L^{\infty}} < \delta$ . For each  $s \in [0, 1]$ , we have

$$|k(s) - g(s)| < \delta,$$

or  $g(s) \in B(u_i; \frac{\delta_{u_i}}{2}), k(s) \in B(u_i; \delta_{u_i})$ . Thus  $|J(k(s)) - J(g(s))| < \varepsilon, \text{ or } |\Phi(k) - \Phi(g)| \le \varepsilon.$ 

The Ekeland variational principle (Theorem 4.7) implies the existence of  $h\in \Gamma(\Omega)$  such that

$$\Phi(h) \le \Phi(f) \le \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) + \varepsilon,$$
$$\max_{s \in [0,1]} |h(s) - f(s)| \le \varepsilon^{1/2},$$

and

 $\Phi(g) > \Phi(h) - \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}} d(h, g) \quad \text{whenever } g \in \Gamma(\Omega) \quad \text{and } g \neq h.$ Let  $A = \{s \in [0, 1] : \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) - \varepsilon \leq J(h(s))\}$ , then A is nonempty since (4.9)

$$\alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) - \varepsilon < \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) = \inf_{g \in \Gamma(\Omega)} \max_{s \in [0,1]} J(g(s)) \le \max_{s \in [0,1]} J(h(s))$$

Note that for  $s \in A$ ,

$$|J'(h(s))| \le \varepsilon^{1/2},$$

if and only if

$$|\langle J'(h(s)), v \rangle| \le \varepsilon^{1/2} \text{ for } v \in \mathbf{U}(\Omega),$$

if and only if

$$\langle J'(h(s)), v \rangle \ge -\varepsilon^{1/2} \text{ for } v \in \mathbf{U}(\Omega).$$

We claim that there is some  $s \in A$  satisfying  $|J'(h(s))| \leq \varepsilon^{1/2}$ . If this is not the case, then for each  $s \in A$ ,  $v_s \in \mathbf{U}(\Omega)$  exists such that  $\langle J'(h(s)), v_s \rangle < -\varepsilon^{1/2}$ . By the continuity of J',  $\delta_s > 0$  and an open ball  $B_s$  in [0,1] containing s exist such that for  $t \in B_s$  and  $u \in X(\Omega)$  with  $|u| \leq \delta_s$ , we have

$$\langle J'(h(t)+u), v_s \rangle < -\varepsilon^{1/2}.$$
 (4.10)

Since A is compact, a finite subcovering  $B_{s_1}, B_{s_2} \dots B_{s_k}$  of A exists. We define the Lipschitz continuous functions, for each  $j = 1, 2, \dots, k, \psi_j : [0, 1] \to [0, 1]$  by

$$\psi_j(t) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{dist}(t, B_{s_j}^c) / \sum_{i=1}^k \operatorname{dist}(t, B_{s_i}^c) & \text{for } t \in A; \\ 0 & \text{for } t \notin \cup_{i=1}^k B_{s_i}. \end{cases}$$

Then

$$\sum_{j=1}^{k} \psi_j(t) = 1 \text{ for } t \in A;$$
$$\|\sum_{j=1}^{k} \psi_j(t) v_{s_j}\|_{H^1} \le 1 \quad \text{for } t \in A.$$

Let  $\delta = \min\{\delta_{s_1}, \dots, \delta_{s_k}\}$  and let  $\psi : [0, 1] \to [0, 1]$  be a continuous function such that

$$\psi(t) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } J(h(t)) \ge \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega); \\ 0 & \text{if } J(h(t)) \le \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) - \varepsilon, \end{cases}$$

and let  $g \in C([0,1], X(\Omega))$  be defined by

$$g(t) = h(t) + \delta \psi(t) \sum_{j=1}^{k} \psi_j(t) v_{s_j}.$$

It follows from (4.8) that, for  $t \in \{0,1\}$ , we have  $J(h(t)) = 0 < \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) - \varepsilon$ , or  $\psi(t) = 0$ . Consequently, g(0) = h(0) = 0 and g(1) = h(1) = e, that is,  $g \in \Gamma(\Omega)$ . The mean value theorem and (4.10) imply that, for each  $t \in A$ , there is some  $0 < \tau < 1$  for which

$$J(g(t)) - J(h(t))$$

$$= \langle J'(h(t) + \tau \delta \psi(t) \sum_{j=1}^{k} \psi_j(t) v_{s_j} \rangle, \delta \psi(t) \sum_{j=1}^{k} \psi_j(t) v_{s_j} \rangle$$

$$= \delta \psi(t) \sum_{j=1}^{k} \psi_j(t) \langle J'(h(t) + \tau \delta \psi(t) \sum_{j=1}^{k} \psi_j(t) v_{s_j} \rangle, v_{s_j} \rangle$$

$$\leq -\varepsilon^{1/2} \delta \psi(t).$$

$$(4.11)$$

Thus

$$J(g(t)) \le J(h(t)) - \varepsilon^{1/2} \delta \psi(t) \le J(h(t)).$$

If  $t \notin A$ , then  $\psi(t) = 0$  and hence J(g(t)) = J(h(t)). Let  $\overline{t} \in [0, 1]$  satisfy  $J(g(\overline{t})) = \Phi(g)$ , then we obtain

$$J(h(\overline{t})) \ge J(g(\overline{t})) \ge \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega),$$

so that  $\overline{t} \in A$  and  $\psi(\overline{t}) = 1$ . By (4.11), we obtain

$$J(g(\bar{t})) - J(h(\bar{t})) \le -\varepsilon^{1/2}\delta$$

and in particular

$$\Phi(g) + \varepsilon^{1/2} \delta \le J(h(\bar{t})) \le \Phi(h),$$

so that  $g \neq h$ . However, by the definition of g, we have  $d(g,h) \leq \delta$  and

$$\Phi(g) + \varepsilon^{1/2} d(g, h) \le \Phi(h)$$

which contradicts (4.9). The proof is complete.

 $\alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega)$  is a (PS)-value in  $X(\Omega)$  for J.

**Theorem 4.9.** Under the conditions of Lemma 4.8, for each minimizing sequence  $\{f_k\} \subset \Gamma(\Omega)$  such that

$$\Phi(f_k) = \max_{s \in [0,1]} J(f_k(s)) = \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) + o(1),$$

there is a (PS)-sequence  $\{v_k\}$  in  $X(\Omega)$  for J satisfying

$$J(v_k) = \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) + o(1),$$
  
dist $(v_k, f_k([0, 1])) = o(1),$   
 $J'(v_k) = o(1) \quad strongly \ in \ X^{-1}(\Omega)$ 

as  $k \to \infty$ . In particular,  $\alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega)$  is a (PS)-value in  $X(\Omega)$  for J.

*Proof.* We define  $\varepsilon_k = \max_{s \in [0,1]} J(f_k(s)) - \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega)$  if  $\max_{s \in [0,1]} J(f_k(s)) - \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) > 0$  and  $\varepsilon_k = \frac{1}{k}$  in the other case. Then we apply Lemma 4.8 to  $\varepsilon_k$  and  $f_k$ :

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) - \varepsilon_k &\leq J(v_k) \leq \max_{s \in [0,1]} J(f_k(s)) \leq \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) + \varepsilon_k, \\ \operatorname{dist}(v_k, f_k([0,1])) \leq \varepsilon_k^{1/2}, \\ |J'(v_k)| &\leq \varepsilon_k^{\frac{1}{2}} \quad \text{ for each } k > 0. \end{aligned}$$

This completes the proof.

(D) Consider the infimum of positive (PS)-values in  $X(\Omega)$  for J:

$$\alpha_{\mathbf{P}}(\Omega) = \inf_{\beta \in \mathbf{P}(\Omega)} \beta,$$

where  $\mathbf{P}(\Omega)$  is the set of all positive (PS)-values in  $X(\Omega)$  for J. That  $\alpha_{\mathbf{P}}(\Omega) > 0$  is a consequence of the following theorem.

**Theorem 4.10.** There is a  $\beta_0 > 0$  such that  $\beta \geq \beta_0$  for every positive (PS)-value  $\beta$  in  $X(\Omega)$  for J.

*Proof.* Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a (PS)<sub> $\beta$ </sub>-sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J with  $\beta > 0$ . By Lemma 2.38, a positive sequence  $\{c_n(\beta)\}$  exists such that  $c_n(\beta) = o(1)$  as  $n \to \infty$ ,  $\beta \to 0$ , and

$$a(u_n) \le c_n(\beta)^2. \tag{4.12}$$

By the Sobolev embedding theorem, there is a constant d > 0 such that

$$b(u_n) \le da(u_n)^{p/2}.$$
 (4.13)

By Lemma 2.38, (4.12), and (4.13), we have

$$o(1) = a(u_n) - b(u_n) \ge a(u_n) \left[1 - dc_n(\beta)^{p-2}\right].$$

Take  $\beta_0 > 0$  and  $n_0 > 0$  such that if  $\beta < \beta_0$  and  $n \ge n_0$ , then  $1 - dc_n(\beta)^{p-2} > \frac{1}{2}$ . Consequently,  $a(u_n) = b(u_n) = o(1)$ , or  $J(u_n) = o(1)$ . Thus,  $\beta \ge \beta_0$ .

 $\alpha_{\mathbf{P}}(\Omega)$  is a (PS)-value in  $X(\Omega)$  for J.

Theorem 4.11.  $\alpha_{\mathbf{P}}(\Omega) \in \mathbf{P}(\Omega)$ .

*Proof.* For each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , take  $u_n \in X(\Omega)$  and  $c_n \in \mathbf{P}(\Omega)$  such that

$$\begin{aligned} |c_n - \alpha_{\mathbf{P}}(\Omega)| &< \frac{1}{n}, \\ |J(u_n) - c_n| &< \frac{1}{n}, \\ \|J'(u_n)\|_{X^{-1}} &< \frac{1}{n}. \end{aligned}$$

Then  $J(u_n) = \alpha_{\mathbf{P}}(\Omega) + o(1)$  and  $J'(u_n) = o(1)$ . Thus,  $\alpha_{\mathbf{P}}(\Omega) \in \mathbf{P}(\Omega)$ .

The following theorem is very useful.

**Theorem 4.12.** Let  $\beta$  be a positive (PS)-value in  $X(\Omega)$  for J. Then (i)  $\beta \geq \alpha_{\gamma}(\Omega)$ ; (ii)  $\beta \geq \alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)$ ; (iii)  $\beta \geq \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega)$ ; (iv)  $\beta \geq \alpha_{\mathbf{P}}(\Omega)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a nonzero  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J with  $\beta > 0$ . By Lemma 2.38, we have

$$J(u_n) = \beta + o(1),$$
  
$$a(u_n) - b(u_n) = o(1).$$

(*i*) Let  $w_n = u_n(a(u_n))^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ , then  $a(w_n) = 1$  and  $b(w_n) = a(u_n)^{-p/2}b(u_n) \le \gamma(\Omega)^p$ . Thus,  $a(u_n) \ge \gamma(\Omega)^{2p/(2-p)} + o(1)$ , or  $\beta \ge (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})\gamma(\Omega)^{2p/(2-p)} = \alpha_{\gamma}(\Omega)$ .

(*ii*) By Theorem 4.3, there is a sequence  $\{s_n\}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^+$  such that  $\{s_n u_n\} \subset \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  and  $J(s_n u_n) = \beta + o(1)$ . Therefore,  $\beta \ge \alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)$ .

(*iii*) By Theorem 4.3 and Lemma 4.2 (*ii*), there are sequences  $\{s_n\}$  and  $\{t_n\}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^+$  such that  $\{s_n u_n\} \subset \mathbf{M}(\Omega), \{t_n u_n\} \subset \mathbf{Z}(\Omega), \text{ and } J(s_n u_n) = \beta + o(1).$  Since the

manifold  $\mathbf{Z}(\Omega)$  is path-connected, there is a path  $\zeta_n$  in  $\mathbf{Z}(\Omega)$  that connects  $t_n u_n$  to e. Let  $\gamma'_n$  be the line segment connecting 0 and  $t_n u_n$  and the path  $\gamma_n = \gamma'_n \cup \zeta_n$ , then

$$\alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) \le \max_{0 \le t \le 1} J(\gamma_n(t)) = J(s_n u_n) = \beta + o(1).$$

Thus,  $\beta \geq \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega)$ . (*iv*) Clearly,  $\beta \geq \alpha_{\mathbf{P}}(\Omega)$ .

By Theorems 4.1, 4.4, 4.9, 4.11, and 4.12, we have the following theorem.

**Theorem 4.13.**  $\alpha_{\gamma}(\Omega) = \alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega) = \alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega) = \alpha_{\mathbf{P}}(\Omega).$ 

**Definition 4.14.** By Theorem 4.13, we conclude that the positive (PS)-values  $\alpha_{\gamma}(\Omega)$ ,  $\alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega)$ ,  $\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)$ , and  $\alpha_{\mathbf{P}}(\Omega)$  in  $X(\Omega)$  for J are the same. Any one of them is called the index of J in  $X(\Omega)$  and denoted by  $\alpha_X(\Omega)$ . By the definition of  $\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)$ , if u is a nonzero solution of Equation (1.1), then  $u \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$ . Thus,  $J(u) \ge \alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega) = \alpha_X(\Omega)$ . We say that a nonzero solution u of Equation (1.1) in  $X(\Omega)$  is a ground state solution if  $J(u) = \alpha_X(\Omega)$ , and is a higher energy solution if  $J(u) > \alpha_X(\Omega)$ .

**Remark 4.15.** We denote  $\alpha_X(\Omega)$  by  $\alpha(\Omega)$  for  $X(\Omega) = H_0^1(\Omega)$  and by  $\alpha_s(\Omega)$  for  $X(\Omega) = H_s^1(\Omega)$  (see Definition 6.1).

**Remark 4.16.** By Theorem 8.2, a ground state solution in  $X(\Omega)$  is of constant sign. Note that if u is a solution of (1.1), then -u is also a solution of (1.1). By the maximum principle, if u is a nonzero and nonnegative solution of (1.1), then u is positive. From now on, by a ground state solution in  $X(\Omega)$ , we mean a positive solution of (1.1).

**Definition 4.17.** We say that a domain  $\Omega$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  is an achieved domain if there is a solution u in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  of (1.1) such that  $J(u) = \alpha(\Omega)$ , by Remark 4.16, we may assume that u be positive. Otherwise, we say that  $\Omega$  is a nonachieved domain.

**Theorem 4.18.** (i) If  $\Omega$  is a large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , then  $\alpha(\Omega) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ; (ii) If  $\Omega$  is a large domain in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ , then  $\alpha(\Omega) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ ; (iii) If  $\Omega$  is a large domain in  $\mathbf{A}^{r_1,r_2}$ , then  $\alpha(\Omega) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^{r_1,r_2})$ .

*Proof.* It suffices to prove part (i). Let  $w \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  be a ground state solution of Equation (1.1) satisfying

$$a(w) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (|\nabla w|^2 + w^2) = b(w) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |w|^p = (\frac{2p}{p-2})\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N).$$

For  $r_n \to \infty$ , take  $\{z_n\} \subset \Omega$  such that  $B^N(z_n; r_n) \subset \Omega$ . Consider the cut-off function  $\eta \in C_c^{\infty}([0,\infty))$  as in (2.2), and for each n, let

$$w_n(z) = \eta(\frac{2|z-z_n|}{r_n})w(z-z_n).$$

Then  $w_n \in H_0^1(\Omega)$  and

$$a(w_n) = \int_{\Omega} (|\nabla w_n|^2 + w_n^2) = (\frac{2p}{p-2})\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) + o(1),$$
  
$$b(w_n) = \int_{\Omega} |w_n|^p = (\frac{2p}{p-2})\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) + o(1) \quad \text{as } n \to \infty.$$

Thus,

$$J(w_n) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) + o(1),$$

HWAI-CHIUAN WANG

EJDE-2004/MON. 06

$$a(w_n) = b(w_n) + o(1)$$
 as  $n \to \infty$ .

By Theorem 4.4,  $\{w_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)}$ -sequence in  $H^1_0(\Omega)$  for J. Therefore,  $\alpha(\Omega) \leq \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Clearly,  $\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) \leq \alpha(\Omega)$ , thus we have  $\alpha(\Omega) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 4.19.** Let  $\Omega$  be a large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . If  $\beta$  is a positive (PS)-value in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J, then  $m\beta$  is also a positive (PS)-value in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J, where  $m = 2, 3, \ldots$ 

*Proof.* It suffices to prove the case m = 2. First embed  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  into  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a  $(\mathrm{PS})_\beta$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ . Then by Lemma 2.38, there is a constant c > 0 such that, for each n,  $a(u_n) \leq c$  and  $b(u_n) \leq c$ . For  $r_n \to \infty$ , since  $\Omega \setminus B^N(0; 5r_n)$  is also a large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $z_n \in \Omega$  exists such that  $B^N(z_n; 2r_n) \subset \Omega$  and

$$\int_{B^{N}(0;r_{n})^{c}} |\nabla u_{n}|^{2} + u_{n}^{2} < \frac{1}{n} \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{B^{N}(0;r_{n})^{c}} |u_{n}|^{p} < \frac{1}{n}.$$

Note that  $|z_n| \ge 5r_n$ . Let  $\eta_n(z) = \eta(\frac{|z|}{r_n})$ , where  $\eta$  is as in (2.2),  $v_n(z) = \eta_n(z)u_n(z)$ and  $w_n(z) = v_n(z - z_n)$ . Then we have  $|\nabla \eta_n| \le \frac{2}{r_n}$  and  $\sup w_n \subset B^N(z_n; 2r_n)$ . (i)  $J(v_n) = \beta + o(1)$ : note that

$$|\nabla v_n|^2 = |\eta_n|^2 |\nabla u_n|^2 + |\nabla \eta_n|^2 |u_n|^2 + 2\eta_n u_n \nabla \eta_n \nabla u_n.$$

Thus, for  $z \in B^N(0; r_n)$ , we have  $|\nabla v_n| = |\nabla u_n|$  and

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla v_n|^2 &= \int_{B^N(0;r_n)} |\nabla v_n|^2 + \int_{B^N(0;2r_n) \setminus B^N(0;r_n)} |\nabla v_n|^2 \\ &= \int_{B^N(0;r_n)} |\nabla u_n|^2 + o(1) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_n|^2 + o(1). \end{split}$$

Similarly, we have

$$\int_{\Omega} |v_n|^2 = \int_{\Omega} |u_n|^2 + o(1), \quad \int_{\Omega} |v_n|^p = \int_{\Omega} |u_n|^p + o(1).$$

Thus,  $J(v_n) = J(u_n) + o(1) = \beta + o(1)$ . Clearly, for each n,  $J(w_n) = J(v_n)$ , and hence  $J(w_n) = \beta + o(1)$ .

(ii)  $J(v_n + w_n) = 2\beta + o(1)$ : since the supports of  $v_n$  and  $w_n$  are disjoint, we have

$$\begin{aligned} a(v_n + w_n) &= \int_{\Omega} |\nabla (v_n + w_n)|^2 + (v_n + w_n)^2 \\ &= \int_{\Omega} |\nabla v_n|^2 + v_n^2 + \int_{\Omega} |\nabla w_n|^2 + w_n^2 + 2\int_{\Omega} \nabla v_n \nabla w_n + 2\int_{\Omega} v_n w_n \\ &= a(v_n) + a(w_n). \end{aligned}$$

Now,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega} |v_n + w_n|^p - |v_n|^p - |w_n|^p \\ &= \int_{B^N(0;2r_n)} |v_n + w_n|^p - |v_n|^p - |w_n|^p + \int_{B^N(0;2r_n)^c \cap \Omega} |v_n + w_n|^p - |v_n|^p - |w_n|^p \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$b(v_n + w_n) = \int_{\Omega} |v_n + w_n|^p = \int_{\Omega} |v_n|^p + \int_{\Omega} |w_n|^p = b(v_n) + b(w_n).$$

Hence,

$$J(v_n + w_n) = \frac{1}{2}a(v_n + w_n) - \frac{1}{p}b(v_n + w_n) = J(v_n) + J(w_n) = 2\beta + o(1).$$

 $(iii) \ \|J'(v_n+w_n)\|=o(1): \text{for } \varphi\in C^\infty_c(\Omega),$  we have

$$\begin{split} \langle J'(v_n), \varphi \rangle &= \int_{B^N(0;r_n)} u_n(\nabla \eta_n) \cdot \nabla \varphi + \int_{B^N(0;r_n)} \eta_n(\nabla u_n) \cdot \nabla \varphi + \eta_n u_n \varphi \\ &- \int_{B^N(0;r_n)} |\eta_n u_n|^{p-2} \eta_n u_n \varphi + o(1) \\ &= \int_{B^N(0;r_n)} \nabla u_n(z) \cdot \nabla \varphi(z) + u_n(z) \varphi(z) \\ &- \int_{B^N(0;r_n)} |u_n|^{p-2} u_n \varphi(z) + o(1) \\ &= \langle J'(u_n), \varphi \rangle + o(1). \end{split}$$

Thus,  $||J'(v_n)||_{H^{-1}} = o(1)$ . Similarly,  $||J'(w_n)||_{H^{-1}} = o(1)$ . We have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega} |v_n + w_n|^{p-2} (v_n + w_n)\varphi - |v_n|^{p-2} v_n \varphi - |w_n|^{p-2} w_n \varphi \\ &= \int_{B^N(0;2r_n)} |v_n + w_n|^{p-2} (v_n + w_n)\varphi - |v_n|^{p-2} v_n \varphi - |w_n|^{p-2} w_n \varphi \\ &+ \int_{B^N(0;2r_n)^c \cap \Omega} |v_n + w_n|^{p-2} (v_n + w_n)\varphi - |v_n|^{p-2} v_n \varphi - |w_n|^{p-2} w_n \varphi \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

Now for  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \langle J'(v_n+w_n),\varphi\rangle &= \int_{\Omega} \nabla (v_n+w_n) \nabla \varphi + (v_n+w_n)\varphi \\ &- \int_{\Omega} |v_n+w_n|^{p-2} (v_n+w_n)\varphi \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \nabla v_n \nabla \varphi + v_n \varphi + \int_{\Omega} \nabla w_n \nabla \varphi + w_n \varphi \\ &- \int_{\Omega} |v_n|^{p-2} v_n \varphi - \int_{\Omega} |w_n|^{p-2} w_n \varphi \\ &= \langle J'(v_n),\varphi \rangle + \langle J'(w_n),\varphi \rangle. \end{split}$$

Therefore,  $\|J'(v_n + w_n)\|_{H^{-1}} = o(1)$ . We conclude that

$$J(v_n + w_n) = 2\beta + o(1),$$
  
$$J'(v_n + w_n) = o(1) \quad \text{strongly in } H^{-1}(\Omega).$$

The following theorem has a proof similar to that of Theorem 4.19.

**Theorem 4.20.** Let  $\Omega$  be a large domain in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ . If  $\beta$  is a positive (PS)-value in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J, then  $m\beta$  is also a positive (PS)-value in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J, where  $m = 2, 3, \ldots$ 

**Lemma 4.21.** The set  $\mathbf{P}(\Omega)$  is closed.

The proof of this lemma is similar to the proof of Theorem 4.11; so we omit it. By Lemma 4.2,  $J(\mathbf{M}(\Omega))$  is bounded below away from zero. Actually for any domain  $\Omega$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $J(\mathbf{M}(\Omega))$  is unbounded above.

**Theorem 4.22.** If  $\Omega$  is a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , then  $J(\mathbf{M}(\Omega)) = (\alpha(\Omega), \infty)$  for a nonachieved domain  $\Omega$  and  $J(\mathbf{M}(\Omega)) = [\alpha(\Omega), \infty)$  for an achieved domain  $\Omega$ .

*Proof.* (i) Suppose that  $\Omega$  is bounded. By Struwe [66, p.116 Theorem 6.6], an unbounded sequence  $\{u_n\}$  exists in  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  for J. Since  $J(u_n) = (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})a(u_n)$  and  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  is path connected, then we have  $J(\mathbf{M}(\Omega)) = [\alpha(\Omega), \infty)$ .

(*ii*) Let  $\Omega$  be an unbounded domain and  $\Omega_1$  be a bounded domain in  $\Omega$ . Then  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega_1) \subset \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  and  $\alpha(\Omega) \leq \alpha(\Omega_1)$ . By part (*i*), we have

$$[\alpha(\Omega_1), \infty) = J(\mathbf{M}(\Omega_1)) \subset J(\mathbf{M}(\Omega)).$$

Since  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  is path connected, the result follows.

**Theorem 4.23.** Let  $\Omega$  be an Esteban-Lions domain as well as a large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . Then we have  $\mathbf{P}(\Omega) = \{\alpha(\Omega), 2\alpha(\Omega), 3\alpha(\Omega), \dots\}.$ 

*Proof.* By Theorem 4.19,  $\mathbf{P}(\Omega) \supset \{\alpha(\Omega), 2\alpha(\Omega), 3\alpha(\Omega), \ldots\}$ . Suppose that a  $(\mathrm{PS})_{\beta}$ -sequence  $\{u_n\}$  exists for J, where  $k\alpha(\Omega) < \beta < (k+1)\alpha(\Omega)$  for some  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . By the Palais-Smale decomposition theorem 3.1, Equation (1.1) has a nonzero solution. This contradicts Theorem 10.7.

By Lemma 2.38, if  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_\beta$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J, then  $a(u_n) = b(u_n) + o(1) = \frac{2p}{p-2}\beta + o(1)$ . By Theorems 4.22 and 4.23, we have:

**Lemma 4.24.** Let  $\Omega$  be an Esteban-Lions domain as well as a large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . For each  $\beta$  and  $m = 0, 1, \ldots$ , satisfying  $m\alpha(\Omega) < \beta < (m+1)\alpha(\Omega)$ , then there is a sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J satisfying

$$a(u_n) = b(u_n) + o(1) = \frac{2p}{p-2}\beta + o(1)$$

but

$$J'(u_n) \not\rightarrow 0$$
 strongly in  $H^{-1}(\Omega)$ .

Let  $\Omega$  be an unbounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and  $\Omega_n = \Omega \cap \mathbf{B}^N(0; r_n)$ , then we have the following theorem.

**Theorem 4.25.**  $\alpha_X(\Omega_n) = \alpha_X(\Omega) + o(1) \text{ as } n \to \infty.$ 

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\{u_n\}$  in  $X(\Omega)$  is a minimizing sequence in  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  of  $\alpha_X(\Omega)$ , then by Lemma 2.38,  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded in  $X(\Omega)$ . Let  $\{r_n\}$  be a sequence of strictly increasing positive integers such that  $r_n \geq n$ ,

$$\int_{\Omega \cap \{|z| \ge \frac{r_n}{2}\}} |\nabla u_n|^2 + |u_n|^2 < \frac{1}{n}$$
(4.14)

and

$$\int_{\Omega \cap \{|z| \ge \frac{r_n}{2}\}} |u_n|^p < \frac{1}{n}.$$
(4.15)

Define  $\eta_n(z) = \eta(\frac{2|z|}{r_n})$ , where  $\eta$  is as in (2.2). Then  $\eta_n u_n \in X(\Omega_n) \subset X(\Omega)$ . From the inequalities (4.14) and (4.15), we obtain

$$a(\eta_n u_n) = a(u_n) + o(1)$$
 and  $b(\eta_n u_n) = b(u_n) + o(1)$ .

Therefore, we have

$$J(\eta_n u_n) = J(u_n) + o(1) = \alpha_X(\Omega) + o(1).$$

and

$$a(\eta_n u_n) = b(\eta_n u_n) + o(1).$$

By Theorem 4.3, there is a sequence  $\{s_n\}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^+$  such that  $s_n = 1 + o(1)$ ,  $\{s_n \eta_n u_n\}$ is in  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  and  $J(s_n \eta_n u_n) = \alpha_X(\Omega) + o(1)$ . Note that  $J(s_n \eta_n u_n) \ge \alpha_X(\Omega_n) > \alpha_X(\Omega)$ . Hence,  $\alpha_X(\Omega_n) = \alpha_X(\Omega) + o(1)$ .

Let  $\Omega$  be a domain containing zero in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . For  $\delta > 0$ , we define

$$\delta\Omega = \{\delta z \mid z \in \Omega\}.$$

Then we have the following theorem.

**Theorem 4.26.** (i)  $\lim_{\delta \to \infty} \alpha(\delta \Omega) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N);$ (ii) Let  $\delta \Omega$  be achieved for each  $\delta > 0$ , then  $\lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \alpha(\delta \Omega) = \infty$ .

Proof. (i) By Theorem 12.5 below, there is a ground state solution u in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that a(u) = b(u) and  $J(u) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . A sequence  $\{\delta_n\}$  exists such that  $\delta_n \to \infty$  and  $B^N(0;n) \subset \delta_n \Omega$ . Consider the cut-off function  $\eta$  and  $\eta_n(z) = \eta(\frac{2|z|}{n})$ for  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$  Let  $u_n(z) = \eta_n(z)u(z)$ , then  $u_n(z) \in H^1_0(B^N(0;n))$ ,  $J(u_n) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) + o(1)$ , and  $a(u_n) = b(u_n) + o(1)$  as  $n \to \infty$ . By Theorem 4.3, there is a sequence  $\{s_n\}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^+$  such that  $s_n = 1 + o(1)$ ,  $\{s_n u_n\}$  is in  $\mathbf{M}(B^N(0;n))$  and  $J(s_n u_n) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) + o(1)$ . Then we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \alpha(\delta_n \Omega) \leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \alpha(B^N(0; n)) \leq \lim_{n \to \infty} J(s_n u_n) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) + o(1).$$

However,  $\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) \leq \alpha(\delta\Omega)$  for each  $\delta > 0$ . Thus,  $\lim_{\delta \to \infty} \alpha(\delta\Omega) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . (*ii*) Let u be a ground state solution of Equation (1.1) in  $H_0^1(\delta\Omega)$ , then a(u) = b(u) and  $J(u) = \alpha(\delta\Omega)$ . Set  $v(z) = u(\delta z)$ , then  $v \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ . Note that

$$a(u) = \int_{\delta\Omega} (|\nabla u(z)|^2 + u(z)^2) dz = \delta^{N-2} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla v|^2 + \delta^N \int_{\Omega} v^2,$$

and

$$(b(u))^{2/p} = (\int_{\delta\Omega} |u(z)|^p)^{2/p} = \delta^{\frac{2N}{p}} (\int_{\Omega} |v|^p)^{\frac{2}{p}}.$$

Therefore, by the Sobolev continuous embedding theorem,

$$a(u) \ge \delta^{N-2} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla v|^2 \ge c \delta^{N-2} (\int_{\Omega} |v|^p)^{\frac{2}{p}} \ge c \delta^{N-2-\frac{2N}{p}} (b(u))^{2/p}$$

That is,  $(a(u))^{\frac{p-2}{p}} \ge c\delta^{N-2-\frac{2N}{p}}$ . Thus,

$$J(u) = \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}\right)a(u) \ge c\left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}\right)(\delta^{N-2-\frac{2N}{p}})^{p/(p-2)}.$$

Therefore,  $\alpha(\delta\Omega) \ge c(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})(\delta^{N-2-\frac{2N}{p}})^{p/(p-2)}$ . Since  $p < \frac{2N}{N-2}$ , we have  $N - 2 - \frac{2N}{p} < 0$ . We conclude that  $\lim_{\delta \to 0+} \alpha(\delta\Omega) = \infty$ .

As a corollary of Theorem 4.26, we have

**Theorem 4.27.** (i)  $\lim_{r\to\infty} \alpha(B^N(0;r)) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ; (ii)  $\lim_{r\to 0+} \alpha(B^N(0;r)) = \infty$ .

Using the same argument as for the proof of Theorem 4.26, we obtain the following theorem.

**Theorem 4.28.** (i)  $\lim_{t\to\infty} \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r_{-t,t}) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ ; (ii)  $\lim_{t\to 0^+} \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r_{-t,t}) = \infty$ .

Let  $\Omega = O \times \mathbb{R}^l$ , where O is a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $m \ge 1$ ,  $n \ge 1$ . With the same argument of the proof in Theorem 4.26, we get

**Theorem 4.29.** (i)  $\lim_{\delta \to \infty} \alpha(\delta \Omega) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ; (ii)  $\lim_{\delta \to 0+} \alpha(\delta \Omega) = \infty$ .

We have the following continuity property.

Theorem 4.30. We have

$$\lim_{\delta \to 1} \alpha(\delta \mathbf{A}^r) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r).$$

*Proof.* (i).  $\lim_{\delta \to 1^+} \alpha(\delta \mathbf{A}^r) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ : let  $1 < \delta < 2$ . By Theorem 5.7 (ii) below,  $\alpha(2\mathbf{A}^r) < \alpha(\delta \mathbf{A}^r) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . In addition,  $\alpha(\delta \mathbf{A}^r)$  is increasing as  $\delta$  is decreasing. Let  $c \equiv \lim_{\delta \to 1^+} \alpha(\delta \mathbf{A}^r)$ , then  $c \leq \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . We claim that  $c \geq \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . By Theorem 12.5 below, a ground state solution  $u_n$  in  $\mathbf{M}((1+\frac{1}{n})\mathbf{A}^r)$  exists such that

$$a(u_n) = b(u_n)$$
 and  $J(u_n) = \alpha \left( \left(1 + \frac{1}{n}\right) \mathbf{A}^r \right)$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Moreover, we have  $a(u_n) = b(u_n) = (\frac{2p}{p-2})c + o(1)$  and  $J(u_n) = \alpha((1+\frac{1}{n})\mathbf{A}^r) = c + o(1)$ . Define  $v_n(z) = u_n((1+\frac{1}{n})z) \in H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . Since

$$a(u_n) = (1 + \frac{1}{n})^{N-2} \int_{\mathbf{A}^r} |\nabla v_n|^2 dz + (1 + \frac{1}{n})^N \int_{\mathbf{A}^r} v_n^2 dz$$

and

$$b(u_n) = (1+\frac{1}{n})^N \int_{\mathbf{A}^r} |v_n|^p dz,$$

then  $\{v_n\}$  is bounded in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . Thus,  $a(v_n) = b(v_n) + o(1)$  and  $J(v_n) = c + o(1)$ . By Theorem 4.3,  $s_n > 0$  exists such that  $s_n v_n \in \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{A}^r)$ ,  $s_n = 1 + o(1)$ , and  $J(s_n v_n) = c + o(1)$ . Hence,  $c \ge \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . We conclude the proof.

(ii)  $\lim_{\delta \to 1^{-}} \alpha(\mathbf{A}^{r}) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^{r})$ : by Theorem 12.5,  $u \in \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{A}^{r})$  satisfies a(u) = b(u)and  $J(u) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^{r})$ . Let  $v_{n}(x, y) = u((1 + \frac{1}{n})x, y)$  for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $v_{n}(x, y) \in H_{0}^{1}(\frac{n}{n+1}\mathbf{A}^{r}), a(v_{n}) = a(u) + o(1)$ , and  $b(v_{n}) = b(u) + o(1)$ . Thus  $a(v_{n}) = b(v_{n}) + o(1)$ as  $n \to \infty$  and

$$J(v_n) = \frac{1}{2}a(v_n) - \frac{1}{p}b(v_n) = J(u) + o(1).$$

By Theorem 4.3, for each n, there is an  $s_n > 0$  such that  $s_n v_n \in \mathbf{M}(\frac{n}{n+1}\mathbf{A}^r)$ ,  $s_n = 1 + o(1)$  and  $J(s_n v_n) = J(u) + o(1)$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Moreover,  $J(s_n v_n) \ge \alpha(\frac{n}{n+1}\mathbf{A}^r) > \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . By the squeeze theorem,

$$\lim_{\delta \to 1^{-}} \alpha(\delta \mathbf{A}^{r}) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^{r}).$$

**Bibliographical notes:** The constrained maximization problem  $\alpha_{\gamma}(\Omega)$  is a classical problem. Theorem 4.1 is from Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47]. The Nehari minimizing problem  $\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)$  was first studied by Nehari [57]. Theorem 4.3 is from Chen-Wang [26, p.158]. For Theorem 4.4, Stuart [67] proved that there is a  $(\text{PS})_{\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)}$ -sequence.

However, Chen-Wang [26, Lemma 2.1] proved that every minimizing sequence in  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  for  $\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)$  is a  $(\mathrm{PS})_{\alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega)}$ -sequence. The mountain pass minimax problem  $\alpha_{\Gamma}(\Omega)$  is originally from the mountain pass lemmas 4.8 and 4.9 by Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz [4] and the new version is from Brézis-Nirenberg [15]. Theorem 4.13 is due to Willem [78] and Wang [71, p.4241]. Theorem 2.7 is from Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47, Lemma 2.5].

## 5. PALAIS-SMALE CONDITIONS

The Palais-Smale conditions are conditions for compactness. They are useful in ascertaining the existence of solutions of (1.1). In this section, we assert that eight related (PS)-conditions in  $X(\Omega)$  for J are actually equivalent.

**Theorem 5.1.** The  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$ -condition for J holds in a bounded domain  $\Omega$ . In particular, there is a ground state solution of (1.1) in a bounded domain  $\Omega$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J, by Lemma 2.38,  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded and

$$J(u_n) = \alpha_X(\Omega) + o(1), \ a(u_n) = b(u_n) + o(1).$$

Take a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and  $u \in X(\Omega)$  such that  $u_n \to u$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$ . By the compactness theorem,  $u_n \to u$  strongly in  $L^p(\Omega)$ . Suppose u = 0, then  $b(u_n) = o(1)$ . Thus,  $a(u_n) = o(1)$  and  $J(u_n) = o(1)$ , contradicting that  $\alpha(\Omega) > 0$ . By Theorem 5.6, u is a ground state solution in  $X(\Omega)$  for J and  $u_n \to u$  strongly in  $X(\Omega)$ .  $\Box$ 

The  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$ -condition holds in unbounded domains and quasibounded domains.

**Definition 5.2.** A domain  $\Omega$  is quasibounded if

$$\lim_{z\in\Omega, |z|\to\infty} \operatorname{dist}(z,\partial\Omega) = 0.$$

**Example 5.3.** (i) Let  $f, g: \mathbb{R}^{N-1} \to \mathbb{R}$  be two functions of  $C^1, f \leq g$ ,

$$\lim_{|x| \to \infty} (g(x) - f(x)) = 0,$$

and

$$\Omega = \{ z = (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N-1} \times \mathbb{R} : f(x) < y < g(x) \}.$$

Then  $\Omega$  is a quasibounded domain;

(*ii*) Let A be the domain in  $\mathbb{R}^{N-1} \times \mathbb{R}$  with a hypersurface boundary. For each  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , let  $A_t = \{(x, y) \in A : y = t\}$  be the section of A at t. If  $\lim_{t\to\infty} diam A_t = 0$ , then A is a quasibounded domain.

**Theorem 5.4.** (i) Let  $\Omega$  be a  $C^1$  quasibounded domain, then the embedding  $H^1_0(\Omega) \to L^q(\Omega)$  is compact, where  $2 < q < 2^*$ ; (ii) The  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$ -condition holds for J in a  $C^1$  quasibounded domain  $\Omega$ , and there

(ii) The  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$ -condition holds for J in a  $C^1$  quasibounded domain  $\Omega$ , and there is a ground state solution of (1.1) in a  $C^1$  quasibounded domain.

*Proof.* (i) By Adams [2]. (ii) Similar to the proof of Theorem 5.1.

**Theorem 5.5.** Let  $m \ge 1$ ,  $k \ge 2$ ,  $\omega$  be a smooth bounded open set in  $\mathbb{R}^m$ , and let  $E = \omega \times \mathbb{R}^k$ . Denote by (x, y) a generic point in  $\mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^k$  and consider the space  $H^1_s(E)$  consisting of functions in  $H^1_0(E)$  that are spherically symmetric in y. Then the Sobolev embedding from  $H^1_s(E)$  into  $L^q(E)$  is compact for every  $q \in (2, \frac{2N}{N-2})$  with N = m + k.

The proof of this theorem can be found in Wang [72] and Lions [50].

As a consequence of Lemma 2.38, for each  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $X(\Omega)$  for J, there is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and a u in  $X(\Omega)$  such that  $u_n \rightharpoonup u$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$ . Then u is a solution of Equation (1.1).

**Theorem 5.6.** (i) Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J and u in  $X(\Omega)$  satisfying  $u_n \rightharpoonup u$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$ . Then u is a solution of Equation (1.1);

(ii) Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J and u in  $X(\Omega)$  such that  $u_n \rightarrow u$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$  and u is nonzero. Then u is a ground state solution of Equation (1.1) and  $u_n \rightarrow u$  strongly in  $X(\Omega)$ ;

(iii) The  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$ -condition holds for J if and only if for each  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$ - sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $X(\Omega)$  for J, there is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and a nonzero u in  $X(\Omega)$  such that  $u_n \rightharpoonup u$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$ .

*Proof.* (i) By Lemmas 2.38, 2.11, and Theorem 2.33, there is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  such that  $u_n \rightharpoonup u$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$ , a.e. in  $\Omega$ , and strongly in  $L^q_{loc}(\Omega)$  where  $1 \leq q < 2^*$ . By Lemma 2.11, we obtain, for  $\phi \in X(\Omega) \cap C^{\infty}_c(\Omega)$ ,  $\operatorname{supp} \phi = K$ ,

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla u_n \cdot \nabla \phi \to \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \cdot \nabla \phi \\ \int_{\Omega} u_n \phi \to \int_{\Omega} u \phi.$$

Let  $g_n = |u_n|^{p-1}\phi$  and  $g = |u|^{p-1}\phi$ . Then  $||u_n|^{p-2}u_n\phi| \leq g_n$  for each  $n, g_n \to g$ a.e. By the Rellich-Kondrakov theorem 2.33,  $g_n \to g$  in  $L^1(K)$ . By Theorem 2.22,

$$\int_{\Omega} |u_n|^{p-2} u_n \phi \to \int_{\Omega} |u|^{p-2} u \phi.$$

Thus,  $\langle J'(u_n), \phi \rangle \to \langle J'(u), \phi \rangle$  for each  $\phi \in X(\Omega) \cap C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ . Since  $\langle J'(u_n), \phi \rangle = o(1)$ , for each  $\phi \in X(\Omega) \cap C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , we have J'(u) = 0 in  $X^{-1}(\Omega)$ . Therefore, u is a solution of Equation (1.1).

(*ii*) By part (*i*), *u* is a nonzero solution of Equation (1.1), hence  $u \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  and

$$J(u_n) = \frac{1}{2}a(u_n) - \frac{1}{p}b(u_n) = \alpha_X(\Omega) + o(1),$$
  
$$\langle J'(u_n), u_n \rangle = a(u_n) - b(u_n) = o(1).$$

Thus,

$$a(u_n) = \frac{2p}{p-2}\alpha_X(\Omega) + o(1).$$
(5.1)

Since a is weakly lower semicontinuous, we have

$$\alpha_X(\Omega) \le J(u) = (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})a(u) \le (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})\liminf_{n \to \infty} a(u_n) = \alpha_X(\Omega),$$

or  $J(u) = \alpha_X(\Omega)$ . By Lemma 8.2 below, u is of constant sign. Recall that if w is a solution of Equation (1.1), then -w is also a solution of (1.1). By the maximum principle, we may assume that u is positive. Let  $p_n = u_n - u$ . By Lemma 2.11 and 2.14, we have

$$J(p_n) = J(u_n) - J(u) + o(1) = o(1).$$

By Lemma 2.15,  $\{p_n\}$  is a Palais-Smale sequence for J, thus  $\langle J'(p_n), p_n \rangle = o$  (1). Similar to (5.1), we have

$$a(p_n) = \frac{2p}{p-2}J(p_n) + o(1) = o(1).$$

Thus,  $u_n \to u$  strongly in  $X(\Omega)$ . (iii) follows by part (ii).

Let  $\Omega^1 \subsetneqq \Omega^2$  and  $\alpha_X^i = \alpha_X(\Omega^i)$  for i = 1, 2, then clearly  $\alpha_X^2 \le \alpha_X^1$ . If  $\alpha_X^2 = \alpha_X^1$ , then we have the following useful results.

**Theorem 5.7.** Let  $\Omega^1 \subsetneq \Omega^2$  and  $J : X(\Omega^2) \to \mathbb{R}$  be the energy functional. Suppose that  $\alpha_X^2 = \alpha_X^1$ . Then

- (i)  $\alpha_X^1$  does not admit any ground state solution;
- (ii) J does not satisfy the  $(PS)_{\alpha_X^1}$ -condition;
- (iii) J does not satisfy the  $(PS)_{\alpha_{\mathbf{v}}^2}$ -condition.

*Proof.* (i) Suppose that  $\alpha_X^1$  admits a ground state solution  $u \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega^1) \subset \mathbf{M}(\Omega^2)$ such that  $J(u) = \alpha_X^1$ . Then we have  $J(u) = \alpha_X^1 = \alpha_X^2 = \min_{v \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega^2)} J(v)$ . By Lemma 4.5 and Theorem 5.6 (ii), (iii), u is a ground state solution of (1.1) in  $\Omega^2$ . Thus, u > 0 in  $\Omega^2$ , which contradicts the fact that  $u \in X(\Omega^1)$ .

(*ii*) By part (*i*) and Theorem 5.6 (*ii*), (*iii*). (*iii*) Let  $\{u_n\}$  in  $X(\Omega^1)$  satisfy  $J(u_n) \to \alpha_X^1$  and  $J'(u_n) \to 0$  strongly in  $X^{-1}(\Omega^1)$ . By Theorem 4.3,  $\{s_n\}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^+$  exists such that  $s_n = 1+o(1), w_n = s_n u_n \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega^1)$  and  $J(w_n) = \alpha_X^1 + o(1)$  and  $J'(w_n) = o(1)$  strongly in  $X^{-1}(\Omega^1)$ . Since  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega^1) \subset \mathbf{M}(\Omega^2)$ ,  $\{w_n\} \subset \mathbf{M}(\Omega^2)$  and  $J(w_n) = \alpha_X^2 + o(1)$ . By Theorem 4.4, we have

$$J(w_n) = \alpha_X^2 + o(1),$$
  
$$J'(w_n) = o(1) \quad \text{strongly in } X^{-1}(\Omega^2).$$

Suppose that J satisfies the  $(PS)_{\alpha_X^2}$ -condition. Then there is a subsequence  $\{w_n\}$ and a  $w \in X(\Omega^2)$  satisfying  $w_n \to w$  strongly in  $X(\Omega^2)$  and  $J(w) = \alpha_X^2$ . Hence,  $w \neq 0$ . By Lemma 8.2 below and the maximum principle, w is a ground state solution of (1.1) in  $\Omega^2$ . Since  $\{w_n\} \subset \mathbf{M}(\Omega^1)$  and  $w_n \to w$  strongly in  $X(\Omega^2)$ , we have w = 0 in  $(\Omega^1)^c$ . This contradicts the fact that w is a positive solution of Equation (1.1) in  $\Omega^2$ . Thus, J does not satisfy the  $(PS)_{\alpha_X^2}$ -condition.  $\Box$ 

Compare Theorem 5.7 for  $X(\Omega) = H_0^1(\Omega)$  and the following results.

**Corollary 5.8.** Let E be either  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , or  $\mathbf{A}^r$ , or  $\mathbf{A}^{r_1,r_2}$  and  $\Omega$  a proper large domain of E. Then there is no any ground state solution of (1.1) in  $\Omega$ .

The proof of this corollary follows by Theorem 5.7 (ii) and Theorem 4.18.

**Theorem 5.9.** Let  $X(\Omega) = H_0^1(\Omega)$ . We have: (i)  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) > \alpha(\Theta)$  for each domain  $\Theta \supseteq \mathbf{A}^r$ ; (ii) J does not satisfy  $(PS)_{\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)}$ -condition.

*Proof.* (i) Since the infinite strip  $\mathbf{A}^r$  is a periodic domain, by Theorem 12.5 below, there is a ground state solution  $u_0 \in \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{A}^r)$  such that

$$J(u_0) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r).$$

The result follows from Theorem 5.7.

(*ii*) Let  $u_n = u_0(x, y + n)$  for each n. Since  $\mathbf{A}^r$  is a periodic domain, we have  $u_n \in H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$J(u_n) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$$
 and  $a(u_n) = b(u_n)$ .

By Theorem 4.4,  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)}$ -sequence for J. Moreover, for  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbf{A}^r)$ and  $K = \operatorname{supp}\varphi$ , we have

$$\langle u_n, \varphi(z) \rangle_{H^1} = \langle u_0(x, y+n), \varphi(z) \rangle_{H^1}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{\mathbf{A}^r} \nabla u_0(x, y+n) \nabla \varphi(z) dz + \int_{\mathbf{A}^r} u_0(x, y+n) \varphi(z) dz \\ &= \int_K \nabla u_0(x, y+n) \nabla \varphi(z) dz + \int_K u_0(x, y+n) \varphi(z) dz \\ &= o(1) \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty. \end{split}$$

For  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\phi \in H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ , there is  $\varphi \in C_c^\infty(\mathbf{A}^r)$  such that  $\|\phi - \varphi\|_{H^1} < \varepsilon/(\|u\|_{H^1} + 1)$ 

and

$$\begin{aligned} \langle u_n, \phi(z) \rangle_{H^1} &= \langle u_n, \phi(z) - \varphi(z) \rangle_{H^1} + \langle u_n, \varphi(z) \rangle_{H^1} \\ &\leq \|u_n\|_{H^1} \|\phi(z) - \varphi(z)\|_{H^1} + \langle u_n, \varphi(z) \rangle_{H^1} \\ &< \varepsilon \quad \text{as } n \to \infty. \end{aligned}$$

Thus,  $u_n \to 0$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . Suppose that J satisfies the  $(\mathrm{PS})_{\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)}$ -condition, then there is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  such that  $u_n \to 0$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . This contradicts  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) > 0$ . Therefore, J does not satisfy the  $(\mathrm{PS})_{\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)}$ -condition.  $\Box$ 

From now on  $\alpha_X(\Omega)$  is simply denoted by  $\alpha_X$ . Let  $\{u_n\}$  in  $X(\Omega)$  be a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ sequence for J in  $\Omega$ . Clearly,  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded in  $X(\Omega)$ . Then a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$ and  $u \in X(\Omega)$  exist such that  $u_n \rightharpoonup u$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ , and strongly in  $L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ . Define

$$a_{\infty} = \lim_{R \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega \cap \{R < |z|\}} (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2),$$

$$b_{\infty} = \lim_{R \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega \cap \{R < |z|\}} |u_n|^p.$$

We have the following results.

**Lemma 5.10.** Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J, then a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  exists such that (i)  $\limsup_{n\to\infty} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2 = (\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 + u^2) + a_{\infty};$ (ii)  $\limsup_{n\to\infty} \int_{\Omega} |u_n|^p = \int_{\Omega} |u|^p + b_{\infty};$ (iii)  $a_{\infty} = b_{\infty}$  and  $\alpha_X = J_{\infty} + J(u)$ , where  $J_{\infty} = (\frac{p-2}{2p})b_{\infty}.$ 

*Proof.* Since  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J, by Lemma 2.38,  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded in  $X(\Omega)$ . A subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and  $u \in X(\Omega)$  exist such that  $u_n \rightharpoonup u$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$ , a.e. in  $\Omega$ , and strongly in  $L^p_{loc}(\Omega)$ .

(i) Let  $\eta_R(z) = \eta(\frac{2|z|}{R})$ , then

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2 = \int_{\Omega \cap \{|z| < R\}} (\eta_R + 1 - \eta_R) (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) 
+ \int_{\Omega \cap \{R < |z|\}} (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) 
= \int_{\Omega} \eta_R (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) + \int_{\Omega \cap \{\frac{R}{2} < |z| < R\}} (1 - \eta_R) (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) 
+ \int_{\Omega \cap \{R < |z|\}} (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2).$$
(5.2)

**Step 1**: Since  $\{\eta_R u_n\}$  is bounded in  $X(\Omega)$ , we have for each R > 0

$$o(1) = \langle J'(u_n), \eta_R u_n \rangle = \int_{\Omega} \eta_R(|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) + u_n \nabla \eta_R \nabla u_n - \int_{\Omega} \eta_R |u_n|^p.$$

Thus,

$$\int_{\Omega} \eta_R \left( |\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2 \right) + u_n \nabla \eta_R \nabla u_n - \int_{\Omega} \eta_R |u_n|^p = o(1).$$

Then, for each R > 0,

$$- \left| \int_{\Omega} u_n \nabla \eta_R \nabla u_n \right| + \int_{\Omega \cap \{|z| < R\}} \eta_R |u_n|^p + o(1)$$
  

$$\leq \int_{\Omega} \eta_R (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2)$$
(5.3)  

$$\leq \left| \int_{\Omega} u_n \nabla \eta_R \nabla u_n \right| + \int_{\Omega \cap \{|z| < R\}} \eta_R |u_n|^p + o(1).$$

Since  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded in  $X(\Omega)$  and  $|\nabla \eta_R| \leq \frac{c}{R}$  for each R, then by the Hölder inequality,

$$\left|\int_{\Omega} u_n \nabla \eta_R \nabla u_n\right| \le \frac{c}{R}$$

Recall that for bounded sequences  $\{s_n\}$  and  $\{t_n\}$ , we have

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} (s_n + t_n) \le \limsup_{n \to \infty} s_n + \limsup_{n \to \infty} t_n,$$
$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} (s_n + t_n) \ge \liminf_{n \to \infty} s_n + \liminf_{n \to \infty} t_n,$$
$$-\limsup_{n \to \infty} s_n = \liminf_{n \to \infty} (-s_n).$$

Thus, by (5.3), we have for each R > 0

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \eta_R(|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) \le \frac{c}{R} + \int_{\Omega \cap \{|z| < R\}} \eta_R |u|^p,$$
(5.4)

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \eta_R(|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) \ge \liminf_{n \to \infty} (-|\int_{\Omega} u_n \nabla \eta_R \nabla u_n|) + \int_{\Omega \cap \{|z| < R\}} \eta_R |u|^p, \quad (5.5)$$

and

$$\lim_{R \to \infty} \liminf_{n \to \infty} (-|\int_{\Omega} u_n \nabla \eta_R \nabla u_n|) = -\lim_{R \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} (|\int_{\Omega} u_n \nabla \eta_R \nabla u_n|) = 0 \quad (5.6)$$

By (5.4), (5.5), and (5.6), letting  $R \to \infty$  we obtain

$$\lim_{R \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \eta_R(|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) \le \int_{\Omega} |u|^p = \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 + u^2$$
(5.7)

and

$$\lim_{R \to \infty} \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \eta_R(|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) \ge \int_{\Omega} |u|^p = \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 + u^2.$$
(5.8)

**Step 2**: Let  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,\infty))$  satisfy

$$\varphi(t) = \begin{cases} 1 - \eta(t) & \text{for } t \in [1, 2]; \\ \eta(t - 1) & \text{for } t \in [2, 3]; \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

then  $0 \leq \varphi \leq 1$ . Let  $\varphi_R(z) = \varphi(\frac{2|z|}{R})$ . Since  $\{\varphi_R u_n\}$  is bounded in  $X(\Omega)$ , we have  $o(1) = \langle J'(u_n), \varphi_R u_n \rangle$ 

$$= \int_{\Omega} \varphi_R(|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) + u_n \nabla \varphi_R \nabla u_n - \int_{\Omega} \varphi_R |u_n|^p.$$

Then

$$\int_{\Omega} \varphi_R(|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) \le \left| \int_{\Omega} u_n \nabla \varphi_R \nabla u_n \right| + \int_{\Omega \cap \{\frac{R}{2} < |z| < \frac{3R}{2}\}} \varphi_R |u_n|^p + o(1).$$

Note that  $|\int_{\Omega} u_n \nabla \varphi_R \nabla u_n| \leq \frac{c}{R}$ . Similarly to (5.4), we obtain

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \varphi_R(|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) \le \frac{c}{R} + \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega \cap \{\frac{R}{2} < |z| < \frac{3R}{2}\}} \varphi_R|u|^p.$$

Thus,

$$\lim_{R \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \varphi_R(|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) = 0.$$
(5.9)

Note that  $(1 - \eta_R)(z) = \varphi_R(z)$  for each  $\frac{R}{2} < |z| < R$ . Let  $R \to \infty$ , and by (5.9) we have,

$$\lim_{R \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega \cap \{\frac{R}{2} < |z| < R\}} (1 - \eta_R) (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2)$$

$$\leq \lim_{R \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \varphi_R (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) = 0.$$
(5.10)

**Step 3**: by (5.2), (5.7), and (5.10), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2 &\leq [\lim_{R \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \eta_R (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2)] \\ &+ \lim_{R \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega \cap \{\frac{R}{2} < |z| < R\}} (1 - \eta_R) (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) + a_\infty \\ &\leq \left(\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 + u^2\right) + a_\infty. \end{split}$$

On the other hand, by (5.2), (5.8), and (5.10), we have

$$a_{\infty} \leq \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) + \lim_{R \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \left[ -\int_{\Omega} \eta_R (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) \right] \\ + \lim_{R \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \left[ -\int_{\Omega \cap \{\frac{R}{2} < |z| < R\}} (1 - \eta_R) (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) \right] \\ \leq (\limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) - \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 + u^2.$$

Hence, we have  $\limsup_{n\to\infty}\int_{\Omega}|\nabla u_n|^2+u_n^2=(\int_{\Omega}|\nabla u|^2+u^2)+a_{\infty}.$  (ii) Recall that for bounded sequences  $\{s_n\}$  and  $\{t_n\}$  such that  $\lim_{n\to\infty}s_n=s$ , then

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} (s_n + t_n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} s_n + \limsup_{n \to \infty} t_n.$$

For each R > 0

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} |u_n|^p = \int_{\Omega \cap \{|z| < R\}} |u|^p + \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega \cap \{R < |z|\}} |u_n|^p.$$

Let  $R \to \infty$ , we have

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} |u_n|^p = \int_{\Omega} |u|^p + b_{\infty}.$$

(*iii*) There is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  such that

$$a(u_n) = b(u_n) + o(1) = (\frac{2p}{p-2})\alpha_X + o(1).$$

Note that

$$b(u) + b_{\infty} = b(u_n) + o(1) = a(u_n) + o(1) = a(u) + a_{\infty}$$

thus,  $a_{\infty} = b_{\infty}$ . Moreover,

$$\alpha_X = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left( \frac{1}{2} a(u_n) - \frac{1}{p} b(u_n) \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} a(u) + \frac{1}{2} a_\infty - \frac{1}{p} b(u) - \frac{1}{p} b_\infty$$
$$= J(u) + J_\infty.$$

We require the following results to assert our main result.

**Theorem 5.11.** Let  $\Omega_n = \Omega \cap B^N(0; n)$ , then the following properties are equiva*lent:* 

(i) J does not satisfy the  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$  -condition in  $X(\Omega)$  for J;

(ii) There is a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$  -sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $X(\Omega)$  for J such that

$$\int_{\Omega_n} |u_n|^p = o(1);$$

(iii) There is a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$  -sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $X(\Omega)$  for J such that  $\{\xi_n u_n\}$  is also a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$  -sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $X(\Omega)$  for J.

*Proof.*  $(i) \Longrightarrow (ii)$  Suppose J does not satisfy the  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$ -condition in  $X(\Omega)$  for J. By Lemma 5.8, there is a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$  -sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $X(\Omega)$  for J such that  $u_n \rightarrow 0$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$ . By Theorem 5.7 and the Rellich compactness lemma,  $u_n \to 0$  a.e. in  $\Omega$  and strongly in  $L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ . Thus,  $\lim_{m\to\infty} \int_{\Omega_n} |u_m|^p = 0$ . We can take a subsequence  $\{u_{m_n}\}$  such that  $\int_{\Omega_n} |u_{m_n}|^p < \frac{1}{n}$ , or  $\int_{\Omega_n} |v_n|^p = o(1)$ . (*ii*)  $\Longrightarrow$  (*iii*) Suppose there is a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$ -sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $X(\Omega)$  for J such that

$$\int_{\Omega_n} |u_n|^p = o(1).$$
 (5.11)

By (5.11) and Lemma 2.11, we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \xi_n^q |u_n|^p = \int_{\Omega} |u_n|^p + o(1) = \frac{2p}{p-2} \alpha_X(\Omega) + o(1) \quad \text{for } q > 0.$$
(5.12)

Let  $v_n = \xi_n u_n$ . Then  $v_n \in X(\Omega)$ . By (5.12), we have

$$b(v_n) = \int_{\Omega} \xi_n^p |u_n|^p = \frac{2p}{p-2} \alpha_X(\Omega) + o(1).$$
 (5.13)

Since  $\{\xi_n^2 u_n\}$  is bounded in  $X(\Omega)$ , we have

$$o(1) = \langle J'(u_n), \xi_n^2 u_n \rangle = \int_{\Omega} (\xi_n^2 |\nabla u_n|^2 + 2\xi_n u_n \nabla \xi_n \cdot \nabla u_n + \xi_n^2 u_n^2) - \int_{\Omega} \xi_n^2 |u_n|^p.$$
(5.14)

By  $|\nabla \xi_n(z)| \leq \frac{c}{n}$  and (5.11), we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \xi_n u_n \nabla \xi_n \cdot \nabla u_n = o(1).$$

By (5.13) and (5.14) we have

$$a(v_n) = \int_{\Omega} \xi_n^2(|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) = b(v_n) + o(1) = \frac{2p}{p-2}\alpha_X(\Omega) + o(1).$$

Thus

$$J(v_n) = \frac{1}{2}a(v_n) - \frac{1}{p}b(v_n)$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2}\frac{2p}{p-2}\alpha_X(\Omega) - \frac{1}{p}\frac{2p}{p-2}\alpha_X(\Omega) + o(1)$   
=  $\alpha_X(\Omega) + o(1).$ 

Since  $J(v_n) = \alpha_X(\Omega) + o(1)$  and  $a(v_n) = b(v_n) + o(1)$ , by Theorem 4.4,  $\{v_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J.

 $(iii) \implies (i)$  Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J such that  $\{\xi_n u_n\}$  is also a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J. Let  $v_n = \xi_n u_n$ . Claim:  $v_n \rightharpoonup 0$  as  $n \rightarrow \infty$ . For  $\phi \in C_c^1(\Omega)$  and  $K = \text{supp } \phi, K \subset \Omega$  is compact and there is an  $n_0$  such that  $v_n(z) = 0$  in K for all  $n \ge n_0$ . We have

$$\langle v_n(z), \phi(z) \rangle_{H^1} = \int_{\Omega} \nabla v_n(z) \nabla \phi(z) dz + \int_{\Omega} v_n(z) \phi(z) dz = 0 \quad \text{for all } n \ge n_0$$

By Lemma 2.11, there is a C > 0 such that  $||v_n(z)||_{H^1} \leq C$ . For  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\varphi \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ ,  $\phi \in C_c^1(\Omega)$  exists such that

$$\|\varphi - \phi\|_{H^1} < \varepsilon/2(C+1)$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{aligned} \langle v_n(z), \varphi(z) \rangle_{H^1} &= \langle v_n(z), \varphi(z) - \phi(z) \rangle_{H^1} + \langle v_n(z), \phi(z) \rangle_{H^1} \\ &\leq \| v_n(z) \|_{H^1} \| \varphi(z) - \phi(z) \|_{H^1} + \langle v_n(z), \phi(z) \rangle_{H^1} \\ &\leq C \| \varphi(z) - \phi(z) \|_{H^1} \\ &< \varepsilon \text{ for } n > n_0. \end{aligned}$$

This implies  $v_n \rightarrow 0$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ . Therefore, by Lemma 5.6 J does not satisfy the  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(\Omega)}$ -condition in  $X(\Omega)$ .

For  $k \geq 1$ , i = 1, 2, ..., k, let  $\Omega$  be an unbounded domain and let  $\Omega_i$  be a proper domain in  $\Omega$  such that  $\Omega = \bigcup_{i=1}^k \Omega_i$ ,  $\Omega_i \cap \Omega_j$  is bounded, and at least one of  $\Omega_i$  is unbounded. Let  $\alpha_X = \alpha_X(\Omega)$  and  $\alpha_X^i = \alpha_X(\Omega_i)$ , then

$$\mathbf{M} = \{ u \in X(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} \mid a(u) = b(u) \},$$
$$\mathbf{M}_i = \{ u \in H_0^1(\Omega_i) \setminus \{0\} \mid a(u) = b(u) \} \quad \text{for } i = 1, 2, \dots, k.$$

Since  $X(\Omega_i) \subset X(\Omega)$  and  $\mathbf{M}_i \subset \mathbf{M}$ , for i = 1, 2, ..., k,  $\alpha_X \leq \min\{\alpha_X^1, \alpha_X^2, ..., \alpha_X^k\}$ . Let  $\Omega$  be an unbounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and  $\Omega^0 \subsetneq \Omega$  with the indexes  $\alpha_X = \alpha_X(\Omega)$ and  $\alpha_X^0 = \alpha_X(\Omega^0)$ . Then we have  $\alpha_X \leq \alpha_X^0$ . Let

$$\Omega_n = \Omega \setminus B^N(0; n);$$
  

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{M}}_n = \{ u \in H_0^1(\widetilde{\Omega}_n) \setminus \{0\} \mid a(u) = b(u) \};$$
  

$$\widetilde{\alpha}_X^n = \alpha(\widetilde{\Omega}_n) = \inf_{u \in \widetilde{M}_n} J(u).$$

**Theorem 5.12.** The following properties are equivalent:

(i) J satisfies the  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -condition;

(ii) For every  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $X(\Omega)$  for J, there are a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$ and  $u \neq 0$  in  $X(\Omega)$  such that  $u_n \to u$  strongly in  $X(\Omega)$ ;

(iii) For every  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $X(\Omega)$  for J, there are c > 0, a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$ , and positive integers K and  $n_0$  such that for each  $n \ge n_0$ , we have

$$\int_{\Omega \cap \{|z| < K\}} |u_n|^p \ge c;$$

(iv) For every  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -sequence  $\{u_n\} \subset X(\Omega)$  for J, there is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  such that for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there is a measurable set E such that  $|E| < \infty$  and  $\int_{E^c} |u_n|^p dz < \varepsilon$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ;

- (v)  $\alpha_X < \tilde{\alpha}_X^n$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ;
- (vi)  $\alpha_X < \min\{\alpha_X^1, \alpha_X^2, \dots, \alpha_X^k\};$
- (vii)  $J_{\infty} < \alpha_X$ ;
- (viii)  $\alpha_X < \alpha_X^0$  for each proper subdomain  $\Omega^0$  of  $\Omega$ .

*Proof.*  $(i) \Longrightarrow (ii)$  Suppose that J satisfies the  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -condition. Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J. Then there are a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and a u in  $X(\Omega)$  such that  $u_n \to u$  strongly in  $X(\Omega)$ . We conclude that  $J(u) = \alpha_X > 0$ . Thus,  $u \neq 0$ .

 $(ii) \Longrightarrow (iii)$  Suppose that  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J that has a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and  $u \neq 0$  in  $X(\Omega)$  such that  $u_n \rightharpoonup u$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$ . By Theorem 5.6,  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \int_{\Omega} |u_n|^p = \int_{\Omega} |u|^p$ . Take K > 0 and c > 0 with  $\int_{\Omega \cap \{|z| < K\}} |u|^p \ge 2c$ .  $n_0 > 0$  exists such that

$$\int_{\Omega \cap \{|z| < K\}} |u_n|^p \ge c \quad \text{for } n \ge n_0.$$

Then (iii) follows.

 $(iii) \Longrightarrow (iv)$  Given a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -sequence  $\{u_n\} \subset X(\Omega)$  for J, there are a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and a u in  $X(\Omega)$  such that  $u_n \rightharpoonup u$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$ . By (iii), there are c > 0, a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$ , positive integers K and  $n_0$  such that for each  $n \ge n_0$ , we have

$$\int_{\Omega \cap \{|z| < K\}} |u_n|^p \ge c$$

Since  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \int_{\Omega\cap\{|z|< K\}} |u_n|^p = \int_{\Omega\cap\{|z|< K\}} |u|^p$ , we have  $u \neq 0$ . By Theorem 5.6,  $u_n \to u$  in  $L^p(\Omega)$ . Thus, by Theorem 2.23, for  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there is a set E such that  $|E| < \infty$  and  $\int_{E^c} |u_n|^p dz < \varepsilon$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

 $(iv) \Longrightarrow (v)$  For every  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $X(\Omega)$  for J, there is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  such that for  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there is a set E such that  $|E| < \infty$  and  $\int_{E^c} |u_n|^p dz < \varepsilon$ 

for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded and there is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and a u in  $X(\Omega)$  such that  $u_n \to u$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ . By Theorem 2.34,  $u_n \to u$  in  $L^p(\Omega)$ . Note that

$$\alpha_X + o(1) = J(u_n) = (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})b(u_n) + o(1) = (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})b(u) + o(1).$$

Thus,  $u \neq 0$ . By Theorem 5.6, J satisfies the  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -condition in  $\Omega$ . Suppose that  $\tilde{\alpha}_X^{n_0} = \alpha_X$  for some  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ , by Theorem 5.7 J does not satisfy the  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -condition in  $\Omega$ , which is a contradiction. Hence, we have  $\alpha_X < \tilde{\alpha}_X^n$  for each n.

 $(v) \Longrightarrow (vi)$  On the contrary, suppose that  $\alpha_X = \min\{\alpha_X^1, \alpha_X^2, \dots, \alpha_X^k\}$ , say  $\alpha_X = \alpha_X^1$ . Since  $\Omega_1 \subsetneq \Omega$ , by Theorem 5.7, J does not satisfy the  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -condition in  $\Omega$ . By Theorem 5.6, there is a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -sequence  $\{u_n\}$  such that  $u_n \rightharpoonup 0$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$ . There is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and a sequence  $\{\Omega_n\}$  such that

$$\int_{\Omega_n} |u_n|^p = o(1).$$

Let  $\xi_n$  be as in (2.1) and  $v_n = \xi_n u_n$ . By Lemma 2.41, we have

$$J(v_n) = \alpha_X + o(1).$$
  
 
$$J'(v_n) = o(1) \quad \text{strongly in } X^{-1}(\Omega).$$

Then by Theorem 4.3, there is a sequence  $\{s_n\}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^+$  such that  $w_n = s_n v_n$ ,  $\{w_n\} \in \widetilde{\mathbf{M}}_n$ , and  $J(w_n) = J(v_n) + o(1) = \alpha_X + o(1)$ . Note that  $\widetilde{\alpha}_X^n \leq J(w_n)$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Hence,  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \widetilde{\alpha}_X^n \leq \alpha_X$ . Since  $\Omega \supset \widetilde{\Omega}_n \supset \widetilde{\Omega}_{n+1}$ , we have  $\alpha_X \leq \widetilde{\alpha}_X^n \leq \widetilde{\alpha}_X^{n+1}$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then we can conclude that  $\alpha_X = \widetilde{\alpha}_X^n$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , which is a contradiction.

 $(vi) \Longrightarrow (vii)$  Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$ . Then a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$ and a u in  $X(\Omega)$  exist such that  $u_n \rightharpoonup u$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$ . By Lemma 5.10,  $\alpha_X = J_{\infty} + J(u)$ . On the contrary, suppose that  $J_{\infty} = \alpha_X$ , and we have u = 0. Thus,  $u_n \rightharpoonup 0$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$ . There are a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and a sequence  $\{\Omega_n\}$  such that

$$\int_{\Omega_n} |u_n|^p = o(1).$$

Let  $v_n = \xi_n u_n$ . By Lemma 2.41,  $\{v_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$ . Since  $\Omega_i \cap \Omega_j$ is bounded for  $i \neq j$ ,  $n_0 > 0$ ,  $v_n = 0$  in  $B^N(0; n_0)$  exists for  $n \ge n_0$ , where  $B^N(0; n_0) \supset \Omega_i \cap \Omega_j$  for  $i \neq j$ . Set  $v_n = v_n^1 + v_n^2 + \cdots + v_n^k$ , where  $v_n^i \in H_0^1(\Omega_i)$ , and for  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, k$ ,

$$v_n^i(z) = \begin{cases} v_n(z) & \text{for } z \in \Omega_i; \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

As in the proof of Lemma 2.41, we obtain

$$J'(v_n^i) = o(1)$$
 strongly in  $X^{-1}(\Omega)$  for  $i = 1, 2, \dots, k$ .

Assume

$$J(v_n^i) = c_i + o(1)$$
 for  $i = 1, 2, \dots, k$ .

Since  $J(u_n) = \alpha_X + o(1)$ , we have  $c_1 + c_2 + \cdots + c_k = \alpha_X$ . Since  $c_i$  are (PS)values in  $X(\Omega)$  for J, by Lemma 2.38, they are nonnegative. There is at least one of the  $c_i$  that is positive, say  $c_1 > 0$ . By Theorem 4.10,  $c_1 \ge \alpha_X^1$ , thus  $\alpha_X \ge c_1 \ge \alpha_X^1$ . This proves  $\alpha_X \ge \min\{\alpha_X^1, \alpha_X^2, \ldots, \alpha_X^k\}$ . We conclude that  $\alpha_X = \min\{\alpha_X^1, \alpha_X^2, \ldots, \alpha_X^k\}$ .

 $(vii) \Longrightarrow (viii)$  Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a  $(PS)_{\alpha}$ -sequence in  $\Omega$ . Then a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and

a u in  $X(\Omega)$  exist such that  $u_n \to u$  weakly in  $X(\Omega)$ . By Lemma 5.10,  $J(u) = \alpha_X - J_\infty$ . Suppose that  $J_\infty < \alpha_X$ , then  $u \neq 0$ . By Theorem 5.6, J satisfies  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -condition in  $X(\Omega)$ . By Theorem 5.7,  $\alpha_X < \alpha_X^0$  for each proper subdomain  $\Omega^0$  of  $\Omega$ .

 $(viii) \implies (i)$  Suppose that J does not satisfy the  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -condition in  $\Omega$ . By Lemma 2.41 and Theorem 5.7,  $\{u_n\}$  exists in  $X(\Omega)$  and is a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -sequence for Jsuch that  $\{\xi_n u_n\}$  also is a  $(PS)_{\alpha_X}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J. Let  $v_n = \xi_n u_n$ , then

$$J(v_n) = \alpha + o(1),$$
  
 
$$J'(v_n) = o(1) \quad \text{strongly in } X^{-1}(\Omega).$$

By Theorem 4.3, there is a sequence  $\{s_n\}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^+$  such that  $w_n = s_n v_n$ ,  $\{w_n\} \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega \setminus \overline{B^N(0; \frac{n}{2})})$  and  $J(w_n) = J(v_n) + o(1) = \alpha_X + o(1)$ .  $n_0 > 0$  exists such that  $\Omega \setminus \overline{B^N(0; n_0)} \subseteq \Omega$ . Let  $\Omega^0 = \Omega \setminus \overline{B^N(0; n_0)}$ . Then  $w_n \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega^0)$  for  $n \ge n_0$ . Since  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega^0) \subset \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  and  $J(w_n) = \alpha_X + o(1)$ , thus,  $\alpha_X^0 = \alpha_X$ , which is a contradiction.

**Bibliographical notes:** Theorem 5.6 is from Chen-Lee-Wang [24, Lemma 19]. Theorem 5.12 is from Chen-Lin-Wang [25, Theorem 23].

## 6. Symmetric Palais-Smale Conditions

In this section, we focus on the symmetric Palais-Smale conditions which will be used in Section 13.

**Definition 6.1.** (i) Suppose that  $(x, y) \in \Omega$  if and only if  $(x, -y) \in \Omega$ , then we call  $\Omega$  a y-symmetric domain;

(*ii*) Let  $\Omega$  be a *y*-symmetric domain and  $\Theta$  be a *y*-symmetric bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . If two disjoint subdomains  $\Omega_1$  and  $\Omega_2$  of  $\Omega$  exist such that

$$(x,y) \in \Omega_2$$
 if and only if  $(x,-y) \in \Omega_1$ ,  
 $\Omega \setminus \overline{\Theta} = \Omega_1 \cup \Omega_2$ ,

then we say that  $\Omega$  is separated by  $\Theta$ ;

(*iii*) Let  $\Omega$  be a y-symmetric domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . If a function  $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfies u(x, y) = u(x, -y) for  $(x, y) \in \Omega$ , then we call u a y-symmetric (axially symmetric) function;

(*iv*) Let  $\Omega$  be a *y*-symmetric domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and denote the space  $H^1_s(\Omega)$  by the  $H^1$ -closure of the space  $\{u \in C_0^\infty(\Omega) : u \text{ is } y\text{-symmetric}\}.$ 

**Remark 6.2.** (i) Note that  $H_s^1(\Omega)$  is a closed linear subspace of  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ . Let  $H_s^{-1}(\Omega)$  be the dual space of  $H_s^1(\Omega)$ ;

(ii) Let  $\Omega$  be a y-symmetric domain in  $\mathbf{A}^r$  and let  $B^N(0; r+1)$  be a N-ball. Then clearly  $\Omega$  is separated by  $B^N(0; r+1)$ .

**Example 6.3.** (i) For each  $\rho > 0$ , let  $\Omega = (\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \overline{K_{\rho}}) \cup \mathbf{A}^r$ . Then  $\Omega$  is a *y*-symmetric large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  separated by a bounded domain  $\mathbf{A}_{\rho}^r$ ;

(*ii*) Let  $\Omega = [\mathbf{P}^+ + (0, \frac{R}{2})] \cup B^N(0; R) \cup [\mathbf{P}^- - (0, \frac{R}{2})]$ , then  $\Omega$  is a *y*-symmetric large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  separated by the bounded domain  $B^N(0; R)$ .

**Theorem 6.4.** (i)  $\alpha_s(B^N(0;R)) = \alpha(B^N(0;R));$ (ii)  $\alpha_s(\mathbb{R}^N) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N);$   $\begin{array}{l} (iii) \ \alpha_s(\mathbf{A}^r_{-t,t}) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r_{-t,t});\\ (iv) \ \alpha_s(\mathbf{A}^r) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r). \end{array}$ 

*Proof.* By Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47] and Theorem 12.3 below, there is a ground state solution of (1.1) in  $B^N(0; R)$ ,  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $\mathbf{A}^r_{-t,t}$ , and  $\mathbf{A}^r$ . By Gidas-Ni-Nirenberg [34] and [35] and Chen-Chen-Wang [23], every positive solution of (1.1) in  $B^N(0; R)$ ,  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $\mathbf{A}^r_{-t,t}$ , and  $\mathbf{A}^r$  is *y*-symmetric.

The following symmetric results are required to assert our main result.

**Theorem 6.5.** Suppose that  $\Omega$  is a y-symmetric large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  separated by a y-symmetric bounded domain, then  $\alpha_s(\Omega) \leq 2\alpha(\Omega)$ .

*Proof.* First, by Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47] and Gidas-Ni-Nirenberg [35], there is a positive solution  $u_0$  of Equation (1.1) with radial symmetry such that  $J(u_0) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Since  $\Omega$  is a *y*-symmetric proper large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , for  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$ , sequences  $\{z_n\}$  and  $\{r_n\}$  exist such that  $B^N(z_n; r_n) \subset \Omega$  and  $r_n \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Let  $\eta_n(z) = \eta(\frac{2|z-z_n|}{r_n})$  as in (2.2), and  $u_n(z) = \eta_n(z)u_0(z-z_n)$ . Then  $u_n(z) \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ , and

$$J(u_n) = J(u_0) + o(1) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) + o(1)$$
  
$$a(u_n) = b(u_n) + o(1).$$

By Theorem 4.4 and Theorem 4.18,  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\alpha(\Omega)}$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J. Moreover, if we let  $w_n = u_n(x, -y)$ , then  $w_n$  is also a  $(PS)_{\alpha(\Omega)}$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ for J such that  $\operatorname{supp} w_n \cap \operatorname{supp} u_n = \emptyset$  and  $\{u_n + w_n\} \subset H_s^1(\Omega)$ . We have

$$\begin{aligned} a(u_n+w_n) &= \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(u_n+w_n)|^2 + (u_n+w_n)^2 \\ &= \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2 + \int_{\Omega} |\nabla w_n|^2 + w_n^2 \\ &+ 2\int_{\Omega} \nabla u_n \nabla w_n + 2\int_{\Omega} u_n w_n \\ &= a(u_n) + a(w_n), \end{aligned}$$

and  $b(u_n + w_n) = \int_{\Omega} |u_n + w_n|^p = \int_{\Omega} |u_n|^p + \int_{\Omega} |w_n|^p = b(u_n) + b(w_n)$ . Hence,

$$J(u_n + w_n) = \frac{1}{2}a(u_n + w_n) - \frac{1}{p}b(u_n + w_n)$$
  
=  $J(u_n) + J(w_n)$   
=  $2\alpha(\Omega) + o(1).$ 

Moreover, for  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$  with *y*-symmetry, we have

$$\begin{split} |\langle J'(u_n + w_n), \varphi \rangle| \\ &= big |\int_{\Omega} \nabla (u_n + w_n) \nabla \varphi + (u_n + w_n) \varphi - \int_{\Omega} |u_n + w_n|^{p-2} (u_n + w_n) \varphi| \\ &= |\int_{\Omega} \nabla u_n \nabla \varphi + u_n \varphi + \int_{\Omega} \nabla w_n \nabla \varphi + w_n \varphi - \int_{\Omega} |u_n|^{p-2} u_n \varphi - \int_{\Omega} |w_n|^{p-2} w_n \varphi| \\ &= |\langle J'(u_n), \varphi \rangle| + |\langle J'(w_n), \varphi \rangle| \\ &\leq \|J'(u_n)\|_{H^{-1}} + \|J'(w_n)\|_{H^{-1}}. \end{split}$$

Therefore,  $\|J'(u_n + w_n)\|_{H_s^{-1}} = o(1)$ . We conclude that  $\{u_n + w_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{2\alpha(\Omega)}$ sequence in  $H_s^1(\Omega)$  for J. By Theorems 4.12 and 4.13,  $\alpha_s(\Omega) \leq 2\alpha(\Omega)$ .

We have the following symmetric Palais-Smale condition.

**Theorem 6.6.** Suppose that  $\Omega$  is a y-symmetric large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  separated by a y-symmetric bounded domain. Then  $\alpha_s(\Omega) < 2\alpha(\Omega)$  if and only if J satisfies the  $(PS)_{\alpha_s(\Omega)}$ -condition in  $H^1_s(\Omega)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\alpha_s(\Omega) < 2\alpha(\Omega)$ . Suppose J does not satisfy the  $(PS)_{\alpha_s(\Omega)}$ -condition. By Theorem 5.11, a  $(PS)_{\alpha_s(\Omega)}$ -sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $H_s^1(\Omega)$  for J exists such that  $\{\xi_n u_n\}$  is also a  $(PS)_{\alpha_s(\Omega)}$ -sequence in  $H_s^1(\Omega)$  for J, where  $\xi_n$  is as at (2.1). Let  $w_n = \xi_n u_n$ , then by Lemma 2.9, we obtain

$$J(w_n) = \alpha_s(\Omega) + o(1),$$
  

$$J'(w_n) = o(1) \quad \text{in } H^{-1}(\Omega).$$
(6.1)

Since  $\Omega$  is a *y*-symmetric domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  separated by a bounded domain Q,  $n_0 > 0$ , exists such that  $w_n = 0$  in  $\overline{Q}$  for  $n \ge n_0$  and two disjoint subdomains  $\Omega_1$  and  $\Omega_2$  of  $\Omega$  exist such that

$$(x,y) \in \Omega_2$$
 if and only if  $(x,-y) \in \Omega_1$ ,  
 $\Omega \setminus \overline{Q} = \Omega_1 \cup \Omega_2$ .

Note that, for  $n \ge n_0$ ,  $w_n = w_n^1 + w_n^2$  and  $w_n^1(x, y) = w_n^2(x, -y)$ , where for i = 1, 2,

$$w_n^i(x) = \begin{cases} w_n(x) & \text{for } x \in \Omega_i, \\ 0 & \text{for } x \notin \Omega_i. \end{cases}$$

Then  $w_n^i \in H_0^1(\Omega_i)$ . We obtain  $J(w_n^1) = J(w_n^2)$  and

$$\alpha_s(\Omega) + o(1) = J(w_n) = J(w_n^1) + J(w_n^2) = 2J(w_n^i)$$
 for  $i = 1, 2, 3$ 

or

$$J(w_n^i) = \frac{1}{2}\alpha_s(\Omega) + o(1)$$
 for  $i = 1, 2$ .

By (6.1), we have

$$J'(w_n^i) = o(1)$$
 in  $H_0^1(\Omega_i)$  for  $i = 1, 2$ .

Therefore  $\frac{1}{2}\alpha_s(\Omega)$  is a (PS)-value in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J. By Theorems 4.12 and 4.13,

$$\frac{1}{2}\alpha_s(\Omega) \ge \alpha(\Omega_i).$$

Since  $\Omega$  and  $\Omega_i$  are large domains of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , by Theorem 4.18, we have

$$\alpha(\Omega_i) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) = \alpha(\Omega).$$

Thus  $\alpha_s(\Omega) \geq 2\alpha(\Omega)$ , which is a contradiction.

Conversely, suppose that J satisfies the  $(PS)_{\alpha_s(\Omega)}$ -condition in  $H^1_s(\Omega)$ . By Theorem 6.5, we have  $\alpha_s(\Omega) \leq 2\alpha(\Omega)$ . Suppose that  $\alpha_s(\Omega) = 2\alpha(\Omega)$ . By the definition of the large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , we may take a domain  $\tilde{\Omega} = \Omega \setminus \overline{B^N(0;\tilde{r})}$  for some  $\tilde{r} > 0$  such that  $\tilde{\Omega} \subseteq \Omega$ , and  $\tilde{\Omega}$  is a proper *y*-symmetric large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  separated by a *y*-symmetric bounded domain. By Theorem 5.7, we have  $2\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) = 2\alpha(\Omega) = \alpha_s(\Omega) < \alpha_s(\tilde{\Omega})$ . By Theorem 6.5,  $\alpha_s(\tilde{\Omega}) \leq 2\alpha(\tilde{\Omega}) = 2\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Thus,  $2\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) < 2\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , which is a contradiction.

As a consequence of Theorem 6.6, we have the following result.

**Theorem 6.7.** If  $\Omega$  is a y-symmetric large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  separated by a y-symmetric bounded domain, then  $\alpha(\Omega) < \alpha_s(\Omega)$ .

Proof. Since  $\Omega \subsetneq \mathbb{R}^N$ , we have  $\alpha_s(\mathbb{R}^N) \le \alpha_s(\Omega)$ . Assume that  $\alpha_s(\mathbb{R}^N) = \alpha_s(\Omega)$ . Then by Theorem 5.7, J does not satisfy the  $(\mathrm{PS})_{\alpha_s(\Omega)}$ -condition in  $H^1_s(\Omega)$  for J. By Theorem 4.18,  $\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) = \alpha(\Omega)$ , by Theorem 6.4,  $\alpha_s(\mathbb{R}^N) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , and by Theorem 6.6,  $2\alpha(\Omega) \le \alpha_s(\Omega)$ . We conclude that

$$2\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) = 2\alpha(\Omega) \le \alpha_s(\Omega) = \alpha_s(\mathbb{R}^N) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$$

which is a contradiction.

Consider the *y*-symmetric large domain  $\Omega_R$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  separated by a *y*-symmetric bounded domain, where  $\Omega_R = [\mathbf{P}^+ + (0, \frac{R}{2})] \cup B^N(0; R) \cup [\mathbf{P}^- - (0, \frac{R}{2})]$ . Then we have the following existence result.

**Theorem 6.8.** An  $R_0 > 0$  exists such that for  $R \ge R_0$ , there is a positive y-symmetric solution of (1.1) in  $\Omega_R$ .

*Proof.* By Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47],  $\alpha(B^N(0, R))$  is strictly decreasing as R is strictly increasing and

 $\alpha(B^N(0,R))\searrow \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) \quad \text{as } R\to\infty.$ 

By Theorem 6.4,  $\alpha(B^N(0, R)) = \alpha_s(B^N(0, R))$  for each R. Thus, there is a  $R_0 > 0$ such that  $\alpha_s(\Omega_R) \leq \alpha_s(B^N(0, R)) < 2\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) = 2\alpha(\Omega_R)$  for each  $R \geq R_0$ . By Theorem 6.5 and Theorem 6.6, there is a *y*-symmetric positive solution of Equation (1.1) in  $\Omega_R$  for each  $R \geq R_0$ .

Bibliographical notes: The results of this section are from Wang-Wu [74].

7. Symmetric Palais-Smale Decomposition Theorems

In this section, we present the symmetric Palais-Smale decomposition theorem in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ .

**Lemma 7.1.** Let  $\Theta_1 \subset \Theta_2 \subset \Theta_3 \subset \ldots$ , where  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \Theta_n = \mathbf{A}^r$ . If

$$f_n(z) = \begin{cases} g_n(z) - h_n(z), & \text{for } z \in \Theta_n, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

 $f_n \to f \text{ a.e., } g_n \ge 0, \text{ and } h_n \to 0 \text{ a.e., then } f \ge 0.$ 

*Proof.* For  $z \in \mathbf{A}^r$ , we have  $z \in \Theta_m$  for some  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $z \in \Theta_{m+i}$  for  $i = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$ . Since  $g_{m+i}(z) = f_{m+i}(z) + h_{m+i}(z)$ ,  $f_{m+i} \to f$  a.e.,  $h_{m+i} \to 0$  a.e. for  $i \to \infty$ , hence  $g_{m+i} \to f$  a.e., and since  $g_{m+i} \ge 0$ , we have  $f \ge 0$ .

**Theorem 7.2** (Symmetric Palais-Smale Decomposition Theorem in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ ). Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $H_s^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for J. Then there are a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$ , a positive integer m, sequences  $\{\tilde{z}_n^{i,j}\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ , a function  $\bar{u} \in H_s^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ , and  $0 \neq w^{i,j} \in H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for  $1 \leq i \leq m, j = 1, 2$  such that

$$w^{i,1}(x,y) = w^{i,2}(x,-y),$$
  
$$|\tilde{z}_n^{i,j}| \to \infty \quad for \ i = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$
  
$$-\Delta \bar{u} + \bar{u} = |\bar{u}|^{p-2} \ \bar{u} \quad in \ \mathbf{A}^r,$$

$$-\Delta w^{i,j} + w^{i,j} = |w^{i,j}|^{p-2} w^{i,j} \quad in \ \mathbf{A}^r,$$

and

$$u_n = \bar{u} + \sum_{j=1}^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} w^{i,j} (\cdot - \tilde{z}_n^{i,j}) + o(1) \text{ strongly in } H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r),$$
  

$$a(u_n) = a(\bar{u}) + 2\sum_{i=1}^{m} a(w^{i,j}) + o(1) \text{ for some } j = 1, 2,$$
  

$$b(u_n) = b(\bar{u}) + 2\sum_{i=1}^{m} b(w^{i,j}) + o(1) \text{ for some } j = 1, 2,$$
  

$$J(u_n) = J(\bar{u}) + 2\sum_{i=1}^{m} J(w^{i,j}) + o(1) \text{ for some } j = 1, 2.$$

In addition, if  $u_n \ge 0$ , then  $\bar{u} \ge 0$  and  $w^{i,j} \ge 0$  for each  $1 \le i \le m$ , j = 1, 2.

*Proof.* Step 0. Since  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $H_s^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for J, by Lemma 2.38 there is a c > 0 such that  $||u_n||_{H^1} \leq c$ . In the following proof of this theorem, we fix the value of c. There is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and a  $\bar{u}$  in  $H_s^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  such that  $u_n \rightharpoonup \bar{u}$  weakly in  $H_s^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  and  $\bar{u}$  solves

$$-\Delta \bar{u} + \bar{u} = |\bar{u}|^{p-2} \bar{u} \quad \text{in } \mathbf{A}^r.$$

**Step 1**. Suppose that  $u_n \not\rightarrow \bar{u}$  strongly in  $H^1_s(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . Let

$$u_n^1 = u_n - \bar{u}$$
 for  $n = 1, 2, \dots$ 

By Lemma 2.15,  $\{u_n^1\}$  is a  $(\mathrm{PS})_{(\beta-J(\bar{u}))}$ -sequence in  $H_s^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for J. Let  $v_n^1 = \xi_n u_n^1$ , where  $\xi_n$  are as in 2.1. Note that  $u_n^1 \to 0$  weakly in  $H_s^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  and  $u_n^1 \to 0$  strongly in  $H_s^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . By Lemma 2.41,  $\{v_n^1\}$  is also a  $(\mathrm{PS})_{(\beta-J(\bar{u}))}$ -sequence in  $H_s^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for J. Moreover,  $J(u_n^1) = J(v_n^1) + o(1), v_n^1 \to 0$  weakly in  $H_s^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  and  $v_n^1 \to 0$  strongly in  $H_s^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . Let K = 2([r] + 1) and  $Q_K = \mathbf{A}^r \cap B^N(0; K)$ . Then  $v_n^1 = 0$  in  $\overline{Q_K}$  for  $n \ge 2K$ . Two disjoint strictly large domains  $\Omega^1 = \mathbf{A}_K^r$  and  $\Omega^2 = \widetilde{\mathbf{A}}_{-K}^r$  in  $\mathbf{A}^r$  exist such that

$$(x,y) \in \Omega^2$$
 if and only if  $(x,-y) \in \Omega^1$ ,  
 $\Omega \setminus \overline{Q_K} = \Omega^1 \cup \Omega^2$ .

For j = 1, 2, let

$$v_n^{1,j}(z) = \begin{cases} v_n^1(z) & \text{for } z \in \Omega^j, \\ 0 & \text{for } z \notin \Omega^j. \end{cases}$$

Then  $v_n^{1,j} \in H_0^1(\Omega^j)$ ,  $v_n^{1,1}(x,y) = v_n^{1,2}(x,-y)$ ,  $v_n^1 = v_n^{1,1} + v_n^{1,2}$ , and  $J(v_n^{1,1}) = J(v_n^{1,2})$ . We claim that  $\{v_n^{1,j}\}$  is a  $(\mathrm{PS})_{\frac{1}{2}(\beta - J(\bar{u}))}$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega^j)$  for J. In fact,

$$J(v_n^{1,j}) = \frac{1}{2}J(v_n^1) = \frac{1}{2}J(u_n^1) + o(1) = \frac{1}{2}\left[\beta - J(\bar{u})\right] + o(1),$$

and for  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega^j)$ ,  $\|\varphi\|_{H^1} = 1$ , we have

$$|\langle J'(v_n^{1,j}),\varphi\rangle| = |\langle J'(v_n^{1}),\varphi\rangle| \le ||J'(v_n^{1})||_{H^{-1}} ||\varphi||_{H^1}.$$

Thus,

$$\|J'(v_n^{1,j})\|_{H^{-1}} \le \|J'(v_n^1)\|_{H^{-1}} = o(1).$$

Note that  $v_n^1 \to 0$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  and  $v_n^1 \not\to 0$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ , so we have  $v_n^{1,j} \to 0$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\Omega^j)$  and  $v_n^{1,j} \not\to 0$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\Omega^j)$ .

(1-0)  $\int_{A_{-1,1}^r} |w_n^{1,j}(z)|^2 dz \ge \frac{d_1}{2}$  for some constant  $d_1 > 0, n = 1, 2, \ldots$ , and j = 1, 2,where  $w_n^{1,j}(z) = v_n^{1,j}(z + z_n^{1,j})$  for some  $\{z_n^{1,j}\} \subset \mathbf{A}^r$ : for j = 1, 2, since  $\{v_n^{1,j}\}$  is bounded,  $J'(v_n^{1,j}) = o(1)$ , and  $v_n^{1,j} \not\rightarrow 0$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\Omega^j)$ . By Lemma 2.17, there is a subsequence  $\{v_n^{1,j}\}$ , and a constant  $d_1 > 0$  such that

$$Q_n^{r,1} = \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} \int_{(0,y)+A_{-1,1}^r} |v_n^{1,j}(z)|^2 dz \ge d_1 \quad \text{for } n = 1, 2, \dots$$

For n = 1, 2, ..., take  $z_n^{1,1} = (0, y_n^1)$  and  $z_n^{1,2} = (0, -y_n^1)$  in  $\mathbf{A}^r$  such that

$$\int_{z_n^{1,j} + A_{-1,1}^r} |v_n^{1,j}(z)|^2 dz \ge \frac{d_1}{2} \text{ for } n = 1, 2, \dots$$

Let

$$w_n^{1,j}(z) = v_n^{1,j}(z+z_n^{1,j})$$

then

$$\int_{A_{-1,1}^r} |w_n^{1,j}(z)|^2 dz \ge \frac{d_1}{2} \text{ for } n = 1, 2, \dots$$

(1-1)  $u_n(z) = \bar{u}(z) + \sum_{j=1}^2 w_n^{1,j}(z-z_n^{1,j}) + o(1)$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . By Lemma 2.42, we have the following equalities in the strong sense in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ 

$$\sum_{j=1}^{2} w_n^{1,j}(z - z_n^{1,j}) = \sum_{j=1}^{2} v_n^{1,j}(z) = v_n^1(z) = u_n^1(z) + o(1) = u_n(z) - \overline{u}(z) + o(1),$$
  
or

$$u_n(z) = \overline{u}(z) + \sum_{j=1}^2 w_n^{1,j}(z - z_n^{1,j}) + o(1)$$
 strongly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ .

(1-2)  $||w_n^{1,j}||_{H^1} \le c$  for n = 1, 2, ..., and  $||w^{1,j}||_{H^1} \le c$ , where  $w_n^{1,j} \rightharpoonup w^{1,j}$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for j = 1, 2. By Lemma 2.11(*iii*),

$$\begin{split} \|w_n^{1,j}\|_{H^1}^2 &= \|v_n^{1,j}\|_{H^1}^2 = \frac{1}{2} \|v_n^1\|_{H^1}^2 = \frac{1}{2} \|u_n^1\|_{H^1}^2 + o(1) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} (\|u_n\|_{H^1}^2 - \|\bar{u}\|_{H^1}^2) + o(1) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} c^2 + o(1), \end{split}$$

we have  $||w_n^{1,j}||_{H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)} \leq c$  for  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$  Then there is a subsequence  $\{w_n^{1,j}\}$  and  $w^{1,j}$  in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  such that  $w_n^{1,j} \rightharpoonup w^{1,j}$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . In addition,  $w^{1,1}(x,y) = w^{1,2}(x,-y)$ . By Lemma 2.11 (*i*), we have

$$||w^{1,j}||_{H^1} \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} ||w^{1,j}_n||_{H^1} \le c \text{ for } j = 1, 2.$$

(1-3)  $\{w_n^{1,j}\}$  is a  $(\mathrm{PS})_{\frac{1}{2}(\beta-J(\bar{u}))}$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for J: note that  $J'(v_n^{1,j}) = o(1)$  in  $H^{-1}(\Omega^j)$ . Because  $\Omega^j$  is a half infinite strip, (1-7) below and Theorem 2.35, we have for every  $\varphi \in H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ ,

$$\langle J'(w_n^{1,j}),\varphi\rangle = \int_{\mathbf{A}^r} \nabla w_n^{1,j} \nabla \varphi + w_n^{1,j} \varphi - \int_{\mathbf{A}^r} |w_n^{1,j}|^{p-2} w_n^{1,j} \varphi = o(1).$$

Therefore,  $J'(w_n^{1,j}) = o(1)$  in  $H^{-1}(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . Moreover, we have

$$J(w_n^{1,j}) = J(v_n^{1,j}(z+z_n^{1,j})) = \frac{1}{2}J(v_n^1) = \frac{1}{2}(\beta - J(\bar{u})) + o(1).$$

(1-4)  $-\Delta w^{1,j} + w^{1,j} - |w^{1,j}|^{p-2} w^{1,j} = 0$  in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ : by Theorem 5.6 (i).

(1-5)  $w^{1,j} \neq 0$ : by the Rellich-Kondrakov theorem 2.31 and (1-0), we have

$$\int_{A_{-1,1}^r} |w^{1,j}|^2 = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{A_{-1,1}^r} |w_n^{1,j}|^2 \ge \frac{d_1}{2},$$

thus  $w^{1,j} \not\equiv 0$ .

(1-6) By (1-2), (1-4), (1-5), and Lemma 2.18, there is a  $\delta > 0$  such that

$$||w^{1,j}||_{H^1_0(\mathbf{A}^r)} \ge ||w^{1,j}||_{L^2(\mathbf{A}^r)} > \delta.$$

Therefore,

$$J(w^{1,j}) = (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})a(w^{1,j}) > (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})\delta^2 = \delta'.$$

(1-7)  $|z_n^{1,j}| \to \infty$ : otherwise, there is a R > 0 such that  $z_n^{1,j} + A_{-1,1}^r \subset A_{-R,R}^r$  for  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$ . Then by (1-0), we have

$$0 = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{A_{-R,R}^r} |v_n^{1,j}|^2 \ge \overline{\lim_{n \to \infty}} \int_{z_n^{1,j} + A_{-1,1}^r} |v_n^{1,j}|^2 \ge \frac{d_1}{2},$$

which is a contradiction.

(1-8)  $a(u_n) = a(\bar{u}) + 2a(w_n^{1,j}) + o(1)$  for j = 1, 2: since  $u_n \rightharpoonup \bar{u}$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ , by Lemma 2.11(*iii*),

$$\begin{aligned} a(u_n) - a(\bar{u}) &= a(u_n - \bar{u}) + o(1) \\ &= a(u_n^1) + o(1) \\ &= a(v_n^1) + o(1) \\ &= a(v_n^{1,1}) + a(v_n^{1,2}) + o(1) \\ &= a(w_n^{1,1}) + a(w_n^{1,2}) + o(1) \\ &= 2a(w_n^{1,j}) + o(1) \quad \text{for } j = 1, 2, \end{aligned}$$

thus,  $a(u_n) = a(\bar{u}) + 2a(w_n^{1,j}) + o(1)$  for j = 1, 2. (1-9)  $b(u_n) = b(\bar{u}) + 2b(w_n^{1,j}) + o(1)$  for j = 1, 2: since  $u_n \to \bar{u}$  a.e. in  $\Omega$  and  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded in  $L^p(\Omega)$ , by Lemma 2.14(*i*), we have

$$\begin{split} b(u_n) - b(\bar{u}) &= b(u_n - \bar{u}) + o(1) \\ &= b(u_n^1) + o(1) \\ &= b(v_n^1) + o(1) \\ &= b(v_n^{1,1}) + b(v_n^{1,2}) + o(1) \\ &= b(w_n^{1,1}) + b(w_n^{1,2}) + o(1) \\ &= 2b(w_n^{1,j}) + o(1) \quad \text{for } j = 1,2 \end{split}$$

thus  $b(u_n) = b(\bar{u}) + 2b(w_n^{1,j}) + o(1)$  for j = 1, 2.

 $(1-10) J(u_n) = J(\bar{u}) + 2J(w_n^{1,j}) + o(1)$  for j = 1,2: by (1-8), (1-9) and  $J(w^{1,1}) = J(w^{1,2})$ , we have

$$J(u_n) = J(\bar{u}) + J(w_n^{1,1}) + J(w_n^{1,2}) + o(1)$$
  
=  $J(\bar{u}) + 2J(w_n^{1,j}) + o(1)$  for  $j = 1, 2$ .

**Step 2**. Suppose that  $w_n^{1,j}(z) \nleftrightarrow w^{1,j}(z)$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . Let

$$w_n^{2,j}(z) = w_n^{1,j}(z) - w^{1,j}(z).$$

We have  $v_n^{2,j} \rightarrow 0$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  but  $v_n^{2,j} \not\rightarrow 0$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ .

(2-0)  $\int_{A_{-1,1}^r} |w_n^{2,j}(z)|^2 dz \ge \frac{d_2}{2}$  for some constant  $d_2 > 0, n = 1, 2, \dots$ , and  $j = 1, 2, \dots$ where  $w_n^{2,j}(z) = v_n^{2,j}(z+z_n^{2,j})$  for some  $\{z_n^{2,j}\} \subset \mathbf{A}^r$ : for j = 1, 2, since  $\{v_n^{2,j}\}$  is bounded,  $J'(v_n^{2,j}) = o(1)$ , and  $v_n^{2,j} \neq 0$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ , by Lemma 2.17, there is a subsequence  $\{v_n^{2,j}\}$ , a constant  $d_2 > 0$  such that

$$Q_n^{r,2} = \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} \int_{(0,y)+A_{-1,1}^r} |v_n^{2,j}(z)|^2 dz \ge d_2 \quad \text{for } n = 1, 2, \dots$$

For n = 1, 2, ..., take  $z_n^{2,1} = (0, y_n^2)$  and  $z_n^{2,2} = (0, -y_n^2)$  in  $\mathbf{A}^r$  such that

$$\int_{z_n^{2,j} + A_{-1,1}^r} |v_n^{2,j}(z)|^2 dz \ge \frac{d_2}{2} \quad \text{for } n = 1, 2, \dots$$

Let  $w_n^{2,j}(z) = v_n^{2,j}(z + z_n^{2,j})$ , then

$$\int_{A_{-1,1}^r} |w_n^{2,j}(z)|^2 dz \ge \frac{d_2}{2} \quad \text{for} \quad n = 1, 2, \dots$$

- As in Step 1, we have the following results. (2-1)  $u_n(z) = \bar{u}(z) + \sum_{j=1}^2 w^{1,j}(z-z_n^{1,j}) + \sum_{j=1}^2 w^{2,j}_n(z-z_n^{1,j}-z_n^{2,j}) + o(1)$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ ;
- (2-2)  $\|w_n^{2,j}\|_{H^1} \leq c$  for n = 1, 2, ... and  $\|w^{2,j}\|_{H^1} \leq c$ , where  $w_n^{2,j} \rightharpoonup w^{2,j}$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for j = 1, 2;
- (2-3)  $\{w_n^{2,j}\}$  is a (PS)-sequence in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for J; (2-4)  $-\Delta w^{2,j} + w^{2,j} |w^{2,j}|^{p-2}w^{2,j} = 0$  in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ ;
- (2-5)  $w^{2,j} \neq 0;$
- (2-6)  $||w^{2,j}||_{L^2(\mathbf{A}^r)} > \delta$  and  $J(w^{2,j}) > \delta';$
- (2-7)  $|z_n^{2,j}| \to \infty;$
- (2-8)  $a(u_n) = a(\bar{u}) + 2a(w^{1,j}) + 2a(w^{2,j}) + o(1)$ : since

$$v_n^{2,j}(z) = w_n^{1,j}(z) - w^{1,j}(z) \rightarrow 0,$$

we have

$$a(w_n^{2,j}) = a(v_n^{2,j}) = a(w_n^{1,j}) - a(w^{1,j}) + o(1).$$

Further, by (1-8), we have

$$a(u_n) - a(\bar{u}) = a(w_n^{1,1}) + a(w_n^{1,2}) + o(1)$$
  
= 2a(w<sup>1,j</sup>) + 2a(w\_n^{2,j}) + o(1).

(2-9)  $b(u_n) = b(\bar{u}) + 2b(w^{1,j}) + 2b(w_n^{2,j}) + o(1);$ (2-10)  $J(u_n) = J(\bar{u}) + 2J(w^{1,j}) + 2J(w^j_n) + o(1).$ 

Continuing this process, we arrive at the m-th step

(m-0)  $\int_{A_{-1,1}^r} |w_n^{m,j}(z)|^2 dz \ge \frac{d_m}{2}$  for some constant  $d_m > 0, n = 1, 2, \dots$  and j = 1, 2, where  $w_n^{m,j}(z) = v_n^{m,j}(z + z_n^{m,j})$  for some  $\{z_n^{m,j}\} \subset \mathbf{A}^r$ ;

(m-1) 
$$u_n(z) = \bar{u}(z) + \sum_{j=1}^2 \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} w^{i,j}(z - \tilde{z}_n^{i,j}) + \sum_{j=1}^2 w_n^{m,j}(z - \tilde{z}_n^{m,j}) + o(1)$$
 strongly

in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ , where  $\tilde{z}_n^{i,j} = z_n^{1,j} + \dots + z_n^{i,j}$  for  $i = 1, 2, \dots, m$  and j = 1, 2;(m-2)  $\|w_n^{m,j}\|_{H^1} \leq c$  for  $n = 1, 2, \dots$  and  $\|w^{m,j}\|_{H^1} \leq c$ , where  $w_n^{m,j} \rightharpoonup w^{m,j}$ 

- (m-2)  $\|w_n^{m,j}\|_{H^1} \leq c$  for n = 1, 2, ... and  $\|w^{m,j}\|_{H^1} \leq c$ , where  $w_n^{m,j} \rightharpoonup w^{m,j}$ weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ ;
- (m-3)  $\{w_n^{m,j}\}$  is a (PS)-sequence in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for J;
- $(m-4) \Delta w^{m,j} + w^{m,j} |w^{m,j}|^{p-2} w^{m,j} = 0$  in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ ;
- (*m*-5)  $w^{m,j} \not\equiv 0;$
- (*m*-6)  $||w^{m,j}||_{L^2(\mathbf{A}^r)} > \delta$  and  $J(w^{m,j}) > \delta'$ ;
- $\begin{array}{l} (m\text{-}7) \quad |z_n^{i,j}| = |\tilde{z}_n^{i,j} \tilde{z}_n^{i-1,j}| \to \infty \text{ and } |\tilde{z}_n^{i,j}| \to \infty, \text{ for each } i = 1, 2, \ldots, m: \text{ we} \\ \text{show this by induction on } i. \text{ For } i = 1, \ |\tilde{z}_n^{i,j}| = |z_n^{1,j}| \to \infty. \end{array}$ Assume that  $|\tilde{z}_n^{i,j}| \to \infty, \text{ for } i = 1, 2, \ldots, k, \text{ for some } k < m.$ By Lemma 2.12, we have  $w^{i,j}(z \tilde{z}_n^{i,j}) \to 0$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, k.$  We claim that  $|\tilde{z}_n^{k+1,j}| \to \infty.$  Otherwise,  $\{\tilde{z}_n^{k+1,j}\}$  is bounded. Since  $\|w^{k+1,j}\|_{L^2(\mathbf{A}^r)} > \delta, R > 0$  exists such that

$$\tilde{z}_n^{k+1,j} + A_{-R,R}^r \subset A_{-2R,2R}^r$$

and

$$\int_{A^r_{-R,R}} \lvert w^{k+1,j} \rvert^2 \geq (\frac{\delta}{2})^2.$$

We have

$$\begin{split} (\frac{\delta}{2})^2 &\leq \int_{A_{-R,R}^r} |w^{k+1,j}|^2 \\ &= \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{A_{-R,R}^r} |v_n^{1,j}(z+\tilde{z}_n^{k+1,j})|^2 \\ &\leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{A_{-2R,2R}^r} |v_n^{1,j}(z)|^2 = 0, \end{split}$$

which is a contradiction. By the induction hypothesis, we have  $|\tilde{z}_n^{i,j}| \to \infty$  for i = 1, 2, ..., m.

 $\begin{array}{l} (m-8) \quad a(u_n) = a(\bar{u}) + 2\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} a(w^{i,j}) + 2a(w_n^{i,j}) + o(1);\\ (m-9) \quad b(u_n) = b(\bar{u}) + 2\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} b(w^{i,j}) + 2b(w_n^{i,j}) + o(1);\\ (m-10) \quad J(u_n) = J(\bar{u}) + 2\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} J(w^{i,j}) + 2J(w_n^{i,j}) + o(1). \end{array}$ 

By the Archimedean principle,  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  exists such that  $k\delta^2 > \beta$ . Take  $l = [\frac{k}{2}] + 1$ , then after step (l+1), we obtain

$$a(u_n) = a(\bar{u}) + 2a(w^{1,j}) + 2a(w^{2,j}) + \dots + 2a(w^{l,j}) + 2a(w^{l+1,j}) + o(1).$$

Since  $a(w_n^{l+1,j}) \ge 0$ ,  $a(\bar{u}) > 0$ , and  $a(w^{i,j}) > \delta^2$  for i = 1, 2, ..., l, we have  $\beta + o(1) \ge 2l\delta^2 > k\delta^2 > \beta$ , which is a contradiction. Therefore, there is an  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , such that  $w_n^{m,j}(z) = w^{m,j}(z) + o(1)$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ ,  $w_n^{i,j}(z) = w^{i,j}(z) + o(1)$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ , and  $w_n^{i,j}(z) \neq w^{i,j}(z) + o(1)$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for i = 1, 2, ..., m - 1. Then we have

 $(sm-0) \int_{A_{-1,1}^r} |w_n^{m,j}(z)|^2 dz \ge \frac{d_m}{2} \text{ for some constant } d_m > 0, \ n = 1, 2, \dots, \text{ and}$  $j = 1, 2, \text{ where } w_n^{m,j}(z) = v_n^{m,j}(z + z_n^{m,j}) \text{ for some } \{z_n^{m,j}\} \subset \mathbf{A}^r;$ 

- (sm-1)  $u_n(z) = \bar{u}(z) + \sum_{j=1}^2 \sum_{i=1}^m w^{i,j}(z \tilde{z}_n^{i,j}) + o(1)$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ , where  $\tilde{z}_n^{i,j} = z_n^{1,j} + \dots + z_n^{i,j}$ , for  $i = 1, 2, \dots, m$  and j = 1, 2; (sm-2)  $\|w_n^{m,j}\|_{H^1} \leq c$  for  $n = 1, 2, \dots$  and  $\|w^{m,j}\|_{H^1} \leq c$ , where  $w_n^{m,j} \to w^{m,j}$
- weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ ;
- (sm-3)  $\{w_n^{m,j}\}$  is a (PS)-sequence in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for J; (sm-4)  $-\Delta w^{m,j} + w^{m,j} |w^{m,j}|^{p-2} w^{m,j} = 0$  in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ ;
- $(sm-5) \ w^{m,j} \neq 0;$
- (sm-6)  $||w^{m,j}||_{L^2(\mathbf{A}^r)} > \delta$  and  $J(w^{m,j}) > \delta'$ ;
- $(sm \cdot 0) ||_{\mathcal{U}} ||_{\mathcal{I}} ||_{\mathcal{I}} ||_{\mathcal{I}} ||_{n} = |\tilde{z}_{n}^{i,j} \tilde{z}_{n}^{i-1,j}| \to \infty \text{ and } |\tilde{z}_{n}^{i,j}| \to \infty, \text{ for each } i = 1, 2, \dots, m;$   $(sm \cdot 8) ||_{\mathcal{U}} ||_{\mathcal{U}} ||_{\mathcal{U}} = a(\bar{u}) + 2\sum_{\substack{i=1\\m \\ m}}^{m} a(w^{i,j}) + o(1);$

$$(sm-9) \ b(u_n) = b(\bar{u}) + 2\sum_{i=1}^{m} b(w^{i,j}) + o(1);$$
  
(sm-10) 
$$J(u_n) = J(\bar{u}) + 2\sum_{i=1}^{m} J(w^{i,j}) + o(1).$$

Finally, suppose 
$$u_n \ge 0$$
 for  $n = 1, 2, \dots$  Then

(i) Since  $u_n \rightarrow \bar{u}$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ . By Lemma 2.11(ii), there is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  such that  $u_n \to \overline{u}$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ . Thus,  $\overline{u} \ge 0$ . (*ii*) For j = 1, 2, let  $z \in \Omega^j - z_n^{1,j}$ , then

$$w_n^{1,j}(z) = v_n^{1,j}(z+z_n^{1,j}) = v_n^1(z+z_n^{1,j}) = \xi_n(z+z_n^{1,j})u_n^1(z+z_n^{1,j}).$$

Thus,

$$w_n^{1,j}(z) = \begin{cases} \xi_n(z+z_n^{1,j})u_n^1(z+z_n^{1,j}) & \text{if } z \in \Omega^j - z_n^{1,j} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Let  $h_n(z) = \xi_n(z + z_n^{1,j})\bar{u}(z + z_n^{1,j})$  and  $g_n(z) = \xi_n(z + z_n^{1,j})u_n(z + z_n^{1,j}) \ge 0$ . Since  $w_n^{1,j}(z) \to w^{1,j}(z)$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  and  $h_n(z) \to 0$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ , we have  $w_n^{1,j}(z) \to w^{1,j}(z)$  a.e. in  $\mathbf{A}^r$  and  $h_n(z) \to 0$  a.e. in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ . By Lemma 7.1, we have  $w^{1,j} \ge 0.$ 

(*iii*) In fact, we have  $w_n^{2,j}(z) = v_n^{2,j}(z+z_n^{2,j}) = w_n^{1,j}(z+z_n^{2,j}) - w^{1,j}(z+z_n^{2,j})$ . By Lemma 2.12,  $w^{1,j}(z+z_n^{2,j}) \to 0$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . Moreover,  $w_n^{2,j}(z) \to w^{2,j}(z)$ weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ , hence  $w_n^{1,j}(z+z_n^{2,j}) \to w^{2,j}(z)$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ , since

$$w_n^{1,j}(z+z_n^{2,j}) = \begin{cases} \xi_n(z+\tilde{z}_n^{2,j})u_n^1(z+\tilde{z}_n^{2,j}) & \text{if } z \in \Omega^j - z_n^{1,j}, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Similar to (*ii*),  $w^{2,j} \ge 0$ .

(*iv*) Continuing this process, we obtain  $w^{i,j} \ge 0$  for each i = 1, 2, ..., m. 

Similarly, we have

**Theorem 7.3** (Symmetric Palais-Smale Decomposition Theorem in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ). Let  $\Omega$ be a y-symmetric large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  separated by a y-symmetric bounded domain, and let  $\{u_n\} \subset H^1_s(\Omega)$  be a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $H^1_0(\Omega)$  for J. Then there are a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$ , a positive integer m, sequences  $\{\tilde{z}_n^{i,j}\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , a function  $\bar{u} \in H^1_s(\Omega)$ , and  $0 \neq w^{i,j} \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for  $1 \leq i \leq m, j = 1, 2$  such that

$$w^{i,1}(x,y) = w^{i,2}(x,-y),$$
$$|\tilde{z}_n^{i,j}| \to \infty \qquad for \ i = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$

$$\begin{aligned} -\Delta \bar{u} + \bar{u} &= \mid \bar{u} \mid^{p-2} \bar{u} \quad in \ \Omega, \\ -\Delta w^{i,j} + w^{i,j} &= \mid w^{i,j} \mid^{p-2} w^{i,j} \quad in \ \mathbb{R}^N, \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{split} u_n &= \bar{u} + \sum_{i=1}^m w^{i,1} (\cdot - \widetilde{z}_n^{i,1}) + \sum_{i=1}^m w^{i,2} (\cdot - \widetilde{z}_n^{i,2}) + o(1) \quad strongly \ in \ H^1(\mathbb{R}^N), \\ a(u_n) &= a(\bar{u}) + 2 \sum_{i=1}^m a(w^{i,j}) + o(1) \quad for \ some \ j = 1, 2, \\ b(u_n) &= b(\bar{u}) + 2 \sum_{i=1}^m b(w^{i,j}) + o(1) \quad for \ some \ j = 1, 2, \\ J(u_n) &= J(\bar{u}) + 2 \sum_{i=1}^m J(w^{i,j}) + o(1) \quad for \ some \ j = 1, 2. \end{split}$$

In addition, if  $u_n \ge 0$ , then  $\bar{u} \ge 0$  and  $w^{i,j} \ge 0$  for each  $1 \le i \le m$ , j = 1, 2.

**Corollary 7.4.** If  $\Omega = \mathbf{A}^r \setminus \omega$ , where  $\omega$  is an axially symmetric bounded set in  $\mathbf{A}^r$  and  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $H^1_s(\Omega)$  for J and  $0 < \beta < 2\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ , then the sequence  $\{u_n\}$  contains a strongly convergent subsequence and there is a positive solution  $\overline{u}$  of (1.1) in  $\Omega$ .

*Proof.* By Theorem 7.2, we have

$$J(u_n) = J(\bar{u}) + 2\sum_{i=1}^m J(w^{i,j}) + o(1) \quad \text{for some } j = 1, 2.$$

Note that  $J(w^{i,j}) \ge \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$  and  $J(\bar{u}) \ge 0$ . If  $m \ge 1$ , then we have

$$2\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) > \beta + o(1) = J(u_n) \ge J(\bar{u}) + 2m\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r),$$

which is a contradiction. Thus, m = 0. By Theorem 7.2, we have

$$u_n = \bar{u} + o(1)$$
 strongly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ .

Since  $J(\bar{u}) = \beta$  and  $\beta > 0$ , we have  $\bar{u} \neq 0$ .

**Corollary 7.5.** If  $\Omega$  is a y-symmetric strictly large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  separated by a y-symmetric bounded domain, and  $\{u_n\}$  is a positive  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $H^1_s(\Omega)$ for J, with  $0 < \beta < 3\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$  but  $\beta \neq 2\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , then  $\{u_n\}$  contains a strongly convergent subsequence, and there is a positive solution  $\bar{u}$  of Equation (1.1) in  $\Omega$ . In particular, if  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $H^1_s(\Omega)$  for J with  $0 < \beta < 2\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , then  $\{u_n\}$  contains a strongly convergent subsequence.

*Proof.* By Theorem 7.3, we have

$$J(u_n) = J(\bar{u}) + 2\sum_{i=1}^m J(w^{i,j}) + o(1)$$
, for some  $j = 1, 2$ .

By the uniqueness of the positive solution for Equation (1.1) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , we have  $J(w^{i,j}) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and  $J(\bar{u}) \ge 0$ . If  $m \ge 1$ , then

$$3\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) > \beta + o(1) = J(u_n) = J(\bar{u}) + 2m\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N),$$

thus, m = 0, 1. Suppose that m = 1, then

$$2\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) \neq \beta + o(1) = J(u_n) = J(\bar{u}) + 2\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N),$$

which implies that  $J(\bar{u}) \neq 0$  or  $J(\bar{u}) > 0$ , or  $J(\bar{u}) \ge \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Therefore,

$$3\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) > \beta + o(1) = J(u_n) \ge J(\bar{u}) + 2m\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) \ge 3m\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$$

which is a contradiction. Thus, m = 0. By Theorem 7.3 again, we have

$$u_n = \bar{u} + o(1)$$
 strongly in  $H_0^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

Since  $J(\bar{u}) = \beta$  and  $\beta > 0$ , we have  $\bar{u} \neq 0$ .

Bibliographical notes: The results of this section are from Wang-Wu [77].

## 8. Fundamental Properties, Regularity, and Asymptotic Behavior of Solutions

In this section we study the fundamental properties, regularity, and asymptotic behavior of solutions of (1.1).

## 8.1. Fundamental Properties of Solutions.

**Theorem 8.1.** Let  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$  be a positive symmetric and radially decreasing solution of (1.1). Then  $u(0) \ge 1$ .

*Proof.* Since u is symmetric and radially decreasing, we have  $-\Delta u(0) \ge 0$ . Thus,

$$u(0) \le -\Delta u(0) + u(0) = u^{p-1}(0),$$

or  $u(0) \ge 1$ .

A ground state solution in  $X(\Omega)$  is of constant sign.

**Lemma 8.2.** Let u in  $X(\Omega)$  be a solution of (1.1) that changes sign, and let  $\alpha_X(\Omega)$  be the index of J in  $\Omega$ . Then  $J(u) > 2\alpha_X(\Omega)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $u^- = \max\{-u, 0\}$ . Then  $u^-$  is nonzero. Multiply (1.1) by  $u^-$  and integrate to obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla u \nabla u^{-} + \int_{\Omega} u u^{-} = \int_{\Omega} |u|^{p-2} u u^{-}.$$

Consequently,

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u^-|^2 + \int_{\Omega} |u^-|^2 = \int_{\Omega} |u^-|^p.$$

Thus,  $u^- \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  and hence  $J(u^-) \geq \alpha_X(\Omega)$ . Suppose that  $J(u^-) = \alpha_X(X)$ . By Theorem 4.5,  $u^-$  is a nonzero solution of (1.1). By the maximum principle,  $u = u^-$ , which contradicts the sign assumption on u. Thus  $J(u^-) > \alpha_X(\Omega)$ . Similarly,  $J(u^+) > \alpha_X(\Omega)$ , where  $u^+ = \max\{u, 0\}$ . Thus,

$$J(u) = J(u^+) + J(u^-) > 2\alpha_X(\Omega).$$

The positive solution of Equation (1.1) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  is unique.

**Theorem 8.3.** (i) There is a ground state solution of Equation (1.1) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ; (ii) The only positive solutions of Equation (1.1) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  are ground state solutions; (iii) Every positive ground state solution  $\bar{u} \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  of Equation (1.1) is spherically symmetric about some point  $x_0$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $\bar{u}'(r) < 0$  for  $r = |x - x_0|$ , and

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} r^{\frac{N-1}{2}} e^r \bar{u}(r) = \gamma > 0.$$

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} r^{\frac{N-1}{2}} e^r \bar{u}'(r) = -\gamma;$$

(iv) The positive solution of Equation (1.1) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  is unique.

*Proof.* (i) By Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47]. For (ii) and (iii) see Gidas-Ni-Nirenberg [35]. For (iv) See Kwong [46].  $\Box$ 

8.2. **Regularity of Solutions.** In addition to the study of (1.1), we also study Equation (1.2), a perturbation of (1.1): associated with (1.2). We consider the energy functionals  $J_h$  for  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ :

$$J_h(u) = \frac{1}{2}a(u) - \frac{1}{p}b(u) - \int_{\Omega} hu.$$

We let  $J_0 = J$ .

We first recall some fundamental estimates for elliptic equations. Let us first consider the classical  $C^{\beta}$ -setting: Schauder estimates.

**Theorem 8.4.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded  $C^{2,\beta}$ -domain,  $h \in C^{\beta}(\overline{\Omega})$ . Then the Dirichlet problem (1.2) has a unique classical solution  $u \in C^{2,\beta}(\overline{\Omega})$ .

For the proof of the above theorem see Gilbarg-Trudinger [36, Theorem 6.14]. We have the following Kato regularity.

**Theorem 8.5.** Let  $\Omega$  be a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and let  $f : \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a Caratheodory function such that for almost every  $z \in \Omega$ 

$$|f(z,u)| \le a(z)(1+|u|)$$

with a nonnegative function  $a \in L^{N/2}_{loc}(\Omega)$ . In addition, let  $u \in H^1_{loc}(\Omega)$  be a weak solution of Equation (1.4). Then  $u \in L^q_{loc}(\Omega)$  for any  $1 \le q < \infty$ . If  $a \in L^{N/2}(\Omega) \cap L^2(\Omega)$  and  $u \in H^1_0(\Omega)$ , then  $u \in L^q(\Omega)$  for any  $2 \le q < \infty$ .

*Proof.* Recall that if  $u \in H^1_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  is a weak solution of Equation (1.4) in  $\Omega$ , then u satisfies

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla u \nabla \varphi = \int_{\Omega} f(z, u) \varphi$$

for each  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ . Choose  $\eta \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$  and for  $s \ge 0, L \ge 1$ , let

$$\varphi = \varphi_{s,L} = u \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^2\} \eta^2 \in H^1_0(\Omega),$$

with supp  $\eta = F \subset \subset \Omega$ . Note that

 $\nabla \varphi = \nabla u \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^2\}\eta^2 + 2s\chi_{\{|u|^s \le L\}}|u|^{2s-2}u^2\nabla u\eta^2 + 2u\min\{|u|^{2s}, L^2\}\eta\nabla\eta.$ Testing Equation (1.4) with  $\varphi$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^2\} \eta^2 + \frac{s}{2} \int_{\{|u(x)|^s \le L\}} |\nabla (|u|^2)|^2 |u|^{2s-2} \eta^2 \\ &\int_{\Omega} 2u \nabla u \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^2\} \eta \nabla \eta \\ &= \int_{\Omega} f(\cdot, u) u \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^2\} \eta^2. \end{split}$$

Note that

$$2xy = 2\sqrt{1/2}x\sqrt{2}y \le \frac{1}{2}x^2 + 2y^2,$$

if  $|u| \leq 1$  we have

$$(1+|u|)|u|\min\{|u|^{2s}, L^2\} \le 2,$$

and if  $|u| \ge 1$ , we have

$$(1+|u|)|u|\min\{|u|^{2s},L^2\} \le 2|u|^2\min\{|u|^{2s},L^2\}.$$

Thus,

$$|a|(1+|u|)|u|\min\{|u|^{2s},L^2\}\eta^2 \le 2|a||u|^2\min\{|u|^{2s},L^2\}\eta^2 + 2|a|\eta^2.$$

Hence,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^{2} \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^{2}\}\eta^{2} + \frac{s}{2} \int_{\{|u(x)|^{s} \leq L\}} |\nabla (|u|^{2})|^{2} |u|^{2s-2} \eta^{2} \\ &\leq -2 \int_{\Omega} u \nabla u \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^{2}\} \eta \nabla \eta + \int_{\Omega} |a|(1+|u|)|u| \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^{2}\} \eta^{2} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^{2} \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^{2}\} \eta^{2} + 2 \int_{\Omega} |u|^{2} \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^{2}\} |\nabla \eta|^{2} \\ &\quad + 2 \int_{\Omega} a|u|^{2} \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^{2}\} \eta^{2} + 2 \int_{\Omega} a\eta^{2}. \end{split}$$

$$(8.1)$$

Suppose that  $u \in L^{2s+2}_{loc}(\Omega)$  for some  $s \ge 0$ . Let

$$c_s = \int_F |u|^{2s+2} < \infty; \quad d = \max\{1, \max |\nabla \eta|^2\};$$
  
$$\epsilon(M) = \left(\int_{\{a \ge M\}} |a|^{N/2}\right)^{2/N} = o(1).$$

We have

$$\int_{\Omega} |u|^2 \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^2\} |\nabla \eta|^2 \le d \int_F |u|^{2s+2} = dc_s,$$

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$ 

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega} a|u|^{2} \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^{2}\}\eta^{2} \\ &= \int_{\{a \ge M\} \cap F} a|u|^{2} \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^{2}\}\eta^{2} + \int_{\{a < M\} \cap F} a|u|^{2} \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^{2}\}\eta^{2} \\ &\leq \left(\int_{\{a \ge M\}} |a|^{N/2}\right)^{2/N} \left(\int_{F} ||u|^{2} \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^{2}\}\eta^{2}|^{N/(N-2)}\right)^{(N-2)/N} \\ &+ M \int_{F} |u|^{2} \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^{2}\}\eta^{2} \\ &\leq \epsilon(M) \left(\int_{F} ||u|^{2} \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^{2}\}\eta^{2}|^{N/(N-2)}\right)^{(N-2)/N} + Mcc_{s} \\ &\leq \epsilon(M) ||u| \min\{|u|^{s}, L^{2}\}\eta ||_{L^{2^{*}}(F)}^{2} + Mcc_{s} \\ &\leq \epsilon(M) \int_{F} |\nabla(u \min\{|u|^{s}, L\}\eta)|^{2} + cc_{s}, \end{split}$$

and

$$\int_{\Omega} a\eta^2 = \int_F |a|\eta^2 \le (\int_F |a|^{N/2})^{2/N} (\int_F |\eta|^{2N/(N-2)})^{(N-2)/N} = c.$$

Since  $\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^2\} \eta^2$  and  $\frac{s}{2} \int_{\{|u(x)|^s \leq L\}} |\nabla (|u|^2)|^2 |u|^{2s-2} \eta^2$  are nonnegative, by (8.1), we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^2\}\eta^2 \\ &\leq 4 \int_{\Omega} |u|^2 \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^2\} |\nabla \eta|^2 + 4 \int_{\Omega} a|u|^2 \min\{|u|^{2s}, L^2\}\eta^2 + 4 \int_{\Omega} a\eta^2 \\ &\leq c\epsilon(M) \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(u \min\{|u|^s, L^2\}\eta)|^2 + cc_s \end{split}$$

and

$$\frac{s}{2} \int_{\{|u(x)|^s \le L\}} |\nabla(|u|^2)|^2 |u|^{2s-2} \eta^2 \le cc_s + c\epsilon(M) (\int_{\Omega} |\nabla(u\min\{|u|^s, L\}\eta)|^2).$$
(8.2)

Together with (8.2),

$$4\int_{\Omega} |u\min\{|u|^s, L\}\nabla\eta|^2 \le 4dc_s,$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} |\nabla(u\min\{|u|^{s},L\}\eta|^{2} &\leq 3(|\nabla u|^{2}\min\{|u|^{2s},L^{2}\}\eta^{2} + \frac{5s^{2}}{8}\chi_{\{|u|^{s} \leq L\}}|\nabla(|u|^{2})|^{2}|u|^{2s-2}\eta^{2} \\ &+ 4|u\min\{|u|^{s},L\}\nabla\eta|^{2}, \end{aligned}$$

we have

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla(u\min\{|u|^s, L\}\eta)|^2 \le cc_s + c\epsilon(M) \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(u\min\{|u|^s, L\}\eta)|^2.$$

Choose M so that  $c\epsilon(M) < \frac{1}{2}$  to obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla(u\min\{|u|^s, L\}\eta|^2 \le cc_s,$$
$$\int_{\{|u|^s \le L\}} |\nabla(|u|^{s+1}\eta)|^2 \le cc_s.$$

or

Letting 
$$L \to \infty$$
, we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla(|u|^{s+1}\eta)|^2 \le cc_s = c. \tag{8.3}$$

Since  $|u|^{s+1}\eta \in H_0^1(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^{2^*}(\Omega)$ , we have  $u \in L_{\text{loc}}^{(2s+2)N/N-2}(\Omega)$ . Letting  $s_0 = 0$ ,  $u \in L_{\text{loc}}^2(\Omega)$ , then by (8.3), we have  $u \in L_{\text{loc}}^{2N/N-2}(\Omega)$ , and by (8.3) again, we have  $u \in L_{\text{loc}}^{2N^2/(N-2)^2}(\Omega)$ . Continuing this way, let  $2s_{i+1} + 2 = (2s_i + 2)\frac{N}{N-2}$ , for  $i \ge 0$  to obtain

$$u \in L^{2s_i+2}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\Omega)$$

for each  $s_i$ . However,  $s_i \to \infty$  as  $i \to \infty$ . Thus,  $u \in L^q_{loc}(\Omega)$  for any  $q < \infty$ . If  $a \in L^{N/2}(\Omega) \cap L^2(\Omega)$  and  $u \in H^1_0(\Omega)$ , then take  $\eta = 1$ .

We have the following existence and uniqueness theorem for the Dirichlet problem for strong solutions:  $L^p$ -theory.

**Theorem 8.6.** Let  $\Omega$  be a  $C^{1,1}$  domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and  $h \in L^q(\Omega)$  for some  $1 < q < \infty$ . Then the Dirichlet problem (1.2) has a unique strong solution  $u \in W^{2,q}(\Omega) \cap W_0^{1,q}(\Omega)$ . The proof of the above theorem can be found in Gilbarg-Trudinger [36, Theorem 9.15].

**Theorem 8.7.** Let  $\Omega$  be a  $C^{1,1}$  domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . Then there is a constant c > 0 (independent of u) such that

$$||u||_{W^{2,q}(\Omega)} \le c||-\Delta u + u||_{L^{q}(\Omega)}$$

for each  $u \in W^{2,q}(\Omega) \cap W^{1,q}_0(\Omega)$ ,  $1 < q < \infty$ .

The proof of the above theorem can be found in Gilbarg-Trudinger [36, Lemma 9.17].

**Theorem 8.8.** Let  $k \geq 0$  be an integer and  $\Omega$  be a  $C^{k+1,1}$  domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and  $h \in W^{k,q}(\Omega)$  for some  $q, 1 < q < \infty$ . If  $u \in W^{2,q}_{loc}(\Omega)$  solves  $-\Delta u + u = h(z)$  in  $\Omega$ , then  $u \in W^{k+2,q}(\Omega)$ .

The proof of the above theorem can be found in Gilbarg-Trudinger [36, Theorem 9.19].

**Theorem 8.9.** Let  $k \geq 1$  be an integer and let  $\Omega$  be a  $C^{k+1,\beta}$  domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and  $h \in C^{k-1,\beta}(\overline{\Omega})$  for some  $q, 1 < q < \infty$ . If  $u \in W^{2,q}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  solves  $-\Delta u + u = h(z)$  in  $\Omega$ , then  $u \in C^{k+1,\beta}(\overline{\Omega})$ .

The proof of the above theorem can be found in Gilbarg-Trudinger [36, Theorem 9.19]. We also have the following existence and uniqueness theorem for the Dirichlet problem for weak solutions:  $L^2$ -theory. Its proof can be found in Gilbarg-Trudinger [36, Corollary 8.2].

**Theorem 8.10.** Let  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$  be a weak solution of the equation  $-\Delta u + u = 0$ in  $\Omega$ . Then u = 0 in  $\Omega$ .

Applying these results, we have the following theorem.

**Theorem 8.11.** Let  $\Omega$  be a  $C^{1,1}$  domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . Let  $u \in H^1_0(\Omega)$  be a weak solution of (1.2) in  $\Omega$ .

(i) If  $h \in L^{N/2}(\Omega) \cap L^2(\Omega)$ , then  $u \in L^q(\Omega)$  for every  $q \in [2, \infty)$ . Furthermore,

 $||u||_{L^{q}(\Omega)} \le p(||u||_{H^{1}(\Omega)}),$ 

where  $p(\|u\|_{H^1(\Omega)})$  is a polynomial of  $\|u\|_{H^1(\Omega)}$  with real powers; (ii) Let  $h \in L^{N/2} \cap L^s(\Omega) \cap L^2(\Omega)$  for some s, s > N and  $\theta = 2 - \frac{N}{s} - [2 - \frac{N}{s}]$ , then  $0 < \theta < 1, u \in C^{1,\theta}(\overline{\Omega}) \cap W^{2,s}(\Omega)$ , and

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \leq \|u\|_{C^{1,\theta}(\overline{\Omega})} \leq c\|u\|_{W^{2,s}(\Omega)};$$

(iii) Let  $h \in C^{\theta}(\overline{\Omega}) \cap L^{N/2}(\Omega) \cap L^{s}(\Omega) \cap L^{2}(\Omega)$  for s as defined in (ii), then  $u \in C^{2}(\overline{\Omega})$ .

*Proof.* (i) N = 1, 2 follows from the Sobolev inequality. Suppose that  $N \ge 3$ . For  $d \ge 0, l \ge 1$ , let  $\varphi = \varphi_{d,l} = u \min\{|u|^{2d}, l^2\}$ , then

$$\nabla \varphi = \min\{|u|^{2d}, l^2\} \nabla u + \chi_{\{|u|^d \le l\}} 2d|u|^{2d} \nabla u.$$

Since  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ , we have

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla \varphi|^2 = \int_{\Omega} |\min\{|u|^{2d}, l^2\} \nabla u + \chi_{\{|u|^d \le l\}} 2d|u|^{2d} \nabla u|^2$$
$$\leq 2 \Big( \int_{\Omega} |\min\{|u|^{2d}, l^2\} \nabla u|^2 + |\chi_{\{|u|^d \le l\}} 2d|u|^{2d} \nabla u|^2 \Big)$$
  
 
$$\leq 2l^4 \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 + 8d^2l^4 \int_{\{|u|^d \le l\}} |\nabla u|^2$$
  
 
$$\leq c \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 < \infty.$$

Clearly,  $\varphi \in L^2(\Omega)$ . Thus,  $\varphi \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ . Note that we have  $h\varphi \leq |h||u|$  for  $|u| \leq 1$  and  $h\varphi \leq |h||u|^2 \min\{|u|^{2d}, l^2\}$  for |u| > 1. Suppose  $u \in L^{2d+p}$ . Multiplying and integrating (1.2) with  $\varphi$ , we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega} \nabla u \nabla \varphi \\ &= -\int_{\Omega} u \varphi + \int_{\Omega} |u|^{p-2} u \varphi + \int_{\Omega} h \varphi \\ &\leq -\int_{\Omega} |u|^{2} \min\{|u|^{2d}, l^{2}\} + \int_{\Omega} |u|^{2d+p} + \int_{\Omega} |h| |u| + \int_{\Omega} |h| |u|^{2} \min\{|u|^{2d}, l^{2}\} \\ &\leq \|u\|_{L^{2d+p}}^{2d+p} + \|h\|_{L^{2}} \|u\|_{L^{2}} + \int_{\{h < M\}} |h| |u|^{2} \min\{|u|^{2d}, l^{2}\} \\ &+ \int_{\{|h| \ge M\}} |h| |u|^{2} \min\{|u|^{2d}, l^{2}\} \\ &\leq \|u\|_{L^{2d+p}}^{2d+p} + \|h\|_{L^{2}} \|u\|_{L^{2}} + M \int_{\Omega} |u|^{2d+2} + \varepsilon(M) \Big(\int_{\Omega} \|u\|^{2} \min\{|u|^{2d}, l^{2}\} \|^{\frac{N-2}{N-2}} \Big)^{\frac{N-2}{N}} \\ &\leq \|u\|_{L^{2d+p}}^{2d+p} + \|h\|_{L^{2}} \|u\|_{L^{2}} + M \|u\|_{L^{2d+2}}^{2d+2} + S\varepsilon(M) \|\nabla(u\min\{|u|^{d}, l\})\|_{L^{2}}^{2}, \end{split}$$

where  $\varepsilon(M) = \left(\int_{\{h \ge M\}} h^{\frac{N}{2}}\right)^{\frac{N}{2}} = o(1)$  and S is the Sobolev critical constant. Thus we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla u \nabla \varphi$$
  

$$\leq \|u\|_{L^{2d+p}}^{2d+p} + \|h\|_{L^{2}} \|u\|_{L^{2}} + M \|u\|_{L^{2d+2}}^{2d+2} + S\varepsilon(M) \|\nabla(u\min\{|u|^{d},l\})\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$

Then we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega} \nabla u \nabla \varphi \\ &\leq \|u\|_{L^{2d+p}}^{2d+p} + \|h\|_{L^2} \|u\|_{L^2} + M \|u\|_{L^{2d+2}}^{2d+2} + S\varepsilon(M) \|\nabla(u\min\{|u|^d,l\})\|_{L^2}^2. \end{split}$$
 Since  $2 \leq 2d+2 < 2d+p$ , write  $\frac{1}{2d+2} = \frac{\alpha}{2} + \frac{1-\alpha}{2d+p}$ . Then

$$||u||_{L^{2d+2}} \le ||u||_{L^2}^{\alpha} ||u||_{L^{2d+p}}^{1-\alpha}.$$

Therefore,

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla u \nabla \varphi \leq \|u\|_{L^{2d+p}}^{2d+p} + \|h\|_{L^{2}} \|u\|_{L^{2}} + M \|u\|_{L^{2}}^{\alpha(2d+2)} \|u\|_{L^{2d+p}}^{(1-\alpha)(2d+2)} + S\varepsilon(M) \|\nabla(u\min\{|u|^{d},l\})\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$
(8.4)

Note that

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla u \nabla \varphi = \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 \min\{|u|^{2d}, l^2\} + 2d \int_{\{|u|^d \le l\}} |\nabla u|^2 |u|^{2d}.$$
 (8.5)

Now, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\{|u|^d \leq l\}} \nabla(|u|^{d+1})|^2 &\leq \int_{\{|u|^d \leq l\}} |\nabla(|u|^{d+1})|^2 + l^2 \int_{\{|u|^d \geq l\}} |\nabla u|^2 \\ &= \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(u \min\{|u|^d, l\})|^2 \\ &= \int_{\Omega} |\min\{|u|^d, l\} \nabla u + \chi_{\{|u|^d \leq l\}} d|u|^d \nabla u|^2 \\ &\leq \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 \min\{|u|^{2d}, l^2\} + (2d+d^2) \int_{\{|u|^d \leq l\}} |\nabla u|^2 |u|^{2d} \\ &\leq (1+\frac{d}{2}) \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \nabla \varphi. \end{split}$$

In particular, we have

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla(u\min\{|u|^d, l\})|^2 \le (1 + \frac{d}{2}) \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \nabla \varphi, \tag{8.6}$$

and

$$\int_{\{|u|^d \le l\}} |\nabla(|u|^{d+1})|^2 \le \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(u\min\{|u|^d, l\})|^2.$$
(8.7)

Then from (8.4) and (8.6), we have

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla(u\min\{|u|^{d},l\})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ &\leq (1+\frac{d}{2})\Big(\|u\|_{L^{2d+p}}^{2d+p} + \|h\|_{L^{2}}\|u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + M\|u\|_{L^{2}}^{\alpha(2d+2)}\|u\|_{L^{2d+p}}^{(1-\alpha)(2d+2)}\Big) \\ &+ (1+\frac{d}{2})S\varepsilon(M)\|\nabla(u\min\{|u|^{d},l\})\|_{L^{2}}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Let M > 0 be such that  $(1 + \frac{d}{2})S\varepsilon(M) < \frac{1}{2}$ . Then we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla(u\min\{|u|^{d},l\})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ &\leq (2+d)(\|u\|_{L^{2d+p}}^{2d+p} + \|h\|_{L^{2}}\|u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + M\|u\|_{L^{2}}^{\alpha(2d+2)}\|u\|_{L^{2d+p}}^{(1-\alpha)(2d+2)}). \end{aligned}$$

By (8.7), we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\{|u|^{d} \leq l\}} |\nabla(|u|^{d+1})|^{2} \\ &\leq \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(u\min\{|u|^{d},l\})|^{2} \\ &\leq (2+d)(\|u\|_{L^{2d+p}}^{2d+p} + \|h\|_{L^{2}}\|u\|_{L^{2}} + M\|u\|_{L^{2}}^{\alpha(2d+2)}\|u\|_{L^{2d+p}}^{(1-\alpha)(2d+2)}). \end{split}$$

Letting  $l \to \infty$ , we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla(|u|^{d+1})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ &\leq (2+d) \Big( \|u\|_{L^{2d+p}}^{2d+p} + \|h\|_{L^{2}} \|u\|_{L^{2}} + M \|u\|_{L^{2}}^{\alpha(2d+2)} \|u\|_{L^{2d+p}}^{(1-\alpha)(2d+2)} \Big). \end{aligned}$$

Since

$$\|u\|_{L^{(d+1)2^*}}^{2(d+1)} = \||u|^{d+1}\|_{L^{2^*}}^2 \le S \|\nabla(|u|^{d+1})\|_{L^2}^2,$$

we have

$$\|u\|_{L^{(d+1)2^*}}^{2(d+1)}$$

$$\leq S(2+d) \Big[ \|u\|_{L^{2d+p}}^{2d+p} + \|h\|_{L^2} \|u\|_{L^2} + M \|u\|_{L^2}^{\alpha(2d+2)} \|u\|_{L^{2d+p}}^{(1-\alpha)(2d+2)} \Big].$$

Let  $d_0 = 0$  and  $2d_i + p = (d_{i-1} + 1)2^*$  for  $i \ge 1$ . Since  $p < 2^*$ , then  $d_1 > 0$  and  $d_i \ge (\frac{2^*}{2})^{i-1}d_1$ . Hence,  $\lim_{n\to\infty} d_i = \infty$  and

$$||u||_{L^{2d_{i}+p}} = ||u||_{L^{(d_{i-1}+1)2^*}} \le p_{i-1}(||u||_{L^{2d_{i-1}+p}}).$$

By iterating, we conclude that

$$||u||_{L^{2d_i+p}} \le p_i(||u||_{H^1}).$$

By the interpolation property, for every  $q \in [2, \infty)$ , we have  $u \in L^q$  that satisfies

 $||u||_{L^q} \le p_q(||u||_{H^1}).$ 

(*ii*) Let  $g(z, u) = |u|^{p-2}u + h(z)$ , since (p-1)s > s > N, then by (*i*),  $|u|^{p-2}u \in L^s(\Omega) \cap L^2(\Omega)$ . Thus,  $g(z, u) \in L^s(\Omega) \cap L^2(\Omega)$ . By Theorem 8.6, the Dirichlet problem

$$-\Delta v + v = g(z, u) \quad \text{in } \Omega,$$
$$v \in W_0^{1,s}(\Omega) \cap H_0^1(\Omega),$$

has a unique strong solution  $v \in W^{2,s}(\Omega) \cap W^{1,s}_0(\Omega) \cap H^1_0(\Omega)$  and

 $\|v\|_{W^{2,s}(\Omega)} \le c \|g(z,u)\|_{L^{s}(\Omega)}.$ 

Since  $v \in H_0^1(\Omega)$  satisfies Equation (1.3), we have for each  $\varphi \in C_c^\infty(\Omega)$ ,

$$\int_{\Omega} (\nabla v \nabla \varphi + v \varphi) = \int_{\Omega} g(z, u) \varphi$$

Thus u and v satisfy weakly

$$\begin{split} -\Delta v + v &= g(z, u) \quad \text{in } \Omega, \\ -\Delta u + u &= g(z, u) \quad \text{in } \Omega. \end{split}$$

Let w = v - u. Then  $-\Delta w + w = 0$  in  $\Omega$ . By Theorem 8.10, w = 0, or  $u = v \in W^{2,s}(\Omega) \cap W_0^{1,s}(\Omega) \cap H_0^1(\Omega)$  and

$$||u||_{W^{2,s}(\Omega)} \le c ||g(z,u)||_{L^{s}(\Omega)}.$$

Now s > N and  $\theta = 2 - \frac{N}{s} - [2 - \frac{N}{s}]$ . Then by the Sobolev embedding theorem 2.30,  $u \in C^{1,\theta}(\overline{\Omega})$  and

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \leq \|u\|_{C^{1,\theta}(\overline{\Omega})} \leq c\|u\|_{W^{2,s}(\Omega)}.$$

(*iii*) By (*ii*), we know that  $u \in C^{1,\theta}(\overline{\Omega})$ . Since u is bounded, then  $|u|^{p-2}u \in C^{\theta}(\overline{\Omega})$ . By Theorem 8.9, we have  $u \in C^{2,\theta}(\overline{\Omega})$ .

8.3. Asymptotic Behavior of Solutions. By Theorem 8.11, we obtain the following three results about asymptotic behavior of solutions. We define the generalized infinite strip  $\mathbf{S}^r = B^m(0; r) \times \mathbb{R}^n$ , where  $N \ge 4$ ,  $m \ge 2$ ,  $n \ge 1$  and m + n = N. Let  $\lambda_1$  be the first eigenvalue of  $-\Delta$  in  $B^m(0; r)$  with the Dirichlet problem, and  $\phi_1$  the corresponding positive eigenfunction to  $\lambda_1$ .

**Theorem 8.12.** (i) Let  $h \in L^{N/2}(\mathbf{S}^r) \cap L^s(\mathbf{S}^r) \cap L^2(\mathbf{S}^r)$  for s > N. If u in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{S}^r)$  is a weak solution of (1.2) in  $\mathbf{S}^r$ , then  $u \in C^1(\overline{\mathbf{S}^r})$  and

$$\lim_{|y|\to\infty} u(x,y) = 0 \quad uniformly \ inx \in B^m(0;r);$$

(ii) Let  $h \in L^{N/2}(\mathbf{F}_s^r) \cap L^s(\mathbf{F}_s^r) \cap L^2(\mathbf{F}_s^r)$  for s > N. If u in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{F}_s^r)$  is a weak solution of (1.2) in  $\mathbf{F}_s^r$ , then  $u \in C^1(\overline{\mathbf{F}_s^r})$  and

 $\lim_{y \to \infty} u(x, y) = 0 \quad uniformly \ inx \in B^m(0; r);$ 

(iii) Let  $\Omega$  be an unbounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $h \in L^{N/2}(\Omega) \cap L^s(\Omega) \cap L^2(\Omega)$  for s > N. If u in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  is a weak solution of (1.2) in  $\Omega$ , then  $u \in C^1(\overline{\Omega})$  and  $\lim_{|z|\to\infty} u(z) = 0$ .

*Proof.* (i) By Theorem 8.11,  $u \in C^1(\overline{\mathbf{S}^r}) \cap W^{2,s}(\mathbf{S}^r)$ . For each t > 0, apply Theorem 8.11 (ii) to obtain

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{S}_{t}^{r})} \leq c\|u\|_{W^{2,N}(\mathbf{S}_{t}^{r})},$$

where  $\mathbf{S}_t^r = \{z = (x, y) \in \mathbf{S}^r : |y| > t\}$ . Since  $||u||_{W^{2,N}(\mathbf{S}_t^r)} = o(1)$  as  $t \to \infty$ , we obtain

$$\lim_{|y| \to \infty} u(x, y) = 0 \quad \text{uniformly in } x \in B^m(0; r).$$

The proofs of (ii) and (iii) are similar to (i).

By Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47], there is a positive solution of (1.1) in  $\mathbf{S}^r$ . Such a solution admits exponential decay in y.

**Theorem 8.13.** Let u be a positive solution of Equation (1.1) in  $\mathbf{S}^r$ . Then for every  $0 < \delta < 1 + \lambda_1 \gamma > 0$  and  $\beta > 0$  exist such that

$$\gamma\phi_1(x)e^{-\sqrt{1+\lambda_1+\delta}|y|} \le u(z) \le \beta\phi_1(x)e^{-\sqrt{1+\lambda_1-\delta}|y|} \quad for \ z = (x,y) \in \mathbf{S}^r.$$

*Proof.* By Theorem 8.11 (*iii*),  $u \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ .

(i)  $\gamma \phi_1(x) e^{-\sqrt{1+\lambda_1+\delta}|y|} \le u(z)$  for  $z = (x,y) \in \mathbf{S}^r$ : define

$$w_{\delta}(z) = \phi_1(x)e^{-\sqrt{1+\lambda_1+\delta}|y|}$$
 for  $z = (x,y) \in \overline{B^m(0;r)} \times \mathbb{R}^n = \overline{\mathbf{S}^r}$ .

For  $0 < \delta < 1 + \lambda_1$ , take R > 0 such that  $\delta - \frac{\sqrt{1 + \lambda_1 + \delta}(n-1)}{|y|} \ge 0$  for  $|y| \ge R$  (for n = 1, take R = 1). Set

$$\gamma = \inf_{z \in \mathbf{S}^r, |y| \le R} \frac{u(x,y)}{w_\delta(x,y)}$$

Note that  $w_{\delta}(x, y)$  and u(x, y) are radially symmetric in x and y, and decreasing in |y| for a fixed x. Thus

$$\frac{u(x,y)}{v_{\delta}(x,y)} = \frac{u(x,y)}{\phi_1(x)} e^{\sqrt{1+\lambda_1+\delta}|y|} \ge \frac{u(x,Re_1)}{\phi_1(x)}, \quad \text{for } |y| \le R, \ x \in B^m(0;r),$$

where  $e_1 = (1, 0, \ldots, 0) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Therefore

$$\gamma = \inf_{z \in \mathbf{S}^r, \, |y| \le R} \frac{u(z)}{w_{\delta}(z)} \ge \inf_{x \in B^m(0;r)} \frac{u(x, Re_1)}{\phi_1(x)} = \inf_{x \in L} \frac{u(x, Re_1)}{\phi_1(x)},$$

where L is a fixed diameter of  $B^m(0;r)$ . Note that

$$\frac{u(x, Re_1)}{\phi_1(x)} > 0 \quad \text{for } x \in L.$$

Furthermore, for each  $x_0 \in \partial L \subset \partial B^m(0;r)$ , take a small ball  $B^1$  in  $B^m(0;r)$ such that  $x_0 \in \partial B^1$ . Note that  $\phi_1(x) > 0$  for  $x \in B^1$ ,  $\phi_1(x_0) = 0$ , and  $\phi_1(x) \in C^2(\overline{B^m(0;r)})$ . Then by Lemma 9.1 below,  $\frac{\partial \phi_1}{\partial \nu}(x_0) < 0$ , where  $\nu$  is the outward unit normal vector of  $B^1$  at  $x_0$ . Let  $u_1(x) = u(x, Re_1)$ , and for each  $z_1 = (x_0, Re_1) \in \partial L \times \mathbb{R}^n \subset \partial \mathbf{S}^r$ , take a small ball  $B^2$  in  $\mathbf{S}^r$  such that  $z_1 \in \partial B^2$ . Note that u(z) > 0

x

for  $z \in B^2$ , and  $u(z_1) = 0$ . By Theorem 8.12,  $u(x) \in C^2(\overline{\mathbf{S}^r})$ , then by Lemma 9.1 below,  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial \bar{\nu}}(z_1) < 0$ , where  $\bar{\nu} = (\nu, 0)$  is the outward unit normal vector of  $B^2$  at  $z_1$ . Thus,  $\frac{\partial u_1}{\partial \nu}(x_0) = \nabla u_1(x_0) \cdot \nu = \nabla u(z_1) \cdot \bar{\nu} = \frac{\partial u}{\partial \bar{\nu}}(z_1) < 0$ . By L'Hôpital's rule, we have

$$\lim_{\substack{x\in B^m(0;r)\\\to x_0 \quad \text{normally}}} \frac{u(x,Re_1)}{\phi_1(x)} = \lim_{h\to 0^-} \frac{u_1(x_0+h\nu)}{\phi_1(x_0+h\nu)} = \frac{\frac{\partial u_1}{\partial \nu}(x_0)}{\frac{\partial \phi_1}{\partial \nu}(x_0)} > 0.$$

Define

$$\frac{u(x, Re_1)}{\phi_1(x_0)} = \lim_{\substack{x \in B^m(0;r) \\ x \to x_0 \quad \text{normally}}} \frac{u(x, Re_1)}{\phi_1(x)}.$$

Thus  $\frac{u(x,Re_1)}{\phi_1(x)} > 0$  for  $x \in \overline{L}$ . Since  $\frac{u(x,Re_1)}{\phi_1(x)} : \overline{L} \to \mathbb{R}$  is continuous, we have

$$\gamma \ge \inf_{x \in \bar{L}} \frac{u(x, Re_1)}{\phi_1(x)} > 0.$$

Let  $v(z) = \gamma w_{\delta}(z)$  for  $z \in \overline{\mathbf{S}^r}$ , then we have

$$v(z) \le u(z)$$
 for  $z \in \overline{\mathbf{S}^r}$ ,  $|y| \le R$ .

For  $z \in \mathbf{S}^r$ , |y| > R, we have

$$\begin{aligned} -\Delta(u-v)(z) + (u-v)(z) &= (-\Delta u(z) + u(z)) + (\Delta v(z) - v(z)) \\ &= u^{p-1} + v(z)(\delta - \frac{\sqrt{1+\lambda_1+\delta}(n-1)}{|y|}) \ge 0. \end{aligned}$$

(For n = 1, we only consider the domain  $\{z \in \mathbf{S}^r | y > R\}$ .) Since  $u(z) - v(z) \ge 0$  on  $\partial A \cup \partial \mathbf{S}^r$  where  $A = \{z \in \mathbf{S}^r : |y| > R\}$ , by Lemma 9.3 below, we have  $v(z) \le u(z)$  for  $z = (x, y) \in \mathbf{S}^r$ , |y| > R. Thus, we conclude that  $v(z) \le u(z)$  for  $z \in \mathbf{S}^r$ , or  $\gamma \phi_1(x) e^{-\sqrt{1+\lambda_1+\delta}|y|} \le u(z)$ .

(*ii*)  $u(z) \leq \beta \phi_1(x) e^{-\sqrt{1+\lambda_1-\delta}|y|}$ , for  $z = (x,y) \in \mathbf{S}^r$ : for  $0 < \delta < 1 + \lambda_1$ . By Theorem 8.12,  $\lim_{|y|\to\infty} u(x,y) = 0$  uniformly in x. Take R' > 0 such that  $u^{p-2} \leq \frac{\delta}{2+|\lambda_1|}$  for  $|y| \geq R', x \in B^m(0;r)$ . Define

$$w^{\delta}(z) = \phi_1(x)e^{-\sqrt{1+\lambda_1-\delta}|y|} \quad \text{for } z = (x,y) \in \overline{B^m(0;r)} \times \mathbb{R}^n = \overline{\mathbf{S}^r};$$
$$\beta = \sup_{z \in \mathbf{S}^r, |y| \le R'} \frac{u(z)}{w^{\delta}(z)} > 0;$$
$$\mu(z) = \beta w^{\delta}(z) \quad \text{for } z \in \overline{\mathbf{S}^r}.$$

Fix a diameter L of  $B^m(0;r)$ . We have

$$\frac{u(z)}{w^{\delta}(z)} = \frac{u(x,y)}{\phi_1(x)} e^{\sqrt{1+\lambda_1-\delta}|y|} \le \frac{u(x,0)}{\phi_1(x)} e^{\sqrt{1+\lambda_1-\delta}R'},$$

for  $|y| \leq R', x \in B^m(0; r)$ , and

$$\beta = \sup_{z \in \mathbf{S}^r, \, |y| \le R'} \frac{u(z)}{w^{\delta}(z)} \le \sup_{x \in B^m(0;r)} \frac{u(x,0)}{\phi_1(x)} e^{\sqrt{1+\lambda_1-\delta} R'} = \sup_{x \in L} \frac{u(x,0)}{\phi_1(x)} e^{\sqrt{1+\lambda_1-\delta} R'}.$$

Similarly to part (i), for  $x_0 \in \partial L \subset \partial B^m(0; r)$ , we have

$$\lim_{\substack{x \in B^m(0;r) \\ x \to x_0 \text{ normally}}} \frac{u(x,0)}{\phi_1(x)} = \lim_{h \to 0^-} \frac{u_0(x_0 + h\nu)}{\phi_1(x_0 + h\nu)} = \frac{\frac{\partial u_0}{\partial \nu}(x_0)}{\frac{\partial \phi_1}{\partial \nu}(x_0)} < \infty,$$

9.

where  $\nu$  is the outward unit normal vector of  $B^m(0;r)$  at  $x_0$  and  $u_0(x) = u(x,0)$ . Define

$$\frac{u(x_0,0)}{\phi_1(x_0)} = \lim_{\substack{x \in B^m(0;r) \\ x \to x_0 \text{ normally}}} \frac{u(x,0)}{\phi_1(x)} < \infty.$$

Thus,

$$\beta \leq \sup_{x \in L} \frac{u(x,0)}{\phi_1(x)} e^{\sqrt{1+\lambda_1-\delta} R'} \leq \sup_{x \in \bar{L}} \frac{u(x,0)}{\phi_1(x)} e^{\sqrt{1+\lambda_1-\delta} R'} < \infty.$$

Therefore,  $\mu(z) \ge u(z)$  for  $z \in \mathbf{S}^r$ ,  $|y| \le R'$ . For  $z \in \mathbf{S}^r$ , |y| > R' we have

$$\begin{aligned} -\Delta(u-\mu)(z) + (u-\mu)(z) &= (-\Delta u(z) + u(z)) + (\Delta \mu(z) - \mu(z)) \\ &= u^{p-1}(z) + \left(-\delta - \frac{\sqrt{1+\lambda_1 - \delta}(n-1)}{|y|}\right) \mu(z) \\ &\leq \frac{\delta}{2 + [\lambda_1]}(u-\mu)(z), \end{aligned}$$

therefore,

$$-\Delta(u-\mu)(z) + (1 - \frac{\delta}{2 + [\lambda_1]})(u-\mu)(z) \le 0.$$

Since  $1 - \frac{\delta}{2 + [\lambda_1]} > 0$ ,  $u(z) - \mu(z) \le 0$  on  $\partial B$ , where  $B = \{z \in \mathbf{S}^r : |y| > R'\}$ , by Lemma 9.3 below,  $u(z) - \mu(z) \le 0$  in B. Thus, we conclude that  $u(z) \le \mu(z)$  for  $z \in \mathbf{S}^r$ .

We similarly present the asymptotic behavior of each solution of (1.1) in the interior flask domains  $\mathbf{F}_{s}^{r}$ , where s > r.

**Theorem 8.14.** Let u be a positive solution of (1.1) in  $\mathbf{F}_s^r$ . Then for any  $0 < \delta < 1 + \lambda_1$ ,  $\gamma > 0$ ,  $\beta > 0$ , and R > s exist such that for  $z = (x, y) \in \mathbf{A}_R^r$ ,

$$\gamma \phi_1(x) e^{-\sqrt{1+\lambda_1} y} \le u(z) \le \beta \phi_1(x) e^{-\sqrt{1+\lambda_1-\delta} y}.$$

Proof. (i)  $\gamma \phi_1(x) e^{-\sqrt{1+\lambda_1}y} \leq u(z)$  for  $z = (x, y) \in \mathbf{A}_R^r$ : by Theorem 8.12 (ii),  $\lim_{y \to \infty} u(x, y) = 0$  uniformly in x, where  $(x, y) \in \mathbf{F}_s^r$ . For  $0 < \delta < 1 + \lambda_1$ , take R > s such that  $u^{p-2}(x, y) \leq \frac{\delta}{2+[\lambda_1]}$  for  $y \geq R$ . In the remaining proofs, we fix such R. Define

$$w(z) = \phi_1(x)e^{-\sqrt{1+\lambda_1}y}$$
 for  $z = (x, y) \in \overline{\mathbf{A}_s^r}$ 

 $\operatorname{Set}$ 

$$\gamma = \inf_{z \in \mathbf{A}_s^r, \, y = R} \frac{u(x, y)}{w(x, y)}.$$

Similarly to Theorem 8.13,  $\gamma > 0$ . Let  $v(z) = \gamma w(z)$  for  $z \in \overline{\mathbf{A}_s^r}$ , then we have  $v(z) \le u(z)$  for  $z \in \overline{\mathbf{A}_s^r}$ , y = R. For  $z \in \mathbf{A}_R^r$ , we have

$$-\Delta(u-v)(z) + (u-v)(z) = (-\Delta u(z) + u(z)) + (\Delta v(z) - v(z)) = u^{p-1} \ge 0.$$

Since  $u - v \ge 0$  on  $\partial \mathbf{A}_R^r$ , by the strong maximum principle, we have  $v(z) \le u(z)$  for  $z = (x, y), z \in \mathbf{A}_R^r$ . (*ii*)  $u(z) \le \beta \phi_1(x) e^{-\sqrt{1+\lambda_1-\delta}y}$ , for  $z = (x, y) \in \mathbf{A}_R^r$ : define

$$w_{\delta}(z) = \phi_1(x)e^{-\sqrt{1+\lambda_1-\delta}y} \quad \text{for } z = (x,y) \in \overline{\mathbf{A}_s^r};$$
$$\beta = \sup_{z \in \mathbf{A}_s^r, \, y = R} \frac{u(z)}{w_{\delta}(z)} > 0;$$

Similarly to Theorem 8.13,  $\beta < \infty$ . Therefore,  $u(z) \leq \mu(z)$  for  $z \in \overline{\mathbf{A}_s^r}$ , y = R. For  $z \in \mathbf{A}_s^r$ ,  $y \geq R$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} -\Delta(u-\mu)(z) + (u-\mu)(z) &= (-\Delta u(z) + u(z)) + (\Delta \mu(z) - \mu(z)) \\ &= u^{p-1}(z) - \delta \mu(z) \\ &\leq \frac{\delta}{2 + [\lambda_1]} (u-\mu)(z); \end{aligned}$$

therefore,

$$-\Delta(u-\mu)(z) + (1 - \frac{\delta}{2 + [\lambda_1]})(u-\mu)(z) \le 0.$$

Since  $1 - \frac{\delta}{2 + [\lambda_1]} > 0$  and  $u - \mu \leq 0$  on  $\partial \mathbf{A}_R^r$ , by the strong maximum principle, we obtain  $u(z) \leq \mu(z)$  for  $z \in \mathbf{A}_R^r$ .

**Bibliographical notes:** Theorem 8.2 is from Benci-Cerami [11]. Theorem 8.3 is from Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47] and Gidas-Ni-Nirenberg [35]. The asymptotic behavior results are from Wang [71] and Chen-Chen-Wang [23].

#### 9. Symmetry of Solutions

We use the asymptotic behavior of solutions developed in Section 8 and apply the "moving plane" method to prove the symmetry of solutions to (1.1) in the infinite strip  $\mathbf{A}^r$ . Our approach is similar to those in Gidas-Ni-Nirenberg [34, Theorem 1] and [35, Theorem 2] but is more complicated. Before proving our main results, we first establish a version of the Hopf boundary point lemma and the strong maximum principle that will be used in our case.

**Lemma 9.1** (Hopf Boundary Point Lemma). Let  $\Omega$  be a domain (possibly unbounded) in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Let L be a differential operator given by

$$Lu = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a^{ij}(x)D_{ij}u + \sum_{i=1}^{n} b^{i}(x)D_{i}u + c(x)u, \ a^{ij}(x) = a^{ji}(x),$$

which is uniformly elliptic,  $\frac{|b_i(x)|}{\lambda(x)}$  and  $\frac{c(x)}{\lambda(x)}$  are uniformly bounded, where  $\lambda(x)$  is the minimum eigenvalue of  $[a^{ij}(x)]$ . Assume  $Lu \leq 0$ . Let  $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$  satisfy:

(i) u is continuous at  $x_0$ ; (ii)  $u(x_0) < u(x)$  for all  $x \in \Omega$ ; (iii) A ball  $B \subset \Omega$  exists with  $x_0 \in \partial B$ . Suppose that one of the following conditions holds: (i)  $u(x_0) < 0$  and  $c(x) \le 0$ ; (ii)  $u(x_0) = 0$ ; (iii)  $c(x) \equiv 0$ .

If the outer normal derivative  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu}(x_0)$  of u at  $x_0$  exists, then  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu}(x_0) < 0$ .

For the proof of the above lemma, see Gilbarg-Trudinger [36, Lemma 3.4]

**Lemma 9.2** (Hopf Boundary Point Lemma). Let  $\Omega$  be a domain (possibly unbounded) in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Let L be a differential operator given by

$$Lu = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a^{ij}(x)D_{ij}u + \sum_{i=1}^{n} b^{i}(x)D_{i}u + c(x)u, \ a^{ij}(x) = a^{ji}(x),$$

which is uniformly elliptic,  $\frac{|b_i(x)|}{\lambda(x)}$  and  $\frac{c(x)}{\lambda(x)}$  are uniformly bounded, where  $\lambda(x)$  is the minimum eigenvalue of  $[a^{ij}(x)]$ . Assume  $Lu \ge 0$ . Let  $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$  satisfy: (i) u is continuous at  $x_0$ ; (ii)  $u(x_0) > u(x)$  for all  $x \in \Omega$ ; (iii) A ball  $B \subset \Omega$  exists with  $x_0 \in \partial B$ . Suppose that one of the following conditions holds: (i)  $u(x_0) > 0$  and  $c(x) \le 0$ ; (ii)  $u(x_0) = 0$ ; (iii)  $c(x) \equiv 0$ . If the outer normal derivative  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu}(x_0)$  of u at  $x_0$  exists, then  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu}(x_0) > 0$ .

For the proof of the above lemma, see Gilbarg-Trudinger [36, Lemma 3.4].

**Lemma 9.3** (Strong Maximum Principle). Let L be uniformly elliptic, c = 0 and  $Lu \ge 0 \ (\le 0)$  in a domain  $\Omega$  (not necessarily bounded). Then if u achieves its maximum (minimum) in the interior of  $\Omega$ , u is constant. If  $c \le 0$  and  $c/\lambda$  is bounded, then u cannot achieve a nonnegative maximum (nonpositive minimum) in the interior of  $\Omega$  unless it is constant.

For the proof of the above lemma, see Gilbarg-Trudinger [36, Theorem 3.5]. We define the generalized infinite strip by  $\mathbf{S}^r = B^m(0; r) \times \mathbb{R}^n$ , where  $m \ge 2$ ,

We define the generalized infinite strip by  $\mathbf{S}^* = B^{**}(0; r) \times \mathbb{R}^n$ , where  $m \ge 2$ ,  $n \ge 1$ , and m + n = N, and suppose that

(g1) g(u) > 0 as u > 0; (g2)  $g(u) = O(u^p)$  as  $u \to 0$  for some p > 1.

Now we consider the equation

$$-\Delta u + u = g(u) + h(z) \quad \text{in } \mathbf{S}^r,$$
  

$$u > 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbf{S}^r,$$
  

$$u = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial \mathbf{S}^r,$$
(9.1)

$$\lim |y| \to \infty u(x, y) = 0$$
 uniformly in  $x \in B^m(0; r)$ .

We apply the "moving plane" method to prove the symmetry of solutions of (9.1).

**Theorem 9.4.** Assume that  $g \in C^1$  satisfies (g1) and h is radially symmetric in x and y and strictly decreasing in |x| and |y|. Let u(x, y) be a  $C^2$  solution of Equation (9.1). Then u is radially symmetric in x and in y; that is to say, u(x, y) = u(|x|, |y|).

**Part I:** *u* is radially symmetric in *y*. **Notation:** 

$$S_{\theta} = \{ (x, y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n) \in \mathbf{S}^r \mid x \in B^m(0; r), \ y_1 = \theta \}; \Gamma_{\theta} = \{ (x, y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n) \in \mathbf{S}^r \mid x \in B^m(0; r), \ y_1 < \theta \}.$$

For any  $(x, y) \in \mathbf{S}^r$ , set  $(x, y^{\theta}) = (x, 2\theta - y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n)$ ; that is,  $(x, y^{\theta})$  is the reflection of (x, y) with respect to  $S_{\theta}$ ;

Let  $\Theta$  be the collection of all  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$  such that the following statements hold:

$$u(x,y) < u(x,y^{\theta}) \quad \text{for all } (x,y) \in \Gamma_{\theta},$$
$$u_{y_1}(x,y) > 0 \quad \text{on } S_{\theta}.$$

**Lemma 9.5.** There exists  $\theta_0 > 0$  such that either  $(-\infty, -\theta_0] \subset \Theta$  or  $u(x, y) \equiv u(x, y^{-\theta_0})$  in  $\Gamma_{-\theta_0}$ .

*Proof.* Given  $\theta < 0$ , set  $w^{\theta}(x, y) = u(x, y) - u(x, y^{\theta})$  for  $(x, y) \in \Gamma_{\theta}$ , and  $w^{\theta}(x, y)$  satisfies

$$\Delta w^{\theta}(x,y) + c_{\theta}(x,y)w^{\theta}(x,y) = h(x,y^{\theta}) - h(x,y) \ge 0, \qquad (9.2)$$

where  $c_{\theta}(x, y) = \frac{g(u(x, y)) - g(u(x, y^{\theta}))}{u(x, y) - u(x, y^{\theta})} - 1 = g'(\xi_{\theta}) - 1$  and  $\xi_{\theta}$  is in between u(x, y) and  $u(x, y^{\theta})$ .

We claim that  $\theta_0 > 0$  exists such that if  $\theta \leq -\theta_0$ , then  $w^{\theta}(x, y) \leq 0$  in  $\Gamma_{\theta}$ . Otherwise, suppose  $w^{\theta}(x, y) > 0$  for some  $(x, y) \in \Gamma_{\theta}$ . Since  $\lim |y| \to \infty w^{\theta}(x, y) = 0$  uniformly in  $x, w^{\theta}(x, y)$  achieves its maximum at  $(x_{\theta}, y_{\theta}) \in \Gamma_{\theta}$ . Then

$$\nabla w^{\theta}(x_{\theta}, y_{\theta}) = 0, quad\{w^{\theta}_{ij}(x_{\theta}, y_{\theta})\} \le 0$$

Note that by  $(g_2)$ ,  $\lim t \to 0^+ g'(t) = 0$ . Take  $t_0 > 0$  such that if  $0 < t \le t_0$ , then g'(t) < 1. Since  $\lim y_1 \to -\infty u(x, y) = 0$ , we can choose  $\theta_0 > 0$  such that if  $y_1 \le -\theta_0$ , then  $u(x, y) \le t_0$ , therefore, g'(u(x, y)) < 1. For  $\theta \le -\theta_0$ ,  $(x_\theta, y_\theta) \in \Gamma_\theta$ , then

$$\Delta w^{\theta}(x_{\theta}, y_{\theta}) \le 0, \quad c_{\theta}(x, y)w^{\theta}(x_{\theta}, y_{\theta}) = (g'(\xi_{\theta}) - 1)w^{\theta}(x_{\theta}, y_{\theta}) < 0,$$

contradicting (9.2). As a consequence of the maximum principle and the Hopf boundary point lemma, either  $w^{-\theta_0}(x,y) \equiv 0$  in  $\Gamma_{-\theta_0}$  or  $w^{\theta}(x,y) < 0$  in  $\Gamma_{\theta}$  and  $w^{\theta}_{y_1}(x,y) > 0$  for  $(x,y) \in S_{\theta}$  for  $\theta \leq -\theta_0$ , or  $u_{y_1}(x,y) > 0$  for  $(x,y) \in S_{\theta}$ .

**Lemma 9.6.** If  $(-\infty, \theta] \subset \Theta$ , then there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $[\theta, \theta + \varepsilon) \subset \Theta$ .

Proof. Suppose instead that a decreasing sequence  $\theta_k \to \theta$  and a sequence  $\{(x^k, y^k)\}$  of points in  $\Gamma_{\theta_k}$  exist such that  $w^{\theta_k}(x^k, y^k) = u(x^k, y^k) - u(x^k, y^{\theta_k}) > 0$ , where  $(x^k, y^{\theta_k})$  is the reflection of  $(x^k, y^k)$  with respect to  $S_{\theta_k}$ . There is a subsequence  $\{(x^k, y^k)\}$  such that  $x^k \to \overline{x}$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Two possibilities may arise, as shown in Case 1 and 2.

Case 1.  $|y^k| \to \infty$ . As shown in Lemma 9.5, we assume

$$v^{\theta_k}(x^k, y^k) = \max(x, y) \in \overline{\Gamma}_{\theta_k} w^{\theta_k}(x, y),$$
$$\nabla w^{\theta_k}(\widetilde{x^k}, \widetilde{y^k}) = 0, \ \{w^{\theta_k}_{ij}(\widetilde{x^k}, \widetilde{y^k})\} \le 0.$$
(9.3)

From  $\lim |y| \to \infty u(x, y) = 0$ , as in Lemma 9.5, we obtain a contradiction.

Case 2.  $y^k \to \overline{y}$ . We have  $(x^k, y^k) \to (\overline{x}, \overline{y}) \in \overline{\Gamma_{\theta}}$ , thus  $w^{\theta}(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) \geq 0$ . Clearly  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) \notin \Gamma_{\theta}$ . If  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) \in S_{\theta}$ , then  $u_{y_1}(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) < 0$ , which contradicts  $\theta \in \Theta$ . Moreover,  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) \notin \partial \mathbf{S}^r \cap \overline{\Gamma_{\theta}}$ . Note that  $w^{\theta}(x, y)$  satisfies Equation (9.2), and by the Hopf boundary point lemma, we obtain  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \nu} w^{\theta}(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) > 0$ . On the other hand, by taking limits in (9.3), we obtain  $\nabla w^{\theta}(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) = 0$ , which is a contradiction. We conclude that either Case 1 or Case 2 is impossible.

Proof of Part I. Let  $\sigma = \sup\{\theta \in \mathbb{R} : (-\infty, \theta) \subset \Theta\}$ . Then  $\sigma \notin \Theta$ . If not, by Lemma 9.6 we would have  $[\sigma, \sigma + \epsilon) \subset \Theta$ , which contradicts the definition of  $\sigma$ . We claim that  $\sigma = 0$ . Suppose instead that  $\sigma \in (-\infty, 0)$ . By continuity,  $u(x, y) \leq u(x, y^{\sigma})$  for all  $(x, y) \in \Gamma_{\sigma}$ , then by the maximum principle, we have  $u(x, y) \equiv u(x, y^{\sigma})$  for all  $(x, y) \in \Gamma_{\sigma}$ . This implies that  $h(x, y) = h(x, y^{\sigma})$  for all  $(x, y) \in \Gamma_{\sigma}$ , which is a contradiction. This proves u(x, y) is symmetric with respect to the hyperplane  $y_1 = 0$  for all  $(x, y) \in \mathbf{S}^r$ . By reversing the  $y_1$  axis, we conclude that u(x, y) is symmetric with respect to the hyperplane  $S_0$ . Since the  $y_1$  direction can be chosen arbitrarily, we conclude that u(x, y) is radially symmetric in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .  $\Box$  **Part II:** u is radially symmetric in  $B^m(0; r)$ . Notation:

u

$$T_{\lambda} = \{ (x, y) = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \in \mathbf{S}^r : x_1 = \lambda \};$$
  
$$\Sigma_{\lambda} = \{ (x, y) = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \in \mathbf{S}^r : x_1 < \lambda \}.$$

For any  $(x, y) = (x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{N-1}, y) \in \mathbf{S}^r$ , set  $(x^{\lambda}, y) = (2\lambda - x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{N-1}, y)$ , that is,  $(x^{\lambda}, y)$  is the reflection of (x, y) with respect to  $T_{\lambda}$ .

Let  $\Lambda$  be the collection of all  $\lambda \in (-r, 0)$  such that the following statements hold:

$$(x,y) < u(x^{\lambda},y) \quad \text{for all } (x,y) \in \Sigma_{\lambda},$$
  
 $u_{x_1}(x,y) > 0 \quad \text{on } T_{\lambda}.$ 

**Lemma 9.7.** For some  $\delta$  such that  $0 < \delta < r$ ,  $(-r, -r + \delta) \subset \Lambda$ .

*Proof.* Given  $\lambda \in (-r,0)$ , set  $v^{\lambda}(x,y) = u(x,y) - u(x^{\lambda},y)$  for  $(x,y) \in \Sigma_{\lambda}$ , then  $v^{\lambda}(x,y) = 0$  for  $(x,y) \in T_{\lambda}$ , and  $v^{\lambda}(x,y)$  satisfies

$$\Delta v^{\lambda}(x,y) + c_{\lambda}(x,y)v^{\lambda}(x,y) = h(x^{\lambda},y) - h(x,y) \ge 0, \qquad (9.4)$$

where  $c_{\lambda}(x,y) = \frac{g(u(x,y)) - g(u(x^{\lambda},y))}{u(x,y) - u(x^{\lambda},y)} - 1 = g'(\zeta_{\lambda}) - 1$  where  $\zeta_{\lambda}$  is in between u(x,y) and  $u(x^{\lambda},y)$ .

We claim that if  $-r < \lambda < -r + \delta$ , then  $v^{\lambda}(x, y) \leq 0$  in  $\Sigma_{\lambda}$ . Otherwise, suppose  $\lambda$  exists such that  $-r < \lambda < -r + \delta$ ,  $v^{\lambda}(x, y) > 0$  for some  $(x, y) \in \Sigma_{\lambda}$ . Since  $\lim |y| \to \infty v^{\lambda}(x, y) = 0$  uniformly in  $x, v^{\lambda}(x, y)$  achieves its maximum at  $(x_{\lambda}, y_{\lambda}) \in \Sigma_{\lambda}$ . Then

$$abla v^{\lambda}(x_{\lambda}, y_{\lambda}) = 0, \quad \{v^{\lambda}_{ij}(x_{\lambda}, y_{\lambda})\} \le 0.$$

Note that by (g2),  $\lim t \to 0^+ g'(t) = 0$ . Take  $t_0 > 0$  such that if  $0 < t \le t_0$ , then g'(t) < 1. Since  $\lim |x| \to r^- u(x, y) = 0$ , we can choose  $\delta$ ,  $0 < \delta < r$  such that  $u(x, y) \le t_0$  whenever  $r - \delta < |x| < r$ . For  $-r < \lambda < -r + \delta$ , we have

$$\Delta v^{\lambda}(x_{\lambda}, y_{\lambda}) \le 0, \quad c_{\lambda}(x, y)v^{\lambda}(x_{\lambda}, y_{\lambda}) = (g'(\zeta_{\lambda}) - 1)v^{\lambda}(x_{\lambda}, y_{\lambda}) < 0,$$

which contradicts (9.4). Therefore, for  $-r < \lambda < -r + \delta$ ,  $v^{\lambda}(x, y) \leq 0$  in  $\Sigma_{\lambda}$ . By applying the maximum principle and the Hopf boundary point lemma, for  $-r < \lambda < -r + \delta$ , we obtain  $v^{\lambda}(x, y) < 0$  in  $\Sigma_{\lambda}$  and  $v^{\lambda}_{x_1}(x, y) > 0$  for  $(x, y) \in T_{\lambda}$ . Hence,  $u_{x_1}(x, y) > 0$  for  $(x, y) \in T_{\lambda}$ . Then  $(-r, -r + \delta) \subset \Lambda$ .

**Lemma 9.8.** If  $(-r, \lambda] \subset \Lambda$ , then there is a  $\tau > 0$  such that  $[\lambda, \lambda + \tau) \subset \Lambda$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that a decreasing sequence  $\lambda_k \to \lambda$  and a sequence  $\{(x^k, y^k)\}$  of points in  $\Sigma_{\lambda_k}$  exist such that  $v^{\lambda_k}(x^k, y^k) = u(x^k, y^k) - u(x^{\lambda_k}, y^k) > 0$ , where  $(x^{\lambda_k}, y^k)$  is the reflection of  $(x^k, y^k)$  with respect to  $T_{\lambda}$ . There is a subsequence  $\{(x^k, y^k)\}$  such that  $x^k \to \overline{x} \in \overline{B^m(0; r)}$ . Two possibilities may arise as shown in Case 1 and 2:

Case 1.  $|y^k| \to \infty$ . As shown in Lemma 9.7, we assume

$$\begin{aligned} v^{\lambda_k}(\widetilde{x^k}, \widetilde{y^k}) &= \max\left(x, y\right) \in \overline{\Sigma_{\lambda_k}} v^{\lambda_k}(x, y), \\ \nabla v^{\lambda_k}(\widetilde{x^k}, \widetilde{y^k}) &= 0, \quad \{v_{ij}^{\lambda_k}(\widetilde{x^k}, \widetilde{y^k})\} \le 0. \end{aligned}$$

From  $\lim |y| \to \infty$  u(x, y) = 0, as in Lemma 9.7, we obtain a contradiction. Case 2.  $y^k \to \overline{y}$ . We have  $(x^k, y^k) \to (\overline{x}, \overline{y}) \in \overline{\Sigma_{\lambda}}$ . Thus,  $v^{\lambda}(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) \ge 0$ . Clearly  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) \notin \Sigma_{\lambda}$ . If  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) \in T_{\lambda}$  then  $u_{x_1}(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) < 0$ , which contradicts  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ . Moreover,

 $(\overline{x},\overline{y}) \notin \partial \mathbf{S}^r \cap \overline{\Sigma_{\lambda}}$ , since if  $(\overline{x},\overline{y}) \in \partial \mathbf{S}^r \cap \overline{\Sigma_{\lambda}}$  then  $0 = u(\overline{x},\overline{y}) \ge u(\overline{x}^{\lambda},\overline{y}) > 0$ , a contraction. We conclude that either Case 1 or Case 2 is impossible.

Proof of Part II. Let  $\mu = \sup\{\lambda \in (-r,0) : (-r,\lambda) \subset \Lambda\}$ . Then  $\mu \notin \Lambda$ . If not, by Lemma 9.8, we would have  $[\mu, \mu + \epsilon) \subset \Lambda$ , which contradicts the definition of  $\mu$ . We claim that  $\mu = 0$ . Suppose instead that  $\mu \in (-r,0)$ . By continuity we have  $u(x,y) \leq u(x^{\mu},y)$  for all  $(x,y) \in \Sigma_{\mu}$ . Then by the maximum principle we have  $u(x,y) \equiv u(x^{\mu},y)$  for all  $(x,y) \in \Sigma_{\mu}$ , which is impossible. Thus  $\mu = 0$ . By reversing the  $x_1$  axis, we conclude that u(x,y) is symmetric with respect to the hyperplane  $T_0$  and  $u_{x_1}(x,y) < 0$  for  $x_1 > 0$ . Since the  $x_1$  direction can be chosen arbitrarily, we conclude that u(x,y) is radially symmetric in  $B^m(0;r)$ .  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 9.9.** Assume that  $g \in C^1$  satisfies property  $(g_1)$  and  $h(x) \equiv 0$ . Let u(x, y) be a  $C^2$  solution of Equation (9.1). Then u is radially symmetric in x and in y; that is to say, u(x, y) = u(|x|, |y|).

Proof of Part I. u is radially symmetric in y. Similarly to Theorem 9.4, let  $\sigma_1 = \sup\{\theta \in \mathbb{R} \mid (-\infty, \theta) \subset \Theta\}$ . Note that  $\sigma_1$  is not necessarily zero. Similarly, u(x, y) is symmetric with respect to the hyperplane  $y_1 = \sigma_1$  for all  $(x, y) \in \mathbf{S}^r$ . The same conclusion holds for the other coordinate direction, and we conclude that u is symmetric about each of n planes  $y_j = \sigma_j$  and  $\nabla u = 0$  only at their intersection. We may now take their intersection as the origin.

The same argument may be applied to any unit direction  $\gamma$  and we infer that u is symmetric about some plane

$$B^m(0;r) \times \{ y \in \mathbb{R} : y \cdot \gamma = c(\gamma) = \text{const.} \}$$

At the point on this plane where u achieves its maximum we have  $\nabla u = 0$  (since the derivative normal to the plane is zero at every point of the plane). It follows that  $c(\gamma) = 0$ . Thus u is symmetric about every plane through the origin, that is, uis radially symmetric in y. In addition, we also conclude that  $u_{\rho} < 0$  where  $\rho = |y|$ . **Proof of Part II:** Since u is radially symmetric in  $B^m(0;r)$ : the proof is similarly to the proof of Theorem 9.4.

9.1. **Open Question:** Are positive solutions of (1.1) in the generalized infinite strip by  $\mathbf{S}^r$  unique up to a translation?

**Bibliographical notes:** The results of this section are from Chen-Chen-Wang [23].

### 10. Nonachieved Domains and Esteban-Lions Domains

In this section we also characterize Esteban-Lions domains. We prove that proper large domains, Esteban-Lions domains, and some interior flask domains are nonachieved.

**Theorem 10.1.** Let  $\Omega_2$  be one of  $\mathbf{A}^r$ ,  $\mathbf{A}^{r_1,r_2}$ , and  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , and  $\Omega_1$  a proper large domain of  $\Omega_2$ . Then  $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$ , J does not satisfy the  $(PS)_{\alpha_1}$ -condition, and Equation (1.1) does not admit any ground state solution in  $\Omega_1$ . In particular, a proper large domain  $\Omega_1$  of  $\Omega_2$  is nonachieved.

*Proof.* Since  $\Omega_1$  is a proper large domain of  $\Omega_2$ , by Theorem 4.18,  $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$ . Then by Theorem 5.7 (i) and (ii), J does not satisfy the  $(PS)_{\alpha_1}$ -condition, and Equation (1.1) does not admit any ground state solution in  $\Omega_1$ .

The only solution in an Esteban-Lions domain is trivial. The following lemmas are required. The first lemma is from Protter [62].

**Lemma 10.2.** Let u be a  $C^2$  real-valued function in  $\Omega$ . Suppose that  $\delta_0$ ,  $\rho_0 > 0$  and  $z_0 \in \Omega$  exist such that  $0 < \delta_0 < \rho_0 < 1$  and

$$u(z) = 0$$
 in  $\{z \in \mathbb{R}^N : \delta_0 \le |z - z_0| \le \rho_0\}^c$ .

Then  $m_0 > 0$  and c > 0 exist such that if  $m \ge m_0$ , then

$$\int_{\Omega} \rho^{-2m-2} e^{2\rho^{-m}} u^2 dz \le \frac{c}{m^4} \int_{\Omega} \rho^{m+2} e^{2\rho^{-m}} (\Delta u)^2 dz,$$

where  $\rho = |z - z_0|$ .

*Proof.* Without loss of generality, we assume that  $z_0 = 0$ , so that  $\rho = |z|$ . Let  $v = e^{\rho^{-m}}u$ . By the inequality  $(A + B + C)^2 \ge 2B(A + C)$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} (\Delta u)^2 &= \left[ e^{-\rho^{-m}} \Delta v + 2\nabla v \nabla (e^{-\rho^{-m}}) + v \Delta (e^{-\rho^{-m}}) \right]^2 \\ &= \left[ e^{-\rho^{-m}} \Delta v + 2m e^{-\rho^{-m}} \rho^{-m-2} \sum_{i=1}^N z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} \right. \\ &+ m v \rho^{-m-2} e^{-\rho^{-m}} (m \rho^{-m} - m - 2 + N) \right]^2 \\ &\geq 4m e^{-2\rho^{-m}} \rho^{-m-2} \sum_{i=1}^N z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} \left[ \Delta v + m v \rho^{-m-2} (m \rho^{-m} - m - 2 + N) \right] \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\rho^{m+2} e^{2\rho^{-m}} (\Delta u)^2 \\ \ge 4m \sum_{i=1}^N z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} \left[ \Delta v + m^2 v \rho^{-2m-2} - (m+2-N)mv \rho^{-m-2} \right].$$

Thus,

$$\int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{m+2} e^{2\rho^{-m}} (\Delta u)^2 dz \ge (I) + (II) - (III),$$

where

$$(I) = 4m \sum_{i=1}^{N} \int_{\{\delta_{0} \le |z| \le \rho_{0}\}} z_{i} \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_{i}} \Delta v \, dz \,,$$
$$(II) = 4m^{3} \sum_{i=1}^{N} i = 1^{N} \int_{\{\delta_{0} \le |z| \le \rho_{0}\}} \rho^{-2m-2} v z_{i} \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_{i}} \, dz \,,$$
$$(III) = 4m^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} i = 1^{N} \int_{\{\delta_{0} \le |z| \le \rho_{0}\}} \rho^{-m-2} (m+2-N) v z_{i} \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_{i}} \, dz$$

We claim that (i)

$$(I) = 2m(N-2) \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} |\nabla v|^2 dz > 0;$$

(*ii*) There exists  $m_1 > 0$  such that

$$(II) \ge m^4 \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-2m-2} v^2 dz \quad \text{for } m \ge m_1;$$

and (*iii*) for  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ , there exists  $m_2 > 0$  such that

$$(III) \le \varepsilon m^4 \left( \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-2m-2} v^2 dz \right) \quad \text{for } m \ge m_2.$$

(i) Since  $\frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} = 0$  on  $\partial \{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}$  for all  $i = 1, 2, \dots, N$  and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} \triangle v dz = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} \frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial z_j^2} dz$$

For  $i \neq j$ , by integration by parts

$$\begin{split} \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} \frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial z_j^2} dz &= -\int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_j} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_j} (z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i}) dz \\ &= -\int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_j} \frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial z_i \partial z_j} dz \\ &= \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \left[ (\frac{\partial v}{\partial z_j})^2 + z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_j} \frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial z_i \partial z_j} \right] dz, \end{split}$$

we have

$$\int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_j} \frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial z_i \partial z_j} dz = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} (\frac{\partial v}{\partial z_j})^2 dz$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{N} \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} \frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial z_j^2} dz &= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{N} \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} (\frac{\partial v}{\partial z_j})^2 dz \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} |\nabla v|^2 - (\frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i})^2 dz. \end{split}$$

For i = j,

$$\int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} \frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial z_j^2} dz = -\int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \left[ z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} \frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial z_i^2} + \left(\frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i}\right)^2 \right] dz,$$

then we have

$$\int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} \frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial z_j^2} dz = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} (\frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i})^2 dz.$$

Hence,

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{i=1}^{N} \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} \triangle v \, dz \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left( \frac{1}{2} \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} |\nabla v|^2 dz - \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} (\frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i})^2 dz \right) \\ &= \left( \frac{N}{2} - 1 \right) \int |\nabla v|^2 > 0. \end{split}$$

(ii)  $m_1 > 0$  exists such that  $4m^4 + 4m^3 - 2m^3N \ge m^4$  for  $m \ge m_1$ . Since v = 0 on  $\partial \{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}$ , we have

$$\int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-2m-2} v z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} dz$$

$$= -\int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i} (\rho^{-2m-2} v z_i) v dz$$
  
$$= (2m+2) \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-2m-4} v^2 z_i^2 dz$$
  
$$- \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-2m-2} v z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} dz - \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-2m-2} v^2 dz$$

and

$$\int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-2m-2} v z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} dz$$
  
=  $(m+1) \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-2m-4} v^2 z_i^2 dz - \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-2m-2} v^2 dz.$ 

Thus, for  $m \ge m_1$  we have

$$(II) = 4m^{3} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \int_{\{\delta_{0} \le |z| \le \rho_{0}\}} \rho^{-2m-2} v z_{i} \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_{i}} dz$$
  
$$= 4m^{3} (m+1) \sum_{i=1}^{N} \int_{\{\delta_{0} \le |z| \le \rho_{0}\}} \rho^{-2m-4} v^{2} z_{i}^{2} dz - 2m^{3} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \int_{\{\delta_{0} \le |z| \le \rho_{0}\}} \rho^{-2m-2} v^{2} dz$$
  
$$= (4m^{4} + 4m^{3} - 2m^{3}N) \int_{\{\delta_{0} \le |z| \le \rho_{0}\}} \rho^{-2m-2} v^{2} dz$$
  
$$\ge m^{4} \int_{\{\delta_{0} \le |z| \le \rho_{0}\}} \rho^{-2m-2} v^{2} dz \quad \text{for } m \ge m_{1}.$$

(iii) Since  $\rho_0 < 1,$  for  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$  there is an  $m_2 > 0$  such that

$$2m^2(m+2-N)^2 \le 2m^4 \quad \text{for } m \ge m_2,$$
$$\int \rho^{-m-2} v^2 dz \le \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \int \rho^{-2m-2} v^2 dz \quad \text{for } m \ge m_2.$$

Similarly to part (ii), we have

$$\int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-m-2} v z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} dz$$
  
=  $(m+2) \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-m-4} v^2 z_i^2 dz$   
 $- \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-m-2} v z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} dz - \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-m-2} v^2 dz$ 

and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-m-2} v z_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_i} dz = \frac{1}{2} (m+2-N) \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-m-2} v^2 dz.$$

Thus, for  $m \ge m_2$  we have

$$(III) = 4m^{2}(m+2-N)\sum_{i=1}^{N} \int_{\{\delta_{0} \le |z| \le \rho_{0}\}} \rho^{-m-2} v z_{i} \frac{\partial v}{\partial z_{i}} dz$$
$$= 2m^{2}(m+2-N)^{2} \int_{\{\delta_{0} \le |z| \le \rho_{0}\}} \rho^{-m-2} v^{2} dz$$

$$\leq m^4 \int_{\{\delta_0 \leq |z| \leq \rho_0\}} \rho^{-m-2} v^2 dz$$
  
$$\leq \varepsilon m^4 \int_{\{\delta_0 \leq |z| \leq \rho_0\}} \rho^{-2m-2} v^2 dz.$$

Take  $m_0 = \max\{m_1, m_2\}$ . For  $m \ge m_0$ , since  $u \in C^2$  and u = 0 on the set  $\{z \in \mathbb{R}^N : \delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}^c$ , we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega} \rho^{m+2} e^{2\rho^{-m}} (\Delta u)^2 dz \\ &= \int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{m+2} e^{2\rho^{-m}} (\Delta u)^2 dz \\ &\ge (I) + (II) - (III) \\ &\ge m^4 (\int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-2m-2} v^2 dz) - \varepsilon m^4 (\int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-2m-2} v^2 dz) \\ &= (1-\varepsilon) m^4 (\int_{\{\delta_0 \le |z| \le \rho_0\}} \rho^{-2m-2} v^2 dz) \\ &= (1-\varepsilon) m^4 (\int_{\Omega} \rho^{-2m-2} v^2 dz). \end{split}$$

Hence, for  $m \ge m_0$ , we have

$$\int \rho^{-2m-2} e^{2\rho^{-m}} u^2 dz \le \frac{c}{m^4} \int \rho^{m+2} e^{2\rho^{-m}} (\Delta u)^2 dz.$$

Recall the uniqueness of the analytic function: suppose that f is analytic in a domain  $\Omega$  in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . If  $f(z_n) = 0$  for some sequence  $\{z_n\}$  of distinct points such that  $z_n \to z_0 \in \Omega$ , then  $f \equiv 0$  in  $\Omega$ . We know that f = u + iv, where u and v are harmonic functions, but the uniqueness of harmonic functions is not elegant, taking the form below. Let  $\delta(z_0) = dist(z_0, \partial\Omega)$ . Then we have the following uniqueness result (see Heinz [39]).

**Theorem 10.3.** Let u be a  $C^2$  real-valued function on  $\Omega$ . Suppose that u(z) = 0 is in the neighborhood of a point  $z_0 \in \Omega$  and that M > 0 exists such that

$$\Delta u)^2 \le M u^2 \quad for \ any \ z \in \Omega.$$

Then u(z) = 0 for any  $z \in \Omega$ .

*Proof.* Let  $R = \min\{\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{4}\delta(z_0)\}$  and  $\Phi(t) \in C_c^2([0,\infty))$  satisfy

(

$$\Phi(t) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } 0 \le t \le R, \\ 0 & \text{for } \frac{3}{2}R \le t < \infty \end{cases}$$

Let  $\widetilde{u}(z) = u(z)\Phi(|z-z_0|)$ . Note that  $2R < \delta(z_0)$  and  $B^N(z_0; 2R) \subset \Omega$ . Thus,  $\widetilde{u}(z)$  is well-defined on  $B^N(z_0; 2R)$  and  $\widetilde{u}(z) \in C_c^2(\overline{B^N(z_0; 2R)})$ . We also have

$$\widetilde{u}(z) = \begin{cases} u(z) & \text{in } \{ z \in \mathbb{R}^N : |z - z_0| \le R \}, \\ 0 & \text{in } \{ z \in \mathbb{R}^N : |z - z_0| \ge \frac{3}{2}R \}, \end{cases}$$

with  $\frac{3}{2}R < 1$ . By Lemma 10.2,  $m_0 > 0$  and  $c_0 > 0$  exist such that

$$R^{-2m-2} - c_0 M m^{-4} R^{m+2} > 0,$$

and for all  $m \ge m_0$ 

$$\int \rho^{-2m-2} e^{2\rho^{-m}} \tilde{u}^2 dz \le \frac{c_0}{m^4} \int \rho^{m+2} e^{2\rho^{-m}} (\Delta \tilde{u})^2 dz.$$

We have

$$\begin{split} &R^{-2m-2} \int_{\{|z-z_0| \leq R\}} e^{2\rho^{-m}} u^2 dz \\ &\leq \int_{\{|z-z_0| \leq 2R\}} \rho^{-2m-2} e^{2\rho^{-m}} u^2 dz \\ &\leq \int_{\{|z-z_0| \leq 2R\}} \rho^{-2m-2} e^{2\rho^{-m}} \widetilde{u}^2 dz \\ &\leq c_0 m^{-4} \int_{\{|z-z_0| \leq 2R\}} \rho^{m+2} e^{2\rho^{-m}} (\Delta \widetilde{u})^2 dz \\ &\leq c_0 M m^{-4} \int_{\{|z-z_0| \leq R\}} \rho^{m+2} e^{2\rho^{-m}} u^2 dz + c_0 m^{-4} \int_{\{R \leq |z-z_0| \leq 2R\}} \rho^{m+2} e^{2\rho^{-m}} (\Delta \widetilde{u})^2 dz \\ &\leq c_0 M m^{-4} R^{m+2} \int_{\{|z-z_0| \leq R\}} e^{2\rho^{-m}} u^2 dz \\ &+ c_0 m^{-4} (2R)^{m+2} e^{2R^{-m}} \int_{\{R \leq |z-z_0| \leq 2R\}} (\Delta \widetilde{u})^2 dz, \end{split}$$

 $\operatorname{or}$ 

$$(R^{-2m-2} - c_0 M m^{-4} R^{m+2}) \int_{\{|z-z_0| \le R\}} e^{2\rho^{-m}} u^2 dz$$
  
$$\leq c_0 m^{-4} (2R)^{m+2} e^{2R^{-m}} \int_{\{R \le |z-z_0| \le 2R\}} (\Delta \widetilde{u})^2 dz.$$

Since  $\widetilde{u}(z) \in C_c^2(\overline{B^N(z_0;2R)})$ , we have

$$(R^{-2m-2} - c_0 Mm^{-4} R^{m+2}) e^{2R^{-m}} \int_{\{|z-z_0| \le R\}} u^2 dz$$
  
$$\leq (R^{-2m-2} - c_0 Mm^{-4} R^{m+2}) \int_{\{|z-z_0| \le R\}} e^{2\rho^{-m}} u^2 dz$$
  
$$\leq c_0 m^{-4} (2R)^{m+2} e^{2R^{-m}} \int_{\{R \le |z-z_0| \le 2R\}} (\Delta \widetilde{u})^2 dz$$
  
$$\leq c_0 m^{-4} (2R)^{m+2} e^{2R^{-m}} C.$$

Thus,

$$\int_{\{|z-a| \le R\}} u^2(z) dz \le \frac{c_0 m^{-4} (2R)^{m+2} C}{R^{-2m-2} - c_0 M m^{-4} R^{m+2}}.$$

Let  $m \to \infty$ , then u(z) = 0 for any  $z \in B^N(z_0; R)$ . We claim that  $u(\tilde{z}) = 0$  for any  $\tilde{z} \in \Omega$ . For  $\tilde{z} \in \Omega$ , let  $h : [0, 1] \to \Omega$  be a path satisfying  $h(0) = z_0$ ,  $h(1) = \tilde{z}$ . Since h and  $\delta$  are continuous functions, then

$$A = \min\left\{\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{4} \inf_{0 \le t \le 1} \delta(h(t))\right\} > 0.$$

Since  $\{h(t) : 0 \le t \le 1\}$  is a compact set,  $0 = t_0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_n = 1$  exist such that

$${h(t)|0 \le t \le 1} \subset \bigcup_{i=0}^{n} B^{N}(h(t_{i}); \frac{1}{3}A)$$

and

$$B^{N}(h(t_{i});\frac{1}{3}A) \cap B^{N}(h(t_{i+1});\frac{1}{3}A) \neq \emptyset.$$

For i = 1, 2, ..., n, let  $z_i = h(t_i)$  and  $R_i = \min\{\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{4}\delta(z_i)\}$ , then  $z_i \in B^N(z_{i-1}; A) \subset B^N(z_{i-1}; R_i)$ . Applying the same process to  $z_0, z_1, ..., z_n$ , we conclude that u(z) = 0 on  $\cup_{i=0}^n B^N(z_i; R_i)$ , in particular,  $u(\tilde{z}) = 0$ .

Let us denote the linear space of k times weakly differentiable functions by  $W^k(\Omega)$ . Clearly  $C^k(\Omega) \subset W^k(\Omega)$ . For  $p \ge 1$  and a nonnegative integer k, we define  $W^{k,p}(\Omega) = \{u \in W^k(\Omega) : D^{\alpha}u \in L^p(\Omega) \text{ for all } |\alpha| \le k\}$ . We have the following lemma.

**Lemma 10.4.** Let  $1 \le p < \infty$ , R > 0, and  $u \in W^{2,p}(\Omega \cap B^N(0;R))$  be a solution of  $- \land u = f(u)$  in  $\Omega$ :

$$-\Delta u = f(u) \quad in \Omega;$$
  

$$u = 0 \quad on \ \partial\Omega,$$
(10.1)

where f is locally Lipschitz continuous on  $\mathbb{R}$ , and  $\Omega$  is a smooth unbounded domain. Let  $F(t) = \int_0^t f(s)ds$ , and assume that  $\nabla u \in L^2(\Omega)$  and  $F(u) \in L^1(\Omega)$ . Then a sequence  $\{R_k\} \nearrow \infty$  exists such that (i) (Pohozaev identity)

$$\int_{\Omega} \{NF(u) + (1 - \frac{N}{2})|\nabla u|^2\}dz = \lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{1}{2} \int_{\partial \Omega \cap B^N(0;R_k)} (z \cdot \nu(z))|\nabla u|^2 ds$$

(ii)

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\partial \Omega \cap B^N(0; R_k)} \nu_i(z) |\nabla u|^2 ds = 0 \quad for \ each \ 1 \le i \le N,$$

where  $\nu(z) = (\nu_1(z), \nu_2(z), \dots, \nu_N(z))$  is the outward unit normal vector at z.

*Proof.* (i) See Esteban-Lions [33, Proposition I.1].

(*ii*) Let  $B_R = B^N(0; R)$ . Then we multiply (10.1) by  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial z_i}$  and use integration by parts over  $\Omega \cap B_R$  to obtain

$$\int_{\Omega \cap B_R} (-\Delta u) \frac{\partial u}{\partial z_i} = \int_{\Omega \cap B_R} f(u) \frac{\partial u}{\partial z_i} = \int_{\Omega \cap B_R} \frac{\partial F(u)}{\partial z_i}$$
$$= \int_{\partial (\Omega \cap B_R)} F(u) \nu_i ds$$
$$= \int_{\Omega \cap \partial B_R} F(u) \frac{z_i}{|z|} ds.$$

Note that  $\nabla u = \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} \nu$  on  $\partial \Omega$  and  $\nu = \frac{z}{|z|}$  on  $\partial B_R$ . We use the Green first identity and integrate by parts to obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega \cap B_R} (-\Delta u) \frac{\partial u}{\partial z_i} &= \int_{\Omega \cap B_R} \nabla u \nabla (\frac{\partial u}{\partial z_i}) - \int_{\partial (\Omega \cap B_R)} \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial u}{\partial z_i} ds \\ &= \sum j = 1^N \int_{\Omega \cap B_R} \frac{\partial u}{\partial z_j} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z_i \partial z_j} - \int_{\partial (\Omega \cap B_R)} \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial u}{\partial z_i} ds \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \sum j = 1^N \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega \cap B_R} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i} (\frac{\partial u}{\partial z_j})^2 - \int_{\partial(\Omega \cap B_R)} \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial u}{\partial z_i} ds \\ &= \sum j = 1^N \frac{1}{2} \int_{\partial(\Omega \cap B_R)} (\frac{\partial u}{\partial z_j})^2 \nu_i ds - \int_{\partial(\Omega \cap B_R)} \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial u}{\partial z_i} ds \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\partial\Omega \cap B_R} |\nabla u|^2 \nu_i ds + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega \cap \partial B_R} |\nabla u|^2 \frac{z_i}{|z|} ds \\ &- \int_{\partial\Omega \cap B_R} (\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu})^2 \nu_i ds - \int_{\Omega \cap \partial B_R} \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial u}{\partial z_i} ds \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\partial\Omega \cap B_R} |\nabla u|^2 \nu_i ds + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega \cap \partial B_R} |\nabla u|^2 \frac{z_i}{|z|} ds \\ &- \int_{\Omega \cap \partial B_R} \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial u}{\partial z_i} ds. \end{split}$$

Thus, we have

$$\begin{split} \left| -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\partial\Omega\cap B_R} |\nabla u|^2 \nu_i ds \right| &= \left| \int_{\Omega\cap\partial B_R} \left[ F(u) \frac{z_i}{|z|} - \frac{1}{2} |\nabla u|^2 \frac{z_i}{|z|} + \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} \frac{\partial u}{\partial z_i} \right] ds \right| \\ &\leq \int_{\Omega\cap\partial B_R} \left( |F(u)| + \frac{1}{2} |\nabla u|^2 + |\nabla u|^2 \right) ds. \end{split}$$

Since  $F(u) \in L^1(\Omega)$  and  $\nabla u \in L^2(\Omega)$ ,

$$\begin{split} \infty &> \int_{\Omega} (|F(u)| + \frac{3}{2} |\nabla u|^2) dz = \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{\Omega \cap B_R} (|F(u)| + \frac{3}{2} |\nabla u|^2) dz \\ &= \int_0^\infty r^{N-1} \Big[ \int_{\Omega \cap \partial B_r} (|F(u)| + \frac{3}{2} |\nabla u|^2) ds \Big] dr \\ &= \int_0^\infty r^{N-1} M(r) dr, \end{split}$$

where  $M(r) = \int_{\Omega \cap \partial B_r} (|F(u)| + \frac{3}{2} |\nabla u|^2) ds$ . Suppose that for every sequence  $R_k \to \infty$  we have  $M(R_k) \neq 0$  as  $k \to \infty$ , that is, a subsequence  $\{R_k\}$  and c > 0 exist such that  $M(R_k) \to c$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Then for sufficiently large k we obtain  $M(R_k) \geq \frac{c}{2} > 0$ . Thus,

$$\int_0^\infty r^{N-1} M(r) dr \ge \frac{c}{2} \int_k^\infty r^{N-1} dr = \infty.$$

This is a contradiction. We conclude that  $R_k \to \infty$  exists such that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\Omega \cap \partial B_{R_k}} (|F(u)| + \frac{3}{2} |\nabla u|^2) ds = 0,$$

that is,

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\Omega \cap \partial B_{R_k}} |\nabla u|^2 \nu_i ds = 0 \quad \text{for } 1 \le i \le N.$$

**Lemma 10.5.** Let  $Lu = a^{ij}(z)D_{ij}u + b^i(z)D_iu + c(z)u$  and  $u \in W^{2,p}_{loc}(\Omega)$  be a solution of the elliptic equation Lu = f in a domain  $\Omega$ , where the coefficients of L belong to  $C^{k-1,\alpha}(\Omega)$ ,  $f \in C^{k-1,\alpha}(\Omega)$  with  $1 , <math>k \ge 1$ ,  $0 < \alpha < 1$ . Then  $u \in C^{k+1,\alpha}(\Omega)$ .

The proof of the lemma above can be found in Gilbarg-Trudinger [36, Theorem 9.19].

**Theorem 10.6.** Let  $\Omega$  be an Esteban-Lions domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  with  $\chi$  as in Definition 2.6, and let f be a locally Lipschitz-continuous functional on  $\mathbb{R}$  with f(0) = 0. If  $u \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$  is a solution of

$$-\triangle u = f(u) \quad in \ \Omega;$$
$$u = 0 \quad on \ \partial\Omega.$$

and satisfies  $\nabla u \in L^2(\Omega), \ F(u) \in L^1(\Omega)$  (with  $F(t) = \int_0^t f(s) ds$ ), then  $u \equiv 0$  in  $\Omega$ .

*Proof.* By Lemma 10.4 (*ii*), a sequence  $R_k \to \infty$  as  $k \to \infty$  exists such that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\partial \Omega \cap B^N(0;R_k)} (\nu(z) \cdot \chi) |\nabla u|^2 ds = 0.$$

This immediately yields  $(\nu(z) \cdot \chi) |\nabla u| = 0$  on  $\partial \Omega$ . Since  $\Omega$  is an Esteban-Lions domain, then  $z_0 \in \partial \Omega$  exists such that  $\nu(z_0) \cdot \chi > 0$ . Thus,  $\delta > 0$  exists such that  $\nu(z) \cdot \chi > 0$  for  $z \in \partial \Omega \cap B^N(z_0; \delta)$ . Then we have  $\nabla u = 0$  on  $\partial \Omega \cap B^N(z_0; \delta)$ . Let

$$\widetilde{u}(z) = \begin{cases} u(z) & \text{for } z \in \overline{\Omega}; \\ 0 & \text{for } z \in B^N(z_0; \delta) \backslash \overline{\Omega}. \end{cases}$$



FIGURE 7. Esteban-Lions domain with a small ball.

We claim that  $\widetilde{u}$  is twice weakly differentiable. Since  $u \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$  and u = 0 on  $\partial\Omega$ , for each  $\varphi \in C_c^1(\Omega \cup B^N(z_0; \delta))$ , we have

$$\int_{\Omega \cup B^{N}(z_{0};\delta)} \widetilde{u} \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial z_{i}} = \int_{\Omega} u \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial z_{i}}$$
$$= -\int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial u}{\partial z_{i}} \varphi + \int_{\partial \Omega} u \varphi \nu_{i} ds$$
$$= -\int_{\Omega \cup B^{N}(z_{0};\delta)} v_{i} \varphi,$$

where

$$v_i(z) = \begin{cases} \frac{\partial u}{\partial z_i} & \text{for } z \in \Omega; \\ 0 & \text{for } z \in B^N(z_0; \delta) \backslash \Omega. \end{cases}$$

Thus,  $v_i = \frac{\partial \tilde{u}}{\partial z_i}$ . Similarly, we have  $w_{ij} = \frac{\partial^2 \tilde{u}}{\partial z_i \partial z_j}$ , where

$$w_{ij}(z) = \begin{cases} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z_i \partial z_j} & \text{for } z \in \Omega; \\ 0 & \text{for } z \in B^N(z_0; \delta) \backslash \Omega. \end{cases}$$

Therefore,  $\widetilde{u} \in W^{2,2}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ . Next, since  $u \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$  and by the Green first identity, for each  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega \cup B^N(z_0; \delta))$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega \cup B^{N}(z_{0};\delta)} \nabla \widetilde{u} \nabla \varphi &= \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \nabla \varphi \\ &= -\int_{\Omega} (\triangle u) \varphi + \int_{\partial \Omega} \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} \varphi ds \\ &= \int_{\Omega} f(u) \varphi + \int_{\partial \Omega \cap B^{N}(z_{0};\delta)} \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} \varphi ds + \int_{\partial \Omega \setminus B^{N}(z_{0};\delta)} \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} \varphi ds \\ &= \int_{\Omega \cup B^{N}(z_{0};\delta)} f(\widetilde{u}) \varphi. \end{split}$$

Hence,  $\tilde{u}$  is a weak solution of

$$-\Delta \widetilde{u} = f(\widetilde{u}) \quad \text{in } \Omega \cup B^N(z_0; \delta);$$
  
$$\widetilde{u} = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial(\Omega \cup B^N(z_0; \delta)).$$

We claim that  $f \circ \tilde{u}$  is locally Hölder continuous with exponent  $\alpha$  in  $\Omega \cup B^N(z_0; \delta)$ , where  $0 < \alpha < 1$ . That is, for each compact set  $K \subset \Omega \cup B^N(z_0; \delta)$ , we must show that a constant C(K) > 0 exists such that

$$|f \circ \widetilde{u}(z) - f \circ \widetilde{u}(\overline{z})| \le C(K)|z - \overline{z}|^{\alpha}$$
(10.2)

for all  $z, \overline{z} \in K$ . Since f is locally Lipschitz with f(0) = 0, and  $u \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ , for  $z, \overline{z} \in K$ , we have

(i) (10.2) holds for  $z, \overline{z} \in \{B^N(z_0; \delta) \setminus \Omega\} \cap K$ ;

(*ii*) if  $z \in \Omega$  and  $\overline{z} \in \{B^N(z_0; \delta) \setminus \Omega\} \cap K$ , then  $\widehat{z} \in \partial \Omega$  exists such that  $|z - \widehat{z}| \le |z - \overline{z}|$ . Thus,

$$\begin{split} |f \circ \widetilde{u}(z) - f \circ \widetilde{u}(\overline{z})| &\leq |f \circ \widetilde{u}(z) - f \circ \widetilde{u}(\widehat{z})| + |f \circ \widetilde{u}(\widehat{z}) - f \circ \widetilde{u}(\overline{z})| \\ &\leq C_1(K) |\widetilde{u}(z) - \widetilde{u}(\widehat{z})| \\ &\leq C_2(K) |z - \widehat{z}| \leq C_2(K) |z - \overline{z}| \\ &\leq C_2(K) |z - \overline{z}|^{1-\alpha} |z - \overline{z}|^{\alpha} \\ &\leq C_3(K) |z - \overline{z}|^{\alpha}; \end{split}$$

(*iii*) it is clear that both z and  $\overline{z}$  are in  $\Omega \cap K$ .

By Lemma 10.5, we have  $\tilde{u} \in C^2(\Omega \cup B^N(z_0; \delta))$ . Finally, since f is locally Lipschitz and f(0) = 0, then  $(\bigtriangleup \tilde{u})^2 = |f(\tilde{u})|^2 \leq C(K)(\tilde{u}(z))^2$  on each compact subset K of  $\Omega \cup B^N(z_0; \delta)$ . By Theorem 10.3,  $\tilde{u} \equiv 0$  on K, and  $\tilde{u} \equiv 0$  on  $\Omega \cup B^N(z_0; \delta)$ . Otherwise, if there is a  $z \in \Omega$  such that  $\tilde{u}(z) \neq 0$ , then a bounded domain  $\Omega_1$  exists such that  $z \in \Omega_1 \subset \overline{\Omega}_1 \subset \Omega \cup B^N(z_0; \delta)$ , and by the previous argument,  $\tilde{u} \equiv 0$  on  $\overline{\Omega}_1$ , which is a contradiction. Hence,  $u \equiv 0$ .

Esteban-Lions [33, Theorem I.1] proved the following result.

**Theorem 10.7.** Equation (1.1) in an Esteban-Lions domain  $\Omega$  does not admit any nontrivial solution. In particular, an Esteban-Lions domain is a nonachieved domain.

We have the following lemma.

**Lemma 10.8.** (i) Esteban-Lions domains are invariant under any rigid motions; (ii) If  $\Omega$  is an Esteban-Lions domain, then  $\overline{\Omega}^c$  is also an Esteban-Lions domain.

*Proof.* (i) Clearly.

(*ii*) Note that 
$$n(x) \cdot \chi = -n(x) \cdot -\chi$$
.

In fact, in a star-shaped domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ , there is a fixed point  $z_0 \in \Omega$  such that the segment  $\overline{zz_0}$  is contained in  $\Omega$  for each  $z \in \Omega$ . We assert that an Esteban-Lions domain  $\Omega$  is an infinite star-shaped domain in the sense that it is v-convex for some direction v: if  $z_1, z_2 \in \Omega$  with  $z_1 - z_2 = tv$  for some  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , then the segment  $\overline{z_1 z_2}$  is contained in  $\Omega$ . This is a consequence of the following lemma.

**Lemma 10.9.** An Esteban-Lions domain  $\Omega$  with  $\chi$  as in Definition 2.6 in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  is  $\chi$ -convex.

*Proof.* Let  $\Omega$  be an Esteban-Lions domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . Without loss of generality, we may assume that  $\chi = (0, \ldots, 0, -1) \in \mathbb{R}^N$  satisfying  $n(z) \cdot \chi \ge 0$ , and  $n(z) \cdot \chi \ne 0$  for each  $z \in \partial \Omega$ . For each  $z_1 \in \Omega$ , we claim that  $\{z_1 - \lambda \chi | \lambda \ge 0\} \subset \Omega$ . Otherwise, set  $\lambda_0 = \inf\{\lambda \ge 0 | z_1 - \lambda \chi \notin \Omega\}$ . Then  $\lambda_0 > 0$  and the point  $z_0 = z_1 - \lambda_0 \chi \in \partial \Omega$ . There are only two possibilities:

(i) the curve  $\partial\Omega$  is transverse with the  $x_N$ -axis at  $z_0$ , and then  $n(z_0) \cdot \chi < 0$ ; (ii) the curve  $\partial\Omega$  is tangent with the  $x_N$ -axis at  $z_0$ , and then  $z \in \partial\Omega$  near  $z_0$  exists such that  $n(z) \cdot \chi < 0$ .

Both (i) and (ii) contradict the definition of  $\chi$ . We conclude that an Esteban-Lions domain  $\Omega$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  is  $\chi$ -convex.

In  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , let an upper semi-strip  $\Omega_1$ , a first quadrant  $\Omega_2$ , a second quadrant  $\Omega_3$ , and an upper half plane  $\Omega_4$  be defined as follows:

$$\Omega_1 = \{ z = (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : a < x < b, f_1(x) < y \}; 
\Omega_2 = \{ z = (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : a < x < \infty, f_2(x) < y \}; 
\Omega_3 = \{ z = (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : -\infty < x < b, f_3(x) < y \}; 
\Omega_4 = \{ z = (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : -\infty < x < \infty, f_4(x) < y \},$$

where  $f_1: (a, b) \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $f_2: (a, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $f_3: (-\infty, b) \to \mathbb{R}$ , and  $f_4: (-\infty, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ are smooth functions with single values.



FIGURE 8. Esteban-Lions domains 1.

As a consequence of Lemma 10.9, we have the following two lemmas.



HWAI-CHIUAN WANG

FIGURE 9. Esteban-Lions domains 2.

**Lemma 10.10.** An Esteban-Lions domain in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  must be one of the following types: an upper half strip  $\Omega_1$ , a first quadrant  $\Omega_2$ , a second quadrant  $\Omega_3$ , or an upper half plane  $\Omega_4$ .

**Lemma 10.11.** An Esteban-Lions domain  $\Omega$  with  $\chi$  as in Definition 2.6 in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  is a large domain if and only if the projection  $\tilde{\Omega}$  of  $\Omega$  in the hyperplane  $\mathbb{R}^{N-1}$  that is perpendicular to  $\chi$ , is a large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^{N-1}$ .

Proof. Suppose that  $\Omega$  is a large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . Then for r > 0,  $x \in \Omega$  exists such that  $B^N(x,r) \subset \Omega$  which implies  $\tilde{B}^N(x,r) \subset \tilde{\Omega}$ , where  $\tilde{B}^N(x,r)$  and  $\tilde{\Omega}$  are the projections of  $B^N(x,r)$  and  $\Omega$ , respectively. On the other hand, suppose  $\tilde{\Omega}$  is a large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^{N-1}$ . Then for r > 0,  $x \in \Omega$  exists such that  $\tilde{B}^N(x,r) \subset \tilde{\Omega}$ , which means that for any  $\tilde{y} \in \tilde{B}^N(x,r)$ ,  $y \in \Omega$  exists and  $\tilde{y}$  is the projection of y. By Lemma 10.9,  $\lambda > 0$  exists such that  $\{\tilde{y} - \chi t : t \geq \lambda\} \subset \Omega$ . Let

$$\bar{\lambda} = \inf \tilde{y} \in \tilde{B}^N(x, r) \{ \lambda > 0 : \tilde{y} - \chi t \in \Omega \quad \text{for } t \ge \lambda \},\$$

then  $B^N(z,r) \subset \Omega$ , where  $z = \tilde{x} - (r+1+\bar{\lambda})\chi$ . Thus,  $\Omega$  is a large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ .

In  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , there is an Esteban-Lions domain that is not a large domain.

**Example 10.12.** Let  $\Omega$  be a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  such that  $\Omega$  contains the point (0,0,1) with the boundary

 $\partial \Omega = \{ ((u+2)\cos v, \quad \sin v, \quad u) \in \mathbb{R}^3 \mid 0 \le v \le 2\pi, \quad u \ge 0 \}.$ 

Then  $\Omega$  is an Esteban-Lions domain in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with  $\chi = (0, 0, -1)$ , but it is not a large domain in either  $\mathbb{R}^3$  or  $\mathbf{A}^r$ .



FIGURE 10. Esteban-Lion domain but not a large domain.

*Proof.* Let  $p(u, v) = ((u+2)\cos v, \sin v, u)$ . Then

$$p_v = (-(u+2)\sin v, \cos v, 0)$$

and  $p_u = (\cos v, 0, 1)$ . For  $x \in \partial \Omega$ , we have the outer normal vector  $n(x) = p_v \times p_u = (\cos v, (u+2) \sin v, -\cos^2 v)$ , and  $\chi \cdot n(x) = \cos^2 v \ge 0$ . Therefore, we have  $\chi \cdot n(x) \ge 0$ . Clearly,  $B(x; 2) \not\subseteq \Omega$  for any  $x \in \Omega$ , and thus,  $\Omega$  is not a large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ .

Let  $\mathbf{F}_s^r = \mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0; s)$  be an interior flask domains. Interior flask domains are achieved for large s, but are nonachieved for small s. By Theorem 12.7 below, we have the following result.

**Theorem 10.13.**  $s_0 > 0$  exists such that the interior flask domains  $\mathbf{F}_s^r$  nonachieved if  $s < s_0$ .

**Bibliographical notes:** Theorem 10.6 is from Esteban-Lions [33].

# 11. Higher Energy Solutions

Nonachieved domains may admit higher energy solutions. The Berestycki conjecture states: there is a positive solution of Equation (1.1) in an Esteban-Lions domain with a hole. We answer this conjecture affirmatively.

The Berestycki conjecture is based on some historical and physical reasons: suppose that no solution of an equation exists in a domain  $\Theta$ . If we break the symmetry of the domain  $\Theta$  by adding a ball to it or by removing a ball, then the same equation in the perturbed domain admits a solution.

(i) Pohozaev [61] proved that the Dirichlet problem  $\Delta u + u^{\frac{N+2}{N-2}} = 0$  in a ball does not have any nontrivial solution. However, if we remove a small ball, then Coron [28] proved that there is a positive solution.

(*ii*) Some turbulence equations in a ball do not admit any nontrivial solutions. Lions-Zuazua [48] added a small ball on the boundary to break the symmetry, and proved that the equation then has a nontrivial solution. One description of the phenomenon is that if we add a small bump to the surface of a plane, then the turbulence will be controlled.

We assert the existence of higher energy solutions of Equation (1.1) in  $\Omega$ , thus answering the Berestycki conjecture affirmatively. Then we study the dynamic systems of solutions.

Our results in this paper are still true for any one of the above known four Esteban-Lions domains. For simplicity, however, we study only the upper half strip with a hole  $\Omega$ . We also believe that the analyses and the results in this paper will be helpful for studying the existence of solutions of equations in unbounded domains.

11.1. Existence Results. For h > r and  $\mathbf{B} = B^N((0,h); r/2)$ , let  $\Omega = \Omega_h = (\mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0;r)) \setminus \overline{\mathbf{B}}$  be the upper half strip with a hole. By Theorem 10.1, there are no ground state solutions of Equation (1.1) in  $\Omega$ . However, in this section, we prove that a positive higher energy solution of Equation (1.1) exists in  $\Omega$ .

Let  $\overline{u}$  be a ground state solution of Equation (1.1) in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ ,  $h = (0, h) \in \mathbf{A}^r$  and  $\phi : \mathbf{A}^r \to [0, 1]$ , a  $C^{\infty}$  cut-off function such that  $0 \le \phi \le 1$  and

$$\phi(z) = \begin{cases} 0 & textfor z \in \mathbf{B} \cup (\mathbf{A}^r \setminus (\mathbf{A}^r_0 \cup B^N(0; r))), \\ 1 & \text{for } z \in (\mathbf{A}^r_0 \cup B^N(0; r)) \setminus (B^N(0; \frac{2}{3}r) \\ & \cup \{z = (x, y) \in \mathbf{A}^r | y \le r\}), \end{cases}$$

$$I = \{0\} \times \left[-\frac{r}{2}, \frac{r}{2}\right], \quad I_h = \overline{h} + I,$$
$$v_t(z) = \phi(z)\overline{u}(z - t - 2\overline{h}) \quad \text{for } z \in \mathbf{A}^r, \quad t \in I.$$

Then  $v_t \in H^1_0(\Omega)$ . Furthermore, we have the following lemma.

**Lemma 11.1.** For  $t \in I$  or  $\overline{t} \in I_h$ , where  $\overline{t} = \overline{h} + t$ , then (i)  $\|v_t(z) - \overline{u}(z - t - 2\overline{h})\|_{L^p(\mathbf{A}^r)} = o(1)$  as  $h \to \infty$ ; (ii)  $\|v_t(z) - \overline{u}(z - t - 2\overline{h})\|_{H^1(\mathbf{A}^r)} = o(1)$  as  $h \to \infty$ ; (iii)  $J(v_t) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) + o(1)$  as  $h \to \infty$ .

Proof. (i)

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_t(z) - \bar{u}(z - t - 2\bar{h})\|_{L^p(\mathbf{A}^r)}^p &= \int_{\mathbf{A}^r} |\phi(z) - 1|^p |\bar{u}(z - t - 2\bar{h})|^p \\ &\leq \int_{(\mathbf{A}^r_{h+r})^c} |\bar{u}(z - t - 2\bar{h})|^p \\ &= o(1) \quad \text{as } h \to \infty. \end{aligned}$$

(*ii*) We have

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_t(z) - \bar{u}(z - t - 2\bar{h})\|_{H^1(\mathbf{A}^r)}^2 \\ &= \|(\phi(z) - 1)\bar{u}(z - t - 2\bar{h})\|_{H^1(\mathbf{A}^r)}^2 \\ &\leq c(\frac{1}{r^2} + 1) \int_{(\mathbf{A}^r_{h+r})^c} (|\nabla \bar{u}(z - t - 2\bar{h})|^2 + |\bar{u}(z - t - 2\bar{h})|^2) \\ &= o(1) \quad \text{as } h \to \infty. \end{aligned}$$

(iii) This follows from (i), (ii), Theorem 12.5, and

$$\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) = J(\overline{u}) = \frac{1}{2}a(\overline{u}) - \frac{1}{p}b(\overline{u}) = \frac{1}{2}a(v_t) - \frac{1}{p}b(v_t) + o(1) = J(v_t) + o(1).$$

From Lemma 11.1, since  $\|\overline{u}\|_{H^1(\mathbf{A}^r)}^2 = \|\overline{u}\|_{L^p(\mathbf{A}^r)}^p$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_t\|_{H^1(\mathbf{A}^r)}^2 &= \|\overline{u}\|_{H^1(\mathbf{A}^r)}^2 + o(1) \quad \text{as } h \to \infty, \\ \|v_t\|_{L^p(\mathbf{A}^r)}^p &= \|\overline{u}\|_{L^p(\mathbf{A}^r)}^p + o(1) \quad \text{as } h \to \infty. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore,  $\|v_t\|_{H^1(\mathbf{A}^r)}^2 = \|v_t\|_{L^p(\mathbf{A}^r)}^p + o(1)$  as  $h \to \infty$ . By Lemma 4.2, there exists  $\lambda_t > 0$  such that  $u_t = \lambda_t v_t$  in  $\mathbf{M}$ :  $\|u_t\|_{H^1(\mathbf{A}^r)}^2 = \|u_t\|_{L^p(\mathbf{A}^r)}^p$ . Therefore,  $\lambda_t \to 1$  as  $h \to \infty$ , or  $J(u_t) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) + o(1)$  as  $h \to \infty$ .

For  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ , define the center of mass function by

$$j(u) = \|u\|_{L^{p}(\mathbf{A}^{r})}^{-p} \int_{\mathbf{A}^{r}} (\overline{h} + \frac{r}{2} \frac{z}{|z|}) |u(x,y)|^{p} dx dy.$$

Let

$$\beta_0 = \inf\{J(u) : u \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega), u \ge 0, j(u) = \overline{h}\}.$$

**Proposition 11.2.**  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) = \alpha(\Omega) < \beta_0$ .

96

EJDE-2004/MON. 06

*Proof.* By Theorem 10.1,  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) = \alpha(\Omega)$ . Clearly  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) \leq \beta_0$ . Suppose  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) = \beta_0$ . By Theorem 4.4, there is a sequence  $\{u_k\}$  in  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$ ,  $u_k \geq 0$ ,  $j(u_k) = \overline{h}$  for each k, such that

$$J(u_k) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) + o(1) \quad \text{as } k \to \infty,$$
  
$$J'(u_k) = o(1) \quad \text{strongly} \quad \text{in } H^{-1}(\Omega) \quad \text{as } k \to \infty.$$

By Theorem 3.5, there is an unbounded sequence  $\{(0, y_k)\}$  in  $\mathbf{A}^r$  such that

 $u_k(x,y) = \overline{u}(x,y-y_k) + o(1)$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ ,

where  $\overline{u}$  is a ground state solution of Equation (1.1) in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ . Assume  $(\overline{h} + \frac{r}{2} \frac{(0, y_k)}{|(0, y_k)|}) = \varsigma + o(1)$  as  $k \to \infty$ , where  $\varsigma \in \partial I_h$ . Then by the Lebesgue Dominated Convergence Theorem, we have

$$\begin{split} \overline{h} &= j(u_k) = \|u_k\|_{L^p(\mathbf{A}^r)}^{-p} \int_{\mathbf{A}^r} (\overline{h} + \frac{r}{2} \frac{z}{|z|}) |u_k(x,y)|^p dxdy \\ &= \|\overline{u}\|_{L^p(\mathbf{A}^r)}^{-p} \int_{\mathbf{A}^r} (\overline{h} + \frac{r}{2} \frac{(x,y+y_k)}{|(x,y+y_k)|}) |\overline{u}(x,y)|^p dxdy + o(1) \\ &= \varsigma + o(1) \quad \text{as } k \to \infty, \end{split}$$

which is a contradiction. Therefore  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) = \alpha(\Omega) < \beta_0$ .

Let

$$V = \{ u \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega) : u \ge 0 \};$$
  

$$\Gamma = \{ k : I_h \to V \text{ continuous} : k(\overline{t}) = u_t \text{ for } t \in \partial I \};$$
  

$$\beta_1 = \inf_{k \in \Gamma} \max_{\overline{t} \in I_h} J(k(\overline{t})).$$

**Proposition 11.3.** There is an  $h_0 > 0$  such that for  $h \ge h_0$ , (i)  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) < J(u_t) < \frac{\beta_0 + \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)}{2} < \beta_0$ , for  $t \in I$ ; (ii)  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) < J(u_t) < 2^{\frac{p-2}{p}} \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ , for  $t \in I$ ; (iii)  $(j \circ u_t, \overline{t}) > 0$ , for  $t \in \partial I$ .

*Proof.* (i) and (ii) follow from Theorem 10.1, Proposition 11.2, and Lemma 11.1. (iii)  $c_1, c_2 > 0$  exist such that  $c_1 \leq \|\phi(z)\bar{u}(z-t-2\bar{h})\|_{L^p(\mathbf{A}^r)} \leq c_2$ . For  $t \in \partial I$  with  $z + t + 2\bar{h} \neq 0$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} (\frac{z+t+2\overline{h}}{|z+t+2\overline{h}|},t) &= |z+t+2\overline{h}| - \frac{1}{|z+t+2\overline{h}|}(z+t+2\overline{h},z+2\overline{h}) \\ &\geq |z+t+2\overline{h}| - |z+2\overline{h}| \geq |t| - 2|z+2\overline{h}| = \frac{r}{2} - 2|z+2\overline{h}|. \end{aligned}$$

Then there are constants  $c_3$ ,  $c_4$ ,  $c_5$ ,  $c_6$ ,  $h_0 > 0$  such that for  $h \ge h_0$ 

$$\begin{split} (j(u_t), \overline{h} + t) &= \|u_t(z)\|_{L^p(\mathbf{A}^r)}^{-p} \int_{\mathbf{A}^r} (\overline{h} + \frac{r}{2} \frac{z}{|z|}, \overline{h} + t) |u_t(z)|^p dz \\ &= c_3 \int_{\mathbf{A}^r} (\overline{h} + \frac{r}{2} \frac{z}{|z|}, \overline{h} + t) |\phi(z) \overline{u}(z - t - 2\overline{h})|^p dz \\ &= c_3 \int_{\mathbf{A}^r} (\overline{h} + \frac{r}{2} \frac{z + t + 2\overline{h}}{|z + t + 2\overline{h}|}, \overline{h} + t) |\phi(z + t + 2\overline{h}) \overline{u}(z)|^p dz \\ &\geq c_3 (h^2 c_5 - hc_4 c_5 - hc_5 - 2c_6 - 4hc_5) > 0 \quad \text{since } h \ge h_0, \end{split}$$

where  $\int_{\mathbf{A}^r} |\phi(z+t+2\overline{h})\overline{u}(z)|^p dz \ge c_5$  and  $\int_{\mathbf{A}^r} |z| |\phi(z+t+2\overline{h})\overline{u}(z)|^p dz \ge c_6$ . By Theorem 8.13,  $c_4 < \infty$ .

**Proposition 11.4.** For  $h \ge h_0$ , we have  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) < \beta_0 = \beta_1 < 2^{\frac{p-2}{p}} \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ .

*Proof.* We claim that: (i)  $\beta_0 = \beta_1$ : for any  $k \in \Gamma$ , consider the homotopy  $H(\lambda, \bar{t})$ :  $[0,1] \times I_h \to \mathbb{R}^N$  defined by

$$H(\lambda, \bar{t}) = (1 - \lambda)j(k(\bar{t})) + \lambda i(\bar{t}),$$

where *i* denotes the identity map. Note that  $j(k(\bar{t})) = j(u_t)$  for  $\bar{t} \in \partial I_h$ . By Proposition 11.3 (*iii*),  $H(\lambda, \bar{t}) \neq \bar{h}$  for  $\bar{t} \in \partial I_h$  and  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ . Therefore

$$\deg(j \circ k, I_h, \overline{h}) = \deg(i, I_h, \overline{h}) = 1.$$

 $t_0 \in I_h$  exists such that

$$j(k(t_0)) = \overline{h}.$$

Hence, for each  $k \in \Gamma$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \beta_0 &= \inf\{J(u) : u \in \mathbf{M}, \quad u \ge 0, \quad j(u) = \overline{h}\} \\ &\leq J(k(t_0)) \\ &\leq \max_{\overline{t} \in L} J(k(\overline{t})). \end{aligned}$$

We have  $\beta_0 \leq \beta_1$ . On the other hand, by Proposition 11.3 (i), for  $t \in I$ , we have  $u_t \in V$  and  $J(u_t) < \beta_0$ . Thus,  $\max_{t \in I} J(u_t) \leq \beta_0$ , or  $\beta_1 \leq \beta_0$ . (ii)  $\beta_1 < 2^{\frac{p-2}{p}} \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$  by Proposition 11.3 (ii),  $J(u_t) < 2^{\frac{p-2}{p}} \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for  $t \in I$ . Thus

$$\max_{t\in I} J(u_t) < 2^{\frac{p-2}{p}} \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r).$$

We have  $\beta_1 < 2^{\frac{p-2}{p}} \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . By Proposition 11.3 (*i*), we have

$$\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) < \beta_0 = \beta_1 < 2^{\frac{p-2}{p}} \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r).$$

Now we assert that there is a higher energy solution of Equation (1.1) in  $\Omega$ .

**Theorem 11.5.** Suppose that the positive solution of Equation (1.1) in the infinite strip  $\mathbf{A}^r$  is unique up to y-translations.  $h_0 > 0$  exists such that if  $h \ge h_0$ , then there is a positive higher energy solution v of Equation (1.1) in the upper half strip with a hole  $\Omega$  such that  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) < J(v) < 2^{\frac{p-2}{p}} \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ .

Proof. Note that  $\beta_0 = \inf\{J(u) : u \in \mathbf{M}, u \ge 0, j(u) = \overline{h}\}$ . Take a minimizing sequence  $\{u_k\}$  in  $\mathbf{M}: J(u_k) \to \beta_0$  as  $k \to \infty$ . By Theorem 4.4,  $\{u_k\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\beta_0}$ -sequence for  $J: J(u_k) \to \beta_0$  and  $J'(u_k) \to 0$  as  $k \to \infty$ . By Theorem 3.5, an integer  $\ell \ge 0$ , and sequences  $\{z_k^i\}$ , where  $z_k^i = (0, y_k^i) \in \mathbf{A}^r$  for  $1 \le i \le \ell$  exist, such that for some subsequence  $\{u_k\}$ , there are  $u^0 \in H_0^1(\Omega), u^0 \ge 0$  in  $\Omega, u^i \in H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ , and  $u^i > 0$  in  $\mathbf{A}^r, 1 \le i \le \ell$ , satisfying

$$u_{k}(z) = u^{0}(z) + [u^{1}(z - z_{k}^{1}) + u^{2}(z - z_{k}^{2}) + \dots + u^{\ell}(z - z_{k}^{\ell})] + o(1) \text{ strongly in}H_{0}^{1}(\mathbf{A}^{r}) - \Delta u^{0} + u^{0} = (u^{0})^{p-1} \text{ in }\Omega, - \Delta u^{i} + u^{i} = (u^{i})^{p-1} \text{ in } \mathbf{A}^{r}, \ 1 \le i \le \ell,$$

$$J(u_k) = J(u^0) + \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} J(u^i) + o(1) \text{ as } k \to \infty.$$

Suppose that the solution of (1.1) in the infinite strip  $\mathbf{A}^r$  is unique up to y-translations. From Theorems 3.5 and 9.4, we find that  $u^i$  are the same and  $J(u^i) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for i = 1, 2, ..., l. Therefore

$$\beta_0 = J(u^0) + l\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r).$$

Since  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) < \beta_0 < 2^{\frac{p-2}{p}} \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . We conclude that  $u^0$  is nonzero and l = 0. Thus, there is a positive higher energy solution  $v = u^0$  of Equation (1.1) in the upper half strip with a hole  $\Omega$  such that  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) < J(v) = \beta_0 < 2^{\frac{p-2}{p}} \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ .

11.2. Dynamic Systems of Solutions. As in Subsection 1, for k = 1, 2, ..., define  $\Omega_k = (\mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0; r)) \setminus \overline{B^N((0, h); \frac{1}{k})}$ , where  $h \ge 2h_0, \frac{1}{k} < r$ . Then  $\Omega_k$  is an increasing sequence such that

$$(\mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0;r)) \setminus \{0\} = \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} \Omega_k$$

By Theorem 11.5, we have, for each k, a positive solution  $u_k \in H_0^1(\Omega_k)$  of  $-\Delta u_k + u_k = u_k^{p-1}$  in  $\Omega_k$  satisfying

$$\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) < J(u_k) < 2^{\frac{p-2}{p}} \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r).$$

**Lemma 11.6.** If  $u_k \rightharpoonup u$  weakly in  $H^1_0((\mathbf{A}^r_0 \cup B^N(0; r)))$  as  $k \rightarrow \infty$ , then  $u \equiv 0$ .

*Proof.* For  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}((\mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0; r)))$ , we have

$$\int_{(\mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0;r))} u_k(-\Delta \varphi + \varphi) = \int_{(\mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0;r))} (-\Delta u_k + u_k)\varphi$$
$$= \int_{(\mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0;r))} u_k^{p-1}\varphi.$$

Let  $k \to \infty$ , and we obtain

$$\int_{(\mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0;r))} u(-\Delta \varphi + \varphi) = \int_{(\mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0;r))} u^{p-1} \varphi.$$

Thus,  $-\Delta u + u = u^{p-1}$  in  $(\mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0; r))$ . By Theorems 3.5 and 9.4,  $u \equiv 0$ , or  $u_k \rightharpoonup 0$  weakly in  $H_0^1((\mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0; r)))$  as  $k \rightarrow \infty$ .

We have the following dynamic systems of solutions  $\{u_k\}$ :

**Theorem 11.7.**  $|\nabla u_k|^2 dz = c\delta_0 + o(1)$  for some positive number c.

*Proof.* Let  $u_k \rightarrow u$  weakly in  $H_0^1((\mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0; r)))$  as  $k \rightarrow \infty$ ,  $\mu_k = |\nabla u_k|^2 dz = \mu + o(1)$  weak<sup>\*</sup>, and  $\nu_k = |u_k|^p dz = \nu + o(1)$  weak<sup>\*</sup>. Then by the second concentration lemma (see Lions [50, Lemma I.1, p.24]), there exist  $\{a_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}, \{b_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^+$  such that

$$m^{p/(p-2)} + o(1) = \|u_k\|_{H^1(\Omega_k)}^2$$
  
=  $\int_{(\mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0;r))} d\mu_k = \int_{(\mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0;r))} d\mu + o(1)$   
 $\geq \|u\|_{H^1(\Omega_k)}^2 + \sum_j a_j + o(1)$ 

$$\geq m(\|u\|_{L^{p}}^{2} + \sum_{j} b_{j}^{\frac{2}{p}}) + o(1)$$
  
$$\geq m(\|u\|_{L^{p}}^{p} + \sum_{j} b_{j})^{\frac{2}{p}} + o(1)$$
  
$$= m\left(\int_{(\mathbf{A}_{0}^{r} \cup B^{N}(0;r))} d\nu\right)^{2/p} + o(1) = m^{p/(p-2)} + o(1).$$

By Lemma 11.6, u = 0. Thus, only one of the  $a_j$  is different from 0, say  $a_1 = c > 0$ ,  $a_j = 0, \ j = 2, 3, \ldots$ . Thus,  $|\nabla u_k|^2 dz = c \delta_{z_1} + o(1)$ . Clearly,  $z_1 = 0$ .

HWAI-CHIUAN WANG

Similarly, let  $\{w_k\}$  be the solutions of Equation (1.1) in the interior flask domains  $\mathbf{F}_s^r$ , where  $s > s_0$ . Then we have dynamic systems of  $\{w_k\}$  as follows:

**Theorem 11.8.** Let  $\overline{w}$  be a ground state solution of Equation (1.1) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . Then  $w_k \to \overline{w}$  strongly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  as  $k \to \infty$ .

*Proof.* Note that

$$J(w_k) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) + o(1),$$
  
$$J'(w_k) = o(1) \text{ as } k \to \infty$$

By Theorem 3.1, we prove that an integer  $\ell \geq 0$  and sequences  $\{z_k^i\} \subset \mathbb{R}^N$  for  $0 \leq i \leq \ell$  exist such that for some subsequence  $\{w_k\}$ , there are  $w^i \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ,  $w^i > 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  for  $0 \leq i \leq \ell$ , satisfying

$$w_{k}(z) = w^{0}(z) + [w^{1}(z - z_{k}^{1}) + w^{2}(z - z_{k}^{2}) + \dots + w^{\ell}(z - z_{k}^{\ell})] + o(1) \text{ strongly in}H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{N}),$$
  
$$-\Delta w^{i} + w^{i} = (w^{i})^{p-1} \quad textin \mathbb{R}^{N}, \ 0 \le i \le \ell,$$
  
$$J(w_{k}) = \sum_{i=0}^{\ell} J(w^{i}) + o(1) \quad \text{as } k \to \infty.$$

Then, since  $J(w_k) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) + o(1)$ , we conclude that  $w_k(z) = \overline{w}(z) + o(1)$  strongly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

Bibliographical notes: The results of this section are from Wang [71].

## 12. Achieved Domains

In this section we assert that the bounded domains, the quasibounded domains, the periodic domains, some interior flask domains, some flat interior flask domains, some canal domains, and some manger domains are achieved.

We begin with the following lemma.

**Lemma 12.1.**  $\gamma(\Omega)$  is achieved if and only if  $\alpha(\Omega)$  is achieved.

*Proof.* Recall that  $\alpha(\Omega) = (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})\gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{2p}{2-p}}$ . Suppose that there is a  $u \in H^1_0(\Omega)$  such that

$$J(u) = \alpha(\Omega), \ \langle J'(u), u \rangle = a(u) - b(u) = 0.$$

Then we have  $a(u)^{(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2})} = \gamma(\Omega)$ . Let  $v = \frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^1}}$ . Then

$$\|v\|_{L^p} = \frac{b(u)^{1/p}}{a(u)^{1/2}} = a(u)^{\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{2}} = \gamma(\Omega).$$

Thus,  $\gamma(\Omega)$  is achieved by v. On the other hand, let  $\gamma(\Omega)$  be achieved by some function u where  $a(u) = ||u||_{H^1}^2 = 1$  and  $b(u) = ||u||_{L^p}^p = \gamma(\Omega)^p$ . By the Lagrange multiplier theorem there is a  $\lambda$  such that  $b'(u) = \lambda a'(u)$ . It is easy to see that  $\lambda = \frac{p}{2}\gamma(\Omega)^p$ , so we have

$$b'(u) = \frac{p}{2}\gamma(\Omega)^p a'(u).$$

This implies

$$\gamma(\Omega)^{-p}(\int |u|^{p-2}u\varphi) = (\int \nabla u\nabla \varphi + u\varphi).$$

Thus, u is a weak solution of

$$-\Delta u + u = \gamma(\Omega)^{-p} |u|^{p-2} u.$$

 $-\Delta v + v = |v|^{p-2}v.$ 

Let  $v = \gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{p}{2-p}} u$ . Then

We have 
$$a(v) = b(v) = \gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{2p}{2-p}}, \langle J'(v), \varphi \rangle = 0$$
 for each  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , and  

$$J(v) = (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})\gamma(\Omega)^{\frac{2p}{2-p}} = \alpha(\Omega).$$

**Remark 12.2.** Note that if u is a ground state solution for J in  $\Omega$ , then u solves the semilinear elliptic (1.1) and  $J(u) = \alpha(\Omega)$ . By the Kato regularity,  $L^p$ -regularity and Schauder regularity, the ground state solution u of (1.1) is classical.

**Theorem 12.3.** A bounded domain  $\Omega$  is an achieved domain.

For the proof of this theorem follows from Theorem 5.1. An unbounded domain may be achieved.

**Theorem 12.4.**  $A C^1$  quasibounded domain is achieved.

The statement of this theorem follows from Theorem 5.4.

A periodic domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  is achieved. In Theorem 9.1, we proved that if a  $(PS)_{\alpha}$ -sequence for J admits a nonzero weak limit u, then u is a ground state solution for J. However, even though the weak limit is zero we can still obtain a ground state solution for J if the domain is periodic.

**Theorem 12.5.** A periodic domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  is achieved. In particular, there is a ground state solution of Equation (1.1) in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ ,  $\mathbf{A}^{r_1,r_2}$ , and  $\mathbb{R}^N$ .

*Proof.* It suffices to prove the case  $\Omega = \mathbf{A}^r$ . Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a  $(PS)_{\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)}$ -sequence such that

$$J(u_n) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) + o(1), \ J'(u_n) = o(1).$$

By Lemma 2.38, there are a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and a  $u \in H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  such that

$$u_n \rightharpoonup u$$
 weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ .

Suppose that u is nonzero, then by Theorem 5.6, we are done. Suppose that  $u_n \to 0$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . Since  $\alpha(\Omega)$  is positive, we have  $u_n \to 0$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ . By Lemma 2.16, there is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$ , and a constant  $\alpha > 0$  such that for  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$ ,

$$Q_n = \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} \int_{(0,y) + \mathbf{A}_{-2,2}^r} |u_n(z)|^2 dz > \alpha > 0.$$

Take  $\{z_n\}$  in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ , where  $z_n = (0, y_n)$  such that  $\int_{z_n + \mathbf{A}^r_{-2,2}} |u_n(z)|^2 dz \ge \alpha/2$ , and let  $w_n(z) = u_n(z + z_n)$ . Then for  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$ ,

$$\int_{\mathbf{A}_{-2,2}^{r}} |w_{n}(z)|^{2} dz = \int_{z_{n}+\mathbf{A}_{-2,2}^{r}} |u_{n}(z)|^{2} dz \ge \alpha/2$$
$$\|w_{n}\|_{H^{1}(\mathbf{A}^{r})} = \|u_{n}\|_{H^{1}(\mathbf{A}^{r})} \le c,$$

so  $w \in H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  exists such that  $w_n \rightharpoonup w$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . Clearly,  $\{w_n\}$  is a (PS)-sequence in  $H_0^1(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for J. By Theorem 2.31,

$$\int_{\mathbf{A}_{-2,2}^{r}} |w|^{2} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{A}_{-2,2}^{r}} |w_{n}|^{2} \ge \alpha/2,$$

so  $w \neq 0$ . By Theorem 5.6, there is a ground state solution of Equation (1.1) in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ .

Moreover,  $\mathbb{R}$  is an achieved domain: there is a classical solution u of the Equation

$$u'' = u - \gamma(\mathbb{R})^{-1} |u|^{p-2} u.$$
(12.1)

By Berestycki-Lions [13], such a solution is unique. The solution can be constructed as follows by routine computations.

**Theorem 12.6.** With  $\mu = 2/(p-2)$ , we have

$$u(r) = \left(\frac{p\gamma(\mathbb{R})}{2}\right)^{\frac{\mu}{2}} \{\cosh(r/\mu)\}^{-\mu};$$
  
$$\gamma(\mathbb{R}) = \left[\frac{(2\mu+1)\Gamma(2\mu)}{\mu\Gamma(\mu)^2}\right]^{\mu^{-1}} (\frac{\mu}{4})(\mu+1)^{-\frac{p}{2}}$$

to solve Equation (12.1). In particular,  $\mathbb{R}$  is an achieved domain.

Next we present achieved domains from the perturbations of nonachieved domains. By Theorem 10.7, the upper half strip  $\mathbf{A}_0^r$  and the upper half hollow strip  $\mathbf{A}_0^{r_1,r_2}$  are nonachieved. However, the perturbed domains of  $\mathbf{A}_0^r$  and  $\mathbf{A}_0^{r_1,r_2}$  may be achieved. Let  $\mathbf{F}_s^r = \mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0;s)$  be an interior flask domain. Interior flask domains are achieved for large s, but are nonachieved for small s.

**Theorem 12.7.**  $s_0 > 0$  exists such that Equation (1.1) has a ground state solution in  $\mathbf{F}_s^r$  if  $s > s_0$ , but does not have any ground state solution if  $s < s_0$ . In particular, the interior flask domains  $\mathbf{F}_s^r$  are achieved if  $s > s_0$ , while  $\mathbf{F}_s^r$  are nonachieved if  $s < s_0$ .

*Proof.* By Theorem 12.5, the infinite strip  $\mathbf{A}^r$  admits a ground state solution. Then by Theorem 5.7 (*ii*),  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) > \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . By Theorem 4.18 (*ii*), we have  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^r)$  and by Theorem 4.27,  $\lim_{s\to\infty} \alpha(B^N(0;s)) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Take s large enough so that

$$\alpha(B^N(0;s)) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r_0)$$

By Theorem 5.1, there is a ground state solution of Equation (1.1) in  $B^N(0;s)$ . Then by Theorem 5.7 (*ii*), we have

$$\alpha(\mathbf{F}_s^r) < \alpha(B^N(0;s)).$$

We conclude that

$$\alpha(\mathbf{F}_s^r) < \alpha(B^N(0;s)) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^r)$$

# $\alpha(\mathbf{F}_s^r) < \min\{\alpha(B^N(0;s)), \alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^r)\}.$

By the equivalence of (i) and (vi) in Theorem 5.12, Equation (1.1) has a ground state solution in  $\mathbf{F}_s^r$  for large s. If Equation (1.1) has a ground state solution in  $\mathbf{F}_{s_1}^r$ and  $s_1 < s_2$ , then  $\mathbf{F}_{s_2}^r = \mathbf{F}_{s_1}^r \cup B^N(0; s_2)$ . By Theorem 5.1 and Theorem 5.7 (ii),  $\alpha(\mathbf{F}_{s_2}^r) < \alpha(B^N(0; s_2))$  and  $\alpha(\mathbf{F}_{s_2}^r) < \alpha(\mathbf{F}_{s_1}^r)$ . By the equivalence of (i) and (vi) in Theorem 5.12, Equation (1.1) has a ground state solution in  $\mathbf{F}_{s_2}^r$ . Let

 $s_0 = \inf\{s > r : \text{Equation (1.1) has a ground state solution in } \mathbf{F}_s^r\}.$ 

We then conclude that Equation (1.1) has a ground state solution in  $\mathbf{F}_s^r$  if  $s > s_0$ , and Equation (1.1) does not have any ground state solution in  $\mathbf{F}_s^r$  if  $s < s_0$ .

**Remark 12.8.** In Theorem 12.7, we have asserted that the interior flask domains  $\mathbf{F}_s^r = \mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0;s)$  are achieved if  $s > s_0$ . In fact, if we replace  $\mathbf{A}_0^r \cup B^N(0;s)$  by  $\mathbf{A}_0^r \cup \Omega$ , where  $\Omega$  is a bounded domain containing  $B^N(0;s)$ , the theorem still holds.

For  $\delta > 0$ , there is a  $\varepsilon(\delta) > 0$  such that a flat interior flask domain  $\Omega_{\varepsilon}$  is an achieved domain, where

$$E_{\varepsilon} = \{ (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^N : (x, \varepsilon y) \in \mathbf{B}(0; r + \delta) \}; \quad \Omega_{\varepsilon} = \mathbf{A}_0^r \cup E_{\varepsilon}.$$

**Theorem 12.9.** Given  $\delta > 0$ ,  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  exists such that if  $\varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$ , then the flat interior flask domain  $\Omega_{\varepsilon}$  is an achieved domain.

*Proof.* By Theorem 12.5, the infinite strip  $\mathbf{A}^r$  admits a ground state solution. Since  $\mathbf{A}^r \subsetneq \mathbf{A}^{r+\delta}$ , by Theorem 9.4 we have  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^{r+\delta}) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . Since  $E_{\varepsilon} \subset \mathbf{A}^{r+\delta}$  and  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \alpha(E_{\varepsilon}) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^{r+\delta})$ , there is an  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that if  $\varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$ , then  $\alpha(E_{\varepsilon}) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ . If  $\varepsilon, \varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$  is fixed, a large  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  exists such that

$$\alpha((\widetilde{\Omega_{\varepsilon}})_N) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}_N^r) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$$

Thus,

$$\alpha(\Omega_{\varepsilon}) \le \alpha(E_{\varepsilon}) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) = \alpha((\widetilde{\Omega_{\varepsilon}})_N).$$

By Theorem 9.5, a ground state solution u of (1.1) exists. By Theorem 12.1,  $\Omega_{\varepsilon}$  is an achieved domain.

Fix a number  $1 \leq l \leq N-1$  and write  $\mathbb{R}^N = \mathbb{R}^l \times \mathbb{R}^{N-l}$ , so that a generic  $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$  is written as z = (x, y) with  $x \in \mathbb{R}^l$  and  $y \in \mathbb{R}^{N-l}$ . Let  $\Omega$  be a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . For  $y \in \mathbb{R}^{N-l}$ , we denote by  $\Omega^y \subset \mathbb{R}^l$  the y-section of  $\Omega$ , that is,

$$\Omega^y = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^l | \quad (x, y) \in \Omega \}.$$

We consider the following canal properties:

( $\Omega$ 1)  $\Omega$  is a smooth domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and the sections  $\Omega^y$  are contained in a bounded set for each  $y \in \mathbb{R}^{N-l}$ ;

 $(\Omega 2)$  there is a smooth domain O in  $\mathbb{R}^l$  such that

$$O \subset \Omega^y$$
 for each  $y \in \mathbb{R}^{N-l}$ ;

 $(\Omega 3)$  for each  $\delta > 0$  there is an M > 0 such that

$$\Omega^y \subset \{x \in \mathbb{R}^l | \operatorname{dist}(x, O) < \delta\} \text{ for each } |y| \geq M.$$

**Theorem 12.10.** Assume that  $\Omega$  satisfies  $(\Omega_1)$ ,  $(\Omega_2)$  and  $(\Omega_3)$ . Then Equation (1.1) admits a ground state solution in the canal domain  $\Omega$ .



FIGURE 11. perturbed infinite strip domain.

*Proof.* (i)  $N - l = 1 : (\Omega_2)$  gives

$$\widehat{O} = O \times \mathbb{R}^{N-l} \subsetneqq \Omega.$$

By Theorem 12.5, there is a ground state solution of (1.1) in  $\widehat{O}$ . By Theorem 5.7 (*ii*), we have

$$\alpha(\Omega) < \alpha(O). \tag{12.2}$$

Let

$$\begin{split} \Omega_+ &= \{ z = (x,y) \in \Omega : y > -1 \}, \\ \Omega_- &= \{ z = (x,y) \in \Omega : y < 1 \}, \\ \widehat{O}_+ &= \{ z = (x,y) \in \widehat{O} : y > -1 \}, \\ \widehat{O}_- &= \{ z = (x,y) \in \widehat{O} : y < 1 \}. \end{split}$$

Then  $\Omega = \Omega_+ \cup \Omega$  and  $\widehat{O} = \widehat{O}_+ \cup \widehat{O}$ . Moreover, both  $\Omega_+ \cap \Omega_-$  and  $T, \widehat{O}_+ \cap \widehat{O}$  are bounded. Since  $\widehat{O}_+ \subset \Omega_+$ , then  $\alpha(\Omega_+) \leq \alpha(\widehat{O}_+) = \alpha(\widehat{O})$ . (a) Suppose that  $\alpha(\Omega_+) = \alpha(\widehat{O}_+) = \alpha(\widehat{O})$ . By (12.2), we have  $\alpha(\Omega) < \alpha(\Omega_+)$ .

(b) Suppose that  $\alpha(\Omega_+) < \alpha(\widehat{O}_+) = \alpha(\widehat{O})$ . By Theorem 4.30,

$$\lim_{\delta \to 1} \alpha(\delta \widehat{O}) = \alpha(\widehat{O}),$$

and a  $\delta_0 > 1$  exists such that  $\alpha(\Omega_+) < \alpha(\delta_0 \widehat{O})$ . From  $(\Omega_3)$ , there is  $n_0 > 0$  such that  $\Omega_+ \setminus \overline{B^N(0;n_0)} \subset \delta_0 \widehat{O}$ . Thus,  $\alpha(\delta_0 \widehat{O}) \le \alpha(\Omega_+ \setminus \overline{B^N(0;n)})$  for  $n \ge n_0$ . Therefore,  $\alpha(\Omega_+) < \alpha(\Omega_+ \setminus \overline{B^N(0;n)})$  for  $n \ge n_0$ . From the proof of Theorem 5.12, if we

assume that (v) holds for each  $n \ge n_0$ , then we obtain (i). Thus J satisfies the  $(PS)_{\alpha(\Omega_+)}$ -condition. By Theorem 5.7 (i),  $\alpha(\Omega) < \alpha(\Omega_+)$ .

From Case (i) and Case (ii), we conclude that  $\alpha(\Omega) < \alpha(\Omega_+)$ . Similarly, we have  $\alpha(\Omega) < \alpha(\Omega_-)$ . Finally, we have

$$\alpha(\Omega) < \min\{\alpha(\Omega_+), \alpha(\Omega_-)\}.$$

By the equivalence of (i) and (vi) in Theorem 5.12, J satisfies the  $(PS)_{\alpha(\Omega)}$ condition. By Theorem 5.6 (iii), (1.1) admits a ground state solution in  $\Omega$ .
(ii)  $N - l \geq 2$ : ( $\Omega 2$ ) gives

$$\widehat{O} = O \times \mathbb{R}^{N-l} \subsetneqq \Omega,$$

and by Theorem 12.5 and 5.7 (ii), we have  $\alpha(\Omega) < \alpha(\widehat{O})$ . By Lemma 4.30,

$$\lim_{\gamma \to 1} \alpha(\gamma \widehat{O}) = \alpha(\widehat{O})$$

Thus, take a  $\gamma$  close to 1 such that  $\alpha(\Omega) < \alpha(\gamma \widehat{O})$ . By  $(\Omega 3)$ , there is an  $n_0 > 0$ such that  $\Omega \setminus B^N(0;n) \subset \gamma \widehat{O}$  for  $n \ge n_0$ . Hence,  $\alpha(\gamma \widehat{O}) \le \widetilde{\alpha}_n$  for  $n \ge n_0$ . Thus  $\alpha(\Omega) < \widetilde{\alpha}_n$  for each  $n \ge n_0$ . The result follows from the proof of (v) to (i) in Theorem 5.12.

Assume  $z = (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N-1} \times \mathbb{R}$  for  $N \geq 3$ . For  $r_2 > r_1 > 0$  and t > 0, we consider a manger domain  $D_t = \mathbf{A}_0^{r_1, r_2} \cup \mathbf{A}_{0,t}^{r_2}$ . We have the following result.

**Theorem 12.11.**  $\tilde{t} \geq 0$  exists such that Equation (1.1) admits a ground state solution in the manger domain  $D_t$  if  $t > \tilde{t}$ , and does not admit any ground state solution in  $D_t$  if  $t < \tilde{t}$ .

*Proof.* (i) We claim that there is a  $t_0 > 0$  such that Equation (1.1) admits a ground state solution in  $D_t$  if  $t \ge t_0$ .

**Method (I)**: let  $\{u_n\}$  be a  $(PS)_{\alpha(D_t)}$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(D_t)$  for J. By Lemma 5.10 (*iii*), we have  $a_{\infty} = b_{\infty}$  and  $J_{\infty} \leq \alpha(D_t)$ , where  $J_{\infty} = \frac{p-2}{2p}b_{\infty}$ . We claim that there is a  $t_0 > 0$  such that  $J_{\infty} < \alpha(D_t)$  for  $t \geq t_0$ . On the contrary, suppose that  $J_{\infty} = \alpha(D_{t_n})$  for a sequence  $\{t_n\}$  such that  $t_n \to \infty$  as  $t \to \infty$ . Then  $J_{\infty} = \alpha(D_t)$  for each  $t \geq t_1$ . Let  $\xi(z)$  be as in (2.1) and  $\xi_R(z) = \xi(\frac{2|z|}{R})$ . Then there is an  $R_0 > 0$  such that  $\xi_R u_n \in H_0^1(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_1, r_2})$  for  $R \geq R_0$ . Let

$$\lambda_n = \left(\frac{a(\xi_R u_n)}{b(\xi_R u_n)}\right)^{1/(p-2)}.$$

Then we have  $a(\lambda_n \xi_R u_n) = b(\lambda_n \xi_R u_n)$ . For  $R \ge R_0$ , we have

$$J(\lambda_n \xi_R u_n) \ge \alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_1, r_2}),$$

or

$$\left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}\right) \frac{a(\xi_R u_n)^{p/(p-2)}}{b(\xi_R u_n)^{2/(p-2)}} \ge \alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_1, r_2}).$$

Letting  $R \to \infty$  and  $n \to \infty$  and using  $a_{\infty} = b_{\infty}$ , we obtain

$$\alpha(D_t) = J_{\infty} = \frac{p-2}{2p} b_{\infty} \ge \alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_1, r_2}).$$

Thus we have

$$\alpha(D_t) \ge \alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_1, r_2}) \quad \text{for each } t > t_1.$$
(12.3)

Since  $\mathbf{A}_0^{r_2}$  and  $\mathbf{A}_0^{r_1,r_2}$  are a large domain of  $\mathbf{A}^{r_2}$  and  $\mathbf{A}^{r_1,r_2}$ , respectively, then by Theorem 4.18, we have  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_2}) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^{r_2})$  and  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_1,r_2}) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^{r_1,r_2})$ . Moreover, by Theorem 12.5,  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^{r_2}) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}^{r_1,r_2})$ . We conclude that

$$\alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_2}) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_1, r_2}). \tag{12.4}$$

By Theorem 4.25, we have  $\alpha((\mathbf{A}_0^{r_2})_n) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_2}) + o(1)$ . Hence, there is an  $n_0 > 0$  such that

$$\alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_2}) < \alpha((\mathbf{A}_0^{r_2})_n) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_1, r_2}) \quad \text{for } n \ge n_0.$$

Then we have

$$\alpha(D_n) \le \alpha((\mathbf{A}_0^{r_2})_n) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_1, r_2}) \quad \text{for } n \ge n_0.$$

This contradicts (12.3). Thus, there is a  $t_0 > 0$  such that  $J_{\infty} < \alpha(D_t)$  for  $t \ge t_0$ . By the equivalence of (i) and (vii) in Theorem 5.12, Equation (1.1) admits a ground state solution in  $D_t$  for  $t \ge t_0$ .

Method (II): Since  $\mathbf{A}_0^{r_2}$  and  $\mathbf{A}_0^{r_1,r_2}$  are large domains of  $\mathbf{A}^{r_2}$  and  $\mathbf{A}^{r_1,r_2}$ , respectively, then by Theorem 4.18, we have  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_2}) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^{r_2})$  and  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_1,r_2}) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^{r_1,r_2})$ . Moreover, by Theorem 12.5,  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^{r_2}) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}^{r_1,r_2})$ . We conclude that

$$\alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_2}) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_1, r_2}).$$

By Theorem 4.25, we have  $\alpha((\mathbf{A}_0^{r_2})_n) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_2}) + o(1)$ . Hence, there is an  $n_0 > 0$  such that

$$\alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_2}) < \alpha((\mathbf{A}_0^{r_2})_n) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_1, r_2}) \text{ for } n \ge n_0.$$

Then we have

$$\alpha(D_n) < \alpha((\mathbf{A}_0^{r_2})_n) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}_0^{r_1, r_2}) \quad \text{for } n \ge n_0.$$

By the equivalence of (i) and (vi) in Theorem 5.12, Equation (1.1) admits a ground state solution in  $D_n$  for  $n \ge n_0$ .

(*ii*) If Equation (1.1) admits a ground state solution in  $D_{t_2}$  and  $t_2 < t_3$ , then  $D_{t_3} = D_{t_2} \cup \mathbf{A}_{0,t_3}^{r_2}$ . By Theorem 5.1 and Theorem 5.6 (*ii*),  $\alpha(D_{t_3}) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}_{0,t_3}^{r_2})$  and  $\alpha(D_{t_3}) < \alpha(D_{t_2})$ . By the equivalence of (*i*) and (*vi*) in Theorem 5.12, Equation (1.1) admits a ground state solution in  $D_{t_3}$ . Let

 $\widetilde{t} = \inf\{t > 0 : \text{Equation } (1.1) \text{ has a ground state solution in } D_t\}.$ 

Then  $\tilde{t} \ge 0$  such that Equation (1.1) admits a ground state solution in  $D_t$  if  $t > \tilde{t}$ and does not admit any ground state solution in  $D_t$  if  $t < \tilde{t}$ .

## 12.1. **Open Question:** in Theorem 12.7, is $s_0 = r$ ?

**Bibliographical notes:** Theorem 12.5 is from Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47]. Theorem 12.7 is from Chen-Lee-Wang [24] and Chen-Wang [26]. Theorem 12.7 is from Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47], Chen- Lee-Wang [24, Lemma 19], and Chen-Wang [26, Proposition 2.10]. Theorem 12.10 is from del Pino-Felmer [31]. Theorem 12.11 is from Chabrowski [20].

## 13. Multiple Solutions

In Section 12 we prove that there is a ground state solution in an achieved domain. In this section we prove that if we perturb (1.1) or perturb the achieved domain by adding or taking out a domain, then we obtain multiple solutions.

# 13.1. Multiple Solutions for a Perturbed Equation.

13.1.1. Introduction. Let  $N \ge 2$  and  $2 , where <math>2^* = \frac{2N}{N-2}$  for  $N \ge 3$ , and  $2^* = \infty$  for N = 2. Consider the semilinear elliptic Equation (1.2)

$$-\Delta u + u = |u|^{p-2}u + h(z) \quad \text{in } \Omega;$$
$$u \in H_0^1(\Omega),$$

where  $\Omega$  is a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and  $0 \neq h(z) \in L^2(\Omega)$ . Associated with (1.2), we consider the functionals a, b, and  $J_h$ , for  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ ,

$$a(u) = \int_{\Omega} (|\nabla u|^2 + u^2);$$
  

$$b(u) = \int_{\Omega} |u|^p;$$
  

$$J_h(u) = \frac{1}{2}a(u) - \frac{1}{p}b(u) - \int_{\Omega} hu.$$

By Rabinowitz [64, Proposition B.10.],  $a, b, and J_h$  are from  $C^2$ . It is well-known that the solutions of (1.2) and the critical points of the energy functional  $J_h$  are the same.

When  $\Omega$  is bounded, Equation (1.1) has been studied by many mathematicians: see, for instance, Bahri-Berestycki [7], Bahri-Lions [10], Rabinowitz [63], and Tanaka [69]. Suppose that h is nonnegative, small and exponential decay. Using the concentration-compactness principle of P. L. Lions [49] and [50] to prove that Equation (1.2) has at least two positive solutions, Cao-Zhu [17], Hirano [40], and Zhu [80] studied Equation (1.2) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , Hsu-Wang [41] in an exterior strip domain, and Wang [71] in an upper semi-strip with hole.

In this section, we generalize the results of Zhu [80] and Cao-Zhu [17], by relaxing the assumptions of the function h and the domain  $\Omega$ , to obtain two nonzero solutions of (1.1). By adding the exponential decay of the function h, we obtain three nonzero solutions of (1.1). The main ingredients of the proofs are from Adachi-Tanaka [1], Cao-Zhu [17], Tarantello [70], and Wang [71].

13.1.2. Existence of (PS)-Sequences. We define the Palais-Smale (denoted by (PS)) sequences, (PS)-values, and (PS)-conditions in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for  $J_h$  as follows.

**Definition 13.1.** (*i*) For  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ , a sequence  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for  $J_h$  if  $J_h(u_n) = \beta + o(1)$  and  $J'_h(u_n) = o(1)$  strongly in  $H^{-1}(\Omega)$  as  $n \to \infty$ ; (*ii*)  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$  is a (PS)-value in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for  $J_h$  if there is a (PS)<sub> $\beta$ </sub>-sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for  $J_h$ ;

(*iii*)  $J_h$  satisfies the  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -condition in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  if every  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for  $J_h$  contains a convergent subsequence;

(*iv*)  $J_h$  satisfies the (PS)-condition in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  if for every  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $J_h$  satisfies the (PS)<sub> $\beta$ </sub>-condition in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ .

**Lemma 13.2.** If  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ , then

$$\left(\frac{a(u)^{p/2}}{b(u)}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-2}} \ge \left(\frac{2p}{p-2}\right)^{1/2} \alpha(\Omega)^{1/2}.$$

*Proof.* By Lemma 4.2, we can take  $\lambda > 0$  such that  $\lambda u \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$ , and then the computations is routine.

Throughout this section, we assume that h(z) satisfies  $0 < ||h||_{L^2} < d(p, \alpha)$ , where

$$d(p,\alpha) = (p-2)\left(\frac{1}{p-1}\right)^{\frac{p-1}{p-2}}\left(\frac{2p}{p-2}\right)^{1/2}\alpha(\Omega)^{1/2}.$$
(13.1)

Let

 $\mathbf{M}_{h} = \{ u \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \langle J_{h}'(u), u \rangle = 0 \},$ 

and  $\mathbf{M}_0 = \mathbf{M}$ . Define  $\psi(u) = \langle J'_h(u), u \rangle = a(u) - b(u) - \int_{\Omega} hu$ . Then

**Lemma 13.3.** For each  $u \in \mathbf{M}_h$ , we have  $\langle \psi'(u), u \rangle = a(u) - (p-1)b(u) \neq 0$ .

*Proof.* For  $u \in \mathbf{M}_h$ , we have  $a(u) - b(u) - \int_{\Omega} hu = 0$ . Then  $\langle \psi'(u), u \rangle = 2a(u) - pb(u) - \int_{\Omega} hu = a(u) - (p-1)b(u)$ . We claim that  $\langle \psi'(u), u \rangle \neq 0$  for  $u \in \mathbf{M}_h$ . Let  $I : \mathbf{M}_h \to \mathbb{R}$  be given by

$$I(u) = K(p) \left(\frac{a(u)^{p-1}}{b(u)}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-2}} - \int_{\Omega} hu,$$

where  $K(p) = (p-2)(\frac{1}{p-1})^{\frac{p-1}{p-2}}$ . Then by Lemma 13.2, we have

$$\begin{split} I(u) &= K(p) \Big( \frac{a(u)^{p-1}}{b(u)} \Big)^{\frac{1}{p-2}} - \int_{\Omega} hu \\ &\geq K(p) \Big( \frac{a(u)^{p-1}}{b(u)} \Big)^{\frac{1}{p-2}} - \|h\|_{L^2} \|u\|_{H^1} \\ &= \|u\|_{H^1} (K(p) \Big( \frac{a(u)^{p/2}}{b(u)} \Big)^{\frac{1}{p-2}} - \|h\|_{L^2}) \\ &\geq \|u\|_{H^1} (K(p) \Big( \frac{2p}{p-2} \Big)^{1/2} \alpha(\Omega)^{\frac{1}{2}} - \|h\|_{L^2}) \\ &= \|u\|_{H^1} (d(p,\alpha) - \|h\|_{L^2}) \quad \text{for } u \in \mathbf{M}_h. \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$I(u) \ge \|u\|_{H^1}(d(p,\alpha) - \|h\|_{L^2}) > 0 \quad \text{for each } u \in \mathbf{M}_h.$$
(13.2)

Suppose that there is a  $w \in \mathbf{M}_h$  such that  $\langle \psi'(w), w \rangle = 0$ . Then we have a(w) = (p-1)b(w) and  $\int_{\Omega} hw = a(w) - b(w) = (p-2)b(w)$ . Now

$$0 < I(w) = K(p) \left(\frac{a(w)^{p-1}}{b(w)}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-2}} - \int_{\Omega} hw$$
  
=  $\left(\frac{1}{p-1}\right)^{\frac{p-1}{p-2}} (p-2) \left(\frac{(p-1)^{p-1}b(w)^{p-1}}{b(w)}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-2}} - (p-2)b(w)$   
= 0,

which contradicts (13.2). Thus, we conclude that  $\langle \psi'(u), u \rangle \neq 0$  for each  $u \in \mathbf{M}_h$ .

By Lemma 13.3, we can decompose  $\mathbf{M}_h$  into  $\mathbf{M}_h^+$  and  $\mathbf{M}_h^-$ , where

$$\mathbf{M}_{h}^{+} = \{ u \in \mathbf{M}_{h} : a(u) - (p-1)b(u) > 0 \}; \\ \mathbf{M}_{h}^{-} = \{ u \in \mathbf{M}_{h} : a(u) - (p-1)b(u) < 0 \}.$$

Consider the Nehari minimization problems for Equation (1.2). Let

$$\alpha_h(\Omega) = \inf_{u \in \mathbf{M}_h} J_h(u);$$
$$\alpha_h^+(\Omega) = \inf_{u \in \mathbf{M}_h^+} J_h(u);$$
  
$$\alpha_h^-(\Omega) = \inf_{u \in \mathbf{M}_h^-} J_h(u).$$

Let  $\alpha_h(\Omega) = \alpha(\Omega)$ ,  $\mathbf{M}_h = \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  and  $J_h(u) = J(u)$  for h = 0. For each  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ , we write

$$t_{\max} = \left[\frac{a(u)}{(p-1)b(u)}\right]^{\frac{1}{p-2}}.$$

Clearly,  $t_{\text{max}} > 0$ . Note that

$$J_{h}(tu) = \frac{1}{2}t^{2}a(u) - \frac{1}{p}t^{p}b(u) - t\int_{\Omega}hu;$$
  

$$\frac{d}{dt}J_{h}(tu) = ta(u) - t^{p-1}b(u) - \int_{\Omega}hu;$$
  

$$\frac{d^{2}}{dt^{2}}J_{h}(tu) = a(u) - (p-1)t^{p-2}b(u);$$
  

$$\langle J'_{h}(tu), tu \rangle = t^{2}a(u) - t^{p}b(u) - t\int_{\Omega}hu.$$
  
(13.3)

The following lemma is required.

**Lemma 13.4.** For each  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ , (i) there is a unique  $t^- = t^-(u) > t_{\max} > 0$  such that  $t^-u \in \mathbf{M}_h^-$  and  $J_h(t^-u) = \max_{t \ge t_{\max}} J_h(tu)$ ; (ii)  $t^-(u)$  is a continuous function for nonzero u; (iii)  $\mathbf{M}_h^- = \{u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \frac{1}{\|u\|_{H^1}} t^-(\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^1}}) = 1\}$ ; (iv) if  $\int_{\Omega} hu > 0$ , then there is a unique  $0 < t^+ = t^+(u) < t_{\max}$  such that  $t^+u \in \mathbf{M}_h^+$ and  $J_h(t^+u) = \min_{0 \le t \le t^-} J_h(tu)$ .

*Proof.* (i) Fix  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ . Let

$$s(t) = ta(u) - t^{p-1}b(u) \text{ for } t \ge 0.$$

Then s(0) = 0,  $s(t) \to -\infty$  as  $t \to \infty$ , and s(t) is concave and achieves its maximum at  $t_{\text{max}}$ . Furthermore, by Lemma 13.2, we have

$$s(t_{\max}) = \left(\frac{a(u)^{p-1}}{(p-1)b(u)}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-2}} - \left(\frac{a(u)}{(p-1)b(u)^{\frac{1}{p-1}}}\right)^{\frac{p-1}{p-2}}$$
$$= \|u\|_{H^1}(p-2)\left(\frac{1}{p-1}\right)^{\frac{p-1}{p-2}} \left[\frac{a(u)^{\frac{p}{2}}}{b(u)}\right]^{\frac{1}{p-2}}$$
$$\geq \|u\|_{H^1}(p-2)\left(\frac{1}{p-1}\right)^{\frac{p-1}{p-2}}\left(\frac{2p}{p-2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\alpha(\Omega)^{1/2}$$
$$= \|u\|_{H^1}d(p,\alpha),$$

or

$$s(t_{\max}) \ge \|u\|_{H^1} d(p, \alpha)$$
 (13.4)

Case  $(a): \int_{\Omega} hu \leq 0$ . There is a unique  $t^- > t_{\max}$  such that  $s(t^-) = \int_{\Omega} hu$  and  $s'(t^-) < 0$ . Now,

$$a(t^{-}u) - (p-1)b(t^{-}u) = (t^{-})^{2} \Big[ a(u) - (p-1)(t^{-})^{p-2}b(u) \Big]$$
$$= (t^{-})^{2}s'(t^{-}) < 0,$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \langle J'_{h}(t^{-}u), t^{-}u \rangle &= (t^{-})^{2}a(u) - (t^{-})^{p}b(u) - t^{-}\int_{\Omega}hu \\ &= t^{-} \Big[ t^{-}a(u) - (t^{-})^{p-1}b(u) - \int_{\Omega}hu \Big] \\ &= t^{-} \Big[ s(t^{-}) - \int_{\Omega}hu \Big] = 0. \end{aligned}$$

HWAI-CHIUAN WANG

Thus,  $t^-u \in \mathbf{M}_h^-$ , since for  $t > t_{\max}$ , we have

$$a(tu) - (p-1)b(tu) < 0;$$
  
$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2}J_h(tu) = \frac{1}{t^2}[a(tu) - (p-1)b(tu)] < 0;$$
  
$$\frac{d}{dt}J_h(tu) = ta(u) - t^{p-1}b(u) - \int_{\Omega}hu = 0 \quad \text{if } t = t^-$$

Thus,  $J_h(t^-u) = \max_{t \ge t_{\max}} J_h(tu)$ . Case  $(b) : \int_{\Omega} hu > 0$ . By (13.4),

$$s(0) = 0 < \int_{\Omega} hu \le \|h\|_{L^2} \|u\|_{H^1} < \|u\|_{H^1} d(p, \alpha) \le s(t_{\max})$$

there are unique  $t^+$  and  $t^-$  such that  $0 < t^+ < t_{\max} < t^-$ ,

$$s(t^{+}) = \int_{\Omega} hu = s(t^{-})$$
  
$$s'(t^{+}) > 0 > s'(t^{-}).$$

This case is similar to Case (a): We have  $t^+u \in \mathbf{M}_h^+$ ,  $t^-u \in \mathbf{M}_h^-$ , and  $J_h(t^-u) \ge J_h(tu) \ge J_h(t^+u)$  for each  $t \in [t^+, t^-]$ , and  $J_h(t^+u) \le J_h(tu)$  for each  $t \in [0, t^+]$ . Thus,

$$J_h(t^-u) = \max_{t \ge t_{\max}} J_h(tu),$$
  
$$J_h(t^+u) = \min_{0 \le t \le t^-} J_h(tu).$$

(ii) By the uniqueness of  $t^{-}(u)$  and the extremity property of  $t^{-}(u)$ ,  $t^{-}(u)$  is a

continuous function for nonzero u. (*iii*) For  $u \in \mathbf{M}_h^-$ , let  $v = \frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^1}}$ . By part (*i*), there is a unique  $t^-(v) > 0$ such that  $t^-(v)v \in \mathbf{M}_h^-$  or  $t^-(\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^1}})\frac{1}{\|u\|_{H^1}}u \in \mathbf{M}_h^-$ . Since  $u \in \mathbf{M}_h^-$ , we have  $t^{-}(\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}})\frac{1}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}} = 1$ , implying

$$\mathbf{M}_{h}^{-} \subset \Big\{ u \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \frac{1}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}} t^{-}(\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}}) = 1 \Big\}.$$

Conversely, let  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$  such that  $\frac{1}{\|u\|_{H^1}} t^-(\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^1}}) = 1$ . Then

$$t^{-}(\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}})\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}} \in \mathbf{M}_{h}^{-}.$$

Thus,

$$\mathbf{M}_{h}^{-} = \left\{ u \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \frac{1}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}} t^{-}(\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}}) = 1 \right\}.$$

(iv) By Case (b) of part (i).

We have the following results.

**Lemma 13.5.** (i) For each  $u \in \mathbf{M}_h^+$ , we have  $\int_{\Omega} hu > 0$  and  $J_h(u) < 0$ . In particular,  $\alpha_h(\Omega) \leq \alpha_h^+(\Omega) < 0$ ;

(ii)  $J_h$  is coercive and bounded below on  $\mathbf{M}_h$ ;

(iii) For each minimizing sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $\mathbf{M}_h$  for  $J_h$ , we have

$$0 < \limsup_{n \to \infty} |\langle \psi'(u_n), u_n \rangle| < \infty$$

Proof. (i) For each  $u \in \mathbf{M}_h^+$ , a(u) - (p-1)b(u) > 0 and  $a(u) = b(u) + \int_{\Omega} hu$ . Thus,

$$\int_{\Omega} hu = a(u) - b(u) > (p - 2)b(u) > 0,$$

and

$$J_{h}(u) = \frac{1}{2}a(u) - \frac{1}{p}b(u) - \int_{\Omega} hu$$
  
=  $(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})b(u) - \frac{1}{2}\int_{\Omega} hu$   
<  $\frac{p-2}{2p}b(u) - \frac{p-2}{2}b(u)$   
=  $-\frac{(p-1)(p-2)}{2p}b(u) < 0.$ 

Then  $\alpha_h(\Omega) = \inf_{u \in \mathbf{M}_h} J_h(u) \le \inf_{u \in \mathbf{M}_h^+} J_h(u) = \alpha_h^+(\Omega) < 0.$ 

(*ii*) For  $u \in \mathbf{M}_h$ , we have  $a(u) - \overset{n}{b}(u) - \int_{\Omega} hu = 0$ . Then

$$\begin{split} I_{h}(u) &= \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}\right) a(u) - \left(1 - \frac{1}{p}\right) \int_{\Omega} hu \\ &\geq \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}\right) \|u\|_{H^{1}}^{2} - \left(1 - \frac{1}{p}\right) \|h\|_{L^{2}} \|u\|_{H^{1}} \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}\right) \left(\|u\|_{H^{1}} - \frac{p - 1}{p - 2} \|h\|_{L^{2}}\right)^{2} - \frac{1}{2p(p - 2)} \left[(p - 1)\|h\|_{L^{2}}\right]^{2} \\ &\geq -\frac{1}{2p(p - 2)} \left[(p - 1)\|h\|_{L^{2}}\right]^{2}. \end{split}$$

Thus,  $J_h$  is coercive and bounded below on  $\mathbf{M}_h$ .

(*iii*) Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a minimizing sequence in  $\mathbf{M}_h$  for  $J_h$ . Since  $J_h$  is coercive on  $\mathbf{M}_h$ , we can assume  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded in  $\mathbf{M}_h$ . By the Sobolev embedding theorem, a c > 0 exists such that  $|\langle \psi'(u_n), u_n \rangle| = |a(u_n) - (p-1)b(u_n)| \leq c$ . Thus,  $\limsup_{n\to\infty} |\langle \psi'(u_n), u_n \rangle| < \infty$ . Suppose that there is a minimizing sequence  $\{w_n\}$  in  $\mathbf{M}_h$  for  $J_h$  such that  $\langle \psi'(w_n), w_n \rangle = o(1)$ . Since  $J_h$  is a continuous function with  $J_h(0) = 0$ , by part (i),  $\alpha_h(\Omega) < 0$ . We claim that there is a  $\delta > 0$  such that  $||w_n||_{H^1} > \delta$  for each n. Otherwise, a subsequence  $\{w_n\}$  exists such that  $||w_n||_{H^1} = o(1)$ . Then  $J_h(w_n) = o(1)$ , which is a contradiction. Since  $||w_n||_{H^1} > \delta$  for each n and

$$o(1) = \langle \psi'(w_n), w_n \rangle = a(w_n) - (p-1)b(w_n), \tag{13.5}$$

there is a  $\gamma > 0$  such that  $b(w_n) \ge \gamma$  for each n, and

$$\left(\frac{a(w_n)^{p-1}}{b(w_n)}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-2}} = (p-1)^{\frac{p-1}{p-2}}b(w_n) + o(1).$$

Since  $w_n \in \mathbf{M}_h$ , by (13.2) and (13.5), we have

$$I(w_n) \ge \|w_n\|_{H^1}(d(p,\alpha) - \|h\|_{L^2}) \ge \delta(d(p,\alpha) - \|h\|_{L^2})$$

and

$$\int_{\Omega} hw_n = a(w_n) - b(w_n) = (p-2)b(w_n) + o(1)$$

Now we have

$$0 < \delta(d(p, \alpha) - ||h||_{L^2}) \le I(w_n)$$
  
=  $(\frac{1}{p-1})^{\frac{p-1}{p-2}}(p-2)(\frac{a(w_n)^{p-1}}{b(w_n)})^{\frac{1}{p-2}} - \int_{\Omega} hw_n$   
=  $(\frac{1}{p-1})^{\frac{p-1}{p-2}}(p-2)(p-1)^{\frac{p-1}{p-2}}b(w_n) - (p-2)b(w_n) + o(1)$   
=  $o(1),$ 

which is a contradiction.

**Lemma 13.6.** Let u be in  $\mathbf{M}_h$  such that  $J_h(u) = \min_{v \in \mathbf{M}_h} J_h(v) = \alpha_h(\Omega)$ . Then

(i)  $\int_{\Omega} hu > 0;$ (ii) u is a solution of Equation (1.2) in  $\Omega$ .

*Proof.* (i) By Lemma 13.5 (i), we have

$$0 > J_h(u) = (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})a(u) - (1 - \frac{1}{p})\int_{\Omega} hu.$$

Thus,

$$\int_{\Omega} hu > 0.$$

(ii) By Lemma 13.3

$$\langle \psi'(v), v \rangle = a(v) - (p-1)b(v) \neq 0$$
 for each  $v \in \mathbf{M}_h$ .

Since  $J_h(u) = \min_{v \in \mathbf{M}_h} J_h(v)$ , by the Lagrange multiplier theorem, there is a  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^N$  such that  $J'(u) = \lambda \psi'(u)$  in  $H^{-1}(\Omega)$ . Then we have

$$0 = \langle J'_h(u), u \rangle = \lambda \langle \psi'(u), u \rangle.$$

Thus,  $\lambda = 0$  and  $J'_h(u) = 0$  in  $H^{-1}(\Omega)$ . Therefore, u is a solution of Equation (1.2) in  $\Omega$  with  $J_h(u) = \alpha_h(\Omega)$ .

The following Lemma is required to prove the existence of the  $(PS)_{\alpha_h(\Omega)}$ - sequence for  $J_h$ .

**Lemma 13.7.** Given  $u \in \mathbf{M}_h$ , then  $a \delta > 0$  and a differentiable functional l:  $B(0;\delta) \subset H_0^1(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}^+$  exist such that l(0) = 1,  $l(v)(u-v) \in \mathbf{M}_h$  for  $v \in B(0;\delta)$ and

$$\langle l'(v), \varphi \rangle \Big|_{(l,v)=(1,0)} = \frac{\langle \psi'(u), \varphi \rangle}{\langle \psi'(u), u \rangle} \quad \text{for } \varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega).$$

*Proof.* For  $u \in \mathbf{M}_h$ , let  $G : \mathbb{R} \times H^1_0(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$  be given by

$$G(l,v) = \psi(l(u-v)).$$

Note that  $G(1,0) = \psi(u) = \langle J'_h(u), u \rangle = 0$ . Then by Lemma 13.3

$$D_l G(1,0) = \frac{\partial}{\partial l} \left[ l^2 a(u-v) - |l|^p b(u-v) - l \int_{\Omega} h(u-v) \right] \Big|_{(1,0)}$$

$$= \left[ 2la(u-v) - p|l|^{p-2}lb(u-v) - \int_{\Omega} h(u-v) \right]|_{(1,0)}$$
  
= 2a(u) - pb(u) - (a(u) - b(u))  
= a(u) - (p-1)b(u) \neq 0.

By the implicit function theorem, there exist  $\delta > 0$  and a differentiable functional  $l: B(0; \delta) \subset H_0^1(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$  such that l(0) = 1 and

$$G(l(v), v) = 0 \text{ for } v \in B(0; \delta),$$

Thus,  $l(v)(u-v) \in \mathbf{M}_h$  for  $v \in B(0; \delta)$ . Moreover,  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ 

$$\begin{split} D_{\varphi}l(v)|_{(1,0)} &= \langle l'(v), \varphi \rangle|_{(1,0)} = -\frac{G_v(l,v)}{G_l(l,v)}|_{(1,0)} \\ &= -\frac{-2\int_{\Omega} \nabla u \nabla \varphi + u\varphi + p\int_{\Omega} |u|^{p-2} u\varphi + \int_{\Omega} h\varphi}{a(u) - (p-1)b(u)} \\ &= \frac{\langle \psi'(u), \varphi \rangle}{\langle \psi'(u), u \rangle}. \end{split}$$

**Proposition 13.8.** (i)  $A (PS)_{\alpha_h(\Omega)}$ -sequence  $\{u_n\}$  exists in  $\mathbf{M}_h$  for  $J_h$ ; (ii)  $A (PS)_{\alpha_h^+(\Omega)}$ -sequence  $\{u_n\}$  exists in  $\mathbf{M}_h^+$  for  $J_h$ ; (iii)  $A (PS)_{\alpha_h^-(\Omega)}$ -sequence  $\{u_n\}$  exists in  $\mathbf{M}_h^-$  for  $J_h$ .

*Proof.* (i) Let  $\{v_n\}$  be a minimizing sequence in  $\mathbf{M}_h$  for  $J_h$ . Since  $J_h$  is continuous and bounded below on  $\mathbf{M}_h$ , by the Ekeland variational principle we have a minimizing sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $\mathbf{M}_h$  such that

(a)  $J_h(u_n) \leq J_h(v_n) < \alpha_h(\Omega) + \frac{1}{n^2};$ 

(b) 
$$||u_n - v_n||_{H^1} = o(1);$$

(c)  $J_h(w) \ge J_h(u_n) - \frac{1}{n} ||u_n - w||_{H^1}$  for each  $w \in \mathbf{M}_h$ .

Assume that there is an  $n_0 > 0$  such that  $\|J'_h(u_n)\|_{H^{-1}} > 0$  for  $n \ge n_0$ , otherwise we are done. For  $n \ge n_0$ , by the Riesz representation theorem, a unique  $\phi_n \in H^1_0(\Omega)$  exists such that  $\|\phi_n\|_{H^1} = 1$  and

$$\langle \frac{J'_h(u_n)}{\|J'_h(u_n)\|_{H^{-1}}}, \varphi \rangle = \langle \phi_n, \varphi \rangle_{H^1} \text{ for each } \varphi \in H^1_0(\Omega).$$

Let  $t_n(\varepsilon) = l_n(\varepsilon \phi_n)$ . Applying Lemma 13.7, we have

$$w_{\varepsilon} = t_n(\varepsilon) \left[ u_n - \varepsilon \phi_n \right] \in \mathbf{M}_h.$$

Now,

$$t'_n(0) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{l_n(\varepsilon \phi_n) - l_n(0)}{\varepsilon} = \langle l'_n(0), \phi_n \rangle = \frac{\langle \psi'(u_n), \phi_n \rangle}{\langle \psi'(u_n), u_n \rangle}$$

By Lemma 13.5 (*iii*), we have  $0 < \limsup_{n \to \infty} |\langle \psi'(u_n), u_n \rangle| < \infty$ . Thus there is a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and  $c_1 > 0$  such that

$$|\langle \psi'(u_n), u_n \rangle| \ge c_1.$$

By the Hölder inequality and  $\|\phi_n\|_{H^1} = 1$ , we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle \psi'(u_n), \phi_n \rangle| &= |2\langle u_n, \phi_n \rangle_{H^1} - p \int_{\Omega} |u_n|^{p-2} u_n \phi_n - \int_{\Omega} h \phi_n |\\ &\leq 2 \|u_n\|_{H^1} + p \|u_n\|_{L^p}^{p-1} \|\phi_n\|_{L^p} + \|h\|_{L^2} \end{aligned}$$

 $\leq c_1 + \|h\|_{L^2}.$ 

Thus,  $|t'_n(0)| \leq c_2$  for each  $n \geq n_0$ . Moreover,  $\varepsilon_0$  and  $c_3 > 0$  exist such that for  $\varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$ 

$$\frac{\|u_n - w_{\varepsilon}\|_{H^1}}{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|(1 - t_n(\varepsilon))u_n + \varepsilon t_n(\varepsilon)\phi_n\|_{H^1}$$
$$\leq \left[\frac{|t_n(0) - t_n(\varepsilon)|}{\varepsilon}\|u_n\|_{H^1} + t_n(\varepsilon)\|\phi_n\|_{H^1}\right]$$
$$= |t'_n(0)|\|u_n\|_{H^1} + 1 + o(1) \quad \text{as } \varepsilon \to 0.$$
$$\leq c_3.$$

Note that  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ , so

$$\begin{aligned} \|t_0 u_n + (1 - t_0) w_{\varepsilon} - u_n\|_{H^1} \\ &= \|(1 - t_0)(t_n(\varepsilon) - 1)u_n - \varepsilon(1 - t_0)t_n(\varepsilon)\phi_n\|_{H^1} \\ &\leq (1 - t_0)|t_n(\varepsilon) - 1|\|u_n\|_{H^1} + \varepsilon(1 - t_0)t_n(\varepsilon) \\ &= o(1) \quad \text{as } \varepsilon \to 0, \end{aligned}$$

Since  $J_h \in C^1$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} &\frac{1}{\varepsilon} |\langle J_h'(t_0 u_n + (1 - t_0) w_{\varepsilon}), (u_n - w_{\varepsilon}) \rangle - \langle J_h'(u_n), (u_n - w_{\varepsilon}) \rangle | \\ &\leq \|J_h'(t_0 u_n + (1 - t_0) w_{\varepsilon}) - J_h'(u_n)\|_{H^{-1}} \frac{\|u_n - w_{\varepsilon}\|_{H^1}}{\varepsilon} \\ &= o(1) \quad \text{as } \varepsilon \to 0. \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$\langle J'_h(t_0u_n + (1 - t_0)w_\varepsilon), (u_n - w_\varepsilon) \rangle = \langle J'_h(u_n), (u_n - w_\varepsilon) \rangle + o(\varepsilon),$$

where  $\frac{o(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon} \to 0$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . By condition (c) and the mean value theorem, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{n} \|u_n - w_{\varepsilon}\|_{H^1} &\geq J_h(u_n) - J_h(w_{\varepsilon}) \\ &= \langle J'_h(t_0 u_n + (1 - t_0) w_{\varepsilon}), (u_n - w_{\varepsilon}) \rangle, \end{aligned}$$

where  $t_0 \in (0, 1)$ . Then we obtain

$$\frac{1}{n} \|u_n - w_{\varepsilon}\|_{H^1} \ge \langle J'_h(u_n), (u_n - w_{\varepsilon}) \rangle + o(\varepsilon).$$
(13.6)

We divide (13.6) by  $\varepsilon > 0$  and obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{c_3}{n} &\geq \frac{1}{n\varepsilon} \|u_n - w_\varepsilon\|_{H^1} \\ &\geq \frac{(1 - t_n(\varepsilon))}{\varepsilon} \langle J'_h(u_n), u_n \rangle + t_n(\varepsilon) \langle J'_h(u_n), \phi_n \rangle + \frac{o(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon} \\ &= \frac{(1 - t_n(\varepsilon))}{\varepsilon} \langle J'_h(u_n), u_n \rangle + t_n(\varepsilon) \|J'_h(u_n)\|_{H^{-1}} + \frac{o(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon} \end{split}$$

Since  $\{u_n\} \subset \mathbf{M}_h$ , let  $\varepsilon \to 0$  to obtain

$$0 \ge -t'_n(0)\langle J'_h(u_n), u_n \rangle + \|J'_h(u_n)\|_{H^{-1}} = \|J'_h(u_n)\|_{H^{-1}},$$

which is a contradiction. Therefore,  $\|J'_h(u_n)\|_{H^{-1}} \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ . (*ii*) and (*iii*) can be proved similarly.

13.1.3. Existence of a Local Minimum. By Proposition 13.8 (i), there is a  $(PS)_{\alpha_h(\Omega)}$ -sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $\mathbf{M}_h$  for  $J_h$ . Then we have the following  $(PS)_{\alpha_h(\Omega)}$ -condition.

**Proposition 13.9.** Let  $\{u_n\}$  in  $\mathbf{M}_h$  be a  $(PS)_{\alpha_h(\Omega)}$ -sequence for  $J_h$ . Then a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and  $u_0$  in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  exist such that  $u_n \to u_0$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ . Furthermore,  $u_0$  is a solution of Equation (1.2) such that  $J_h(u_0) = \alpha_h(\Omega)$ .

Proof. By Lemma 13.5 (ii),  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ . Take a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$ and  $u_0 \in H_0^1(\Omega)$  such that  $u_n \rightharpoonup u_0$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ . By Lemma 2.11,  $u_0$  is a nonzero solution of Equation (1.2) in  $\Omega$ . Since

$$J_{h}(u_{n}) = \frac{1}{2}a(u_{n}) - \frac{1}{p}b(u_{n}) - \int_{\Omega} hu_{n} = \alpha_{h}(\Omega) + o(1),$$
  
(13.7)  
$$\langle J_{h}'(u_{n}), u_{n} \rangle = a(u_{n}) - b(u_{n}) - \int_{\Omega} hu_{n} = o(1).$$

By (13.7), we have

$$(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})a(u_n) - (1 - \frac{1}{p})\int_{\Omega} hu_n = \alpha_h(\Omega) + o(1)$$

Since the functional a is weakly lower semicontinuous and  $\int_{\Omega} hu_n \to \int_{\Omega} hu_0$  as  $n \to \infty$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_h(\Omega) &\leq J_h(u_0) = \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}\right) a(u_0) - \left(1 - \frac{1}{p}\right) \int_{\Omega} h u_0 \\ &\leq \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}\right) \liminf_{n \to \infty} a(u_n) - \left(1 - \frac{1}{p}\right) \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} h u_n \\ &= \liminf_{n \to \infty} \left[ \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}\right) a(u_n) - \left(1 - \frac{1}{p}\right) \int_{\Omega} h u_n \right] \\ &= \alpha_h(\Omega) \end{aligned}$$

or  $J_h(u_0) = \alpha_h(\Omega)$ . Let  $p_n = u_n - u_0$ . By Lemma 2.11 and 2.14, we have

$$J_{h}(p_{n}) = \frac{1}{2}a(p_{n}) - \frac{1}{p}b(p_{n}) - \int_{\Omega} hp_{n}$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2}a(u_{n}) - \frac{1}{2}a(u_{0}) - \frac{1}{p}b(u_{n}) + \frac{1}{p}b(u_{0}) - \int_{\Omega} hu_{n} + \int_{\Omega} hu_{0} + o(1)$ . (13.8)  
=  $J_{h}(u_{n}) - J_{h}(u_{0}) + o(1) = o(1)$ 

By Lemma 2.11, 2.14,  $\int_{\Omega} hp_n = o(1)$  and  $u_0$  is a solution of Equation (1.2), so

$$\langle J'_{h}(p_{n}), p_{n} \rangle = a(p_{n}) - b(p_{n}) - \int_{\Omega} hp_{n}$$
  
=  $a(u_{n}) - a(u_{0}) - b(u_{n}) + b(u_{0}) - \int_{\Omega} hu_{n} + \int_{\Omega} hu_{0} + o(1)^{\cdot}$ (13.9)  
=  $\langle J'_{h}(u_{n}), u_{n} \rangle - \langle J'_{h}(u_{0}), u_{0} \rangle = o(1)$ 

Thus, by (13.8), (13.9) and  $\int_{\Omega} h p_n = o(1)$ , we have

$$\frac{p-2}{2p}a(p_n) = o(1)$$

or  $u_n \to u_0$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ .

The following result is required to prove that  $u_0$  is the unique critical point of  $J_h(u)$  in  $B(r_0)$ .

**Lemma 13.10.** Let  $r_0 = (\frac{1}{p-1})^{\frac{1}{p-2}} (\frac{2p}{p-2})^{1/2} \alpha(\Omega)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . Then (i)  $\mathbf{M}_h^+ \subset B(r_0) = \{ u \in H_0^1(\Omega) : ||u||_{H^1} < r_0 \};$ (ii)  $J_h(u)$  is strictly convex in  $B(r_0)$ .

*Proof.* (i) If  $u \in \mathbf{M}_h^+$ , then a(u) > (p-1)b(u) and  $a(u) = b(u) + \int_{\Omega} hu$ . Thus,

$$a(u) < \frac{1}{p-1}a(u) + ||h||_{L^2} ||u||_{H^1}.$$

This implies

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{H^{1}} &< (\frac{p-1}{p-2}) \|h\|_{L^{2}} \\ &< (\frac{p-1}{p-2})(p-2)(\frac{1}{p-1})^{\frac{p-1}{p-2}}(\frac{2p}{p-2})^{\frac{1}{2}}\alpha(\Omega)^{1/2} \\ &= (\frac{1}{p-1})^{\frac{1}{p-2}}(\frac{2p}{p-2})^{1/2}\alpha(\Omega)^{1/2} = r_{0}. \end{aligned}$$

(*ii*) Similarly to Adachi-Tanaka [1], we have

$$J_h''(u)(v,v) = a(v) - (p-1) \int_{\Omega} |u|^{p-2} v^2 \quad \text{for all } v \in H_0^1(\Omega).$$

Thus, by Lemma 13.2 for  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ 

$$\left[\frac{a(u)^{p/2}}{b(u)}\right]^{\frac{1}{p-2}} \ge \left(\frac{2p}{p-2}\right)^{1/2} \alpha(\Omega)^{1/2},$$

then

$$\begin{split} J_{h}''(u)(v,v) &\geq a(v) - (p-1) \|u\|_{L^{p}}^{p-2} \|v\|_{L^{p}}^{2} \\ &\geq a(v) - (p-1) \left[ a(u)^{\frac{p-2}{2}} (\frac{p-2}{2p})^{\frac{p-2}{2}} \alpha(\Omega)^{-\frac{(p-2)^{2}}{2p}} \right] \\ &\times \left[ a(v) (\frac{p-2}{2p})^{\frac{p-2}{p}} \alpha(\Omega)^{\frac{-(p-2)}{p}} \right] \\ &\geq a(v) \left[ 1 - (p-1) (\frac{2p}{p-2} \alpha(\Omega))^{\frac{2-p}{2}} \|u\|_{H^{1}}^{p-2} \right] \\ &> 0 \quad \text{for } u \in B(r_{0}). \end{split}$$

Thus,  $J''_h(u)$  is positive definite for  $u \in B(r_0)$  and  $J_h$  is strictly convex in  $B(r_0)$ .  $\Box$ 

By Proposition 13.9, a solution  $u_0 \in \mathbf{M}_h$  of Equation (1.2) exists such that  $J_h(u_0) = \alpha_h(\Omega)$ . Furthermore, we have the following theorem.

**Theorem 13.11.** (i)  $u_0 \in \mathbf{M}_h^+$  and  $J_h(u_0) = \alpha_h^+(\Omega) = \alpha_h(\Omega)$ ; (ii)  $u_0$  is the unique critical point of  $J_h(u)$  in  $B(r_0)$ , where  $r_0$  is as in Lemma 13.10; (iii)  $J_h(u_0)$  is a local minimum in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ .

*Proof.* (i) By Lemma 13.6 (i),  $\int_{\Omega} hu_0 > 0$ . We claim that  $u_0 \in \mathbf{M}_h^+$ . Otherwise, if  $u_0 \in \mathbf{M}_h^-$ , then by Lemma 13.4 a unique  $t^-(u_0) = 1 > t^+(u_0) > 0$  exists such that  $t^+(u_0)u_0 \in \mathbf{M}_h^+$  and

$$\alpha_h(\Omega) \le \alpha_h^+(\Omega) \le J_h(t^+(u_0)u_0) < J_h(u_0) = \alpha_h(\Omega),$$

which is a contradiction. Since  $u_0 \in \mathbf{M}_h^+$ ,  $\alpha_h^+(\Omega) \leq J_h(u_0) = \alpha_h(\Omega) \leq \alpha_h^+(\Omega)$ , that is,  $J_h(u_0) = \alpha_h^+(\Omega)$ .

(ii) By part (i) and Lemma 13.10.

(*iii*) Since  $u_0 \in \mathbf{M}_h$ , by Lemma 13.7,  $\delta_1 > 0$  and a differentiable functional l(w) > 0 exist such that l(0) = 1 and

$$l(w)(u_0 + w) \in \mathbf{M}_h \quad \text{for } \|w\|_{H^1} < \delta_1.$$
 (13.10)

By Lemma 13.4,

$$1 = t^+(u_0) < t_{\max}(u_0), \tag{13.11}$$

l(0) = 1, and the continuity of  $t_{\text{max}}$ ,  $\delta_2$  exists with  $\delta_1 > \delta_2 > 0$ , such that

$$l(w) < t_{\max}(u_0 + w) \quad \text{for } \|w\|_{H^1} < \delta_2.$$
 (13.12)

By (13.10) and (13.12), we have  $l(w)(u_0 + w) \in \mathbf{M}_h^+$  for  $||w||_{H^1} < \delta_2$ . By Lemma 13.4, for  $0 < s < t_{\max}(u_0 + w)$ , we have

$$J_h(u_0) = \alpha_h^+(\Omega) \le J_h(l(w)(u_0 + w)) \le J_h(s(u_0 + w)).$$

By the continuity of  $t_{\text{max}}$  and (13.11),  $\delta$  exists with  $\delta_2 > \delta > 0$  such that

 $1 < t_{\max}(u_0 + w)$  for  $||w||_{H^1} < \delta$ .

Thus, we can take s = 1 to obtain  $J_h(u_0 + w) \ge J_h(u_0)$  for  $||w||_{H^1} < \delta$ . Hence,  $J_h(u_0)$  is a local minimum in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ .

**Theorem 13.12.** (i) If  $\int_{\Omega} h |u_0| > 0$ , then  $u_0$  is a nonnegative solution of Equation (1.1) in  $\Omega$ . Moreover, a positive solution of equation (1.2) exists for  $h \geqq 0$ ; (ii) If  $\int_{\Omega} h |u_0| < 0$ , then  $u_0$  is a nonnegative solution of Equation (1.2) in  $\Omega$ .

(ii) If  $\int_{\Omega} h|u_0| < 0$ , then  $u_0$  is a nonpositive solution of Equation (1.2) in  $\Omega$ . Moreover, a negative solution of Equation (1.2) exists for  $h \leq 0$ ;

(iii) If  $\int_{\Omega} h|u_0| = 0$ , then  $u_0$  is a solution of Equation (1.2) in  $\Omega$  that changes sign.

*Proof.* (i) If  $\int_{\Omega} h|u_0| > 0$ , then by Lemma 13.4  $t_{\max}(|u_0|) > t^+(|u_0|) > 0$  exists such that  $t^+(|u_0|)|u_0| \in \mathbf{M}_h^+$ . Since  $t_{\max}(|u_0|) = t_{\max}(u_0) > 1$ , we have

$$\alpha_h(\Omega) = \alpha_h^+(\Omega) \le J_h(t^+(|u_0|)|u_0|) \le J_h(|u_0|) \le J_h(u_0) = \alpha_h(\Omega),$$

or  $J_h(|u_0|) = \alpha_h(\Omega)$ . By Lemma 13.6 (*ii*) and Lemma 13.11 (*ii*),  $u_0 = |u_0|$ . Thus, we can take  $u_0 \ge 0$ . Moreover, if  $h \ge 0$ , we apply the maximum principle and obtain  $u_0 > 0$ .

(ii) The proof is similar to (i).

(*iii*) Let  $u_0^+ = \max\{u_0, 0\}$  and  $u_0^- = \max\{-u_0, 0\}$ . Since  $\int_{\Omega} h|u_0| = 0$ , then

$$\int_{\Omega} hu_0^+ + \int_{\Omega} hu_0^- = 0$$

By Lemma 13.6 (i), we have  $\int_{\Omega} h u_0^+ > 0$  and  $\int_{\Omega} h u_0^- < 0$ . Thus,  $u_0^+ \geqq 0$  and  $u_0^- \geqq 0$ . Hence,  $u_0$  is a solution of equation (1.2) in  $\Omega$  that changes sign.

13.1.4. Existence of Two Solutions. Let  $u_0$  be the local minimum for  $J_h$  in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  in Theorem 13.11. Then we have the following restricted (PS)-condition.

**Proposition 13.13.** If  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for  $J_h$  with  $\beta < \alpha_h(\Omega) + \alpha(\Omega)$ , then a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and  $u^0$  in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  exist such that  $u_n \to u^0$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  and  $J_h(u^0) = \beta$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a  $(PS)_{\beta}$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for  $J_h$ . By Lemma 13.5 (*ii*),  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded. As in the proof of Proposition 13.9, a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and a solution  $u^0$  of Equation (1.2) exist such that  $u_n \rightharpoonup u^0$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ . Suppose that  $u_n \not u^0$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ . Let  $p_n = u_n - u^0$  for  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$  By Lemma 2.11 and 2.14, we have

$$a(p_n) = a(u_n) - a(u^0) + 0(1),$$
  

$$b(p_n) = b(u_n) - b(u^0) + 0(1).$$
(13.13)

Since  $a(u_n) - b(u_n) - \int_{\Omega} hu_n = o(1)$ ,  $a(u^0) - b(u^0) - \int_{\Omega} hu^0 = 0$  and  $u_n \rightharpoonup u^0$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} a(p_n) &= a(u_n) - a(u^0) + 0(1) \\ &= b(u_n) + \int_{\Omega} hu_n - b(u^0) - \int_{\Omega} hu^0 + o(1) \\ &= b(p_n) + o(1). \end{aligned}$$

Since  $p_n \not\rightarrow 0$ , we have

$$J(p_n) = \frac{1}{2}a(p_n) - \frac{1}{p}b(p_n) = (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})a(p_n) + o(1) > 0.$$

By Theorem 4.3, a sequence  $\{s_n\}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^+$  exists such that  $\{s_n p_n\}$  in  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  and  $J(s_n p_n) = J(p_n) + o(1)$ . Thus, by (13.13) and  $u_n \rightharpoonup u^0$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha(\Omega) &\leq J(s_n p_n) = J(p_n) + o(1) \\ &= J_h(p_n) + o(1) \\ &= J_h(u_n) - J_h(u^0) + o(1) \\ &= \beta - J_h(u^0) + o(1) \\ &< \alpha_h(\Omega) + \alpha(\Omega) - J_h(u^0) + o(1). \end{aligned}$$

Then  $\alpha_h(\Omega) > J_h(u^0) \ge \alpha_h(\Omega)$ , which is a contradiction. Thus,  $u_n \to u^0$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ .

Throughout this section, let  $\Omega$  be an achieved domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ .

**Lemma 13.14.** Let  $\overline{u}$  be a positive solution of Equation (1.1) in  $\Omega$  such that  $J(\overline{u}) = \alpha(\Omega)$  and  $u_0$  is the local minimum in Theorem 13.11. Then (i) If  $\int_{\Omega} h|u_0| > 0$ , then we have

$$\sup_{t \ge 0} J_h(u_0 + t\overline{u}) < J_h(u_0) + \alpha(\Omega).$$

(ii) If  $\int_{\Omega} h|u_0| < 0$ , then we have

$$\sup_{t \ge 0} J_h(u_0 + t(-\overline{u})) < J_h(u_0) + \alpha(\Omega).$$

*Proof.* (i) Since  $\int_{\Omega} h|u_0| > 0$ , by Theorem 13.12 (i),  $u_0$  is a nonnegative solution of Equation (1.2). Let  $f(s) = s^{p-1}$  and  $F(u) = \int_0^u f(s) ds = \frac{1}{p} b(u)$ , then

$$\begin{split} J_{h}(u_{0} + t\overline{u}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}a(u_{0} + t\overline{u}) - \frac{1}{p}b(u_{0} + t\overline{u}) - \int_{\Omega}h(u_{0} + t\overline{u}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\left[a(u_{0}) + a(t\overline{u}) + 2\langle u_{0}, t\overline{u}\rangle_{H^{1}}\right] - \frac{1}{p}b(u_{0} + t\overline{u}) - \int_{\Omega}h(u_{0} + t\overline{u}) \\ &= J_{h}(u_{0}) + J(t\overline{u}) + \langle u_{0}, t\overline{u}\rangle_{H^{1}} + \frac{1}{p}\left[b(u_{0}) + b(t\overline{u}) - b(u_{0} + t\overline{u})\right] - \int_{\Omega}ht\overline{u} \\ &= J_{h}(u_{0}) + J(t\overline{u}) + t(\int_{\Omega}u_{0}^{p-1}\overline{u} + h\overline{u}) - \int_{\Omega}ht\overline{u} \\ &+ \frac{1}{p}\left[b(u_{0}) + b(t\overline{u}) - b(u_{0} + t\overline{u})\right] \\ &= J_{h}(u_{0}) + J(t\overline{u}) - \int_{\Omega}\left\{\int_{0}^{t\overline{u}}\left[f(u_{0} + s) - f(s) - f(u_{0})\right]ds\right\}. \end{split}$$

For v > 0 and w > 0, we have

$$f(v+w) = (v+w)^{p-1} = (v+w)^{p-2}v + (v+w)^{p-2}w > v^{p-1} + w^{p-1} = f(v) + f(w) + f(w)$$

Thus,  $J_h(u_0 + t\overline{u}) \leq J_h(u_0) + J(t\overline{u})$ . Since  $J(t\overline{u}) \to -\infty$  as  $t \to \infty$ , there is a  $t_0 > 0$  such that  $J_h(u_0 + t\overline{u}) < J_h(u_0)$  for  $t \geq t_0$ . Hence,

$$\sup_{t\geq 0} J_h(u_0+t\overline{u}) = \sup_{0\leq t\leq t_0} J_h(u_0+t\overline{u}).$$

Let  $g_1(t) = J_h(u_0 + t\overline{u})$  for  $t \ge 0$ . By the continuity of  $g_1(t)$ , given  $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{2}\alpha(\Omega) > 0$ there is a  $t_0 > t_1 > 0$  such that  $g_1(t) < g_1(0) + \frac{1}{2}\alpha(\Omega)$  for  $2t_1 > t \ge 0$ . Then

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le t_1} J_h(u_0 + t\overline{u}) \le J_h(u_0) + \frac{1}{2}\alpha(\Omega) < J_h(u_0) + \alpha(\Omega).$$

Now, it only remains to show that

$$\sup_{t_1 \le t \le t_0} J_h(u_0 + t\overline{u}) < J_h(u_0) + \alpha(\Omega).$$

Let  $g_2(t) = J(t\overline{u})$  for  $t \ge 0$ , then

$$g'_2(t) = ta(\overline{u}) - t^{p-1}b(\overline{u})$$
 and  $g''_2(t) = a(\overline{u}) - (p-1)t^{p-2}b(\overline{u}).$ 

There is a unique  $\overline{t} = \left[\frac{a(\overline{u})}{b(\overline{u})}\right]^{1/(p-2)} = 1$  such that  $g'_2(\overline{t}) = 0$  and  $g''_2(\overline{t}) < 0$ . Thus,  $g_2(t)$  has an absolute maximum at t = 1. Therefore,

$$\sup_{t>0} J(t\overline{u}) = J(\overline{u}) = \alpha(\Omega).$$

By (13.14), (13.15), we obtain

$$\sup_{\substack{t_1 \le t \le t_0}} J_h(u_0 + t\overline{u})$$
  
$$\leq J_h(u_0) + \alpha(\Omega) - \inf_{\substack{t_1 \le t \le t_0}} \int_{\Omega} \left\{ \int_0^{t\overline{u}} \left[ f(u_0 + s) - f(s) - f(u_0) \right] ds \right\}$$
  
$$< J_h(u_0) + \alpha(\Omega).$$

Thus,  $\sup_{t \ge 0} J_h(u_0 + t\overline{u}) < J_h(u_0) + \alpha(\Omega).$ 

(*ii*) Since  $\int_{\Omega} h|u_0| < 0$ , by Theorem 13.12 (*ii*),  $u_0$  is a nonpositive solution of Equation (1.2). Let  $f(s) = |s|^{p-2}s$  and  $F(u) = \int_0^u f(s)ds = \frac{1}{p}b(u)$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} J_{h}(u_{0} - t\overline{u}) &= \frac{1}{2}a(u_{0} - t\overline{u}) - \frac{1}{p}b(u_{0} - t\overline{u}) - \int_{\Omega}h(u_{0} - t\overline{u}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\left[a(u_{0}) + a(t\overline{u}) + 2\langle u_{0}, -t\overline{u}\rangle_{H^{1}}\right] \\ &- \frac{1}{p}b(-u_{0} + t\overline{u}) - \int_{\Omega}h(u_{0} - t\overline{u}) \\ &= J_{h}(u_{0}) + J(t\overline{u}) + \langle u_{0}, -t\overline{u}\rangle_{H^{1}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{p}\left[b(u_{0}) + b(t\overline{u}) - b(-u_{0} + t\overline{u})\right] + \int_{\Omega}ht\overline{u} \\ &= J_{h}(u_{0}) + J(t\overline{u}) - t(\int_{\Omega}|u_{0}|^{p-2}u_{0}\overline{u} + h\overline{u}) + \int_{\Omega}ht\overline{u} \\ &+ \frac{1}{p}\left[b(-u_{0}) + b(t\overline{u}) - b(-u_{0} + t\overline{u})\right] \\ &= J_{h}(-u_{0}) + J(t\overline{u}) + \int_{\Omega}|-u_{0}|^{p-2}(-u_{0})t\overline{u} \\ &+ \frac{1}{p}\left[b(u_{0}) + b(t\overline{u}) - b(-u_{0} + t\overline{u})\right] \\ &= J_{h}(u_{0}) + J(t\overline{u}) - \int_{\Omega}\left\{\int_{0}^{t\overline{u}}\left[f(-u_{0} + s) - f(s) - f(-u_{0})\right]ds\right\}. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly to part (i), we have  $\sup_{t\geq 0} J_h(u_0 + t(-\overline{u})) < J_h(u_0) + \alpha(\Omega).$ 

**Theorem 13.15.** If  $\int_{\Omega} h|u_0| \neq 0$ , where  $u_0$  is the local minimum in Theorem 13.11, then Equation (1.2) has two solutions  $u_0 \in \mathbf{M}_h^+$ ,  $u^0 \in \mathbf{M}_h^-$  such that  $J_h(u_0) = \alpha_h^+ < \alpha_h^- = J_h(u^0)$ . Moreover, if  $h \geqq 0 (\leqq 0)$ , then Equation (1.2) has at least two positive (negative) solutions in  $\Omega$ .

*Proof.* For  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$  with  $||u||_{H^1} = 1$ , by Lemma 13.4 there is a unique  $t^-(u) > 0$  such that  $t^-(u)u \in \mathbf{M}_h^-$  and

$$J_h(t^-(u)u) = \max_{t \ge t_{\max}} J_h(tu).$$

By Lemma 13.4 (ii) and (iii), we have that  $t^{-}(u)$  is a continuous function for nonzero u and

$$\mathbf{M}_{h}^{-} = \left\{ u \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \frac{1}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}} t^{-}(\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}}) = 1 \right\}.$$

Let

$$A_{1} = \left\{ u \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \frac{1}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}} t^{-}(\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}}) > 1 \right\} \cup \{0\}$$
$$A_{2} = \left\{ u \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \frac{1}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}} t^{-}(\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}}) < 1 \right\}.$$

Then  $H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \mathbf{M}_h^- = A_1 \cup A_2$ . For each  $u \in \mathbf{M}_h^+$ , we have

$$1 < t_{\max}(u) < t^-(u)$$

Since  $t^-(u) = \frac{1}{\|u\|_{H^1}} t^-(\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^1}})$ , then  $\mathbf{M}_h^+ \subset A_1$ . In particular,  $u_0 \in A_1$ . We claim that a  $t_0 > 0$  exists such that  $u_0 + t_0 \bar{u} \in A_2$ . First, we find a constant c > 0 such that  $0 < t^-(\frac{u_0 + t\bar{u}}{\|u_0 + t\bar{u}\|_{H^1}}) < c$  for each  $t \ge 0$ . Otherwise, a sequence  $\{t_n\}$  exists such that  $t_n \to \infty$  and  $t^-(\frac{u_0 + t_n\bar{u}}{\|u_0 + t_n\bar{u}\|_{H^1}}) \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Let  $v_n = \frac{u_0 + t_n\bar{u}}{\|u_0 + t_n\bar{u}\|_{H^1}}$ . Since  $t^-(v_n)v_n \in \mathbf{M}_h^- \subset \mathbf{M}_h$  and by the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem,

$$b(v_n) = \frac{1}{\|u_0 + t_n \overline{u}\|_{H^1}^p} \int_{\Omega} (u_0 + t_n \overline{u})^p$$
$$= \frac{1}{\|\frac{u_0}{t_n} + \overline{u}\|_{H^1}^p} \int_{\Omega} (\frac{u_0}{t_n} + \overline{u})^p$$
$$\to \frac{\int_{\Omega} \overline{u}^p}{\|\overline{u}\|_{H^1}^p} \quad \text{as } n \to \infty.$$

We have

$$J_h(t^-(v_n)v_n) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ t^-(v_n) \right]^2 - \frac{1}{p} \left[ t^-(v_n) \right]^p b(v_n) - t^-(v_n) \int_{\Omega} hv_n$$
  
\$\to\$ -\infty\$ as \$n \to\$ \infty\$.

However,  $J_h$  is bounded below on  $\mathbf{M}_h$ , which is a contradiction. Let

$$t_0 = \left(\frac{2p}{(p-2)\alpha(\Omega)}|c^2 - a(u_0)|\right)^{1/2} + 1.$$

Then

$$\|u_0 + t_0\overline{u}\|_{H^1}^2 = a(u_0) + t_0^2(\frac{p-2}{2p})\alpha(\Omega) + o(1) > c^2 > \left[t^-\left(\frac{u_0 + t_0\overline{u}}{\|u_0 + t_0\overline{u}\|_{H^1}}\right)\right]^2,$$

that is,  $u_0 + t_0 \overline{u} \in A_2$ . Define a path  $\gamma(s) = u_0 + st_0 \overline{u}$  for  $s \in [0, 1]$  where  $t_0 > 1$ , then

$$\gamma(0) = u_0 \in A_1, \quad \gamma(1) = u_0 + t_0 \overline{u} \in A_2.$$

Since  $\frac{1}{\|u\|_{H^1}}t^-(\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^1}})$  is a continuous function for nonzero u and  $\gamma([0,1])$  is connected, a  $s_0 \in (0,1)$  exists such that  $u_0 + s_0 t_0 \overline{u} \in \mathbf{M}_h^-$ . Thus, by Lemma 13.12 and Theorem 13.14 we have

$$\alpha_h^- \le J_h(u_0 + s_0 t_0 \overline{u}) \le \max_{s \in [0,1]} J_h(\gamma(s)) < J_h(u_0) + \alpha(\Omega) \quad \text{for } \int_{\Omega} h|u_0| > 0.$$

Similarly, we also have

$$\alpha_h^- < J_h(u_0) + \alpha(\Omega) \quad \text{for } \int_{\Omega} h|u_0| < 0.$$

By Proposition 13.8 (*iii*), a sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $\mathbf{M}_h^-$  exists such that

$$J_h(u_n) = \alpha_h^-(\Omega) + o(1),$$
  
$$J'_h(u_n) = o(1) \quad \text{strongly in } H^{-1}(\Omega).$$

Then by Proposition 13.13, a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  and  $u^0 \in \mathbf{M}_h$  exist such that  $u_n \to u^0$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ ,  $u^0$  is a solution of Equation (1.2), and  $J_h(u^0) = \alpha_h^-(\Omega)$ . By the Sobolev continuous embedding theorem, we have  $u_n \to u^0$  in  $L^p(\Omega)$ . Thus,

$$a(u^0) - (p-1)b(u^0) \le 0.$$

Then  $u^0 \in \mathbf{M}_h^-$ . This implies  $u^0 \neq u_0$ . We must now show that

$$J_h(u_0) = \alpha_h < \alpha_h^- = J_h(u^0).$$

Otherwise, assume that  $J_h(u^0) = \alpha_h^- = J_h(u_0) = \alpha_h$ . By Lemma 13.6 (i) we have  $\int_{\Omega} hu^0 > 0$ . By Lemma 13.4,  $t^+(u^0) > 0$  exists such that  $t^+(u^0)u^0 \in \mathbf{M}_h^+$  and

$$\alpha_h^+(\Omega) \le J_h(t^+(u^0)u^0) < J_h(u^0) \le \alpha_h \le \alpha_h^-,$$

which is a contradiction.

Finally, if  $h \ge 0$ , by Lemma 13.4  $t^{-}(|u^{0}|) > 0$  exists such that

$$t^{-}(|u^{0}|)|u^{0}| \in \mathbf{M}_{h}^{-}, t^{-}(|u^{0}|) > t_{\max}(|u^{0}|) = t_{\max}(u^{0})$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_h^-(\Omega) &\leq J_h(t^-(|u^0|)|u^0|) \leq J_h(t^-(|u^0|)u^0) \\ &\leq \max_{t \geq t_{\max}(u^0)} J_h(tu^0) = J_h(u^0) = \alpha_h^-(\Omega). \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$J_h(t^-(|u^0|)|u^0|) = J_h(t^-(|u^0|)u^0) = \alpha_h^-(\Omega).$$

We conclude that  $\int_{\Omega} hu^0 = \int_{\Omega} h|u^0|$ . Let  $u^0_+ = \max\{u^0, 0\}$  and  $u^0_- = \max\{-u^0, 0\}$ , then  $\int_{\Omega} hu^0_- = 0$ . Since  $h \geqq 0$  and  $u^0_- \ge 0$ , we have  $u^0_- = 0$ . Hence,  $u^0 \ge 0$ . By the maximum principle,  $u^0 > 0$ .

**Remark 13.16.** By Theorems 13.11 and 13.15, there is a unique solution  $u_0$  of Equation (1.2) in  $\Omega$  such that  $J_h(u_0) = \alpha_h^+(\Omega) = \alpha_h(\Omega)$ .

Bibliographical notes: The results of this section are from Lin-Wang-Wu [55].

13.1.5. Three Solutions. Throughout this section, we consider a  $C^{1,1}$  domain  $\Omega$  to be  $\mathbf{A}^r$ ,  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $\mathbf{A}^r \setminus \overline{D}$ , or  $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \overline{D}$ , where D is a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and assume that  $h \in L^{\frac{N}{2}}(\Omega) \cap L^s(\Omega) \cap L^2(\Omega)$  for some s > N,  $0 < \|h\|_{L^2} < d(p, \alpha)$ , and

 $0 \le h(z) \le c \exp(-(1+\varepsilon)|z|)$  for any  $z \in \Omega$ ,

for some positive constants c and  $\varepsilon$ , where  $d(p, \alpha)$  is defined as in (13.1). Then we have the following lemma.

**Lemma 13.17.** Let u be a positive solution of the Equation (1.2). Then for any  $0 < \delta < \min\{\varepsilon, 1\}$ , positive constants  $c_{\delta}^1$ ,  $c_{\delta}^2$  and R exist such that for  $|z| \ge R$ 

$$c_{\delta}^{1} \exp(-(1+\delta)|z|) \le u(z) \le c_{\delta}^{2} \exp(-(1-\delta)|z|).$$

*Proof.* By Lemma 8.11 and 8.12, we have  $u \in W^{2,s}(\Omega) \cap C^{1,\theta}(\overline{\Omega})$  for some  $\theta$ ,  $0 < \theta < 1$  and  $\lim_{|z|\to\infty} u(z) = 0$ . Take  $R_1 > 0$  such that  $D \subset B^N(0; R_1)$ . For any  $0 < \delta < \min\{\varepsilon, 1\}$ , we choose  $R_2 > R_1 > 0$  such that

$$(1+\delta) - \frac{\sqrt{1+\delta(N-1)}}{|z|} \ge 1 \quad \text{for } |z| \ge R_2.$$
 (13.16)

Let  $\beta = \sqrt{1+\delta}$  and  $v_1(z) = \mu \exp(-\beta(|z| - R_2))$ , where  $\mu = \min_{|z|=R_2} u(z) > 0$ . Then  $\min_{|z|=R_2}(u-v_1)(z) \ge 0$ . By (13.16), for  $|z| > R_2$ 

$$\Delta(u - v_1)(z) = u - |u|^{p-2}u - h(z) - \left(\beta^2 - \frac{\beta(N-1)}{|z|}\right)v_1$$

$$\leq u - \left(\beta^2 - \frac{\beta(N-1)}{|z|}\right)v_1$$
  
$$\leq (u - v_1)(z).$$

By Lemma 9.3, for  $|z| > R_2$ ,

$$u(z) - v_1(z) \ge \min_{|z|=R_2} (u - v_1)(z) \ge 0.$$

Thus, we have

$$u(z) \ge v_1(z)$$
  
=  $\mu \exp(-\beta(|z| - R_2))$   
=  $\mu \exp(R_2\sqrt{1+\delta}) \exp(-\beta|z|)$   
 $\ge c_{\delta}^1 \exp(-(1+\delta)|z|) \text{ for } |z| \ge R_2.$  (13.17)

We know that there exist positive numbers  $\varepsilon$ , c such that

$$0 \le h(z) \le c \exp(-(1+\varepsilon)|z|)$$
 for any  $z \in \Omega$ .

For any  $0 < \delta < \min\{\varepsilon, 1\}$ , by (13.17), there is  $R_3 > R_2 > 0$  such that

$$\frac{\delta}{2}u(z) \ge h(z) \quad \text{for } |z| \ge R_3. \tag{13.18}$$

Since  $\lim_{|z|\to\infty} u(z) = 0$ , there is  $R > R_3 > 0$  such that

$$1 - u^{p-2} \ge 1 - \frac{\delta}{2}$$
 for  $|z| \ge R.$  (13.19)

Let  $\gamma = \sqrt{1-\delta}$  and  $v_2(z) = \nu \exp(-\gamma(|z| - R))$ , where  $\nu = \max_{|z|=R} u(z) > 0$ . Thus min  $|z| = R(v_2 - u)(z) \ge 0$ . By (13.18) and (13.19), for |z| > R

$$\Delta(v_2 - u)(z) = (\gamma^2 - \frac{\gamma(N-1)}{|z|})v_2(z) - u + |u|^{p-2}u + h(z)$$
  
$$\leq \gamma^2 v_2 - (1 - \frac{\delta}{2})u + h(z)$$
  
$$= (1 - \delta)(v_2(z) - u(z)) - \frac{\delta}{2}u + h(z)$$
  
$$\leq (1 - \delta)(v_2(z) - u(z)).$$

By Lemma 9.3, for |z| > R

$$v_2(z) - u(z) \ge \min_{|z|=R} (v_2 - u)(z) \ge 0.$$

Thus, we have

$$u(z) \le v_2(z) = \nu \exp(-\gamma(|z| - R))$$
  
=  $\nu \exp(R\sqrt{1 - \delta}) \exp(-\gamma|z|)$   
 $\le c_\delta^2 \exp(-(1 - \delta)|z|) \text{ for } |z| \ge R.$ 

By Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47], there is a positive ground state solution  $\bar{u}$  of the Equation (1.1) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  such that  $J(\bar{u}) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . By Gidas-Ni-Nirenberg [35], we have that  $\bar{u}$  is radially symmetric about 0 in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . Similarly to Lemma 13.17, for any  $\delta' > 0$ , positive constants  $c_{\delta'}^1$  and  $c_{\delta'}^2$  exist such that

$$c_{\delta'}^1 \exp(-(1+\delta')|z|) \le \overline{u}(z) \le c_{\delta'}^2 \exp(-(1-\delta')|z|) \quad \text{for } z \in \mathbb{R}^N.$$

By Lemma 13.17, there is a R > 0 such that  $D \subset B(0; R)$ . For such R, let  $\psi_R : \mathbb{R}^N \to [0, 1]$  be a  $C^{\infty}$ -function on  $\mathbb{R}^N$  such that  $0 \leq \psi_R \leq 1$ ,

$$\psi_R(z) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } |z| \ge R+1; \\ 0 & \text{for } |z| \le R. \end{cases}$$

For  $\overline{z} \in \mathbb{R}^N$ , we define

$$v_{\overline{z}}(z) = \psi_R(z)\overline{u}(z-\overline{z}).$$

Clearly,  $v_{\overline{z}}(z) \in H^1_0(\Omega)$ .

**Lemma 13.18.** (i)  $a(v_{\overline{z}}) = b(v_{\overline{z}}) + o(1)$  as  $|\overline{z}| \to \infty$ ; (ii)  $J(v_{\overline{z}}) = \alpha(\Omega) + o(1)$  as  $|\overline{z}| \to \infty$ ; (iii)  $v_{\overline{z}} \to 0$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  as  $|\overline{z}| \to \infty$ .

*Proof.* (i-1)  $a(v_{\overline{z}}) = a(\overline{u}) + o(1)$  as  $|\overline{z}| \to \infty$ : since  $\overline{u} \in H^1_0(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \|v_{\overline{z}}(z) - \bar{u}(z-\overline{z})\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla[(\psi_{R}(z)-1)\bar{u}(z-\overline{z})]|^{2} dz + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |(\psi_{R}(z)-1)\bar{u}(z-\overline{z})|^{2} dz \\ &\leq 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla(\psi_{R}(z)-1)|^{2} |\bar{u}(z-\overline{z})|^{2} dz + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |(\psi_{R}(z)-1)|^{2} |\nabla\bar{u}(z-\overline{z})|^{2} dz \\ &+ \int_{\{|z| \leq R+1\}} |\bar{u}(z-\overline{z})|^{2} dz \\ &\leq 2 \int_{\{R \leq |z| \leq R+1\}} |\bar{u}(z-\overline{z})|^{2} dz + 2 \int_{\{|z| \leq R+1\}} (|\nabla\bar{u}(z-\overline{z})|^{2} + |\bar{u}(z-\overline{z})|^{2}) dz = o(1) \end{split}$$

Thus,  $a(v_{\overline{z}}) = a(\overline{u}(z-\overline{z})) + o(1) = a(\overline{u}) + o(1)$  as  $|\overline{z}| \to \infty$ . (*i*-2)  $b(v_{\overline{z}}) = b(\overline{u}) + o(1)$  as  $|\overline{z}| \to \infty$ : since  $\overline{u} \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_{\overline{z}}(z) - \overline{u}(z - \overline{z})\|_{L^p}^p &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |(\psi_R(z) - 1)|^p |\overline{u}(z - \overline{z})|^p dz \\ &\leq \int_{\{|z| \le R+1\}} |\overline{u}(z - \overline{z})|^p dz = o(1). \end{aligned}$$

Thus,  $b(v_{\overline{z}}) = b(\overline{u}(z - \overline{z})) + o(1) = b(\overline{u}) + o(1)$  as  $|\overline{z}| \to \infty$ . By (*i*-1), (*i*-2)and that  $\overline{u}$  is a solution of the Equation (1.1), we have

$$a(v_{\overline{z}}) = a(\overline{u}) + o(1) = b(\overline{u}) + o(1) = b(v_{\overline{z}}) + o(1) \quad \text{as } |\overline{z}| \to \infty.$$

(*ii*) By Lemma 4.18,  $J(v_{\overline{z}}) = J(\overline{u}) + o(1) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) + o(1) = \alpha(\Omega) + o(1)$  as  $|\overline{z}| \to \infty$ . (*iii*) For  $\phi \in C_c^1(\Omega)$  with  $K = \operatorname{supp} \phi$ , then  $K \subset \Omega$  is compact.

$$\begin{split} |\langle v_{\overline{z}}, \phi \rangle_{H^1}| &= \left| \int_{\Omega} \nabla v_{\overline{z}}(z) \nabla \phi(z) dz + \int_{\Omega} v_{\overline{z}}(z) \phi(z) dz \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{K} \nabla \left[ \psi_R(z) \bar{u}(z - \overline{z}) \right] \nabla \phi(z) dz + \int_{K} \psi_R(z) \bar{u}(z - \overline{z}) \phi(z) dz \right| \\ &\leq \| \nabla \left[ \psi_R(z) \bar{u}(z - \overline{z}) \right] \|_{L^2(K)} \| \nabla \phi \|_{L^2(K)} \\ &+ \| \psi_R(z) \bar{u}(z - \overline{z}) \|_{L^2(K)} \| \phi \|_{L^2(K)} \\ &= o(1) \quad \text{as } |\overline{z}| \to \infty. \end{split}$$

By part (i), there is a c > 0 such that  $||v_{\overline{z}}||_{H^1} \leq c$ . For  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $\varphi \in H^1_0(\Omega)$ , there exist  $\phi \in C^1_c(\Omega)$  and  $l_0 > 0$  such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\varphi - \phi\|_{H^1} &< \varepsilon/2c \\ |\langle v_{\overline{z}}, \phi \rangle_{H^1}| &< \varepsilon/2 \quad \text{for } |\overline{z}| \ge l_0 \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$\begin{aligned} \langle v_{\overline{z}}, \varphi \rangle_{H^1} &= \langle v_{\overline{z}}, \varphi - \phi \rangle_{H^1} + \langle v_{\overline{z}}, \phi \rangle_{H^1} \\ &\leq \|v_{\overline{z}}\|_{H^1} \|\varphi - \phi\|_{H^1} + \langle v_{\overline{z}}, \phi \rangle_{H^1} \\ &< c \|\varphi - \phi\|_{H^1} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \\ &< \varepsilon \text{ for } |\overline{z}| \ge l_0. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore,  $v_{\overline{z}} \rightharpoonup 0$  weakly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  as  $|\overline{z}| \rightarrow \infty$ .

**Lemma 13.19.** Let D be a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . If  $f: D \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfies

$$\int_{D} |f(z)e^{\sigma|z|}|dz < \infty \quad for \ some \ \sigma > 0,$$

then

$$(\int_D f(z)e^{-\sigma|z-\overline{z}|}dz)e^{\sigma|\overline{z}|} = \int_D f(z)e^{\sigma\frac{\langle z,\overline{z}\rangle}{|\overline{z}|}}dz + o(1) \quad as \ |\overline{z}| \to \infty.$$

*Proof.* Since  $\sigma |\overline{z}| \leq \sigma |z| + \sigma |z - \overline{z}|$ , we have

$$f(z)e^{-\sigma|z-\overline{z}|}e^{\sigma|\overline{z}|} \le |f(z)e^{\sigma|z|}|.$$

Since  $-\sigma |z - \overline{z}| + \sigma |\overline{z}| = \sigma \frac{\langle z, \overline{z} \rangle}{|\overline{z}|} + o(1)$  as  $|\overline{z}| \to \infty$ , then the lemma follows from Theorem 2.20.

Since  $\Omega$  here is nonachieved, we need a delicate result.

**Lemma 13.20.**  $l_0 > 0$  exists such that for  $|\overline{z}| \ge l_0$ 

$$\sup_{t \ge 0} J_h(u_0 + tv_{\overline{z}}) < J_h(u_0) + \alpha(\Omega),$$

where  $u_0$  is the local minimum in Theorem 13.12.

*Proof.* Since  $J_h$  is continuous in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  and  $\{v_{\overline{z}}\}$  is bounded in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ , there is  $t_0 > 0$  such that for  $0 \le t < t_0$  and each  $v_{\overline{z}} \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ 

$$J_h(u_0 + tv_{\overline{z}}) < J_h(u_0) + \alpha(\Omega).$$

Thus, we only need to show that there exists  $l_0 > 0$  such that for  $|\overline{z}| \ge l_0$ 

$$\sup_{t \ge t_0} J_h(u_0 + tv_{\overline{z}}) < J_h(u_0) + \alpha(\Omega).$$

First, we observe that if  $a \ge 0$  and  $b \ge 0$ , then there is c = c(p) > 0 independent of a and b such that

$$(a+b)^p \ge a^p + b^p + p(a^{p-1}b + ab^{p-1}) - ca^{p/2}b^{p/2}.$$

Hence, we get

$$\int_{\Omega} (u_0 + tv_{\overline{z}})^p dz$$
  

$$\geq \int_{\Omega} (u_0^p + (tv_{\overline{z}})^p + ptu_0^{p-1}v_{\overline{z}} + pu_0(tv_{\overline{z}})^{p-1})dz - c \int_{\Omega} u_0^{p/2}(tv_{\overline{z}})^{p/2}dz.$$

By Lemma 4.2 and Theorem 4.3, there exists a  $t^0(v_{\overline{z}}) > 0$  such that  $t^0(v_{\overline{z}})v_{\overline{z}} \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  and

 $\max t \ge 0 J(tv_{\overline{z}}) = J(t^0(v_{\overline{z}})v_{\overline{z}}) = \alpha(\Omega) + o(1) \quad \text{as } |\overline{z}| \to \infty.$ (13.20) By (13.20) and Lemma 13.18, we deduce for  $t \ge t_0$ 

$$\begin{aligned} J_h(u_0 + tv_{\overline{z}}) &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \left[ |\nabla (u_0 + tv_{\overline{z}})|^2 + (u_0 + tv_{\overline{z}})^2 \right] dz \\ &- \frac{1}{p} \int_{\Omega} (u_0 + tv_{\overline{z}})^p dz - \int_{\Omega} h(u_0 + tv_{\overline{z}}) dz \\ &\leq J_h(u_0) + \alpha(\Omega) - t^{\frac{p}{2}} \left( t_0^{\frac{p-2}{2}} \int_{\Omega} v_{\overline{z}}^{p-1} u_0 dz - \frac{c}{p} \int_{\Omega} u_0^{p/2} v_{\overline{z}}^{\frac{p}{2}} dz \right) + o(1). \end{aligned}$$

Let  $0 < \delta' < \min\{\varepsilon, \frac{p-2}{p+2}\}$ , then  $\frac{(1-\delta')p}{2} - (1+\delta') > 0$ . We choose  $0 < \delta < \delta' < (p-2) + (p-1)\delta$ .

By Lemma 13.17, 13.18 and 
$$u_0$$
 is a positive solution of the Equation (1.2), we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} v_{\overline{z}}^{p-1} u_0 dz &= \int_{\Omega} (\nabla v_{\overline{z}} \nabla u_0 + v_{\overline{z}} u_0) dz + o(1) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} (v_{\overline{z}} u_0^{p-1} + h v_{\overline{z}}) dz + o(1) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} v_{\overline{z}} u_0^{p-1} dz + o(1) \\ &\geq c_1 \int_{\{|z| \ge R+1\}} e^{(-(1+\delta')|z-\overline{z}|)} e^{(p-1)(-(1+\delta)|z|)} dz + o(1) \end{split}$$

and

$$\int_{\Omega} u_0^{p/2} v_{\overline{z}}^{p/2} dz \le c_2 \int_{\{|z| \ge R\}} e^{(-\frac{(1-\delta')p}{2}|z-\overline{z}|)} e^{(-\frac{(1-\delta)p}{2}|z|)} dz,$$

where  $c_1 = c_1(\delta, \delta')$  and  $c_2 = c_2(\delta, \delta')$ . Since

$$\int_{\{|z| \ge R+1\}} e^{(p-1)(-(1+\delta)|z|)} e^{(1+\delta')|z|} dz < \infty$$

and

$$\int_{\{|z| \ge R\}} e^{(-\frac{(1-\delta)p}{2}|z|)} e^{\frac{(1-\delta')p}{2}|z|} dz < \infty,$$

by Lemma 13.19, we deduce that as  $|\overline{z}| \to \infty$ 

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} v_{\overline{z}}^{p-1} u_0 dz &\geq c_1 \int_{\{|z| \geq R+1\}} e^{(-(1+\delta')|z-\overline{z}|)} e^{(p-1)(-(1+\delta)|z|)} dz + o(1) \\ &= c_1 \Big\{ \int_{\{|z| \geq R+1\}} e^{(p-1)(-(1+\delta)|z|)} e^{(1+\delta')\frac{\langle z,\overline{z} \rangle}{|\overline{z}|}} dz + o(1) \Big\} e^{-(1+\delta')|\overline{z}|} dz \Big\} dz \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} u_0^{p/2} v_{\overline{z}}^{p/2} dz &\leq c_2 \int_{\{|z| \geq R\}} e^{\left(-\frac{(1-\delta')p}{2}|z-\overline{z}|\right)} e^{\left(-\frac{(1-\delta)p}{2}|z|\right)} dz \\ &= c_2 \Big\{ \int_{\{|z| \geq R\}} e^{\left(-\frac{(1-\delta)p}{2}|z|\right)} e^{\frac{(1-\delta')p}{2}\frac{\langle z,\overline{z} \rangle}{|\overline{z}|}} dz + o(1) \Big\} e^{-\frac{(1-\delta')p}{2}|\overline{z}|}. \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} & \frac{\int_{\Omega} v_{\overline{z}}^{p-1} u_0 dz}{\int_{\Omega} u_0^{\frac{p}{2}} v_{\overline{z}}^{p/2} dz} \\ & \geq \frac{c_1 \{\int_{\{|z| \ge R+1\}} e^{(p-1)(-(1+\delta)|z|)} e^{(1+\delta')\frac{\langle z,\overline{z} \rangle}{|\overline{z}|}} dz + o(1)\}}{c_2 \{\int_{\{|z| \ge R\}} e^{(-\frac{(1-\delta)p}{2}|z|)} e^{\frac{(1-\delta')p}{2}\frac{\langle z,\overline{z} \rangle}{|\overline{z}|}} dz + o(1)\}} \end{split}$$

which approaches  $\infty$  as  $|\overline{z}| \to \infty$ . Then  $l_0 > 0$  exists such that for  $|\overline{z}| \ge l_0$ 

$$t_0^{\frac{p-2}{2}} \int_{\Omega} v_{\overline{z}}^{p-1} u_0 dz - \frac{c}{p} \int_{\Omega} u_0^{p/2} v_{\overline{z}}^{p/2} dz > 0.$$

Hence, we have that for  $|\overline{z}| \geq l_0$ ,

$$\sup_{t \ge t_0} J_h(u_0 + tv_{\overline{z}}) < J_h(u_0) + \alpha(\Omega).$$

Take the sequence  $\{t_n\} \subset \mathbb{R}$  such that  $|t_n| \nearrow +\infty$  as  $n \to +\infty$ . For  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we define

$$v_n(z) = \psi_R(z)\overline{u}(z - t_n\overline{z})$$

where  $\overline{z}$  is a unit vector in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . Clearly,  $v_n \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ .

**Remark 13.21.** There exists  $n_0 > 0$  such that for  $n \ge n_0$ 

$$\sup_{t \ge 0} J_h(u_0 + tv_n) < J_h(u_0) + \alpha(\Omega) \quad \text{uniformly in } \overline{z},$$

where  $u_0$  is the local minimum in Theorem 13.12.

We use the notation: For  $c \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$[J_h \le c] = \{ u \in \mathbf{M}_h^- : J_h(u) \le c \}.$$

In this section, we show for a sufficiently small  $\sigma > 0$ 

$$\operatorname{cat}([J_h \le \alpha_h(\Omega) + \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) - \sigma]) \ge 2.$$
(13.21)

To prove (13.21), we need some preliminaries. Recall the definition of Lusternik-Schnirelman category.

**Definition 13.22.** (i) For a topological space X, we say a non-empty, closed subset  $A \subset X$  is contractible to a point in X if and only if there exists a continuous mapping

$$\eta: [0,1] \times A \to X$$

such that for some  $x_0 \in X$ 

$$\begin{split} \eta(0,x) &= x \quad \text{for all } x \in A, \\ \eta(1,x) &= x_0 \quad \text{for all } x \in A. \end{split}$$

(*ii*) We define

 $\operatorname{cat}(X) = \min \{k \in \mathbb{N} : \text{there exist closed subsets } A_1, \dots, A_k \subset X \text{ such that} \}$ 

 $A_j$  is contractible to a point in X for all j and  $\bigcup_{j=1}^k A_j = X$ .

When we do not have finitely many closed subsets  $A_1, \ldots, A_k \subset X$  such that  $A_j$  is contractible to a point in X for all j and  $\bigcup_{j=1}^k A_j = X$ , we say  $\operatorname{cat}(X) = \infty$ .

For fundamental properties of Lusternik-Schnirelman category, we refer to Ambrosetti [2] and Schwartz [66]. Here we use the following property:

**Theorem 13.23.** Suppose that X is a Hilbert manifold and  $\Psi \in C^1(X, \mathbb{R})$ . Assume that there are  $c_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

(i)  $\Psi(x)$  satisfies the  $(PS)_c$ -condition for  $c \leq c_0$ ;

 $(ii) \operatorname{cat}(\{x \in X : \Psi(x) \le c_0\}) \ge k.$ 

Then  $\Psi(x)$  has at least k critical points in  $\{x \in X; \Psi(x) \le c_0\}$ .

**Theorem 13.24.** Let  $N \ge 1$ ,  $S^{N-1} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^N; |x| = 1\}$ , and let X be a topological space. Suppose that there are two continuous maps

$$F: S^{N-1} \to X, \quad G: X \to S^{N-1}$$

such that  $G \circ F$  is homotopic to the identity map of  $S^{N-1}$ , that is, a continuous map  $\zeta : [0,1] \times S^{N-1} \to S^{N-1}$  exists such that

$$\begin{split} \zeta(0,x) &= (G \circ F)(x) \quad \textit{for each } x \in S^{N-1}, \\ \zeta(1,x) &= x \quad \textit{for each } x \in S^{N-1}. \end{split}$$

Then  $\operatorname{cat}(X) \ge 2$ .

*Proof.* We argue indirectly and suppose that  $\operatorname{cat}(X) = 1$ , that is, that X is contractible to a point in itself. Thus, a continuous map  $\eta : [0, 1] \times X \to X$  exists such that for some  $x_0 \in X$ 

$$\eta(0, x) = x \quad \text{for all } x \in X,$$
  
$$\eta(1, x) = x_0 \quad \text{for all } x \in X.$$

Consider a homotopy  $\beta:[0,1]\times S^{N-1}\to S^{N-1}$  defined by

$$\beta(s, x) = G(\eta(s, F(x))).$$

Then

$$\beta(0, x) = (G \circ F)(x) \quad \text{for all } x \in X,$$
  
$$\beta(1, x) = G(x_0) \quad \text{for all } x \in X.$$

Thus  $G \circ F$  is homotopic to a constant map. However, by assumption,  $G \circ F$  is homotopic to the identity. Thus  $S^{N-1}$  is contractible to a point in  $S^{N-1}$ , which is a contradiction. Therefore  $cat(X) \geq 2$ .

Let

$$A_{1} = \left\{ u \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \frac{1}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}} t^{-}(\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}}) > 1 \right\} \cup \{0\}$$
$$A_{2} = \left\{ u \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \frac{1}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}} t^{-}(\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}}) < 1 \right\}.$$

Lemma 13.25. We have the following results:

(i)  $H_0^1(\Omega) \backslash \mathbf{M}_h^- = A_1 \cup A_2;$ 

(*ii*)  $\mathbf{M}_h^+ \subset A_1$ ;

(iii)  $t_0 > 1$  and  $n_1 \ge n_0$  exist such that  $u_0 + t_0 v_n \in A_2$  for each  $n \ge n_1$ , where  $n_0$  is defined as in Remark 13.21;

(iv) a sequence  $\{s_n\} \subset (0,1)$  exists such that  $u_0 + s_n t_0 v_n \in \mathbf{M}_h^-$  for each  $n \ge n_1$ .

*Proof.* (i) By Lemma 13.4 (iii), we have

$$\mathbf{M}_{h}^{-} = \left\{ u \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \frac{1}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}} t^{-}(\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}}) = 1 \right\}.$$

Then  $H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \mathbf{M}_h^- = A_1 \cup A_2$ . (*ii*) For each  $u \in \mathbf{M}_h^+$ , we have

$$1 < t_{\max}(u) < t^{-}(u).$$

Since  $t^-(u) = \frac{1}{\|u\|_{H^1}} t^-(\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^1}})$ , then  $\mathbf{M}_h^+ \subset A_1$ . In particular,  $u_0 \in A_1$ . (*iii*) There is a constant c > 0 such that  $0 < t^-(\frac{u_0 + tv_n}{\|u_0 + tv_n\|_{H^1}}) < c$  for each  $t \ge 0$  and each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Otherwise, a sequence  $\{t_n\}$  and a subsequence  $\{v_n\}$  exist such that  $t^-(\frac{u_0 + t_nv_n}{\|u_0 + t_nv_n\|_{H^1}}) \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Let  $w_n = \frac{u_0 + t_nv_n}{\|u_0 + t_nv_n\|_{H^1}}$ . We claim that  $b(w_n)$  is bounded below away from zero.

Case  $(a): t_n = c_0 + o(1)$  as  $n \to \infty$ , where  $c_0 > 0$ . By Lemma 13.18, we have

$$a(v_n) = b(v_n) + o(1) = \frac{2p}{p-2}\alpha(\Omega) + o(1).$$

Thus,

$$b(w_n) = \frac{1}{\left\|\frac{u_0}{t_n} + v_n\right\|_{H^1}^p} \int_{\Omega} \left(\frac{u_0}{t_n} + v_n\right)^p$$
  

$$\geq \frac{b(v_n)}{2^{p-1} \left(\left\|\frac{u_0}{t_n}\right\|_{H^1}^p + \left\|v_n\right\|_{H^1}^p\right)}$$
  

$$= \frac{\frac{2p}{p-2}\alpha(\Omega)}{2^{p-1} \left(\frac{\left\|u_0\right\|_{H^1}^p}{c_0^p} + \left(\frac{2p}{p-2}\alpha(\Omega)\right)^{p/2}\right)} + o(1)$$

Case  $(b): t_n \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$ . The proof is similar to Case (a). Case  $(c): t_n = o(1)$  as  $n \to \infty$ . By Lemma 13.18, we have

$$||u_0 + t_n v_n||_{H^1}^2 = ||u_0||_{H^1}^2 + t_n^2 ||v_n||_{H^1}^2 + 2t_n \langle v_n, u_0 \rangle_{H^1} = ||u_0||_{H^1}^2 + o(1).$$

Thus,

$$b(w_n) \ge \frac{1}{\|u_0 + t_n v_n\|_{H^1}^p} \int_{\Omega} u_0^p = \frac{1}{\|u_0\|_{H^1}^p} \int_{\Omega} u_0^p + o(1).$$

From Case (a), (b) and (c),  $b(w_n)$  is bounded below away from zero. Since  $t^-(w_n)w_n \in \mathbf{M}_h^- \subset \mathbf{M}_h$ , we have

$$J_h(t^-(w_n)w_n) = \frac{1}{2}[t^-(w_n)]^2 - \frac{1}{p}[t^-(w_n)]^p b(w_n) - t^-(w_n) \int_{\Omega} hw_n$$

which approaches  $-\infty$  as  $n \to \infty$ . However,  $J_h$  is bounded below on  $\mathbf{M}_h$ , which is a contradiction. Let

$$t_0 = \left(\frac{p-2}{2p\alpha(\Omega)}|c^2 - a(u_0)|\right)^{1/2} + 1,$$

then

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_0 + t_0 v_n\|_{H^1}^2 &= a(u_0) + t_0^2 \left(\frac{2p}{p-2}\right) \alpha(\Omega) + o(1) \\ &> c^2 + o(1) \ge \left[ t^- \left(\frac{u_0 + t_0 v_n}{\|u_0 + t_0 v_n\|_{H^1}}\right) \right]^2 + o(1). \end{aligned}$$

Thus, there is an  $n_1 \ge n_0$ , where  $n_0$  is defined as in Remark 13.21, such that, or  $n \ge n_1$ ,

$$\frac{1}{\|u_0 + t_0 v_n\|_{H^1}} t^- \left(\frac{u_0 + t_0 v_n}{\|u_0 + t_0 v_n\|_{H^1}}\right) < 1,$$

or  $u_0 + t_0 v_n \in A_2$ .

(iv) Define a path  $\gamma_n(s) = u_0 + st_0v_n$  for  $s \in [0, 1]$  and each  $n \ge n_1$  where  $t_0 > 1$ , then

$$\gamma_n(0) = u_0 \in A_1, \ \gamma_n(1) = u_0 + t_0 v_n \in A_2.$$

Since  $\frac{1}{\|u\|_{H^1}}t^-(\frac{u}{\|u\|_{H^1}})$  is a continuous function for nonzero u and  $\gamma_n([0,1])$  is connected, a sequence  $\{s_n\} \subset (0,1)$  exists such that  $u_0 + s_n t_0 v_n \in \mathbf{M}_h^-$ .  $\Box$ 

Define a map  $F_n: S^{N-1} \to H_0^1(\Omega)$  by, for  $\overline{z} \in S^{N-1}$ ,

$$F_n(\overline{z})(z) = u_0(z) + s_n t_0 v_n(z) \quad \text{for } n \ge n_1,$$

where  $v_n(z) = \psi_R(z)\overline{u}(z-t_n\overline{z})$  and  $n_1$  is defined as in Lemma 13.25. Then we have the following proposition.

**Proposition 13.26.** A sequence  $\{\sigma_n\} \subset \mathbb{R}^+$  exists such that

$$F_n(S^{N-1}) \subset \left[J_h \le \alpha_h(\Omega) + \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) - \sigma_n\right].$$

*Proof.* By Lemma 13.25 (*iv*) and Remark 13.21, we have that for each  $n \geq n_1$  $u_0 + s_n t_0 v_n \in \mathbf{M}_h^-$  and  $J_h(u_0 + s_n t_0 v_n) \leq \alpha_h(\Omega) + \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) - \sigma_n$ , the conclusion holds.

For c > 0, we define

$$b_c(u) = \int_{\Omega} c|u|^p;$$

$$I_c(u) = \frac{1}{2}a(u) - \frac{1}{p}b_c(u);$$

$$\mathbf{M}_{I_c} = \{u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \langle I_c'(u), u \rangle = 0\}.$$

Recall that a unique  $t^- = t^-(u) > 0$  and  $t^1 = t^1(u) > 0$  exist such that  $t^-u \in \mathbf{M}_h^$ and  $t^1u \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$ .

**Lemma 13.27.** For  $u \in \Sigma = \{u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \mid ||u||_{H^1} = 1\}$ , we have the following results:

(i) a unique  $t^{c}(u) > 0$  exists such that  $t^{c}(u)u \in \mathbf{M}_{I_{c}}$  and

$$\max_{t \ge 0} I_c(tu) = I_c(t^c(u)u) = (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})b_c(u)^{-\frac{2}{p-2}};$$

(ii) for  $0 < \mu < 1$ ,  $d_1(\mu) > 0$  exists such that for  $||h||_{L^2} < d_1(\mu)$ 

$$J_h(t^-u) \ge (1-\mu)^{\frac{p}{p-2}} J(t^0 u) - \frac{1}{2\mu} \|h\|_{L^2}^2.$$

*Proof.* (i) For each  $u \in \Sigma$ , let  $f(t) = I_c(tu) = \frac{1}{2}t^2 - \frac{1}{p}t^pb_c(u)$ , then  $f(t) \to -\infty$  as  $t \to \infty$ ,  $f'(t) = t - t^{p-1}b_c(u)$  and  $f''(t) = 1 - (p-1)t^{p-2}b_c(u)$ . Let

$$t^{c}(u) = \left[\frac{1}{b_{c}(u)}\right]^{\frac{1}{p-2}} > 0.$$

Then  $f'(t^c(u)) = 0, t^c(u)u \in \mathbf{M}_{I_c}$  and

$$(t^{c}(u))^{2} f''(t^{c}(u)) = a(t^{c}(u)u) - (p-1)b_{c}(t^{c}(u)u)$$
$$= (2-p)(t^{c}(u))^{2}a(u) < 0.$$

Thus, a unique  $t^{c}(u) > 0$  exists such that  $t^{c}(u)u \in \mathbf{M}_{I_{c}}$  and

$$\max_{t \ge 0} I_c(tu) = I_c(t^c(u)u) = (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})b_c(u)^{-\frac{2}{p-2}}.$$

(*ii*) Let  $c = \frac{1}{1-\mu}$ ,  $t^c = t^{\frac{1}{1-\mu}} > 0$  and  $t^1 = t^1(u) > 0$  such that  $t^c u \in M_{I_c}$  and  $t^1 u \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$ . For  $\mu \in (0, 1)$ , we have

$$|\int_{\Omega} ht^{c} u dz| \leq ||t^{c} u||_{H^{1}} ||h||_{L^{2}} \leq \frac{\mu}{2} ||t^{c} u||_{H^{1}}^{2} + \frac{1}{2\mu} ||h||_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$

Then by part (i),

$$\begin{split} \sup_{t\geq 0} J_h(tu) &\geq J_h(t^c u) \geq \frac{1-\mu}{2} \|t^c u\|_{H^1}^2 - \frac{1}{p} b(t^c u) - \frac{1}{2\mu} \|h\|_{L^2}^2 \\ &= (1-\mu) \Big[ \frac{1}{2} \|t^c u\|_{H^1}^2 - \frac{1}{(1-\mu)p} \int_{\Omega} |t^c u|^p \Big] - \frac{1}{2\mu} \|h\|_{L^2}^2 \\ &= (1-\mu) I_{\frac{1}{1-\mu}}(t^c u) - \frac{1}{2\mu} \|h\|_{L^2}^2 \\ &= (1-\mu)^{\frac{p}{p-2}} (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}) b(u)^{-\frac{2}{p-2}} - \frac{1}{2\mu} \|h\|_{L^2}^2 \\ &= (1-\mu)^{\frac{p}{p-2}} J(t^1 u) - \frac{1}{2\mu} \|h\|_{L^2}^2 \\ &\geq (1-\mu)^{\frac{p}{p-2}} \alpha(\Omega) - \frac{1}{2\mu} \|h\|_{L^2}^2. \end{split}$$

For  $\mu \in (0, 1)$ , there exists  $d_1(\mu) > 0$  such that for  $||h||_{L^2} < d_1(\mu)$ 

$$\sup_{t\ge 0} J_h(tu) > 0.$$

By Lemma 13.4, there exists  $t^-=t^-(u)>0$  such that  $t^-u\in {\bf M}_h^-$  and

$$\sup_{t\ge 0} J_h(tu) = J_h(t^-u).$$

Thus, for  $||h||_{L^2} < d_1(\mu)$ ,

$$J_h(t^-u) \ge (1-\mu)^{\frac{p}{p-2}} J(t^1u) - \frac{1}{2\mu} \|h\|_{L^2}^2.$$

**Lemma 13.28.** A  $\delta_0 > 0$  exists such that if  $u \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  and  $J(u) \leq \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) + \delta_0$ , then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{z}{|z|} (|\nabla u|^2 + u^2) dz \neq 0.$$

*Proof.* If not, a sequence  $\{u_n\} \subset \mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  exists such that  $J(u_n) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) + o(1)$  and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{z}{|z|} (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) dz = 0.$$

By Theorem 4.4,  $\{u_n\}$  is a  $(\mathrm{PS})_{\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)}$ -sequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for J. By Theorem 4.18,  $\inf_{v \in \mathbf{M}(\Omega)} J(v) = \alpha(\Omega) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$  is not achieved. Let  $\overline{u}$  be the unique positive solution of Equation (1.1) in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . It follows from Theorem 3.1 that a sequence  $\{z_n\}$  exists in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  such that  $|z_n| \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$  and

 $u_n(z) = \overline{u}(z - z_n) + o(1)$  strongly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

Assume  $\frac{z_n}{|z_n|} \to z_0$  as  $n \to \infty$ , where  $z_0$  is a unit vector in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . Then by Theorem 2.20, we have

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{z}{|z|} (|\nabla u_n|^2 + u_n^2) dz \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{z + z_n}{|z + z_n|} (|\nabla \overline{u}|^2 + \overline{u}^2) dz + o(1) \\ &= (\frac{2p}{p-2}) z_0 \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) + o(1), \end{split}$$

which is a contradiction.

**Lemma 13.29.**  $d_0 > 0$  exists such that for  $||h||_{L^2} < d_0$ , we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{z}{|z|} (|\nabla u|^2 + u^2) dz \neq 0,$$

for  $u \in [J_h < \alpha_h(\Omega) + \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)].$ 

Proof. For  $u \in [J_h < \alpha_h(\Omega) + \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)]$ , then  $u/||u||_{H^1} \in \Sigma$ . There exists a  $t^0 > 0$  such that  $t^0 u/||u||_{H^1} \in \mathbf{M}$ . By Lemma 13.27 (*ii*), we have for any  $\mu \in (0, 1)$  and  $||h||_{L^2} < d_1(\mu)$ 

$$J(\frac{t^{0}u}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}}) \leq (1-\mu)^{-\frac{p}{p-2}} \left( J_{h}(u) + \frac{1}{2\mu} \|h\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \right).$$
(13.22)

Since  $\alpha_h(\Omega) < 0$ , we have  $[J_h < \alpha_h(\Omega) + \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)] \subset [J_h < \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)]$ . Thus by (13.22), we have, for  $u \in [J_h < \alpha_h(\Omega) + \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)]$ ,

$$J(\frac{t^{0}u}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}}) \leq (1-\mu)^{-\frac{p}{p-2}} \left(\alpha(\mathbb{R}^{N}) + \frac{1}{2\mu} \|h\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\right).$$

Take  $\mu \in (0,1)$  such that  $d_1(\mu) > d_0 > 0$  and  $\delta_0 > 0$  exist such that for  $||h||_{L^2} < d_0$ 

$$J(\frac{t^{0}u}{\|u\|_{H^{1}}}) \le \alpha(\mathbb{R}^{N}) + \delta_{0}.$$
(13.23)

Since  $t^0 u/||u||_{H^1} \in \mathbf{M}$ , by Lemma 13.28 and (13.23)

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{z}{|z|} (|\nabla(\frac{t^0 u}{\|u\|_{H^1}})|^2 + (\frac{t^0 u}{\|u\|_{H^1}})^2) dz \neq 0,$$

or,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{z}{|z|} (|\nabla u|^2 + (u)^2) dz \neq 0.$$

By Lemma 13.29

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{z}{|z|} (|\nabla u|^2 + |u|^2) dz \neq 0$$

for all  $u \in [J_h < \alpha_h(\Omega) + \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)]$ . We define

$$G: \left[J_h < \alpha_h(\Omega) + \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)\right] \to S^{N-1}$$

by

$$G(u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{z}{|z|} (|\nabla u|^2 + |u|^2) dz \neq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{z}{|z|} (|\nabla u|^2 + |u|^2) dz|.$$

**Proposition 13.30.** For  $n \ge n_1$  and  $||h||_{L^2} < d_0$ , the map

$$G \circ F_n : S^{N-1} \to S^{N-1}$$

is homotopic to the identity.

*Proof.* We define  $\zeta_n(\theta, \overline{z}) : [0, 1] \times S^{N-1} \to S^{N-1}$  by

$$\zeta_n(\theta,\overline{z}) = \begin{cases} G((1-2\theta)F_n(\overline{z}) + 2\theta\overline{u}(z-t_n\overline{z})) & \text{for } \theta \in [0,1/2); \\ G(\overline{u}(z-\frac{t_n}{2(1-\theta)}\overline{z})) & \text{for } \theta \in [1/2,1); \\ \overline{z} & \text{for } \theta = 1. \end{cases}$$

Since  $h \in L^2(\Omega) \cap L^{\frac{N}{2}}(\Omega) \cap L^s(\Omega)$  for some s > N, then by Theorem 8.11 we have  $u_0 \in C^{1,\theta}(\overline{\Omega})$ . First, we claim that  $\lim_{\theta \to 1^-} \zeta_n(\theta, \overline{z}) = \overline{z}$  and  $\lim_{\theta \to \frac{1}{2}^-} \zeta_n(\theta, \overline{z}) = G(\overline{u}(z - t_n \overline{z})).$ (a)  $\lim_{\theta \to 1^-} \zeta_n(\theta, \overline{z}) = \overline{z}$ : since

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{z}{|z|} \Big( \Big| \nabla \overline{u} \Big( z - \frac{t_n}{2(1-\theta)} \overline{z} \Big) \Big|^2 + \overline{u} \Big( z - \frac{t_n}{2(1-\theta)} \overline{z} \Big)^2 \Big) dz \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{z + \frac{t_n}{2(1-\theta)} \overline{z}}{|z + \frac{t_n}{2(1-\theta)} \overline{z}|} (|\nabla \overline{u}(z)|^2 + \overline{u}(z)^2) dz \\ &= (\frac{2p}{p-2}) \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) \overline{z} + o(1) \quad \text{as } \theta \to 1^-, \end{split}$$

then  $\lim_{\theta \to 1^{-}} \zeta_n(\theta, \overline{z}) = \overline{z}$ . (b)  $\lim_{\theta \to \frac{1}{2}^{-}} \zeta_n(\theta, \overline{z}) = G(\overline{u}(z - t_n \overline{z}))$ : since  $\overline{u}$  and  $u_0 \in C^{1,\theta}(\overline{\Omega})$ , then

$$\|(1-2\theta)F_n(\overline{z}) + 2\theta\overline{u}(z-t_n\overline{z})\|_{H^1} = \|\overline{u}(z-t_n\overline{z})\| + o(1) \quad \text{as } \theta \to \frac{1}{2} \quad .$$

By the continuity of G, we obtain  $\lim_{\theta \to \frac{1}{2}^{-}} \zeta_n(\theta, \overline{z}) = G(\overline{u}(z - t_n \overline{z}))$ . Thus,  $\zeta_n(\theta, \overline{z}) \in C([0, 1] \times S^{N-1}, S^{N-1})$  and

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta_n(0,\overline{z}) &= G(F_n(\overline{z})) \quad \text{for all } \overline{z} \in S^{N-1}, \\ \zeta_n(1,\overline{z}) &= \overline{z} \quad \text{for all } \overline{z} \in S^{N-1}, \end{aligned}$$

provided  $n \ge n_1$  and  $||h||_{L^2} < d_0$ . This completes the proof.

Thus we have the following theorem.

**Theorem 13.31.**  $J_h(u)$  has at least two critical points in

$$\left[J_h < \alpha_h(\Omega) + \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)\right].$$

*Proof.* Applying Theorem 13.24 and Proposition 13.30, we have for sufficiently large  $n \ge n_1$  and  $||h||_{L^2} < d_0$ ,

$$\operatorname{cat}(\left[J_h \le \alpha_h(\Omega) + \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) - \sigma_n\right]) \ge 2.$$

By Proposition 13.13 and Theorem 13.23, the theorem holds.

By Theorem 13.11, there is a nontrivial solution in  $\mathbf{M}_{h}^{+}$  and by Theorem 13.31, there are two nontrivial solutions in  $\mathbf{M}_{h}^{-}$ . Therefore, we have

**Theorem 13.32.** Let the domain  $\Omega$  to be  $\mathbf{A}^r$ ,  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $\mathbf{A}^r \setminus \overline{D}$ , or  $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \overline{D}$ , where D is a  $C^{1,1}$  bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and assume that  $h \in L^{\frac{N}{2}}(\Omega) \cap L^s(\Omega) \cap L^2(\Omega)$  for some s > N,  $0 < \|h\|_{L^2} < d(p, \alpha)$ , and  $h \geqq 0$ 

$$0 \le h(z) \le c \exp(-(1+\varepsilon)|z|)$$

for any  $z \in \Omega$  and for some positive constants  $c, \varepsilon$ , where  $d(p, \alpha)$  is defined as in (13.1). Then there are three positive solutions of equation (1.2).

Bibliographical notes: The results of this section are from Adachi-Tanaka [1].

13.2. Symmetry Breaking in a Bounded Symmetry Domain. The main purpose of this section is to present the breaking of symmetry by a perturbation of the finite strip  $\mathbf{A}_{-t,t}^{r}$ . Let  $0 < r_1 < r$  and consider the finite strip with a hole,

$$\Omega_t = \mathbf{A}_{-t,t}^r \setminus \overline{B^N((x,0);r_1)}.$$

We prove that  $t_0 > 0$  exists such that for  $t \ge t_0$ , Equation (1.1) on  $\Omega_t$  has three positive solutions, one of which is *y*-symmetric while the other two are nonaxially symmetric.

13.2.1. Existence of Three Solutions.

**Example 13.33** (y-symmetric large domain). (i) For  $0 < r_1 < r$  and x in  $B^{N-1}(0; r+r_1)$ , consider the infinite strip with holes

$$\Omega_l = \mathbf{A}^r \setminus \left[ \overline{B^N((x,l);r_1)} \cup \overline{B^N((x,-l);r_1)} \right] \text{ for some } l > 0$$

Then  $\Omega_l$  is a y-symmetric large domain in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ ; (*ii*) Let  $0 < r_1 < r$  and  $0 < y_{n+1} = ny_n$  for  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$  Consider the infinite strip with infinite holes

$$D = \mathbf{A}^r \setminus \Big\{ \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \Big[ \overline{B^N((0,y_n);r_1)} \cup \overline{B^N((0,-y_n);r_1)} \Big] \Big\}.$$

Then D is a y-symmetric large domain in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ .

**Proposition 13.34.**  $\alpha_s(\mathbf{A}_{-t,t}^r) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}_{-t,t}^r)$  and  $\alpha_s(\mathbf{A}^r) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ .

*Proof.* By Gidas-Ni-Nirenberg [34] and Chen-Chen-Wang [23], every positive solution of (1.1) in a finite strip  $\mathbf{A}^{r}_{-t,t}$  and in an infinite strip  $\mathbf{A}^{r}$  is y-symmetric.  $\Box$ 

The following symmetric results are required to assert our main result.

**Theorem 13.35.** (i) Suppose that  $\Omega$  is a proper y-symmetric large domain in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ and J does not satisfy the  $(PS)_{\alpha_s(\Omega)}$ -condition in  $H^1_s(\Omega)$ . Then  $\alpha_s(\Omega) \ge 2\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ ; (ii) If  $\Omega$  is a proper y-symmetric large domain in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ , then  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) < \alpha_s(\Omega)$ .

*Proof.* (i) Suppose that J does not satisfy the  $(PS)_{\alpha_s(\Omega)}$ -condition in  $H_s^1(\Omega)$ . By Lemma 2.41, a subsequence  $\{u_n\}$  exists such that  $J(\xi_n u_n) = \alpha_s(\Omega) + o(1)$  and  $J'(\xi_n u_n) = o(1)$  in  $H_s^{-1}(\Omega)$ , where  $\xi_n$  is defined as in (2.1). Let  $w_n = \xi_n u_n$ . Then by Lemma 2.9, we obtain

$$J(w_n) = \alpha_s(\Omega) + o(1),$$
  

$$J'(w_n) = o(1) \quad \text{in } H^{-1}(\Omega).$$
(13.24)

Since  $\Omega \subseteq \mathbf{A}^r$ , K > 0 exists such that  $w_n = 0$  in  $\overline{Q_K}$ , and two disjoint large domains  $\overline{\Omega}^1$  and  $\Omega^2$  in  $\mathbf{A}^r$  exist such that

$$(x,y) \in \Omega^2$$
 if and only if  $(x,-y) \in \Omega^1$ ,  
 $\Omega \setminus \overline{Q_K} = \Omega^1 \cup \Omega^2$  where  $Q_K = \Omega \cap B^N(0;K)$ .

Let

$$w_n^i(x) = \begin{cases} w_n(x) & \text{for } x \in \Omega^i, \\ 0 & \text{for } x \notin \Omega^i, \end{cases}$$

for i = 1, 2. Then  $w_n^i \in H_0^1(\Omega^i)$ ,  $w_n^1(x, y) = w_n^2(x, -y)$ ,  $w_n = w_n^1 + w_n^2$ , and  $J(w_n^1) = J(w_n^2)$ . Moreover, we have

$$\alpha_s(\Omega) + o(1) = J(w_n) = J(w_n^1) + J(w_n^2) = 2J(w_n^i)$$
 for  $i = 1, 2,$ 

or

$$J(w_n^i) = \frac{1}{2}\alpha_s(\Omega) + o(1)$$
 for  $i = 1, 2$ .

By (13.24), we have  $J'(w_n^i) = o(1)$  in  $H^{-1}(\Omega^i)$  for i = 1, 2. Therefore,  $\frac{1}{2}\alpha_s(\Omega)$  is a positive (PS)-value in  $H_0^1(\Omega^i)$  for J. By Lemma 4.12, Theorem 4.13, and Definition 4.14,

$$\frac{1}{2}\alpha_s(\Omega) \ge \alpha_{\mathbf{M}}(\Omega^i) = \alpha(\Omega^i).$$

Since  $\Omega^i$  is a large domain in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ , by Lemma 4.18 (*ii*), we have

$$\alpha(\Omega^i) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r).$$

Thus,  $\alpha_s(\Omega) \ge 2\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ .

(*ii*) Clearly, we have  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) \leq \alpha_s(\Omega)$ . Assume that  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) = \alpha_s(\Omega)$ , then by Theorem 5.7, J does not satisfy the  $(\mathrm{PS})_{\alpha_s(\Omega)}$ -condition in  $H^1_s(\Omega)$  for J. By Lemma 13.35,  $2\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) \leq \alpha_s(\Omega) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$ , which is a contradiction.

**Theorem 13.36.** Let  $0 < r_1 < r$ , and for each t > 0

$$\Theta_t = \mathbf{A}^r \setminus \left[ \overline{B^N((x,t+r_1);r_1)} \cup \overline{B^N((x,-(t+r_1));r_1)} \right].$$

Then  $t_0 > 0$  exists such that  $\alpha_s(\Theta_t) < 2\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for all  $t \ge t_0$ . In particular, there is a y-symmetric positive ground state solution of Equation (1.1) in  $\Omega_t$ .

*Proof.* By Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47],  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}_{-t,t}^r)$  is strictly decreasing as t is strictly increasing and

$$\alpha(\mathbf{A}_{-t,t}^r) \searrow \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) \text{ as } t \to \infty.$$

Thus, there is a  $t_0 > 0$  such that  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}_{-t,t}^r) < 2\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for each  $t \ge t_0$ . By Proposition 13.34,  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}_{-t,t}^r) = \alpha_s(\mathbf{A}_{-t,t}^r)$  for each t. Thus,  $\alpha_s(\mathbf{A}_{-t,t}^r) < 2\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r)$  for each  $t \ge t_0$ . Since  $\Theta_t \supset \mathbf{A}_{-t,t}^r$  for each  $t \ge t_0$ . Therefore, we have  $\alpha_s(\Theta_t) \le \alpha_s(\mathbf{A}_{-t,t}^r)$  for each  $t \ge t_0$ . We then conclude that

$$\alpha_s(\Theta_t) \le \alpha_s(\mathbf{A}^r_{-t,t}) < 2\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) \quad \text{for each } t \ge t_0.$$

Since  $\Theta_t$  is a *y*-symmetric large domain in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ , by Theorem 13.35, *J* satisfies the  $(\mathrm{PS})_{\alpha_s(\Omega)}$ -condition in  $H^1_s(\Omega)$ , or telse here is a *y*-symmetric positive ground state solution of Equation (1.1) in  $\Theta_t$  for each  $t \geq t_0$ .



FIGURE 12. the finite strip with a hole

Let  $0 < r_1 < r$  and consider the finite strip with a hole

$$\Omega_t = \mathbf{A}_{-t,t}^r \setminus \overline{B^N((x,0);r_1)}$$

Then we have the following assertion.

**Theorem 13.37.**  $t_0 > 0$  exists such that for  $t \ge t_0$ , Equation (1.1) on  $\Omega_t$  has three positive solutions of which one is y-symmetric and the other two are nonaxially symmetric.

*Proof.* Let  $\Omega = \mathbf{A}^r \setminus \overline{B^N((x,0);r_1)}$ . Then  $\Omega$  is a *y*-symmetric large domain in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ . By Theorem 13.35, we have  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) < \alpha_s(\Omega)$ . By Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47], (1.1) admits a ground state solution in  $\mathbf{A}^r_{0,t}$  and in  $\mathbf{A}^r$ , and  $\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r_{0,t})$  is strictly decreasing as *t* is strictly increasing and

$$\alpha(\mathbf{A}_{0,t}^r) \searrow \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) \text{ as } t \to \infty.$$

Take  $t_1 > 0$  such that for  $t \ge t_1$ ,

$$\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r_{0,t}) < \alpha_s(\Omega). \tag{13.25}$$

Note that  $\mathbf{A}_{r_1,t_1+r_1}^r \subsetneqq \Omega_t \subsetneqq \mathbf{A}^r$  for  $t \ge t_0 = t_1 + r_1$ . By Theorem 5.7, we conclude that

$$\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) < \alpha(\Omega_t) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r_{r_1, t_1 + r_1}).$$
(13.26)

By Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47], if  $\Omega$  is a domain of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , then  $\alpha(\Omega)$  is invariant by rigid motions. Thus,

$$\alpha(\mathbf{A}_{r_1,t_1+r_1}^r) = \alpha(\mathbf{A}_{0,t_1}^r).$$
(13.27)

Therefore, by (13.25)-(13.27)

$$\alpha(\mathbf{A}^r) < \alpha(\Omega_t) < \alpha(\mathbf{A}^r_{0,t_1}) < \alpha_s(\Omega).$$
(13.28)

Since  $\Omega_t \subset \Omega$ , we have

$$\alpha_s(\Omega) \le \alpha_s(\Omega_t). \tag{13.29}$$

By (13.28) and (13.29), we obtain

$$\alpha(\Omega_t) < \alpha_s(\Omega_t). \tag{13.30}$$

By Theorem 12.3, there are a y-symmetry solution  $u_1$  and a solution  $u_2$  of Equation (1.1) in domain  $\Omega_t$  such that

$$J(u_1) = \alpha_s(\Omega_t),$$
  
$$J(u_2) = \alpha(\Omega_t).$$

By Theorem 5.7, we may take  $u_1$  and  $u_2$  to be positive. Let

$$u_3(x,y) = u_2(x,-y).$$

Then  $u_3$  is the third solution. By (13.30),  $u_1, u_2$  and  $u_3$  are different. Moreover,  $u_1$  is a *y*-symmetric solution while both  $u_2$  and  $u_3$  are nonaxially symmetric solutions of Equation (1.1) in domain  $\Omega_t$ .

Bibliographical notes: The results of this section are from Wang-Wu [74].

13.3. Multiple Solutions in Domains with Two Bumps. That the existence of solutions of (1.1) is affected by the shape of the domain  $\Omega$  has been the focus of a great deal of research in recent years . By the Rellich compactness theorem, it is easy to obtain a solution of (1.1) in a bounded domain. For general unbounded domains  $\Omega$ , because of the lack of compactness, the existence of solutions of Equation (1.1) is an important open question. Recently, there has been some progress in determining the existence and multiplicity of solutions as follows: Bahri-Lions [13], Coti Zelati [28], Chabrowski [20], Chen-Lee-Wang [24], Chen-Wang [26], Chen-Lin-Wang [25], Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47], del Pino-Felmer [30], [31], and Wang [71] used the (PS)-theory to treat the existence of solutions of (1.1). Byeon [16], Chen-Ni-Zhou [22], Dancer [29], and Wang-Wu [74] asserted the existence of three positive solutions of semilinear elliptic equations in a dumbbell domain. Jimbo [43] and [44] asserted the existence of solutions depending on the width of the corridor of the dumbbell.

In this section we assert that there is a  $R_0 > 0$  such that for  $R > R_0$  Equation (1.1) on the two bumps domain  $D_R$  has three positive solutions in which one is y-symmetric and other two are nonaxially symmetric. (see Theorem 13.41). Since finite dumbbell is a two bumps domain, the results of Byeon [16], Chen-Ni-Zhou [22], and Dancer [29] are the consequences of our Theorem 13.41.

13.3.1. Existence of Three Solutions. We have the following results.

**Theorem 13.38.** (i) The bounded domains in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  are the achieved domains in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ;

(ii) The  $C^1$  quasi-bounded domains are the achieved domains in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ;

(iii)  $\mathbb{R}^N$  is an achieved domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ;

(iv) The periodic domains in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  are the achieved domains. In particular, the infinite strip  $\mathbf{A}^r$  is an achieved domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ;

(v)  $s_0 > 0$  exists such that  $\mathbf{F}_s^r$  is an achieved domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  if  $s > s_0$ .

*Proof.* (i) By Theorem 12.3.

(ii) By Theorem 5.4.

(iii) and (iv) follows from Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47].

(v) By Theorem 12.7.

Throughout this section, let  $\Theta$  be a proper achieved *y*-symmetric domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ bounded in the *x*-direction, such as bounded domains and the infinite strip  $\mathbf{A}^r$ . For R > 0, let  $\Omega_R^1$  and  $\Omega_R^2$  be two bounded domains in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  such that

$$\begin{split} R &= \operatorname{dist}\{0, \Omega^1_R\},\\ \Omega^2_R &= \{(x,y): (x,-y) \in \Omega^1_R\}. \end{split}$$

and the *y*-symmetric domain

$$D_R = \Omega_R^1 \cup \Theta \cup \Omega_R^2.$$

We call  $D_R$  a two-bumps domain. Here are some examples of two-bumps domains.

**Example 13.39.** (i) For t > R > r > 0. The bounded dumbbell domain  $D_R$  is a two-bumps domain, where

$$D_R = B^N((0, -t), r) \cup \mathbf{A}^r_{-t \ t} \cup B^N((0, t), r);$$

(*ii*) For t > R > r > 0. The unbounded dumbbell domain  $D_R$  is a two-bumps domain, where

$$D_R = B^N((0, -t), r) \cup \mathbf{A}^r \cup B^N((0, t), r);$$

(*iii*) For t > R > r > 0. The curved dumbbell domain  $D_R = \Omega_R^1 \cup \Theta \cup \Omega_R^2$  is a two bumps domain, where  $\Omega_R^1$  and  $\Omega_R^2$  are two bounded domains in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  such that

$$R = \operatorname{dist}\{0, \Omega_R^1\},$$
  
$$\Omega_R^2 = \{(x, y) : (x, -y) \in \Omega_R^1\}.$$

and  $\Theta$  is a curved bounded *y*-symmetric domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ .

Then we have the following assertion.

**Theorem 13.40.** Let  $D_R$  be a two-bumps domain, where  $D_R = \Omega_R^1 \cup \Theta \cup \Omega_R^2$ , and let  $\Theta$  be a proper achieved y-symmetric domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  bounded in the x-direction. Then we have, for all R > 0,

- (i)  $\alpha(\Theta) \ge \alpha(D_R) > \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N);$
- (ii) J satisfies the  $(PS)_{\alpha_X(D_R)}$ -condition in  $X(D_R)$ .

*Proof.* By Theorem 5.7 and Theorem 12.3, it suffices to assume that  $\Theta$  is unbounded.

(i) Since  $\Theta \subset D_R \subsetneq \mathbb{R}^N$ , we have  $\alpha(\Theta) \ge \alpha(D_R) \ge \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Suppose that  $\alpha(D_R) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , by Theorem 5.7, J does not satisfy the  $(\mathrm{PS})_{\alpha(D_R)}$ -condition. By Theorem 5.11, a sequence  $\{u_n\}$  in  $H_0^1(D_R)$  exists such that  $\{u_n\}$  and  $\{\xi_n u_n\}$  are the  $(\mathrm{PS})_{\alpha(D_R)}$ -sequences for J, where  $\xi_n$  is defined as in (2.1). Let  $w_n = \xi_n u_n$ . Then

$$J(w_n) = \alpha(D_R) + o(1),$$
  
 $J'(w_n) = o(1)$  in  $H^{-1}(D_R).$ 

Since  $D_R = \Omega_R^1 \cup \Theta \cup \Omega_R^2$  is a *y*-symmetric domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  separated by a bounded domain,  $n_0 > 0$  exists such that for  $n \ge n_0$ ,  $w_n \in H_0^1(\Theta)$ ,  $J(w_n) = \alpha(D_R) + o(1)$ , and  $a(w_n) = b(w_n) + o(1)$ . By Theorem 4.3, there is a sequence  $\{s_n\}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^+$  such

138

that  $\{s_n w_n\}$  is in  $\mathbf{M}(\Omega)$  and  $\{s_n w_n\}$  is a  $(\mathrm{PS})_{\alpha(D_R)}$ -sequence in  $X(\Omega)$  for J. Thus  $\alpha(\Theta) \leq \alpha(D_R)$ . We then conclude that  $\alpha(\Theta) = \alpha(D_R) = \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . However, since  $\Theta$  is a proper achieved y-symmetric domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , by Theorem 5.7,  $\alpha(\Theta) > \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . This is a contradiction. Thus,  $\alpha(\Theta) \geq \alpha(D_R) > \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for all R > 0.

(*ii*) It suffices to prove the case  $X(D_R) = H_0^1(D_R)$ . Since  $\Omega_R^1$ ,  $\Theta$ , and  $\Omega_R^2$  are achieved, by Theorem 5.7,

$$\alpha(D_R) < \min\{\alpha(\Omega_R^1), \alpha(\Theta), \alpha(\Omega_R^2)\}.$$

By Theorem 5.12, J satisfies the  $(PS)_{\alpha(D_R)}$ -condition in  $H_0^1(D_R)$ .

We apply Theorems 6.7 and 13.40 to prove the following result.

**Theorem 13.41.** There is an  $R_0 > 0$  such that for  $R > R_0$  Equation (1.1) on  $D_R$  has three positive solutions, of which one is y-symmetric and other two are nonaxially symmetric.

Proof. Take  $\rho > 0$  such that  $\Omega = (\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \overline{\mathbb{R}^N_{-\rho,\rho}}) \cup \Theta$  is connected. Then  $\Omega$  is a *y*-symmetric large domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  separated by a bounded domain. By Theorem 6.7, we have  $\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) = \alpha(\Omega) < \alpha_s(\Omega)$ . By Lien-Tzeng-Wang [47],  $\alpha(B^N(0, R))$  is strictly decreasing as R is strictly increasing and

$$\alpha(B^N(0,R)) \searrow \alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) \text{ as } R \to \infty.$$

Take  $R_0 > 0$ , such that for  $R > R_0$ 

$$\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) < \alpha(B^N(0, R)) < \alpha_s(\Omega).$$
(13.31)

Since  $B^N((x_R, y_R), R) \subsetneq D_R \subsetneq \mathbb{R}^N$ , by Theorem 5.7 and Theorem 13.40, we conclude that

$$\alpha(\mathbb{R}^N) < \alpha(D_R) < \alpha(B^N((x_R, y_R), R)) = \alpha(B^N(0, R)).$$
(13.32)

Therefore, by (13.31) and (13.32) and  $D_R \subset \Omega$ , we have

$$\alpha(D_R) < \alpha(B^N(0,R)) < \alpha_s(\Omega) \le \alpha_s(D_R).$$
(13.33)

Thus,

$$\alpha(D_R) < \alpha_s(D_R). \tag{13.34}$$

By Theorem 12.3, there are a y-symmetry positive solution  $u_1$  and a positive solution  $u_2$  of Equation (1.1) in domain  $D_R$  for  $R > R_0$  such that

$$J(u_1) = \alpha_s(D_R),$$
  
$$J(u_2) = \alpha(D_R).$$

Let  $u_3(x, y) = u_2(x, -y)$ , then  $u_3$  is the third positive solution. By (13.34),  $u_1, u_2$ , and  $u_3$  are different. Moreover,  $u_1$  is a *y*-symmetric positive solution while both  $u_2$ , and  $u_3$  are nonaxially symmetric positive solutions of (1.1) in domain  $D_R$ .  $\Box$ 

Bibliographical notes: The results of this section are from Wang-Wu [74].

## References

- [1] S. Adachi and K. Tanaka, Four positive solutions for the semilinear elliptic equation:  $-\triangle u + u = a(x)u^p + f(x)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 11 (2000), 63-95.
- [2] R. A. Adams, Sobolev space, Academic Press, New York, 1975.
- [3] A. Ambrosetti, Critical points and nonlinear variational problems, Bulletin Soc. Math. France, Mémoire, N.49, 1992.
- [4] A. Ambrosetti and P. H. Rabinowitz, Dual variational method in critical point theory and applications, J. Funct. Anal., 14 (1973), 349-381.
- [5] T. Aubin, Problemes isoperimetriques et espaces de Sobolev, J. Differential Geom., 11 (1976), 573-598.
- [6] J. P. Aubin and I. Ekeland, Applied Nonlinear Analysis, Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1984.
- [7] A. Bahri and H. Berestycki, A perturbation method in critical point theory and application, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 267 (1981), 1-32.
- [8] A. Bahri and J. M. Coron, On a nonlinear elliptic equation involving the critical Sobolev exponent: the effect of the topology of the domain, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 41 (1988), 253-294.
- [9] A. Bahri and L. -P. Lions, Remarques sur la théorie variationnelle des points critiques et application, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 301 (1985), 145-147.
- [10] A. Bahri and P. -L. Lions, On the existence of positive solutions of semilinear elliptic equations in unbounded domains, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré. Ana. Non Lineairé, 14 (1997), 365-413.
- [11] V. Benci and G. Cerami, The effect of topology on the number of positive solutions of nonlinear elliptic problems, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 114 (1991), 79-93.
- [12] H. Brézis and E. H. Lieb, A relation between pointwise convergence of functions and convergence of functionals, Proc. Amer Math. Soc., 88 (1983), 486-490.
- [13] H. Berestycki and P. -L. Lions, Nonlinear scalar field equations. I. Existence of ground state, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 82 (1983), 313-345.
- [14] H. Brézis, Analyse Fonctionnelle, Theorie et Applications, Masson, Paris, 1983.
- [15] H. Brézis and L. Nirenberg, *Remarks on finding critical points*, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 44(1991), 939-963.
- [16] J. Byeon, Existence of large positive solutions of some nonlinear elliptic equations on singularly perturbed domains, Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 22 (1997), 1731-1769.
- [17] D.-M. Cao and H.-S. Zhou, Multiple positive solutions of nonhomogeneous semilinear elliptic equations in R<sup>N</sup>, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh, Sect. A, 126 (1996), 443-463.
- [18] J. Chabrowski, Variational methods for potential operator equations, Walter de Gruyter Studies in Mathematics 24, Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin - New York, 1997.
- [19] J. Chabrowski, Weak Convergence Methods for Semilinear Elliptic Equations, World Scientific, Singapore, New Jersey, London, Hong Kong, 1999.
- [20] J. Chabrowski, Concentration-compactness principle at infinity and semilinear elliptic equations involving critical and subcritical Sobolev exponents, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 3 (1995), 493-512.
- [21] S. -C. Chan and H. -C. Wang, Positive solutions of  $\Delta u(x) a(x)u(x) + u^q(x) = 0$  on unbounded exterior spherical flasks, Nonlinear Anal., TMA 26(1996), 2023-2030.
- [22] G. Chen, W. -M. Ni, and J. Zhou, Algorithms and visualization for solution of nonlinear elliptic problems, Internat. J. Bifur. Chaos Appl. Sci. Engrg., 10 (2000), 1565-1612.
- [23] K. -C. Chen, K. -J. Chen and H. -C. Wang, Symmetry of positive solutions of semilinear elliptic equations on infinite strip domains, J. Differential Equations, 148 (1998), 1-8.
- [24] K.-J. Chen, C.-S. Lee and H.-C. Wang, Semilinear elliptic problems in interior and exterior flask domains, Commun. Appl. Nonlinear Anal., 5 (1998), 81-105.
- [25] M. -C. Chen, H. -L. Lin and H. -C. Wang, Vitali convergence theorem and Palais Smale conditions, Differential Integral Equations, 15 (2002), 641-656.
- [26] K. -J. Chen and H. -C. Wang, A necessary and sufficient condition for Palais-Smale conditions, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 31 (1999), 154-165.
- [27] J. M. Coron, Topologie et case limite des injections de Sobolev, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér I Math., 299 (1984), 209-212.

- [28] V. Coti Zelati, Critical point theory and applications to elliptic equations in R<sup>N</sup>, Nonlinear Functional Analysis and Applications to Differential Equations, ICTP, Trieste, Italy, World Scientific, Singapore, New Jersey, London, Hong Kong, 1997.
- [29] E. N. Dancer, The effect of domain shape on the number of positive solution of certain nonlinear equations, J. Differential Equations, 74 (1988), 120-156.
- [30] M. A. del Pino and P. L. Felmer, Local mountain passes for semilinear elliptic problems in unbounded domains, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 4 (1996), 121-137.
- [31] M. A. del Pino and P. L. Felmer, Least energy solutions for elliptic equations in unbounded domains, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh, Sect. A, 126 (1996), 195-208.
- [32] W. Ding, Positive solutions of  $\Delta u + u^{(n+2)/(n-2)} = 0$  on contractible domains, J. Partial Differential Equations, 2 (1989), 83-88.
- [33] M. J. Esteban and P. -L. Lions, Existence and non-existence results for semilinear elliptic problems in unbounded domains, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh, Sect. A, 93 (1982), 1-12.
- [34] B. Gidas, W. -M. Ni, and L. Nirenberg, Symmetry and related properties via the maximum principle, Comm. Math. Phys., 68 (1978), 209-243.
- [35] B. Gidas, W. -M. Ni, and L. Nirenberg, Symmetry of positive solutions of nonlinear elliptic equations in R<sup>N</sup>, Adv. in Math. Suppl. Stud., 7A (1981), 369-402.
- [36] D. Gilbarg and N. S. Trudinger, Elliptic Partial Differential Equations of Second order, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1983.
- [37] N. Ghoussoub, Duality and perturbation methods in critical point theory, Cambridge Tracts in Math. 107, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1993.
- [38] P. Grisvard, Elliptic Problems in Nonsmooth Domains, Pitman Advanced Publishing Program, Boston, London, Melbourne, 1985.
- [39] E. Heinz, Über die Eindeutigkeit beim Cauchyschen Anfangswertproblem einer elliptischen Differentialgleichung zweiter Ordnung, Nachr. Akad. Wiss. Göttingen Math.-Phys., XIII, 1 (1955), 1-12.
- [40] N. Hirano, Existence of Entire Positive Solutions for Nonhomogeneous Elliptic Equations, Nonlinear Anal., 29 (1997), 889-901.
- [41] T. -S. Hsu and H. -C. Wang, A perturbation result of semilinear elliptic equations in exterior strip domains, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A, 127 (1997), 983-1004.
- [42] L. Jeanjean, Two positive solutions for a class of nonhomogeneous elliptic equations, Differential Integral Equations, 10 (1997), 609-624.
- [43] S. Jimbo, Singular perturbation of domains and the semilinear elliptic equation II, J. Differential Equations, 75 (1988), 264-289.
- [44] S. Jimbo, The singularly perturbed domain and the characterization for the eigenfunctions with Neumann boundary condition, J. Differential Equations, 77 (1989), 322-350.
- [45] J. Kazdan and F. Warner, Remarks on some quasilinear elliptic equations, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 28 (1975), 567-597.
- [46] M. -K. Kwong, Uniqueness of positive solutions of Δu − u + u<sup>p</sup> = 0 in ℝ<sup>n</sup>, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 105 (1989), 243-266.
- [47] W. -C. Lien, S. -Y. Tzeng, and H. -C. Wang, Existence of solutions of semilinear elliptic problems in unbounded domains, Differential Integral Equations, 6 (1993), 1281-1298.
- [48] J.-L. Lions and E. Zuazua, Approximate controllability of a hydro-elastic coupled system, SMAI Electronic Journal, 1 (1995), 1-15.
- [49] P. -L. Lions, The concentration-compactness principle in the calculus of variations. The locally compact case. I, II, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire, 1 (1984), 109-145; 223-283.
- [50] P.-L. Lions, The concentration-compactness principle in the calculus of variations. The limit case. I, II, Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana, 1, No. 1 (1985), 145-20 1; No. 2 (1985), 45-121.
- [51] P.-L. Lions, Symetrie et compacite dans les espaces de Sobolev, J. Funct. Anal., 49 (1982), 315-334.
- [52] C.-I. Lin, H.-L. Lin, and H.-C. Wang, Existence of Solutions of Semilinear elliptic Equations in a Flat Interior Flask Domain, Dynamics of Continuous, Discrete and Impulsive Systems, 10A(2003), 81-90.
- [53] H. -L. Lin, H. -C. Wang, and T. -F. Wu, A Palais-Smale approach to Sobolev subcritical operators, Topol. Methods Nonlinear Anal., 20(2002), 393-407.
- [54] H.-L. Lin, H.-C. Wang, and T.-F. Wu, Indexes of Domains and their Applications to Semilinear Elliptic Equations, Preprint.

- [55] H.-L. Lin, H.-C. Wang and T.-F. Wu, Multiple solutions of semilinear elliptic equations in achieved domains, Preprint.
- [56] J. Mawhin and M. Willem, Critical point theory and Hamiltonian systems, Appl. Math. Sci. 74, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1989.
- [57] Z. Nehari, On a class of nonlinear second-order differential equations, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 95 (1960), 101-123.
- [58] W.-M. Ni, Some aspects of semilinear elliptic equations on R<sup>n</sup>, Nonlinear Diffusion Equations and Their Equilibrium States II, Springer-Verlag, New York, Berlin, Heidelberg, London, Paris, Tokyo, 1986, 171-206.
- [59] R. S. Palais, The principle of symmetric criticality, Comm. Math. Phys., 69 (1979), 19-30.
- [60] R. S. Palais and S. Smale, A generalized Morse theory, Bull. Amer Math. Soc., 70 (1964), 165-171.
- [61] S. I. Pohožaev, Eigenfunctions of the equation  $\Delta u + \lambda f(u) = 0$ , Soviet Math. Dokl., 6 (1965), 1408-1411.
- [62] M. H. Protter, Unique continuation for elliptic equations, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 95 (1960), 81-91.
- [63] P. H. Rabinowitz, Multiple critical point of perturbed symmetric functionals, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 272 (1982), 753-769.
- [64] P. H. Rabinowitz, Minimax Methods in Critical Point Theory with Applications to Differential Equations, Regional Conference Series in Mathematics, American Mathematical Society, 1986.
- [65] J. T. Schwartz, Nonlinear Functional Analysis, Gordon Breach, Philadelphia, 1969.
- [66] M. Struwe, Variational methods, Springer-Verlag, Bertin-Heidelberg, Second edition, 1996.
  [67] C. A. Stuart, Bifurcation in L<sup>p</sup>(ℝ<sup>N</sup>) for a semilinear elliptic equation, Proc. London Math. Soc., 45 (1982), 169-192.
- [68] G. Talenti, Best constant in Sobolev inequality, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl., 101 (1976), 353-372.
- [69] K. Tanaka, Morse indices and critical point related to the symmetric mountain pass theorem and applications, Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 14(1) (1989), 99-128.
- [70] G. Tarantello, On nonhomogeneous elliptic involving critical Sobolev exponent, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire, Vol. 9, no. 3 (1992), 281-304.
- [71] H. -C. Wang, A Palais-Smale approach to problems in Esteban-Lions domains with holes, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 352 (2000), 4237-4256.
- [72] H.-C. Wang, The generalized compactness lemma and its applications to nonlinear elliptic problems, Nonlinear Anal. TMA, 13 (1989), 1351-1358.
- [73] H. -C. Wang, On the Compactness and the Minimization, Taiwanese J. Math., 6(2002), 441-464.
- [74] H.-C. Wang and T.-F. Wu, Symmetry Breaking in a Bounded Symmetry Domain, to appear in Nonlinear Differential Equation Applications.
- [75] H.-C. Wang and T.-F. Wu, Symmetric Palais-Smale Conditions with Applications to Three Solutions in Two Bump Domains, Diff. and Integral Equations, 16(2003), 1505-1518.
- [76] H. -C. Wang and T. -F. Wu, The Dynamic Systems of Solutions of a Semilinear elliptic Equation, Preprint.
- [77] H. -C. Wang and T. -F. Wu, Palais-Smale Decomposition Lemmas in Axially Symmetry Domains, Dynamics of Continuous, Discrete and Impulsive Systems, 10A(2003), 91-102.
- [78] M. Willem, Minimax theorems, Birkhauser Verlag, Basel, 1996.
- [79] E. Zeidler, Nonlinear Functional Analysis and its Applications II/A, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1989.
- [80] X.-P. Zhu, A perturbation result on positive entire solutions of a semilinear elliptic equation, J. Differential Equations, 92 (1991), 163-178.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, NATIONAL TSING HUA UNIVERSITY, HSINCHU, TAIWAN *E-mail address*: hwang@mail.math.nthu.edu.tw